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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)
[X] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF EFSECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 192
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 201
OR
[ 1] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(dy ®HE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 19:
For the transition to
period from
Commission File No. Exact Name of Registrants as Specified in theirr@hns, State of I.R.S. Employer
Address and Telephone Numt Incorporation Identification Nos
1-14201 SEMPRA ENERGY California 33-0732627
101 Ash Stree
San Diego, California 921
(619)69¢-2000
1-03779 SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY California 95-118480C
8326 Century Park Cou
San Diego, California 9212
(619)69¢-2000
1-01402 SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY California 95-124070¢E

555 West Fifth Stree
Los Angeles, California 9001
(213)24+1200

SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(b) DHE ACT:

Title of Each Clas Name of Each Exchange on Which Registe
Sempra Energy Common Stock, without par vi NYSE

SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(g) DHE ACT:

Southern California Gas Company PreferrediSt$25 par value
6% Series A, 6% Ser

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a -known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 4050 &turities Acl

Sempra Energy Yes X No
San Diego Gas & Electric Company Yes No X
Southern California Gas Company Yes No X

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ortidacl5(d) of the Act

Sempra Energy Yes No X
San Diego Gas & Electric Company Yes No X
Southern California Gas Company Yes No X

Indicate by check mark whether the registranthélje filed all reports required to be filed by $metl3 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for suarteh period that the registrant was requiredleoguch reports), and (2) have been subject to
such filing requirements for the past 90 d:¢

Yes X No




Indicate by check mark whether the registrant n@smstted electronically and posted on its corpokiebsite, if any, every Interactive Data File
required to be submitted and posted pursuant te B of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 timoifor for such shorter period that the
registrant was required to submit and post suel)fi

Sempra Energy Yes X No
San Diego Gas & Electric Company Yes X No
Southern California Gas Company Yes X No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquitlers pursuant to Iltem 405 of Regulation S-K i¢ contained herein, and will not be contained, to
the best of registrants’ knowledge, in definitivexyy or information statements incorporated by merfiee in Part 11l of this Form 10-K or any
amendment to this Form -K.

Sempra Energy X
San Diego Gas & Electric Company X
Southern California Gas Company X

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlasge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, @accelerated filer or a smaller reporting company.
See the definitions “large accelerated fil¢’ “accelerated file’ and“smaller reporting compa” in Rule 12I-2 of the Exchange Ac

Large Accelerated Smaller reporting
accelerated file filer Non-accelerated file company
Sempra Energ [ X] [ ] [ ] [ ]
San Diego Gas & Electric Compe [ ] [ 1] [ X ] [ 1]
Southern California Gas Compa [ ] [ 1] [ X] [ 1]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in Rule -2 of the Exchange Act

Sempra Energy Yes No X

San Diego Gas & Electric Company Yes No X

Southern California Gas Company Yes No X

Aggregate market value of the voting and -voting common equity held by n-affiliates of the registrant as of June 30, 2(

Sempra Energy $19.9 billion (based on the price at which the cammquity was last sold as of the last
business day of the most recently completed sefiscal quarter’

San Diego Gas & Electric Compa $0

Southern California Gas Compa $0

Common Stock outstanding, without par value, aSeffruary 21, 201+

Sempra Energ 245,089,822 shar¢

San Diego Gas & Electric Compa Wholly owned by Enova Corporation, which is whaliyned by Sempra Ener;

Southern California Gas Compa Wholly owned by Pacific Enterprises, which is wiyathwned by Sempra Enert

SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY MEETS THE CONDITIRS OF GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS I(1)(a) AND (b) OF FORM-K
AND IS THEREFORE FILING THIS REPORT WITH A REDUCEDISCLOSURE FORMAT AS PERMITTED BY GENERAL INSTRUCON
1(2).

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCI

Portions of the 2013 Annual Report to ShareholdéBempra Energy, San Diego Gas & Electric Company Southern California Gas Company
are incorporated by reference into Parts I, Il BAc

Portions of the Sempra Energy Proxy Statement peelfar its May 2014 annual meeting of shareholdeesincorporated by reference into Part

Portions of the Southern California Gas Compangrimfation Statement prepared for its June 2014 dmmeeting of shareholders are incorporated
by reference into Part Il
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This combined Form 10-K is separately filed by Senma Energy, San Diego Gas & Electric Company and Sdbern California Gas Company. Information contained herein
relating to any individual company is filed by suchcompany on its own behalf. Each company makes repsentations only as to itself and makes no otherpeesentation
whatsoever as to any other company.

You should read this report in its entirety as it gertains to each respective reporting company. No @nsection of the report deals with all aspects ofi¢ subject matter. Separate
Item 6 and 8 sections are provided for each reporntig company, except for the Notes to Consolidated fancial Statements in Item 8. The Notes to Consokded Financial
Statements for all of the reporting companies areambined. All ltems other than Iltems 6 and 8 are cotmined for the reporting companies.

INFORMATION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

We make statements in this report that are nobifigstl fact and constitute forward-looking statetsenithin the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statents are necessarily based upon assumptionsesfibct to the future, involve risks and
uncertainties, and are not guarantees of perforedrtese forward-looking statements represent gtimates and assumptions only as of the filing
date of this report. We assume no obligation toatpdr revise any forward-looking statement asalt®f new information, future events or other
factors.

In this report, when we use words such as “beligvegpects,” “anticipates, estimatesiprojects,” “forecasts,” “contemplates,” “intends,”
“depends,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “will,” “may,” “potential,” “target,” “pursue,” “goals,” “outlok,” “maintain,” or similar expressions, or when
we discuss our guidance, strategy, plans, goapraymities, projections, initiatives, objectivasimtentions, we are making forward-looking
statements.

”ou " u " u ”ou

plans,

”ou ” ” ”ou ” u ”ou

Factors, among others, that could cause our aetsalts and future actions to differ materiallynfréthose described in forward-looking statements
include

= local, regional, national and international ecorgraompetitive, political, legislative and regulat@onditions and developmen

= actions and the timing of actions, including isstemnof permits to construct and licenses for ommraby the California Public Utilitie
Commission, California State Legislature, U.S. Dapant of Energy, Federal Energy Regulatory Comimiss Nuclear Regulato
Commission, Atomic Safety and Licensing Board, foatia Energy Commission, California Air Resourdgsard, and other regulato
governmental and environmental bodies in the UrBiades and other countries in which we opel

= capital markets conditions, including the availipibf credit and the liquidity of our investmen

= the timing and success of business developmenttefind construction, maintenance and capital pigjéncluding risks in obtaining perm
licenses, certificates and other authorizationa timely basis and risks in obtaining adequatecamapetitive financing for such projec

= inflation, interest and exchange rat
= the impact of benchmark interest rates, generathp®§’'s A-rated utility bond yields, on our California Utit’ cost of capital
= energy markets, including the timing and extentliinges and volatility in commaodity prict

= the availability of electric power, natural gas aliguefied natural gas, including disruptions calids failures in the North Americ
transmission grid, pipeline explosions and equipnfetures and the decommissioning of San Onofreléar Generating Station (SONG:!

. weather conditions, natural disasters, catastrapté@ents, and conservation effo

= risks inherent with nuclear power facilities andlicactive materials storage, including the catadtio release of such materials,
disallowance of the recovery of the investmenbinpperating costs of, the nuclear facility dueatoextended outage and facility closure,
increased regulatory oversig

= risks posed by decisions and actions of third eariho control the operations of investments inctvlsie do not have a controlling intere

= wars, terrorist attacks and cybersecurity thre

= business, regulatory, environmental and legal de@sand requirement

= expropriation of assets by foreign governmentstéledand other property dispute

= the impact on reliability of San Diego Gas & Eléczt€ompan’s electric transmission and distribution system ttuecreased amount &
variability of power supply from renewable energysces;

= the impact on competitive customer rates of thevgran distributed and local power generation gmel ¢orresponding decrease in deman



power delivered through our electric transmissind distribution systen
= the inability or determination not to enter intm¢-term supply and sales agreements or-term firm capacity agreemen
= the resolution of litigation; an
= other uncertainties, all of which are difficultpoedict and many of which are beyond our con

We caution you not to rely unduly on any forwardKking statements. You should review and considesfably the risks, uncertainties and other
factors that affect our business as describedisrréport and other reports that we file with tlee@ities and Exchange Commission.

PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

We provide a description of Sempra Energy andubsiliaries in “Management’s Discussion and AnalydiFinancial Condition and Results of
Operations” in the 2013 Annual Report to Sharehsldannual Report), which is attached as Exhibitl1i8 this report and is incorporated by
reference.

This report includes information for the followisgparate registrants:
= Sempra Energy and its consolidated ent
= San Diego Gas & Electric Company (SDG&

= Southern California Gas Company (SoCalc

”ou ”ou ”ou

References in this report to “we,” “our,” “us,” “oaompany” and “Sempra Energy Consolidated” arempra Energy and its consolidated entities,
collectively, unless otherwise indicated by thetegh SDG&E and SoCalGas are collectively refeteds the California Utilities. They are
subsidiaries of Sempra Energy, and Sempra Enedireitly owns all of the capital stock of SDG&E aaltlof the common stock and substantially
all of the voting stock of SoCalGas.

Sempra Energy’s principal operating units are

. SDG&E and SoCalGas, which are separate, reporsaigiements

= Sempra International, which includes our SempratsAwmerican Utilities and Sempra Mexico reportaddgments; an

. Sempra U.S. Gas & Power, which includes our SerRgreewables and Sempra Natural Gas reportable ség

All references to “Sempra International,” “Sempr&UGas & Power” and their respective reportabigremnts are not intended to refer to any legal
entity with the same or similar name. Sempra Irettomal and Sempra U.S. Gas & Power also ownigslivhich are not included in our references
to the California Utilities. We provide financialformation about all of our reportable segmentsamulit the geographic areas in which we do

business in “Management’s Discussion and Analysimmancial Condition and Results of Operationst &iote 16 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements in the Annual Report.

COMPANY WEBSITES
Company website addresses are:
Sempra Energy — http://www.sempra.com
SDG&E - http://www.sdge.com
SoCalGas — http://www.socalgas.com
We make available free of charge on our websiteaonual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports omi10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and

any amendments to those reports as soon as redspnatticable after such material is electronigéiled with or furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC). The charters of thet,acminpensation and corporate governance commitfe®smpra Energy’s board of directors



(the board), the board’s corporate governance {inete and Sempra Energy’s code of business coraheatethics for directors and officers are
posted on Sempra Energy’s website.

SDG&E and SoCalGas make available free of charga Viyperlink on their websites their annual report Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form
10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and any amendsnerthose reports as soon as reasonably praletiafibr such material is electronically filed
with or furnished to the SEC.

Printed copies of all of these materials may baioled by writing to our Corporate Secretary at Senffmergy, 101 Ash Street, San Diego, CA
92101-3017.

The information on the websites of Sempra Ener@G&E and SoCalGas is not part of this report or ather report that we file with or furnish to
the SEC, and is not incorporated herein by referenc

GOVERNMENT REGULATION

California State Utility Regulation

The California Utilities are regulated by the Catlifia Public Utilities Commission (CPUC), the Califia Energy Commission (CEC) and the
California Air Resources Board (CARB).

The California Public Utilities Commission:

= consists of five commissioners appointed by thedgsoor of California for staggered, -year terms

= regulates SDG&’'s and SoCalG! rates and conditions of service, sales of secayitetes of return, capital structure, rates ofeeption, an
long-term resource procurement, except as describeavidelUnited States Utility Regulatic”

= has jurisdiction over the proposed constructionn@jor new electric generation, transmission andribligion, and natural gas stora
transmission and distribution facilities in Califitat.

= conducts reviews and audits of utility performaaoe compliance with regulatory guidelines, and cmts investigations into various matt
such as deregulation, competition and the envirointe determine its future policie

= regulates the interactions and transactions o€tiléornia Utilities with Sempra Energy and its ethaffiliates.

The CPUC also oversees and regulates new produdtseavices, including solar energy, bioenergy athér forms of renewable energy. In addition,
the CPUC’s safety and enforcement role includegsdations, investigations and penalty and citatimtesses for safety violations.

We provide further discussion in Notes 13 and 1thefNotes to Consolidated Financial StatementisérAnnual Report.

SDG&E is also subject to regulation by the CEC,ahipublishes electric demand forecasts for the stad for specific service territories. Based
upon these forecasts, the CEC:

= determines the need for additional energy sounsdscanservation program
= sponsors alternati-energy research and development proje

. promotes energy conservation progra

= maintains a statewide plan of action in case ofgnshortages; ar

= certifies powe-plant sites and related facilities within Califcar

The CEC conducts a 20-year forecast of availaljppplges and prices for every market sector that gores natural gas in California. This forecast
includes resource evaluation, pipeline capacityegeatural gas demand and wellhead prices, artgl gbBansportation and distribution. This
analysis is one of many resource materials ussdgport the California Utilities’ long-term investmt decisions.

In 2010, the State of California required certaalifornia electric retail sellers, including SDG&#5, deliver 20 percent of their retail energy sales
from renewable energy sources. The rules govethisgequirement, administered by both the CPUCthedCEC, are generally known as the
Renewables Portfolio Standard (RPS) Program. Irebder 2011, California Senate Bill 2(1X) (33% RR8gPam) went into effect, superseding the
previous RPS program. The 33% RPS Program reged@es California utility to procure 33 percent af@innual electric energy requirements from
renewable energy sources by 2020, with an averdgeent required over the three-year period Jariye2011 through December 31, 2013; 25
percent by December 31, 2016; and 33 percent bgmker 31, 2020. We discuss this requirement gepites to SDG&E in Note 14 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in the AnnualoRep

Certification of a generation project by the CEGiaEligible Renewable Energy Resource (ERR) allitvespurchase of output from such generation



facility to be counted towards fulfillment of theP8 Program requirements, if such purchase meetgdhésions of California Senate Bill 2(1X). Tl
may affect the demand for output from renewablegepts developed by Sempra Renewables and Semptiadyviparticularly from California

utilities. Sempra Renewables’ Copper Mountain Sbalfacility in Nevada is certified as an ERR. SemRenewables has 50-percent interests in both
the Copper Mountain Solar 2 and Mesquite Solarclliti@s, both of which have ERR certification. Sera Renewables has received pre-certification
of the Copper Mountain Solar 3 facility and willsnit an application for ERR certification of eadiege as it begins operations. We plan to obtain
ERR certification for all of our renewable faciisi operating in and/or providing power to Califaras they become operational.

California Assembly Bill (AB) 32, the California Global WarngjrSolutions Act of 2006, assigns responsibilityC#®wRB for monitoring and
establishing policies for reducing greenhouse Ga&$&) emissions. The bill requires CARB to develog adopt a comprehensive plan for achieving
real, quantifiable and cost-effective GHG emissieductions, including a statewide GHG emissions nemndatory reporting rules, and regulatory
and market mechanisms to achieve reductions of ®mSsions. CARB is a department within the CalifafBnvironmental Protection Agency, an
organization that reports directly to the Goverad@ffice in the Executive Branch of California &t&overnment. Sempra Natural Gas and Sempra
Mexico are also subject to the rules and regulat@mCARB. We provide further discussion in Notefthe Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements in the Annual Report.

United States Utility Regulation

The California Utilities are also regulated by frederal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC), theldar Regulatory Commission (NRC) and
U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT).

In the case of SDG&E, the FERC regulates the ita@sale and transportation of natural gas, #resimission and wholesale sales of electricity in
interstate commerce, transmission access, ratesusf on transmission investment, the uniformesyst of accounts, rates of depreciation and
electric rates involving sales for resale.

In the case of SoCalGas, the FERC regulates thestate sale and transportation of natural gagtendniform systems of accounts.

The NRC oversees the licensing, construction, ¢igerand decommissioning of nuclear facilitieshie United States, including the San Onofre
Nuclear Generating Station (SONGS), in which SDG&##s a 2-percent interest. NRC regulations require extensdview of the safety,
radiological and environmental aspects of thes#itfas. The majority owner of SONGS, Southern @aliia Edison Company (Edison), made a
decision to permanently retire the facility in J@@.3. We provide further discussion of current &3\matters involving the NRC and the closur
the facility in Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidhtéinancial Statements in the Annual Report.

The DOT has established regulations regarding eeging standards and operating procedures apmi¢abthe California Utilities’ natural gas
transmission and distribution pipelines. The DO bartified the CPUC to administer oversight anehgliance with these regulations for the enti
they regulate in California.

State and Local Regulation Within the U..

SoCalGas has natural gas franchises with the 12tiesuand the 222 cities in its service territdrgese franchises allow SoCalGas to locate, operate
and maintain facilities for the transmission anstritbution of natural gas. Most of the franchisagénindefinite lives with no expiration date. Some
franchises have fixed expiration dates, rangingf@914 to 2062.

SDG&E has

. electric franchises with the three counties and?theities in or adjoining its electric serviceriry; and
. natural gas franchises with the one county and &eities in its natural gas service territc

These franchises allow SDG&E to locate, operateraauhtain facilities for the transmission and disition of electricity and/or natural gas. Most of
the franchises have indefinite lives with no exjiina dates. Some natural gas and some electriclises have fixed expiration dates that range from
2015 to 2037.

Sempra Natural Gas also operates Mobile Gas SeBaggoration (Mobile Gas), a natural gas distribntitility serving southwest Alabama that is
regulated by the Alabama Public Service Commisditwbile Gas has franchise agreements with the mumties and eight cities in its service
territory, with fixed expiration dates ranging fr&@15 to 2033, which allow it to locate, operatd amaintain facilities for the transmission and
distribution of natural gas.

Sempra Renewables has operations, investmentvelogenent projects in Arizona, California, Colorattawaii, Indiana, Kansas, Nebraska,
Nevada and Pennsylvania. Sempra Natural Gas devatapoperates natural gas storage and relateléhpifecilities in Alabama, Louisiana al
Mississippi, operates its Mesquite Power naturalggneration facility in Arizona and has marketapgrations in Texas and California. Sempra
Natural Gas also operates Willmut Gas Company (WitlGas), a natural gas distribution utility segvidattiesburg, Mississippi and regulated by
Mississippi Public Service Commission. These eetitire subject to state and local laws, and tdatgns in the states in which they operate.



Other U.S. Regulatior

In the United States, the FERC, with ratemakindnauity over sales of wholesale power and the trartafion and storage of natural gas in interstate
commerce, and siting and permitting authority fquéfied natural gas (LNG) terminals, regulates fenRenewables’ and Sempra Natural Gas’
operations. Sempra Renewables and Sempra Natusadfigaate under the jurisdiction of the North Aroani Electric Reliability Corporation, which
is subject to oversight by the FERC. Sempra Nat@es also owns an interest in the Rockies Exprigegdife, a natural gas pipeline that operates in
eight states in the United States and is subjesduolation by the FERC. We discuss our investrretite pipeline further in Note 4 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in the AnnualoRep

The FERC may regulate rates and terms of servisedban a cost-adervice approach or, in geographic and product etardletermined by the FEF
to be sufficiently competitive, rates may be matx@sed. Our LNG terminal in the United States lgestt to market-based rates and terms of service
FERC-regulated rates at the following businesses ar

= Sempra Renewables and Sempra Natural Gas: r-based for wholesale electricity sa
= Sempra Natural Gas: c-based and mark-based for the transportation and storage of nafias| respectivel

= Sempra Natural Gas: mar-based for the receipt, storage, and vaporizatidiNg and liquefaction of natural gas and the pusehand sale
LNG and natural ga

The California Utilities and Sempra Natural Gassubject to regulation by the U.S. Commodity Fusufeading Commission. Sempra Natural G
also subject to DOT rules and regulations regargipgline safety. Our Cameron LNG terminal is asbject to regulations of the U.S. Department
of Energy (DOE) regarding the export of LNG.

Foreign Regulation

Our Sempra Mexico segment owns and operates tlosvfoly in Mexico:

= a natural ge-fired power plant in Baja California, Mexic

= natural gas distribution systems in Mexicali, Clahua, and the La Lagu-Durango zone in nor-central Mexicc

= natural gas pipelines between the U.S. border aja Balifornia, Mexico and Sonora, Mexico. SempraxMo also owns a 5fercent intere
in a joint venture with PEMEX (the Mexican statemed oil company) that operates several naturalgipelines and propane system
Mexico

= the Energia Costa Azul LNG terminal located in Bagifornia, Mexica

These operations are subject to regulation by tlerdy Regulatory Commission (Comision Regulador&miergia, or CRE) and by the labor and
environmental agencies of city, state and fedesaégnments in Mexico.

Sempra Mexico’s operations in Mexico are primacintained in the Sempra Energy subsidiary Infraesira Energética Nova, S.A.B. de C.V.
(IEnova). In the first quarter of 2013, IEnova cdeted a private offering in the U.S. and outsidéeiico and concurrent public offering in Mexico
of common stock. The issuance of shares was appawve is subject to regulation by the Mexican NaldBanking and Securities Commission
(Comision Nacional Bancaria y de Valores, CNBV) ffiegistration of the shares with the Mexican Nadid®ecurities Registry (Registro Nacional de
Valores, RNV) maintained by the CNBV. IEnosahares are traded on the Mexican Stock ExchdrsgBdlsa Mexicana de Valores, S.A.B. de C
BMV) under the symbol “IENOVA.”

Sempra South American Utilities has two utilitiesSouth America that are subject to laws and reiguis.in the localities and countries in which
they operate. Chilquinta Energia S.A. (includirmgstibsidiaries, Chilquinta Energia) is an eledistribution utility serving customers in the céief
Valparaiso and Vifia del Mar in central Chile. Lied 8ur S.A.A. (including its subsidiaries, Luz &elr) is an electric distribution utility in the
southern zone of metropolitan Lima, Peru. Thed#ies serve primarily regulated customers, andrttevenues are based on tariffs that are setd
National Energy Commission (Comisién Nacional defgi a, or CNE) in Chile and the Energy and Mining Irtweant Supervisory Body
(Organismo Supervisor de la Inversion en Energvlineria, or OSINERGMIN) of the National Electrici®ffice under the Ministry of Energy and
Mines in Peru.

Licenses and Permit

The California Utilities obtain numerous permitattaorizations and licenses in connection with thesmission and distribution of natural gas and
electricity and the operation and constructionetdted assets, some of which may require periatiewal.

Our other subsidiaries are also required to obtamerous permits, authorizations and licensesamtrmal course of business. Some of these
permits, authorizations and licenses require pericghewal.

Sempra Mexico and Sempra South American Utilitigsim numerous permits, authorizations and licefaetheir electric and natural gas



distribution and transmission systems from thellgo&ernments where the service is provided. Theession to operate from the Ministerio de
Energi a for both Chilquinta Energa’s and Luz del Sur’s distribution operations isda indefinite term, not requiring renewal.

Sempra Mexico and Sempra Natural Gas obtain liceasd permits for the operation and expansion d& lfatilities, and the import and export of
LNG and natural gas.

Sempra Renewables obtains a number of permits, authosizatind licenses in connection with the constraciiod operation of power generation
facilities, and in connection with the wholesalstdbution of electricity.

Sempra Natural Gas obtains a number of permits, authadmatand licenses in connection with the constoamctind operation of power generation
facilities and natural gas storage facilities aiklines, and in connection with the wholesaleritistion of electricity.

Most of the permits and licenses associated wittsizaction and operations within the Sempra Rentsadnd Sempra Natural Gas businesses are
for periods generally in alignment with the conetion cycle or life of the asset and in many cagester than 20 years. We do not anticipate that ou
ongoing requirement to renew or extend shortertdurgermits and licenses would have a materiabichjpo the ongoing operations of these
businesses.

We describe other regulatory matters in Note 1thefNotes to Consolidated Financial Statementséndnnual Report.

CALIFORNIA NATURAL GAS UTILITY OPERATIONS

SoCalGas and SDG&E sell, distribute and transpatinal gas. SoCalGas purchases and stores naagrédigits core customers and SDG&E'’s core
customers on a combined portfolio basis and prevwddural gas storage services for others. ThéoDaik Utilities’ resource planning, natural gas
procurement, contractual commitments, and relatgdlatory matters are discussed below. We alsagedurther discussion in “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operations,” and in Note 14 of the Néte€onsolidated Financial Statements in the
Annual Report.

Customers
At December 31, 2013, SoCalGas had 5.8 millionarast meters consisting of approximately:

. 5,568,200 residenti:

246,700 commercial

27,000 industrial

= 40 electric generation and wholes

At December 31, 2013, SDG&E had approximately 888 fatural gas customer meters consisting of ajopaizly:
. 832,000 residentic

= 28,600 commercial

= 3,700 electric generation and cogenerat

For regulatory purposes, end-use customers arsiftdalsas either core or noncore customers. Costomers are primarily residential and small
commercial and industrial customers. Noncore custerat SoCalGas consist primarily of electric gatien, wholesale, large commercial and
industrial, and enhanced oil recovery customer&aB8as’ wholesale customers are primarily otheestor-owned utilities (IOUs), including
SDG&E, or municipally owned natural gas distribat®ystems. Noncore customers at SDG&E consist pityrad electric generation and large
commercial and industrial customers.

Most core customers purchase natural gas directiy SoCalGas or SDG&E. While core customers armipied to purchase directly from
producers, marketers or brokers, the Californidities are obligated to provide reliable suppliésatural gas to serve the requirements of thek co
customers. Noncore customers are responsible égorttcurement of their natural gas requirements.

In 2013, SoCalGas added approximately 23,000 newexied natural gas customer meters, representiagraual growth rate of 0.4 percent; in
2012, it added approximately 18,000 new connectegtrs, representing an annual growth rate of '@epeé SDG&E’s connected natural gas
customer meters increased by nearly 5,000 in b@1l3 2nd 2012, representing an annual growth raebgpercent in both years. Based on forecasts
of new housing starts, SoCalGas and SDG&E eachcexfigat its new meter annual growth rates in 20ilde slightly higher than those in 2013.

Natural Gas Procurement and Transportatic



SoCalGas purchases natural gas under short-term and longdentracts for the California Utilitiegore customers. SoCalGas purchases natur
from Canada, the U.S. Rockies and the southwebt&nto meet its and SDG&E's core customer requér@iiand maintain pipeline reliability. It

also purchases some California natural gas praztuetid additional supplies delivered directly tdifGenia for its remaining requirements. Purch
of natural gas are primarily priced based on ptublismonthly bid-week indices.

To ensure the delivery of the natural gas suppliéts distribution system and to meet the seasandlannual needs of customers, SoCalGas has
entered into firm interstate pipeline capacity caats that require the payment of fixed reservatioarges to reserve firm transportation rights.sehe
contracts expire on various dates between 201£2628. Pipeline companies, primarily El Paso Nat@as Company, Transwestern Pipeline
Company, Gas Transmission Northwest, Pacific GdsEectric Company (PG&E), and Kern River Gas Traission Company, provide
transportation services into SoCalGas’ intrastatesimission system for supplies purchased by SaZabGits transportation customers from outside
of California. The FERC regulates the rates thigrgiate pipeline companies may charge for nagasland transportation services.

Natural Gas Storagt

SoCalGas provides natural gas storage servicenfer noncore and non-end-use customers. The @uadiftltilities’ core customers are allocated a
portion of SoCalGas’ storage capacity. SoCalGamrsfthe remaining storage capacity for sale torstliecluding SDG&E for its non-core customer
requirements, through an open bid process. Thagemervice program provides opportunities foralmstomers to purchase and store natural gas
when natural gas costs are low, usually duringstiremer, thereby reducing purchases when naturalags are expected to be higher. This program
allows customers to better manage their naturapgasurement and transportation needs.

Demand for Natural Gas

Growth in the demand for natural gas largely dependthe health and expansion of the Southerndalié economy, prices of alternative energy
products, environmental regulations, renewable@néegislation, and the effectiveness of enerdjigiehcy programs. External factors such as
weather, the price of electricity, the use of hydectric power, development of renewable energgues, development of new natural gas supply
sources, and general economic conditions can agdtrin significant shifts in market price, whictay in turn impact demand.

The California Utilities face competition in thesigential and commercial customer markets basemistomers’ preferences for natural gas
compared with other energy products. In the nontatestrial market, some customers are capableafrig alternate fuel supplies from other
suppliers which can affect the demand for natuaal §he California Utilities’ ability to maintaiheir respective industrial market shares is largely
dependent on the relative price spread betweenedetl natural gas and potential fuel alternativehi@s propane.

Natural gas demand for electric generation wittent8ern California competes with electric poweregated throughout the western U.S. Natura
transported for electric generating plant customeayg be affected by the growth in renewable geiwrathe addition of more efficient gas
technologies and to the extent that regulatory ghamnd electric transmission infrastructure inmestt divert electric generation from the California
Utilities’ respective service areas. The demand aigg fluctuate due to volatility in the demand éectricity and the availability of competing
supplies of electricity such as hydroelectric gatien and other renewable energy sources. We pr@dditional information regarding the electric
industry in Note 14 of the Notes to Consolidateddlficial Statements in the Annual Report.

The natural gas distribution business is seasandlrevenues generally are greater during the mirgating months. As is prevalent in the industry,

SoCalGas injects natural gas into storage duriagtimmer months (usually April through October)ithdrawal from storage during the winter
months (usually November through March) when custodemand is higher.

ELECTRIC UTILITY OPERATIONS

SDG&E

Customers

SDG&E's service area covers 4,100 square mile©estember 31, 2013, SDG&E had 1.4 million electtistomer meters consisting of
approximately:

. 1,252,400 residenti:

. 148,000 commercial

= 500 industrial

= 2,100 street and highway lightii

. 5,400 direct acces



SDG&E's active electric customer meters increasedgproximately 7,000 in both 2013 and 2012, regarésg annual growth rates of 0.5 percent in
both years. Based on forecasting of new housimgss@DG&E expects that its new meter annual graoaté in 2014 will be slightly higher than the
growth in 2013.

Resource Planning and Power Procuren

SDG&E's resource planning, power procurement atated regulatory matters are discussed in “ManagémBiscussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and in No#sidd 15 of the Notes to Consolidated FinanciakStants in the Annual Report.

Electric Resource

The supply of electric power available to SDG&E ffesale is based on CPUC-approved purchased-p@ngacts currently in place with its various
suppliers, its wholly owned generating facilitiaed purchases on a spot basis. This supply asadrbiger 31, 2013 is as follows:

SDG&E ELECTRIC RESOURCES

Resource Number of Contracts Expiration date Megawatts (MW)
PURCHASED-POWER CONTRACTS:

Contracts with Qualifying Facilities (QFs)(1):

Cogeneration 4 2015 and thereafter 246
Other contracts with renewable sources:
Wind 9 2018 - 2033 1,056
Solar PV 6 2033 - 2038 565
Bio-gas/Hydro/Wind 21 2014 and thereafter 46
Biomass 2 2017, 2025 60
Geothermal 1 2014 25
Total 1,752
Other long-term and tolling contracts(2):
Natural gas 3 2019 - 2035 752
Hydro/Pump storage 1 2037 40
Demand response/Distributed generation 1 2016 25
Total 817
Total contracted 2,815
OWNED GENERATION, NATURAL GAS:
Palomar Energy Center 560
Miramar Energy Center 96
Desert Star Energy Center 495
Cuyamaca Peak Energy Plant 42
Total generation 1,193
TOTAL CONTRACTED AND GENERATION 4,008

(1) A QF is a generating facility which meets the requirements for QF status under the Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act of 1978. It includes cogeneration facilities,
which produce electricity and another form of useful thermal energy (such as heat or steam) used for industrial, commercial, residential or institutional purposes.
2) Tolling contracts are purchased-power agreements under which SDG&E provides the fuel for generation to the energy supplier.

Charges under most of the contracts with QFs asecban SDG&E's avoided cost. Charges under theirémgacontracts are for firm and as-
generated energy, and are based on the amoun¢igfyereceived or are tolls based on available dgpathe prices under these contracts are based
on the market value at the time the contracts wegstiated.

Natural Gas Suppl

SDG&E buys natural gas under short-term contrawté$ Palomar, Miramar, Desert Star and Cuyamaek Benerating facilities and for the Otay
Mesa Energy Center LLC, Orange Grove Energy L.PC&on Energy, LLC and Escondido Energy CenterCltblling contracts. Purchases are
from various southwestern U.S. suppliers and aregsily priced based on published monthly bid-wéekices. SDG&E’s natural gas is typically
delivered from Southern California border receipings to the SoCal CityGate pool via backbone traasion system rights which expire on
September 30, 2014. The natural gas is then detivierthe generating facilities through SoCalGasl 8DG&E'’s pipeline systems in accordance
with a transportation agreement that expires on Bgy2015. SDG&E has also contracted with SoCafGasatural gas storage through March 31,
2014.

Power Pool

SDG&E is a participant in the Western Systems Pd®ami, which includes an electric-power and tramssion-rate agreement with utilities and



power agencies located throughout the United Statd<Canada. More than 300 investor-owned and ripahiatilities, state and federal power
agencies, energy brokers and power marketers pbarer and information in order to increase efficigand competition in the bulk power market.
Participants are able to make power transactiorstamdardized terms, including market-based ratespproved by the FERC.

Transmission Arrangements

SDG&E’s 500-kilovolt (kV) Southwest Powerlink trangssion line, which is shared with Arizona Publerdce Company and Imperial Irrigation
District, extends from Palo Verde, Arizona to Saado, California. SDG&E's share of the line is 121@W, although it can be less under certain
system conditions.

SDG&E's Sunrise Powerlink is a 500-kV transmisdior project built by SDG&E that is delivering up 800 MW of energy and is designed to
deliver more than 1,000 MW of power from the ImpéNalley to the San Diego region. The line waspthin service in June 2012. We provide
further discussion of Sunrise Powerlink in Noteof%he Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementkeé Annual Report.

Mexico’s Baja California system is connected to I3 system via two 230-kV interconnections witmadained capacity up to 408 MW in the
north-to-south direction and 800 MW in the southtth direction, although it can be less undetadersystem conditions.

Edison’s transmission is connected to SDG&E’s sysaé SONGS via five 230-kV transmission lines wéttotal firm capacity up to 2,500 MW into
SDG&E's system, although it can be less under mesigstem conditions.

Transmission Access

The National Energy Policy Act governs procedumg&quests for transmission service. The FERCayagr the California I0Us’ transfer of
operation and control of their transmission fai@éitto the Independent System Operator in 1998pkte@de additional information regarding
transmission issues in Note 14 of the Notes to Glateted Financial Statements in the Annual Report.

Chilquinta Energia

Customers

Chilguinta Energia is an electric distribution itiilserving approximately 640,000 customers indties of Valparaiso and Vifia del Mar in central
Chile, with a main service area covering 4,400 sgjugiles. At December 31, 2013, its customers ctediof approximately:

= 590,500 residentie

. 37,200 commercie

. 1,400 industria

= 5,900 street and highway lightii

= 4,700 agricultura

In Chile, customers are also classified as regdlatel non-regulated customers based on instalfgatity. Regulated customers are those whose
installed capacity is less than 500 kilowatts (kW@n-regulated customers are those whose instedlpdcity is greater than 2,000 kW. Customers

with installed capacity between 500 kW and 2,000k¥ choose to be classified as regulated or ngualated. Non-regulated customers can buy
power from other sources, such as directly fromgiseerator.

In 2013, Chilquinta Energia added approximatel¥)Q@,new customers at a growth rate of 2.7 perédntquinta Energia’s electric energy sales
increased by approximately 158,000 megawatt havdgtf) and 178,000 MWh in 2013 and 2012, respectivepresenting an annual growth rate of
6 percent in 2013 and 7 percent in 2012.

Electric Resource

The supply of electric power available to Chilgaifinergia comes from power purchase contractsrttlyria place with its various suppliers and its
generating facilities. This supply as of Decembkr2)13 is as follows:

CHILQUINTA ENERGIA ELECTRIC RESOURCES
Resource Number of Contracts Expiration date Megawatts (MW)
PURCHASED-POWER CONTRACTS(1)(2):




Thermal/Hydro/Wind 10 2020 to 2026 436

SMALL GENERATION PLANTS(3):

Thermal 11
TOTAL CONTRACTED AND GENERATION 447
1) Contracts with fuel sources that include natural gas, coal or diesel are collectively referred to as thermal.

2) In 2013, energy contracts in the Central Interconnected System, where Chilquinta Energia operates, were supplied from 61 percent thermal, 38 percent hydro and

1 percent wind sources.

3) Compaifiia de Petréleos de Chile Copec S.A. supplies diesel fuel to six small generation plants using trucks from different stations throughout the region.

Power Generation Syste

The Centers for Economic Load Dispatch (CentroBegpacho Econémico de Carga, or CDEC) are privg@nizations in charge of coordinating
the operation of the electricity system. Eachrotdanected system is subject to its own CDEC; tieeeeCDECSIC (Sistema Interconectado Cent
Central Interconnected System) and CDEC-SING (Biatkterconectado del Norte Grande, Northern lotamected System) for the central and the
northern interconnected system, respectively. dDiita Energia operates within CDEC-SIC.

Transmission System and Access

Chile’s transmission system is divided into twotpamain transmission (sistema de transmision &prand the sub-transmission (sistema de
subtransmision). In Chile, main transmission limasst be greater than or equal to 220 kV. ChilquiEriargia primarily uses Transelec, a third party,
for its main transmission. In general, sub-transiois systems operate at voltage levels greater2ZBaV and lower than or equal to 110 kV. Sub-
transmission systems, including those owned byqDhita Energia, are comprised of infrastructure ihanterconnected to the electricity system to
supply non-regulated or regulated end-users lodattte distribution service area.

Luz del Sur
Customers

Luz del Sur is an electric distribution utility s@rg approximately 996,000 customers in the soutlzene of metropolitan Lima, Peru, with a main
service area covering 1,160 square miles. At Deeer@b, 2013, its customers consisted of approxilytate

. 924,500 residentic

. 61,400 commercie

= 3,900 industria

= 4,900 street and highway lightil

. 1,300 agricultura

In Peru, customers are also classified as reguétddon-regulated customers based on capacityrdbrRegulated customers are those whose
capacity demand is less than 200 kW and their grergply is considered public service. Custometh wapacity demand between 200 kW and
2,500 kW may choose to be classified as regulatemo-regulated.

In 2013, Luz del Sur added approximately 37,000 oestomers at a growth rate of 3.9 percent. LuZSdels electric energy sales increased by

approximately 316,000 MWh and 359,000 MWh in 2048 2012, respectively, representing an annual droate of 5 percent in 2013 and 6 per:
in 2012.

Electric Resource

The supply of electric power available to Luz det Somes from power purchase contracts currenthldone with various suppliers, as well as
purchases made on a spot basis. This supply asa#riber 31, 2013 is as follows:

LUZ DEL SUR ELECTRIC RESOURCES
Resource Number of Contracts Expiration date Megawatts (MW)

PURCHASED-POWER CONTRACTS(1):
Bilateral contracts:

Hydro 1 2014 20




Auction contracts:

Hydro 7 2014-2021 269

Thermal 5 2021-2023 674

Hydro/Thermal 3 2021-2023 510

Total 1,453

TOTAL CONTRACTED 1,473
(1) Contracts with fuel sources that include natural gas, coal or diesel are collectively referred to as thermal.

Power Generation Syste

The Sistema Eléctrico Interconectado Nacional (3EXhe Peruvian national interconnected systEeru also has several isolated regional and
smaller systems that provide electricity to speafieas. The OSINERGMIN is an autonomous publialeggry entity that controls and enforces
compliance with legal and technical regulationatedd to electric activities, sets tariffs and sujses the bidding processes required by distrilnutio
companies to purchase energy from generators.

The Committee of Economic Operation of the Nationaétnbnnected System (Comité de Operacién Econéneicdistema Interconectado
Nacional, ot COES) coordinates the operation and dispatch ofraiy of the SEIN, and manages the short-termkeia The COES oversees
generation, transmission and distribution comparissvell unregulated customers with a demand hitjizen 200 kW.

Transmission System and Access

Transmission lines in Peru are divided into priatignd secondary systems. The principal systers lne accessible by all generators and allow the
flow of energy through the national grid. The setamy system lines connect principal transmissiah wie network of distribution companies or
connect directly to certain final customers. Tlasmission company receives tariff revenues ardateltolls based on a charge per unit of
electricity.

RATES AND REGULATION — UTILITIES

We provide information concerning rates and redgmteapplicable to our utilities in “Management’ssbussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations” and in Notes 1, 13 ghdfthe Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemiertise Annual Report.

SEMPRA INTERNATIONAL AND SEMPRA U.S. GAS & POWER

Sempra International and Sempra U.S. Gas & Powaagomost of our subsidiaries that are not sulig@alifornia utility regulation. In addition to
the discussion of our South American utilities adyowve provide descriptions of these operating usitgments and information concerning their
operations in “Management’s Discussion and Analgéisinancial Condition and Results of Operatioastl in Notes 1, 3, 4, 15 and 16 of the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements in the AnReglort.

Competition

Sempra Energy’s non-utility businesses are amongyrathers in the energy industry providing sim#arvices. They are engaged in highly
competitive activities that require significant &apinvestments and highly skilled and experienpedsonnel. Among these competitors there may be
significant variation in financial, personnel arttier resources compared to Sempra Internationabantpra U.S. Gas & Power.

Generation — Renewables

Sempra Renewables primarily competes for wholesaiéracts for the generation and sale of elegyrititough its development of and investments
in wind and solar generation facilities. For saleaon-contracted renewable energy, Sempra Renewabinpetes with other non-utility generators,
regulated utilities, unregulated subsidiaries glutated utilities, and other energy service comggnlhe number and type of competitors may vary
based on location, generation type and project sils®, recently enacted regulatory initiativesigaed to enhance energy consumption from
renewable resources for regulated utility companiayg increase competition from these types oftinstins. These utilities may have a lower cost of
capital than most independent renewable power mexduand often are able to recover fixed costaitiitraate base mechanisms. This recovery
allows them to build, buy and upgrade renewablesgdion projects without relying exclusively on ketrclearing prices to recover their
investments. Additionally, generation from SemRenewables’ renewable energy assets is expos&dttodtions in naturally occurring conditions
such as wind, inclement weather and hours of shilig

Our renewable energy competitors include, amongreth

= Exelon Energy . NextEra Energy Resources
" Iberdrola Renewables = NRG Energy

. MidAmerican Energy



Generation — Natural Gas

For sales of non-contracted power, Sempra Natuaali&subject to competition from energy marketatibties, industrial companies and other
independent power producers. For a number of yaataral gas has been the fuel of choice for nemepgeneration facilities for economic,
operational and environmental reasons. While negas fired facilities will continue to be an impant part of the nation’s generation portfolio,
some regulated utilities are now constructing upiteered by renewable resources, often with subssidli under legislative mandate. These utilities
may have a lower cost of capital than most indepehdower producers and often are able to recaxed tosts through rate base mechanisms. This
recovery may allow them to build, buy and upgradeegation without relying exclusively on marketariag prices to recover their investments.

When Sempra Natural Gas sells power not subjdongpterm contractual commitments, it is exposethéoket fluctuations in prices based on a
number of factors, including the amount of capaaitgilable to meet demand, the price and avaitglmfi fuel, and the presence of transmission
constraints. Some of our competitors, such asréadgilities and generation companies, have thein generation capacity, including natural gas,
coal and nuclear generation. These companiesranarger than our segments engaged in the abfas business, may have a lower cost of
capital and may have competitive advantages asudt iif their scale and the location of their gatien facilities. In January 2014, management
approved a plan to market and sell Sempra Natuaal @maining generation asset, a 625-MW blockefMesquite Power natural gas-fired power
plant in Arizona, as we discuss in Note 18 of tleéad to Consolidated Financial Statements in theuAhReport.

Our natural gas generation competitors include,regrathers:

" Calpine = NextEra Energy Resources
= Dynegy . NRG Energy
" Exelon Corporation

Because Sempra Mexico sells the power that it geeeat its Termoeléctrica de Mexicali plant intifornia, it is also impacted by these
competitive factors.

Natural Gas Pipelines and Storage Facilit
Within its market area, Sempra Natural Gas’ and8arMexico’s pipelines businesses and Sempra NaBas storage facilities businesses comj
with other regulated and unregulated storage fegsiland pipelines. They compete primarily on thsib of price (in terms of storage and

transportation fees), available capacity and imtenections to downstream markets.

Sempra Natural Gas’ competitors include, amongrsthe

. AGL Resources . Enterprise Products Partners

" Boardwalk Pipeline Partners = Kinder Morgan

" Cardinal Gas Storage Partners = Macquarie Infrastructure Partners
" Clean Energy = NiSource

" Duke Energy = Plains All American Pipeline

" Enbridge = Spectra Energy

" Energy Transfer Partners = TransCanada

" Enstor = The Williams Companies

Sempra Mexico’s natural gas pipeline competitoctuitie, among others:

" EDF Energy = Kinder Morgan
" Elecnor = Mitsui
" Enagas = PEMEX (MGI)

" Fermaca = Promigas



= GDF SUEZ = TransCanada

LNG

Technological advances associated with shale gasight oil production have reduced the forecasteed for North American LNG import facilities
and increased interest in liquefaction and expppootunities.

At current forward gas prices, brownfield U.S. GQast liquefaction appears to be among the ma= pompetitive potential LNG supply in the
world. Its price competitiveness results from méamtors, including:

= high levels of undeveloped North American unconigeratl natural gas and tight oil resources relativdomestic consumption leve
= increasing gas and oil drilling productivity andcdeasing unit costs of gas producti

= low breakeven prices of marginal North Americaname&ntional gas productio

= proximity to ample existing gas transmission pipeland underground gas storage capacity

= existing LNG tankage and bertt

It is expected that global LNG competition, prinlafrom Canada, Russia, East Africa and Australidl,limit U.S. LNG exports, as international
liquefaction projects attempt to match U.S. GulB&LNG production costs. Host governments forrirggonal liquefaction projects are altering
fiscal and tax regimes in an effort to make prgéwttheir jurisdictions competitive relative toSJ projects. It is expected that United States LNG
exports will greatly increase competition for cumtrand future global natural gas demand, and tlyefdilitate development of a global commaodity
market for natural gas.

Sempra Natural Gas is currently progressing wiimpifor a development project to utilize its CamdrbdlG receipt terminal for the liquefaction of
natural gas and export of LNG. Sempra Natural Gassigned long-term contracts for liquefaction mewthat allow us to fully utilize our existing
regasification infrastructure while minimizing diuture additional capital investment. The liquefaectfacility will utilize Cameron LNG’s existing
facilities, including two marine berths, three LN@rage tanks, and vaporization capability of 1llioh cubic feet (Bcf) per day. In January 2012,
the DOE approved Cameron LNG'’s application for atitation to export LNG to Free Trade AgreementAl-€ountries. In February 2014, the
DOE issued a conditional authorization to expor@.td countries that do not have an FTA with the.U.S

In May 2013, Cameron LNG signed a joint venturesagrent with its liquefaction customers, affiliaté$<sDF SUEZ S.A., Mitsubishi Corporation
(through a related company jointly established Withpon Yusen Kabushiki Kaisha (NYK)), and Mitsui@o., Ltd., subject to a final investment
decision, finalization of permit authorizationsgseng financing commitments and other conditioftsese customers compete globally to market and
sell LNG to end users, including gas and electii¢ias located in LNG importing countries aroutite world. By providing liquefaction services,
Cameron LNG would compete indirectly with liquefactprojects currently operating and those undeeligment in the global LNG market. In
addition to the U.S., these competitors are locatédde Middle East, Southeast Asia, Africa, Solitherica, Australia and Europe.

Our planned LNG liquefaction business’ major doneegihd international competitors include, amongeaghthe following companies and their
related LNG affiliates:

= BG = Kogas

" BP = Mitsubishi

" Cheniere Energy = Mitsui

" Chevron = Petronas

" China National Petroleum Company = Qatar Petroleum
" ConocoPhillips = Santos

" Dow Chemical = Royal Dutch Shell
" ExxonMobil = Total

" GDF SUEZ = Woodside

" Kinder Morgan



ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

We discuss environmental issues affecting us ireN&tof the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statgsni@ the Annual Report. You should read the
following additional information in conjunction witthose discussions.

Hazardous Substance

In 1994, the CPUC approved the Hazardous Wastel@mthtive mechanism, allowing CaliforrsdOUs to recover hazardous waste cleanup cos
certain sites, including those related to certaipe®fund sites. This mechanism permits the Califokiilities to recover in rates 90 percent of
hazardous waste cleanup costs and related thitgdftagation costs, and 70 percent of the relatedirance-litigation expenses. In addition, the
California Utilities have the opportunity to retarpercentage of any recoveries from insurancéecsrand other third parties to offset the cleanup
and associated litigation costs not recoveredtisra

At December 31, 2013, we had accrued estimatedingmganvestigation and remediation liabilities$5.5 million at SDG&E and $15.1 million at
SoCalGas, both related to hazardous waste siteghich the Hazardous Waste Collaborative mechaaisplies, as described above. The accruals
include costs for numerous locations, most of witia been manufactured-gas plants at SoCalGasegtiisated cost excludes remediation costs of
$0.1 million associated with SDG&E'’s former foskikl power plants and other locations for which ¢leanup costs are not being recovered in r
We believe that any costs not ultimately recovenedugh rates, insurance or other means will neelematerial adverse effect on the consolidated
results of operations, cash flows or financial doad of Sempra Energy, SDG&E or SoCalGas.

We record estimated liabilities for environmentghediation when amounts are probable and estimiabéeldition, we record amounts authorized to
be recovered in rates under the Hazardous Wastal®©ohtive mechanism as regulatory assets.

Air and Water Quality

The electric and natural gas industries are subgeicicreasingly stringent air-quality and greendmgas standards, such as those established by the
United States Environmental Protection Agency (EBAJ the CARB. We discuss these standards in “Govent Regulation — California State
Utility Regulation” above. The California Utilitiegenerally recover in rates the costs to comply Wiese standards.

In connection with the issuance of operating peasn8DG&E and the other owners of SONGS have areagget with the California Coastal
Commission (CCC) to mitigate environmental impdotthe marine environment attributed to the coocliveger discharge from SONGS during its
operation. SONGS'’ early retirement, described iteNkB of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statasin the Annual Report, does not reduce
SDG&E’s mitigation obligation. SDG&E'’s share of thatigation costs is estimated to be $57 milliohwhich $43 million had been incurred
through December 31, 2013, and $14 million is aedtor the remaining costs through 2050. Artifidialp reef, fish hatchery and wetlands
restoration projects are complete, but continugetstudied until the CCC accepts the projects.réh&ining costs are to meet CCC acceptance
requirements and maintain the projects through 2050

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANTS

Sempra Energ)

Name Age(1) Position(1)

Debra L. Reed 57 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mark A. Snell 57 President

Joseph A. Householder 58 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Martha B. Wyrsch 56 Executive Vice President and General Counsel

Trevor |. Mihalik 47 Senior Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer

G. Joyce Rowland 59 Senior Vice President — Human Resources, Diversity and Inclusion

1) Ages and positions are as of February 27, 2014.

With the exception of Ms. Wyrsch and Mr. Mihalilgah executive officer has been an officer of Sergprargy or its subsidiaries for more than the
last five years. Before joining Sempra Energy ipt8mber 2013, Ms. Wyrsch served as President aBgesmerican Wind Systems from 2009 to
2012. Previously, Ms. Wyrsch spent nearly ten yaaiBuke Energy and its spinoff, Spectra EnergypGmation. She joined Duke Energy in 1999 as
Senior Vice President of Legal Affairs and Deputyu@sel and, later, was promoted to Group Vice Beesiand General Counsel. In 2005, she
moved to Duke Energy Gas Transmission as its Rees@hd Chief Executive Officer. Subsequently, lsbeame the President and Chief Executive
Officer of Spectra Energy Transmission.

Before joining Sempra Energy in July 2012, Mr. Mikaerved as Senior Vice President of FinanceHerpast two years and as Vice President —
Controller for the prior four years, in each castbardrola Renewables Holdings, Inc., a diverdifienewables and natural gas company.



SDG&E and SoCalGa:

Name

Age(1) Position(1)

SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY

Jeffrey W. Martin 52 Chief Executive Officer

Steven D. Davis 58 President and Chief Operating Officer

James P. Avery 57 Senior Vice President — Power Supply

J. Chris Baker 54 Senior Vice President — Chief Information Technology Officer

Lee Schavrien 59 Senior Vice President — Finance, Regulatory and Legislative Affairs

W. Davis Smith 64 Senior Vice President and General Counsel

Robert M. Schlax 58 Vice President, Controller, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Accounting Officer and Treasurer
SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY

Anne S. Smith(2) 60 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Dennis V. Arriola(3) 53 President

J. Bret Lane 54 Chief Operating Officer

J. Chris Baker 54 Senior Vice President and Chief Information Technology Officer

Erbin B. Keith 53 Senior Vice President and General Counsel

Lee Schavrien 59 Senior Vice President — Finance, Regulatory and Legislative Affairs

Robert M. Schlax 58 Vice President, Controller, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Accounting Officer and Treasurer

(1) Ages and positions are as of February 27, 2014.
2) Ms. Smith will retire effective February 28, 2014.

3) On March 1, 2014, Mr. Arriola will become the Chief Executive Officer of SoCalGas and retain his position as President of SoCalGas.

With the exception of Mr. Arriola, each executivifieer of SDG&E and SoCalGas has been an officezroployee of Sempra Energy or its
subsidiaries for at least the last five years. Mriola was a Senior Vice President and the Chie&hcial Officer of SDG&E and SoCalGas from
September 2006 to November 2008, and held numenansgement positions with Sempra Energy or itsidiaisies prior to that period. In
November 2008, Mr. Arriola became a Senior Vicesklent and the Chief Financial Officer of SunPo®erporation. From April 2010 to Marc
2012, he was the Executive Vice President and (GHirefncial Officer of SunPower Corporation. In Asg2012, he joined SoCalGas as President
and Chief Operating Officer, and in December 202also joined the SoCalGas Board of Directors.

OTHER MATTERS

Employees of the Registran

At December 31, each company had the following remolf employees:

December 31,

2013 2012
Sempra Energy Consolidated(1) 17,122 16,893
SDG&E 4,603 4,996
SoCalGas 8,196 7,788
(1) Excludes employees of variable interest entities as defined by accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S.

Labor Relations

SoCalGas

Field, technical and most clerical employees até@8G@s are represented by the Utility Workers UribAmerica or the International Chemical
Workers Union Council (collectively “Union”) undersingle collective bargaining agreement. The piows of the collective bargaining agreement
for these employees covering wages, hours, workamglitions, medical and all other benefit plansiareffect through September 30, 2015. At
December 31, 2013, SoCalGas had 8,196 employeg®rédnt of which are represented by the Union.

SDG&E

Field employees and some clerical and technical@yeps at SDG&E are represented by the Interndt®raherhood of Electrical Workers.
Provisions of the collective bargaining agreementliese employees covering wages are in effestghr August 31, 2014, and through August 31,



2015, for working conditions. For these same emggy the agreement covering health and welfarefibeisein effect through December 31, 2014,
and the agreement covering pension and savingdplaefits is in effect through October 1, 2015D&tember 31, 2013, SDG&E had 4,603
employees, 29 percent of which are covered by thgegements.

Luz del Su

Field, technical and administrative employees a tlel Sur representing 34 percent of the total vavde of 819 employees are represented by the
Unified Trade Union of Electricity Workers of Linend Callao, and the Trade Union of Employees oftEdéima. A collective bargaining agreem:
signed on January 2, 2014 covers these employeis alfso extended to 159 non-represented emploltess/ers wages, working conditions and
medical and other benefit plans and is in effemtnfdanuary 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014.

Chilquinta Energia
Field, technical and administrative employees atq@inta Energia are represented by Labor Union hiemd Chilquinta Energia, Labor Union
Number 2 Chilquinta Energia, Litoral Labor Unionydlinares Labor Union, Tecnored Labor Union NumbeXegotiating Group Luzparral ai

Negotiating Group Casablanca. The collective baiggiagreements for employees represented by thrésas and negotiating groups cover way
hours, working conditions and medical and otherefieplans and are in effect through various détes 2014 to 2016.

Professional employees at Chilquinta Energia greesented by Group of University Graduates of Qiiit Energia. The collective bargaining
agreement for these employees covers wages, leensng conditions and medical and other benefingland is in effect through July 2, 2017.

At December 31, 2013, Chilquinta Energia had d tft4,381 employees, of which 37 percent are ced@mder a labor agreement.

Sempra Mexico

At December 31, 2013, Sempra Mexico had 496 empkye percent of which are covered by various ctille bargaining agreements with differ
labor unions. The collective bargaining agreemargssubject to renegotiation on an annual basls negpect to wages, and otherwise on a bi-annual
basis.

Mobile Gas

Field employees at Mobile Gas are representeddtiited Steelworkers Union under a single colNechargaining agreement. The agreement for
these employees covers wages, hours, working d¢ongliand medical and other benefit plans and &fect through November 30, 2017. At
December 31, 2013, Mobile Gas had a total of 21pleyees, 36 percent of which are covered underaieement.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

When evaluating our company and its subsidiaries, should consider carefully the following risktfars and all other information contained in this
report. These risk factors could materially advéyssfect our actual results and cause such redoldiffer materially from those expressed in any
forward-looking statements made by us or on our behalfm&e also be materially harmed by risks and undéetitss not currently known to us or
that we currently deem to be immaterial. If anyhaf following occurs, our businesses, cash floasylts of operations, financial condition and/or
prospects could be materially negatively impactadddition, the trading prices of our securitiesdathose of our subsidiaries could substanti
decline due to the occurrence of any of these riBkese risk factors should be read in conjunctidth the other detailed information concerning
our company set forth in the Annual Report, inahgdiwithout limitation, the information set forth the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
and in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis ofdficial Condition and Results of Operations.” Inglsection, when we state that a risk or
uncertainty may, could or will have a “material agge effect” on us or may, could or will materiafigversely affect us we mean that the risk or
uncertainty may, could or will have a material atheeffect on our businesses, cash flows, restitiperations, financial condition, prospects anc
the trading prices of our securities.

Sempra Energ’s cash flows, ability to pay dividends and ability meet its debt obligations largely depend on pegformance of its subsidiaries
and the ability to utilize the cash flows from thesubsidiaries.

Sempra Energy’s ability to pay dividends and mesediébt obligations depends almost entirely on dasis from its subsidiaries and, in the short
term, its ability to raise capital from externalisees. In the long term, cash flows from the subsigls depend on their ability to generate opegatin
cash flows in excess of their own expendituresland-term debt obligations. In addition, the submi@s are separate and distinct legal entities tha
are not obligated to pay dividends and could belpdz=d from making such distributions under certaioumstances, including, without limitation,

a result of legislation, regulation, court ordeantractual restrictions or in times of financiastéess.



A significant portion of our worldwide cash reses\ae generated by, and therefore held in, forgigsdictions. Some jurisdictions restrict the
amount of cash that can be transferred to the di@itates or impose taxes and penalties on sucsferarof cash, which reduces the cash available to
us. To the extent we have excess cash in foreiatitins that could be used in, or is needed byUnited States operations, we may incur signifi
taxes and/or penalties to repatriate these funds.

Conditions in the financial markets and economicmditions generally may materially adversely affac.

Our businesses are capital intensive and we rghjifgiantly on long-term debt to fund a portionafr capital expenditures and refund outstanding
debt, and on short-term borrowings to fund a partibday-to-day business operations.

The credit markets and financial services industtlye experienced periods of extreme world-wide tilroharacterized by the bankruptcy, failure,
collapse or sale of many financial institutions &ydextraordinary levels of government interventaon regulation.

Limitations on the availability of credit and inases in interest rates or credit spreads may raliyesdversely affect our businesses, cash flows,
results of operations, financial condition and/oygpects, as well as our ability to meet contrd@nd other commitments. In difficult credit market
we may find it necessary to fund our operations @apital expenditures at a higher cost or we mayriable to raise as much funding as we need to
support business activities. This could cause usdace capital expenditures and could increaseastrof funding, both of which could significan
reduce our short-term and long-term profitability.

The availability and cost of credit for our busises may be greatly affected by credit ratingshdfdredit ratings of SoCalGas or SDG&E were to be
reduced, their cash flows and results of operatimutd be materially adversely affected and anycddn in Sempra Energy’s credit ratings could
materially adversely affect the cash flows and ltssaf operations of Sempra Energy and its nontysiubsidiaries. If the credit ratings of Sempra
Energy or its nonttility subsidiaries were to decline, especiallyjopeinvestment grade, financing costs and borrowiwguld likely increase becat
certain counterparties may require collateral enfttrm of cash, a letter of credit or other formisecurity for new and existing transactions. Such
amounts may be material and could adversely affiectash flows, results of operations and finanmigdition.

Sempra Energy has substantial investments in Mex&w South America which expose us to foreign curoy, legal, tax, economic an
management oversight risk.

Our for eign operations pose complex managemerigio currency, legal, tax and economic risks, Whie may not be able to fully mitigate with
our actions. We have foreign operations in Mexied 8outh America. These risks differ from and pt&tiy may be greater than those associated
with our domestic businesses. Our internationaln@sses are sensitive to changes in the prioatiesbudgets of international customers and to geo-
political uncertainties, which may be driven by ibes in threat environments and potentially vaatibridwide economic conditions, various
regional and local economic and political facteisks and uncertainties, as well as U.S. foreigitpoForeign currency exchange rates and
fluctuations may have an impact on our revenuesamscash flows from our international operatiombich could materially adversely affect our
financial performance. Our primary currency expesuare to the Latin America currencies. Our printdnjective in reducing foreign currency risk is
to preserve the economic value of our foreign imesits and to reduce earnings volatility that waatlierwise occur due to exchange rate
fluctuations. We may attempt to offset materialssrgurrency transactions and earnings exposuraghngarious means, including financial
instruments and short-term investments. Becausgewerally do not hedge our net investments in forebuntries, we are susceptible to volatility in
other comprehensive income caused by exchang@ueteations.

Risks Related to All Sempra Energy Subsidiaries

Our businesses are subject to complex governmegtil&tions and may be materially adversely affectgdchanges in these regulations or in their
interpretation or implementation.

In recent years, the regulatory environment thatiap to the electric power and natural gas indestnas undergone significant changes, on both
federal and state levels. These changes haveeadftot nature of these industries and the mannehich their participants conduct their businesses.
These changes are ongoing, and we cannot prediftititre course of changes in this regulatory emvirent or the ultimate effect that this changing
regulatory environment will have on our businessésreover, existing regulations, laws and tariffaynioe revised or reinterpreted, and new
regulations, laws and tariffs may be adopted opbexapplicable to us and our facilities. Speciaffsamay also be imposed on components used in
our businesses that could increase costs.

Our businesses are subject to increasingly congiegunting and tax requirements, and the regukgtiaws and tariffs that affect us may change in
response to economic or political conditions. Caargle with these requirements could increase oeradipg costs, and new tax legislation,
regulations or other interpretations could matbriativersely affect our tax expense. Changes inlagigns, laws and tariffs and changes in the way
regulations, laws and tariffs are implemented awerpreted may have a material adverse effect obusinesses, cash flows, financial condition,
results of operations and/or prospects.

Our operations are subject to rules relating tosaations among the California Utilities and otBempra Energy operations. These rules are
commonly referred to as the Affiliate Transactionlés. These businesses could be materially adyeaffected by changes in these rules or by
additional CPUC or FERC rules that further restoiat ability to sell electricity or natural gas,tortrade with the California Utilities and withaa
other. Affiliate Transaction Rules also could requis to obtain prior approval from the CPUC befaméering into any such transactions with the
California Utilities. Any such restrictions on go@roval requirements for transactions among aféi§acould materially adversely affect the LNG



terminals, natural gas pipelines, electric genendfiacilities, or other operations of our subsidisywhich could have a material adverse effedun
businesses, results of operations and/or prospects.

Our businesses require numerous permits, licensed ather governmental approvals from various fedkrstate, local and foreign governmental
agencies; any failure to obtain or maintain requidepermits, licenses or approvals could cause odesdo materially decline and/or our costs to
materially increase, and otherwise materially adsely affect our businesses, cash flows, financiahdition, results of operations and/or
prospects

All of our existing and planned development pragaetquire multiple approvals. The acquisition, ¢aretion, ownership and operation of LNG
terminals, natural gas pipelines and storage fes|iand electric generation and transmissioriti@si require numerous permits, licenses, cedtfis
and other approvals from federal, state, localfareign governmental agencies. Once received, apfgonay be subject to litigation, and projects
may be delayed or approvals reversed in litigatioraddition, permits, licenses, certificates, attter approvals may be modified or rescinded by
or more of the governmental agencies and authstitiat oversee our businesses. If there is a delalytaining any required regulatory approvals or
failure to obtain or maintain any required appreval to comply with any applicable laws or reguasi, we may not be able to construct or operate
our facilities, or we may be forced to incur addfitl costs. Any such delay or failure to obtaimmaintain the necessary permits, licenses, ceftiftca
and other approvals could cause our sales to raliyediecline, and/or our costs to materially inas®aand otherwise materially adversely affect our
businesses, cash flows, financial condition, respiitoperations and/or prospects.

Our California Utilities are also affected by thaigities of organizations such as The Utility RefoNetwork (TURN), Utility Consumers’ Action
Network (UCAN) and other stakeholder and advocaoypgs. Operations that may be influenced by theseps include

= the rates charged to our customi

. our ability to site and construct new facilitit

= our ability to purchase or construct generatingjifass;

= safety;

= the issuance of securitie

. accounting matter:

= transactions between affiliate

= the installation of environmental emission contredglipment

= our ability to decommission generating facilitieelaecover the remaining carrying value of suclilifess;
= the amount of certain sources of energy we mustausd as renewable sources and reductions inyensage by customers; a
= the amount of costs associated with these opesatiat may be recovered from custom

Our businesses have significant environmental corapte costs, and future environmental compliancest®could have a material adverse effect
on our cash flows and results of operations.

Our businessesare subject to extensive federal, state, localfarelgn statutes, rules and regulations relatingrieironmental protection, including,

in particular, climate change and greenhouse gasH®s, emissions. We are required to obtain nunegmvernmental permits, licenses, certificates
and other approvals to construct and operate asinbsses. Additionally, to comply with these legajuirements, we must spend significant sums on
environmental monitoring, pollution control equipmiemitigation costs and emissions fees. In addjtiee are generally responsible for all on-site
liabilities associated with the environmental caiodi of our electric generation facilities and atkeergy projects, regardless of when the liabditi
arose and whether they are known or unknown. Quilitfas are subject to regulations protecting ratgry birds, which have recently been the
subject of increased enforcement activity with ez$po wind farms. Failure to comply with applicalginvironmental laws may subject our busine

to substantial penalties and fines and/or significartailments of our operations, which could matly adversely affect our cash flows and/or rés

of operations.

The scope and effect of new environmental lawsragdlations, including their effects on our currepérations and future expansions, are difficult
to predict. Increasing international, national,ioe@! and state-level concerns as well as newapgsed legislation and regulation may have
substantial negative effects on our operationstaijg costs, and the scope and economics of peop@spansion, which could have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations, clastsfand/or prospects. In particular, state-leseld and regulations, as well as proposed natiowhl a
international legislation and regulation relatioghie control and reduction of GHG emissions (idizig carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide,
hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons and sulfurdfiesoride), may materially limit or otherwise matgly adversely affect our operations. The
implementation of recent and proposed Californid faleral legislation and regulation may materialliversely affect our unregulated businesses by
imposing, among other things, additional costs @aged with emission limits, controls and the pbksrequirement of carbon taxes or the purchase
of emissions credits. Similarly, the California lifies may be materially adversely affected if #aeslditional costs are not recoverable in rateenEv

if recoverable, the effects of existing and proglogeeenhouse gas emission reduction standards awgg cates to increase to levels that substantially
reduce customer demand and growth. SDG&E may @subject to significant penalties and fines it@iearmandated renewable energy goals ar
met.



In addition, existing and future laws and regulati;m mercury, nitrogen and sulfur oxides, partitadaor other emissions could result in requires
for additional pollution control equipment or eniissfees and taxes that could materially adveraéfct our results of operations and/or cash flows.
Moreover, existing rules and regulations may berprieted or revised in ways that may materiallyeasely affect our results of operations and/or
cash flows.

We provide further discussion of these mattersateN 14 and 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Fimdstatements in the Annual Report.

Severe weather conditions, natural disasters, ctatgshic accidents or acts of terrorism could matally adversely affect our businesses, financ
condition, results of operations, cash flows andfamospects.

Like other major industrial facilities, ours may d@maged by natural disasters, catastrophic adsidenacts of terrorism. Because we are in the
business of using, storing, transporting and disgpsf highly flammable and explosive materialsyasl as radioactive materials, and operating
highly energized equipment, the risk to our faieitand infrastructure, as well as the risks tostiveounding communities is substantially gredtan
a typical business. Such facilities and infrasuieetinclude, but are not limited to:

" power generation plants = natural gas, propane and ethane pipelines anaggto
" electric transmission and distribution = nuclear fuel and nuclear waste storage facilities

" LNG terminals and storage = nuclear power facilities

" chartered LNG tankers

Such incidents could result in severe businessigliems, significant decreases in revenues, arsigoificant additional costs to us. Any such incit
could have a material adverse effect on our busesdinancial condition, results of operationshcfiows and/or prospects.

Depending on the nature and location of the féediand infrastructure affected, any such inciéésd could cause catastrophic fires, leaks,
radioactive releases, explosions, spills or otiggrificant damage to natural resources or propeetpnging to third parties, or cause personal iegur
or fatalities. Any of these consequences could teagnificant claims against us. In some casesmay be liable for damages even though we are
not at fault, and in cases where the concept @rservcondemnation applies, we may be liable foradms without being found to be at fault or to
have been negligent. Insurance coverage may signifiy increase in cost or become unavailable éotain of these risks, and any insurance proc
we receive may be insufficient to cover our lossekabilities, which could materially adverselyfedt our businesses, financial condition, resufts o
operations, cash flows and/or prospects.

Severe weather conditions may also impact our lkegsigs. On January 17, 2014, the Governor of Qaiifateclared a state of emergency because of
severe drought conditions in the state. The droaghtiitions in California and the western Unitedt&s$ increase the risk of catastrophic wildfires in
SDG&E's and SoCalGas’ service territories, whichldglace our electric and natural gas infrastnectn jeopardy. The drought conditions also
reduce the amount of power available from hydretele generation facilities in the Northwest UnitBthtes which could adversely impact the
availability of a reliable energy supply into thali@rnia electric grid managed by the Californ&Q. If alternate supplies of electric generatian ar
not available to replace the lower level of poweitable from hydro-electric generation facilitiésis could result in temporary power shortages in
SDG&E's service territory.

Our businesses, results of operations, financiahdition and/or cash flows may be materially advessaffected by the outcome of pending
litigation against us.

Sempra Energy and its subsidiaries are defendamismerous lawsuits and arbitration proceedingshéle spent, and continue to spend, subst:
amounts of money and time defending these lawanitisproceedings, and in related investigationsragdlatory proceedings. We discuss these
proceedings in Note 15 of the Notes to Consolid&iedncial Statements and in “Management’s Disausand Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” in the Annual Report. Theartainties inherent in lawsuits, arbitrations afttier legal proceedings make it difficult to
estimate with any degree of certainty the costsedfettts of resolving these matters. In additioalifGrnia juries have demonstrated a willingness to
grant large awards, including punitive damageggrsonal injury, product liability, property damaayed other claims. Accordingly, actual costs
incurred may differ materially from insured or ressl amounts and may not be recoverable in whoile part from our customers, which in each
case could materially adversely affect our busiegssash flows, results of operations and/or firrdmondition.

We cannot and do not attempt to fully hedge oureissor contract positions against changes in comitpgrices. In addition, for those contract
positions that are hedged, our hedging proceduresymot mitigate our risk as plannet

To reduce financial exposure related to commodityepfluctuations, we may enter into contractsédde our known or anticipated purchase and
commitments, inventories of natural gas and LN@&cteic generation capacity, and natural gas stoaagepipeline capacity. As part of this strategy,
we may use forward contracts, physical purchasesate$ contracts, futures, financial swaps, aneptWe do not hedge the entire exposure to
market price volatility of our assets or our cootraositions, and the coverage will vary over tifie.the extent we have unhedged positions, orri
hedging strategies do not work as planned, flustgatommodity prices could have a material adveffect on our results of operations, cash flows
and/or financial condition.



In addition, certain of the contracts we use fatdieg purposes are subject to fair value accounfiigh accounting may result in gains or losses in
earnings for that contract. In certain cases, theges or losses may not reflect the associatest$osr gains of the underlying position being hddge

Risk management procedures may not prevent los

Although we have in place risk management systerdscantrol systems that use advanced methodoltgigsantify and manage risk, these systems
may not always prevent material losses. Risk managéprocedures may not always be followed as redudy our businesses or may not always
work as planned. In addition, daily value-at-risiddoss limits are based on historic price movesdhprices significantly or persistently deviate
from historic prices, the limits may not protectftam significant losses. As a result of these atieér factors, there is no assurance that our risk
management procedures will prevent losses thatdvmalterially adversely affect our results of opierat, cash flows and/or financial condition.

The operation of our facilities depends on good talyelations with our employees.

Several of our businesses have entered into arelihgyace collective bargaining agreements wiffednt labor unions. Our collective bargaining
agreements are generally negotiated on a facilitfability basis.

Any failure to reach an agreement on new laborreotd or to negotiate these labor contracts migghlt in strikes, boycotts or other labor
disruptions. These potential labor disruptions ddwdve a material adverse effect on our businessadis of operations and/or cash flows. Labor
disruptions, strikes or significant negotiated waged benefit increases, whether due to union giettyiemployee turnover or otherwise, could have a
material adverse effect on our businesses, resfuitperations and/or cash flows.

New business technologies present a risk for atgok our information systems and the integrity afircenergy grid.

Cybersecurity and the protection of our operati@mmd activities are a priority at Sempra Energy, 8B&nd SoCalGas. We believe that the most
significant cybersecurity risks to our businesseside within the operations of our utilities. Irdé@n to general information and cyber risks thkht
Fortune 500 corporations face (e.g. malware, nalgintent by insiders and inadvertent disclosfirgeasitive information), the utility industry faxe
new cybersecurity risks associated with automatettring (virtually all of our SDG&E customers hasugch metering and SoCalGas is in the prc
of converting its customers to such metering) aitd ®mart Grid infrastructure. Deployment of th@ssv business technologies represents a ne\
large-scale opportunity for attacks on the utiitimformation systems and, more importantly, om ititegrity of the energy grid. While our computer
systems have been, and will likely continue todujected to computer viruses or other maliciowespunauthorized access attempts, and cyber- ol
phishing-attacks, to date we have not experienaedtarial breach of cybersecurity. Addressing thiestes is the subject of significant ongoing
activities across Sempra Energy’s businesses, éutanwnot ensure that a successful attack will cotio An attack to our information systems, the
integrity of the energy grid, or one of our faédi could have a material adverse effect on ounbases, cash flows, financial condition, resuits o
operations and/or prospects. In addition, in thignary course of business, Sempra Energy andlisidiaries collect and retain sensitive informat
including personal identification information abauistomers and employees, customer energy usagetteerdnformation. The theft, damage or
improper disclosure of sensitive electronic data si#bject us to penalties for violation of appliegprivacy laws, subject us to claims from third
parties, require compliance with notification andnitoring regulations, and harm our reputation.

Our businesses will continue to have to adapt toheological change and may not be successful or rhaye to incur significant expenditures to
adapt to technological change.

We expect that new technologies will emerge that beasuperior to, or may not be compatible withmsmf our existing technologies, and may
require us to make significant expenditures to iarnampetitive. Our future success will dependpant, on our ability to anticipate and adapt to
technological changes in a cost-effective manndrtaroffer, on a timely basis, services that mestamer demands and evolving industry standards
If we fail to adapt successfully to any technolagdichange or obsolescence, or fail to obtain adwessportant technologies or incur significant
expenditures in adapting to technological changepasinesses, operating results and financialionccould be materially and adversely affected.
Examples of technological change that could impactbusinesses include

= California Utilities—Factors that could change the utilization of ndtges distribution and electric generation, trarssion and distributic
assets includ

o efficient battery storage technology, combined \
o the expanded cost effective utilization of disttdmigeneration (i.e., solar rooftop, community spl@jects)
= Sempra U.S. Gas & Pow
o At Sempra Renewables, technological advances inhilited and local power generation and energyageicould reduce the demand for large
scale renewable electricity generation. Sempra Wahles’ power sales customers’ ability to perfornder longterm agreements could

impacted by utility rate structures and advancedistributed and local power generati

o At Sempra Natural Gas, technological advancestéarrative fuels and other alternative energy sauomild reduce the demand for nat
gas.

o At our LNG businesses, technologies that lower glotatural gas and LNG consumption would have teatgst impact on the business. Tl
technologies include cost effective batteries fmewable electricity generation, economic gasduoidis conversion processes and adve



associated with seabed or Arctic gas hydrate etgion.

Risks Related to the California Utilities

The California Utilities are subject to extensivegulation by state, federal and local legislativedaregulatory authorities, which may materially
adversely affect us.

The CPUC regulates the California Utilities’ rategcept SDG&E'’s electric transmission rates whighragulated by the FERC. The CPUC also
regulates the California Utilities’:

" conditions of service = rates of depreciation
" capital structure = long-term resource procurement
" rates of return = sales of securities

The CPUC conducts various reviews and audits bfyutierformance, compliance with CPUC regulatiansl standards, affiliate relationships and
other matters. These reviews and audits may resdisallowances, fines and penalties that coultenally adversely affect our financial condition,
results of operations and/or cash flows. SoCal@dsSDG&E may be subject to penalties or fines eelab their operation of natural gas pipelines
and, for SDG&E, electric operations, under new lagpns concerning natural gas pipeline safety @@ citation programs concerning both gas and
electric safety, which could have a material adveffect on their results of operations, financ@hdition and/or cash flows. We discuss various
CPUC proceedings relating to the California Ut rates, costs, incentive mechanisms, and peafoceibased regulation in Notes 13 and 14 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ai*Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€ahdition and Results of Operations” in the
Annual Report.

The California Utilities may invest a significarmhaunt of money in a major capital project priorégeiving regulatory approval. If the project does
not receive regulatory approval, if the regulatapproval is conditioned on major changes, or if aggament decides not to proceed with the project,
they may be unable to recover all amounts inveistéioat project, which could materially adverseffeet their financial condition, results of
operations, cash flows and/or prospects.

The CPUC periodically approves the California W8k’ rates based on authorized capital expendifungerating costs, including income taxes, and
an authorized rate of return on investment. If alctapital expenditures and/or operating costs Wwesxceed the amounts approved by the CPUC,
results of operations, financial condition, casiwi# and/or prospects could be materially advers#écted. Reductions in key benchmark interest
rates may trigger automatic adjustment mechanishishwvould reduce the California Utilities’ authoed rates of return, changes in which could
materially adversely affect results of operatidivgncial condition, cash flows and/or prospects.

The CPUC applies performance-based measures agrtivee mechanisms to all California utilities. Undeese, earnings potential above authorized
base margins is tied to achieving or exceedingip@erformance and operating goals, rather theying solely on expanding utility plant (rate
base) to increase earnings. At the California ti#8i the areas that are currently eligible foeméves are operational activities designated by th
CPUC, energy efficiency programs and, at SoCal@asiral gas procurement and unbundled naturaltgeesge and system operator hub services.
Although the California Utilities have received @mtive awards in the past, there can be no as=ithatthey will receive awards in the future, or
that any future awards earned would be in amowrtgarable to prior periods. Additionally, if theli@@nia Utilities fail to achieve certain

minimum performance levels established under suethanisms, they may be assessed financial disailmesa penalties and fines which could have
a material adverse effect on their results of dpmrg, financial condition and/or cash flows.

The FERC regulates electric transmission ratesrémsmission and wholesale sales of electricityierstate commerce, transmission access, the
rates of return on investments in electric transiisassets, and other similar matters involvin@8B.

The California Utilities may be materially adversely affected by new redguhat decisions, orders or interpretations of tR&JC, the FERC or other
regulatory bodies. New legislation, regulationg;isiens, orders or interpretations could change timy operate, could affect their ability to
recover various costs through rates or adjustmewchamisms, or could require them to incur substhatlditional expenses.

The construction and expansion of the Californiditidis’ natural gas pipelines, SoCalGas’ storaggilities, and SDG&E’s electric transmission and
distribution facilities require numerous permitsehses and other approvals from federal, statécad governmental agencies. If there are delays i
obtaining these approvals, or failure to obtaimaintain these approvals, or to comply with apgliedaws or regulations, the California Utilities’
businesses, cash flows, results of operationspéiadcondition and/or prospects could be matariatlversely affected. Coordinating these projea
that they are on time and within budget requireapetent execution from our employees and contractmoperation of third parties and the absence
of litigation and regulatory delay. In the everattbne or more of these major projects is delayegkperiences significant cost overruns, this could
have a material adverse effect on the Californititigs.

Natural gas pipeline safety assessments may ndublg or adequately recovered in rate

Pending the outcome of various regulatory agenajuations of natural gas pipeline safety regulajgmactices and procedures, the California
Utilities may incur substantial incremental expeasd capital investment associated with their rhigas pipeline operations and investments. In



August 2011, SoCalGas, SDG&E, PG&E and Southwestfial implementation plans with the CPUC to wsteplace all natural gas transmission
pipelines that have not been pressure testedeln2B11 filing with the CPUC, the California Utiés estimated the total cost for Phase 1 of the tw
phase plan to be $3.1 billion ($2.5 billion for S8Gas and $600 million for SDG&E) over a §6ar period. The California Utilities requestedt ttie
incremental capital investment required as a redidny approved plan be included in rate basetlaatdcost recovery be allowed for any other
incremental cost not eligible for rate-base recpv&he costs that are the subject of these planswaside the scope of the 2012 general rate oase,
GRC proceedings discussed elsewhere in this rdptiie CPUC were to decide that the incrementpltahinvestment not be considered as
incremental rate base outside the GRC processbthis incremental capital investment earn a retur rate base lower than what is otherwise
authorized, or that cost recovery not be allowedafty other incremental cost, it could materiatiyersely affect the respective company’s cash
flows, financial condition, results of operatiomgigrospects upon commencement of this programpiéde additional information in Note 14 of
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementsémnnual Report.

The California Utilities are subject to increasinglstringent safety standards and the potential &gnificant penalties if regulators deem either
SDG&E or SoCalGas to be out of complianc

The California State Senate passed legislatio®iB2vhich requires the CPUC to develop and mairdaafety enforcement program that includes
procedures for monitoring, data tracking and arig)ysd investigations, as well as delegates citaiuthority to CPUC staff personnel under the
direction of the CPUC Executive Director. This Egtion requires the CPUC to implement the enfoer@program for natural gas safety by July 1,
2014 and for electric safety by January 1, 201%xercising the citation authority, the CPUC steiff take into account voluntary reporting of
potential violations, voluntary resolution efforsdertaken, prior history of violations, the grawf the violation, and the degree of culpabilithe
CPUC is planning to adopt an administrative lintitthe maximum monetary penalty that may be sehbyCPUC staff.

In December 2011, the CPUC adopted a natural detysadtation program whereby natural gas distifuicompanies can be fined by CPUC staff
for violations of the CPUC'’s safety standards alei@l standards. Each day of an ongoing violatiay be counted as an additional offense. The
maximum penalty is $50,000 per offense. In Septer@b23, the CPUC issued Standard Operating Proeedwtting forth its principles and
management process for the gas safety citatiorramng

If the CPUC or its staff determine that either 8f&&E’s or SoCalGas’ operations and practices atemoompliance with the safety standards, the
corrective actions required to be in conformanad amy penalties imposed could materially adveraéct the respective company’s cash flows,
financial condition, results of operations and pexts upon commencement of this program. We praddigional information in Note 14 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in theu&l Report

Meaningful rate reform is necessary due to the iearsed power supply from renewable energy sourcasthe growth in distributed and loce
power generation, and the failure by the CPUC tdaen SDG&E's rate structure in a relevant manner could havawaterial adverse effect on its
business, cash flows, financial condition, resuti§operations and/or prospects.

The current electric rate structure in Californiages an undue burden on customers with heavyrielese while subsidizing low and moderate use
customers. In addition, customers who self-genetegie own power (primarily solar installations)reently do not pay most transmission and
distribution charges, subject to certain limitasoAs more heavy use customers purchase solarspanebtain local off-the-grid sources of power,
the burden on the remaining heavy use customersases, which in turn encourages more self-geoneratid increases rate pressures. In addition,
the increase of solar and other local off-the-godrces of power adversely impacts the reliabdftyhe electric transmission and distribution syste
Over the mid- to long-term, this rate structurensustainable. On January 1, 2014, AB 327 becafaetiek. This new law restores to the CPUC the
authority to establish electric rates for electriitity companies in California and removes theereaps established in AB 1X adopted in early 2001
during Californias energy crisis, as well as Senate Bill 695 adopt@®09. Additionally, the law provides the CPU@hthe authority to adopt up

a $10.00 monthly fixed charge for all residentiastomers effective January 1, 2015. The CPUC wmifilement AB 327 through its current Order
Instituting Rulemaking proceeding regarding electate reform. If the CPUC fails to reform rateustures to maintain competitive and affordable
electric rates and the reliability of the electrensmission and distribution system, such faitoeld have a material adverse effect on our busjnes
cash flows, financial condition, results of opeyat and/or prospects.

Recovery of 2007 Wildfire Litigation Costs RequirEsture Regulatory Approval

SDG&E is seeking to recover in rates its reasonadayrred costs of resolving 2007 wildfire claimsexcess of its liability insurance coverage and
amounts recovered from third parties. Through Ddmm81, 2013, SDG&E'’s costs to settle these claintsits estimated future settlement costs and
defense costs are approximately $2.4 billion, wieicbeeds its $1.1 billion of liability insuranceveoage and the approximately $824 million
recovered from third parties. SDG&E has concluded it is probable that SDG&E will be permittedrézover a substantial portion of these excess
costs in rates, and at December 31, 2013, Semma¥a and SDG&E’s Consolidated Balance Sheetsidgechssets of $330 million in Other
Regulatory Assets, of which $315 million is relatedPUC-regulated operations and $15 million latezl to FERC-regulated operations, with
respect to these excess costs. However, recoveémngsé amounts in rates will require future reguiagpproval.

In August 2009, SDG&E and SoCalGas filed an appbcawith the CPUC proposing a new mechanism ferfthiure recovery of wildfire-related
expenses for claims, litigation expenses and imagr@remiums that are in excess of amounts auttbbiy the CPUC for recovery in distribution
rates. In December 2012, the CPUC issued a firaside that denied the proposed blanket cost regdva@mework for the utilities but allowed
SDG&E to maintain its authorized memorandum accoemabling SDG&E to file applications with the CPUW&Rjuesting recovery of amounts
properly recorded in the memorandum account, sttgaeasonableness review, at a later date. Beseription of this proceeding and information
about 2007 wildfire litigation costs and their reeoy, see Notes 14 and 15 of the Notes to Congdelidginancial Statements in the Annual Report.



SDG&E will continue to assess the probability afaeery of these excess wildfire costs in rates UBh8DG&E conclude that recovery in rates is no
longer probable, SDG&E will record a charge aga@@shings at the time such conclusion is reaci&@DG&E had concluded that the recovery of
regulatory assets related to CPUC-regulated opaistivas no longer probable or was less than clyrestimated as of December 31, 2013, the
resulting after-tax charge against earnings woakketbeen up to $186 million. In addition, in pegddllowing any such conclusion, SDG&E's
earnings will be adversely impacted by increaseakérestimated costs to litigate or settle pendiildfire claims.

As noted above, recovery of excess wildfire caststes will require future regulatory approvaldanfailure to obtain all or a significant portioh
the expected recovery, or a conclusion that regowerates is no longer probable, would likely havmaterial adverse effect on Sempra Energyic
SDG&E's cash flows, financial condition and/or rikswf operations. In addition, if recovery is pétted, the collection process may extend over a
number of years and Sempra Energy’s and SDG&BSh flows may be materially adversely affectael td the timing differences between resolu
of claims and the recovery in rates. We discuss Wevassess the probability of recovery of our reguly assets in Note 1 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in the AnnualoRep

SDG&E may incur substantial costs and liabilitiesa result of its partial ownership of a nuclearddity.

SDG&E has a 20-percent ownership interest in SONGS150-MW nuclear generating facility near Saen@nte, California, operated by Southern
California Edison Company, or Edison. The NRC ha&d authority under federal law to impose licegsaind safety-related requirements for the
operation of nuclear generation facilities. SONG8its 2 and 3 have been shut down since early 281®pn June 6, 2013, Edison notified SDG&E
that it had reached a decision to permanentlyr&DNGS’ Units 2 and 3 and seek approval from tRE b start the decommissioning activities for
the entire facility. Although the facility will bdecommissioned in the future, SDG&E’s ownershipiiast in SONGS continues to subject it to the
risks of owning a partial interest in a nuclearg@ation facility, which include

= the potential that a natural disaster such as ghgeeke or tsunami could cause a catastrophioréaibf the safety systems in place tha
designed to prevent the release of radioactive nahté such a failure were to occur, a substdraimount of radiation could be released
cause catastrophic harm to human health and thiebpement;

= the potential harmful effects on the environmend &imman health resulting from the prior operatidmoclear facilities and the stora
handling and disposal of radioactive materi

= limitations on the amounts and types of insuraramamercially available to cover losses that miglgeain connection with operations and
decommissioning of the facility

= uncertainties with respect to the technological famehcial aspects of decommissioning the facilégd

= the results of the CPUE'Order Instituting Investigation (Oll), as desedtn more detail below, into the SONGS outage biegtan in the fir:
quarter of 2012

In addition, SDG&E maintains two trusts for the poses of providing funds to decommission SONGStd_gpproximately 33 percent of the trust
assets has been generally invested in equity siesysvhich are subject to market fluctuation. Alde in the market value of trust assets or an
adverse change in the law regarding funding reqmergs for decommissioning trusts could increasdithding requirements for these trusts, which
in each case may not be fully recoverable in rates.

The occurrence of any of these events could hawetarial adverse effect on SDG&E’s and Sempra Bretgusinesses, cash flows, financial
condition, results of operations and/or prospects.

Ongoing regulatory and maintenance issues at SON@8y have a material adverse effect on us.

SONGS'’ Units 2 and 3 have been shut down sincg 2ad?2, after a water leak occurred in the Uniteas generator. Since the unscheduled outage
started, SDG&E has procured power to ensure ebtelgupply of power to meet customers’ needs, oapdethe power that would have been
available had SONGS been in operation. The estihadst of the purchased replacement power incdroed January 2012 through June 6, 2013
date Edison notified SDG&E of its decision to peneatly close SONGS, was approximately $165 millohthis total, $98 million was incurred in
2012 and has been approved for collection in gatesuant to prior Energy Resource Recovery Acc(ERRA) proceedings. The remaining $67
million represents replacement power costs incutiemligh June 6, 2013 that have not yet been apgrfor recovery in rates. In addition to the
estimated cost of the purchased replacement p@IHB&E's share of SONGS’ operating costs, includiegreciation, and the return on its
investment in SONGS from January 1, 2012 througie B0, 2013, was approximately $300 million.

In November 2012, the CPUC issued an Oll into tB&&S outage to determine whether SDG&E should renfimm customer rates some or all of
the revenue requirement associated with the podidhe facility that was out of service. This @il consolidate most SONGS issues from related
regulatory proceedings and consider the appropeizgerecovery for SONGS during the shutdown, idiclg among other costs, the cost of the steam
generator replacement project, replacement powas coapital expenditures, operation and maintenaasts and seismic study costs, and the
appropriate rate design regarding the recoveri@fémaining investment in and any return on theaising investment in SONGS from the time
Units were taken off-line. The Oll requires thdtalsts related to SONGS incurred since Janua?2p12 be tracked in memorandum accounts, and
that all revenues collected since January 1, 2fdt2ecovery of such costs and for the return oiG&B’s investment in SONGS be subject to refi
The OII will address the extent to which such rexes) if any, will be required to be refunded totooeers.

As a result of Edison’s decision to permanentlireeBONGS’ Units 2 and 3 and seek approval to sterdecommissioning activities of the entire
facility, SDG&E has removed the net book valuetsfilvestment in SONGS and established a new regulasset, in accordance with accounting



principles generally accepted in the United Stafesmerica for regulated entities, representingah®unt management believes is probable of
recovery in future rates. As a result of this asslySempra Energy’s and SDG&Hinancial results for the year ended Decembe313 include a
after-tax loss of $119 million reflected in the uéagory asset to reduce the amount that managemediates is probable of recovery in rates in the
future to $303 million, which is included in OthRegulatory Assets on Sempra Energy’s and SDG&Esnsolidated Balance Sheets at Decemb
2013. Any failure to recover some or all of thigukatory asset, the cost of purchased replacentemtmpof $98 million approved in prior ERRA
proceedings for collection in rates, or operatingther costs associated with SONGS (including axprately $184 million of operations and
maintenance expenses incurred by SDG&E since #nedftthe forced outages), or any decision byGR&C to require refund of revenues collected
in recovery of the costs above could materiallyeadgly affect SDG&E’s and Sempra Energy’s resultgperations, cash flows and financial
condition.

Should SDG&E conclude that recovery in rates ifed#nt than the amount anticipated or is no lomgebable, SDG&E will record an additional
charge against earnings at the time such a cooadlisireached, which could materially adverselg@fSDG&E’s and Sempra Energy’s results of
operations, cash flows and financial condition.

We discuss SONGS matters in Note 13 of the Not&votwsolidated Financial Statements in the AnnualdRe

Risks Related to our Sempra International and Sempr  a U.S. Gas & Power Businesses

Our businesses are exposed to market risks, inatgdiuctuations in commodity prices, and our busisees, financial condition, results of
operations, cash flows and/or prospects may be miallg adversely affected by these risks.

Sempra Mexico, Sempra Renewables and Sempra N&asaienerate electricity that they sell under mmgh contracts and into the spot market or
other competitive markets. Sempra Mexico and SerNptaral Gas purchase natural gas to fuel theirgpglants and may also purchase electricity
in the open market to satisfy their contractualgailons. As part of their risk management stratélggy may hedge a substantial portion of their
electricity sales and natural gas purchases to geatteeir portfolios, which subjects us to the tis&t the counterparty to such hedge may be una
fulfill its obligations. Such a failure could maiedly adversely affect our cash flows, financiahdition and/or results of operations.

We buy energy-related commodities from time to tifioe power plants or for LNG terminals to satisfyntractual obligations with customers, in
regional markets and other competitive marketshictvwe compete. Our revenues and results of dpasatould be materially adversely affected if
the prevailing market prices for electricity, natugas, LNG or other commaodities that we buy changedirection or manner not anticipated and for
which we had not provided adequately through piselm sale commitments or other hedging transation

Unanticipated changes in market prices for eneedgted commodities result from multiple factorgliming:
= weather condition

= seasonality

= changes in supply and deme

= transmission or transportation constraints or inifficies

= availability of competitively priced alternative engy source:

= commodity production leve

= actions by oil producing nations or organizatiofieaing the global supply of crude «
= federal, state and foreign energy and environmeatallation and legislatic

. natural disasters, wars, embargoes and other igihit event:

= expropriation of assets by foreign counti

The FERC has jurisdiction over wholesale powertaagsmission rates, independent system operatwisyther entities that control transmission
facilities or that administer wholesale power satesome of the markets in which we operate. ThREEnay impose additional price limitations,
bidding rules and other mechanisms, or terminaitstiag price limitations from time to time. Any duaction by the FERC may result in prices for
electricity changing in an unanticipated direct@rmanner and, as a result, may have a materiarseleffect on our businesses, cash flows, results
of operations and/or prospects.

When our businesses enter into fixed-price longftecontracts to provide services or commoditiesythee exposed to inflationary pressures such
as rising commodity prices, and interest rate risks

Sempra Mexico, Sempra Renewables and Sempra N&asaienerally endeavor to secure long-term cdstreith customers for services and
commodities to optimize the use of their facilitiesduce volatility in earnings, and support thastouction of new infrastructure. However, if these
contracts are at fixed prices, the profitabilitytioé contract may be materially adversely affettgéhflationary pressures, including rising opesatl



costs, costs of labor, materials, equipment andheodities, and rising interest rates that affecarficing costs. We may try to mitigate these risks by
using variable pricing tied to market indices, eiptting an escalation in costs when bidding orjeats, providing for cost escalation, providing for
direct pass-through of operating costs or entaritghedges. However, these measures, if implerdentay not ensure that the increase in revenues
they provide will fully offset increases in opergjiexpenses and/or financing costs. The failusotfully or substantially offset these increasadao
have a material adverse effect on our financiatld@n, cash flows and/or results of operations.

Business development activities may not be succéssfd projects under construction may not commeraggeration as scheduled or be comple
within budget, which could have a material adversiect on our businesses, financial condition, caibws, results of operations and/or
prospects

The acquisition, development, construction and esgjom of LNG terminals, natural gas, propane ahdret pipelines and storage facilities, electric
generation and transmission facilities, and otmergy infrastructure projects involve numerousgidke may be required to spend significant sums
for preliminary engineering, permitting, fuel supptesource exploration, legal, and other expehsése we can determine whether a project is
feasible, economically attractive, or capable dhgéuilt.

Success in developing a particular project is cg@nt upon, among other things:

= negotiation of satisfactory engineering, procurengem construction agreeme

= negotiation of supply and natural gas sales agretnue firm capacity service agreeme
= timely receipt of required governmental permitsetises, authorizations, and rights of \
= timely implementation and satisfactory completidreanstructior

= obtaining adequate and reasonably priced finanfcinthe projec

Successful completion of a particular project mayniaterially adversely affected by:

= unforeseen engineering proble

= construction delays and contractor performancetfgtiisr

= work stoppage

= equipment unavailability or delay and cost incre:

= adverse weather conditio

= environmental and geological conditic

= litigation

= unsettled property righ

= other factor

If we are unable to complete the development a@fcdify or if we have substantial delays or costiouns, this could have a material adverse effe
our businesses, financial condition, cash flowsuite of operations and/or prospects.

The operation of existing and future facilitiescalisvolves many risks, including the breakdownailuire of electric generation or natural gas
regasification, liquefaction and storage facilitt#¥sother equipment or processes, labor disputesjriterruption, environmental contamination and
operating performance below expected levels. litiadd weather-related incidents and other natdisdsters can disrupt generation, regasification,
liquefaction, storage and transmission systems.oEkarrence of any of these events could lead tdamilities being idled for an extended period of
time or our facilities operating well below expattapacity levels, which may result in lost revenaeincreased expenses, including higher
maintenance costs and penalties. Such occurrenaés roaterially adversely affect our businessemrfcial condition, cash flows, results of
operations and/or prospects.

With respect to our proposed project to add LNGoeixpapability at our Cameron facility, we currgrainticipate building a facility consisting of
three liquefaction trains with a total nameplatpazaty of 13.5 million tonnes per annum (Mtpa) &NG& with an expected export capability of 12
Mtpa of LNG, or approximately 1.7 Bcf per day. Tarticipated incremental investment in the threatiguefaction project, subject to final design
specifications, is estimated to be approximatelpfi®n to $7 billion, excluding capitalized intst and other financing costs. While we have signed
commercial development agreements with MitsubigitpGration, Mitsui & Co., Ltd. and a subsidiary®DF SUEZ S.A., these agreements only
bind the parties to fund certain development castdyuding design, permitting and engineering codtthe proposed project and to negotiate in good
faith 20-year tolling agreements with respect tdvitpa of LNG, which tolling agreements were exeduteMay 2013. However, the development
agreements do not obligate the parties to finame@ctual construction of this new facility. Thénjoventure agreement and the three tolling
agreements are subject to a final investment detisi proceed by each party, finalization of perawithorizations and securing financing
commitments, as well as other customary conditiirne or more of the parties decides not to mfoveard with the project, or if we are unable to



arrange suitable financing, the project may be tsutiglly delayed, reduced or terminated. If thej@ct is terminated, we may not recover our share
of any project development or other related cosperded, and we may be required to write off oarstof any such previously capitalized costs. In
addition, this project may be delayed, reduce@&mninated in the event we are unable to obtaiofdte necessary permits, licenses and
authorizations in a timely manner. The anticipatest of this project is based on a number of astiongthat may prove incorrect and is subject to
final design specifications, and the ultimate austld significantly exceed the current estimat&®hbillion to $7 billion of incremental investment,
excluding capitalized interest and other finanaiogts. Customers look at a number of factors whratuating participation in a project, and changes
in these factors, including global natural gas BN prices, could have an impact on the projechgdorward. Prior to our final investment decis
and in the event we decide not to proceed witlptbgect, these risks could have a material advefifeet on our prospects. Following our final
investment decision and in the event we decidedoged with the project, these risks could haveaterial adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, cash flows, financial condition, anglarspects.

We may elect not to, or may not be able to, enteo ior replace expiring long-term supply and sakegreements or long-term firm capacity
agreements for our projects, which would subjectr@avenues to increased volatility and our businesgo increased competition.

The electric generation and wholesale power satiissiries are highly competitive. As more plantstauilt and competitive pressures increase,
wholesale electricity prices may become more Melawithout the benefit of long-term power saleseggnents, our revenues may be subject to
increased price volatility, and we may be unablseibthe power that Sempra Natural Gas’ and Seivgpdco’s facilities are capable of producing
to sell it at favorable prices, which could matkyiadversely affect our results of operations hcisws and/or prospects.

Sempra Mexico and Sempra Natural Gas utilize th&iB terminals by entering into long-term capacityeements. Under these agreements,
customers pay us capacity reservation and usagedeeceive, store and regasify the customer’'s LN@se segments also may enter into steont-
and/or long-term supply agreements to purchase to\l&& received, stored and regasified at theiriteats for sale to other parties. The long-term
supply agreement contracts are expected to redwuoexposure to changes in natural gas prices throogesponding natural gas sales agreemet
by tying LNG supply prices to prevailing naturakgaarket price indices. If the counterparties, @ugtrs or suppliers to one or more of the key
agreements for the LNG facilities were to fail &rflorm or become unable to meet their contractbldjations on a timely basis, it could have a
material adverse effect on our results of operaticash flows and/or prospects. Also, althoughGameron LNG terminal is not fully contracted for
regasification, given our current progress on ttpegfaction project discussed above, we do notexpecontract or sell any additional LNG import
capacity at the Cameron terminal. Our potential L&U@pliers also may be subject to internationaitipal and economic pressures and risks, which
may also affect the supply of LNG.

Sempra Mexico’s and Sempra Natural Gas’ naturapgasine operations are dependent on demand thsapply of LNG and/or natural gas from
their transportation customers, which may includeld\NG facilities. A significant sustained decre@aselemand for and supply of LNG and/or
natural gas from such customers could have a mbtetverse effect on our businesses, results aghtipes, cash flows and/or prospects.

Sempra Natural Gas owns a 25-percent interest @kiB® Express Pipeline LLC (Rockies Express), angaship that operates a natural gas pipeline,
the Rockies Express Pipeline (REX). Sempra NatBed and the partnership have agreements for cgmacREX that expire at various dates
through 2019. As these agreements expire, newandirtg activity related to that capacity may noshéicient to replace the revenues from the
expiring agreements.

We provide information about these matters in “Mgeraent’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Ctadiand Results of Operations” and in
Note 15 of the Notes to Consolidated Financialeteints in the Annual Repo

Our businesses depend on counterparties, businestprs, customers, and suppliers performing in acdance with their agreements. If they fail
to so perform, we could incur substantial expensesl business disruptions and be exposed to commyquatice risk and volatility, which could
materially adversely affect our businesses, finasaiondition, cash flows, results of operations dodprospects.

Our businesses are exposed to the risk that cqantess, business partners, customers, and supgiiar owe money or commodities as a result of
market transactions or other long-term agreemeititsot perform their obligations in accordance wituch agreements. Should they fail to so
perform, we may be required to acquire alterndtiedging arrangements or to honor the underlyingnosibment at then-current market prices. In
such event, we may incur additional losses to dtent of amounts already paid to such counterpgadiesuppliers. In addition, many of our
agreements are essential to the conduct and giavatlr businesses. The failure of any of the patiieperform in accordance with these agreements
could materially adversely affect our businessesults of operations, cash flows, financial cooditand/or prospects. Finally, we often extend ¢redi
to counterparties and customers. While we perfagmificant credit analyses prior to extending ctedie are exposed to the risk that we may not be
able to collect amounts owed to us.

Sempra Mexico’s and Sempra Natural Gas’ obligatanm$those of their suppliers for LNG supplies@etractually subject to (1) suspension or
termination for “force majeure” events beyond tobatcol of the parties; and (2) substantial limitas of remedies for other failures to perform,
including limitations on damages to amounts thaladde substantially less than those necessarsotade full recovery of costs for breach of the
agreements, which in either event could have anahsalverse effect on our results of operatioashdlows, financial condition and/or prospects.

Legal actions challenging our property rights couldaterially adversely affect our businesses, fin@ai@condition, cash flows, results of operatic
and/or prospects.

We are engaged in disputes regarding our titlbegroperties on and adjacent to our LNG termimdiéxico, as we discuss in Note 15 of the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements in the AnRegdort. In the event that we are unable to defexidretain title to the properties on which our



LNG terminal is located, we could lose our rigltotcupy and use such properties and the relatedhi, which could result in breaches of one or
more permits or contracts that we have enteredwittorespect to such terminal. If we are unabledoupy and use such properties and the related
terminal, it could have a material adverse effecbor businesses, financial condition, resultspefrations, cash flows and/or prospects.

We rely on transportation assets and services, matlvhich we do not own or control, to deliver etdcity and natural gas.

We depend on electric transmission lines, natualppelines, and other transportation facilitiesmed and operated by third parties to:
= deliver the electricity and natural gas we selvtmlesale market:

= supply natural gas to our electric generation fiéesl, and

= provide retail energy services to custom

Sempra Mexico and Sempra Natural Gas also dependtaral gas pipelines to interconnect with thétimate source or customers of the
commodities they are transporting. Sempra MexiabS@mpra Natural Gas also rely on specialized shigrmnsport LNG to their facilities and on
natural gas pipelines to transport natural gastdistomers of the facilities. Sempra Natural Gasji8a Renewables, Sempra South American
Utilities and Sempra Mexico rely on transmissiares to sell electricity to their customers. If spartation is disrupted, or if capacity is inadeagqua

we may be unable to sell and deliver our commaglidectricity and other services to some or aliwfcustomers. As a result, we may be
responsible for damages incurred by our custorsard) as the additional cost of acquiring altermatiatural gas supplies and LNG at then-current
spot market rates, which could have a material maveffect on our businesses, financial conditiaish flows, results of operations and/or prospects.

Our international businesses are exposed to diffgréocal, regulatory and business risks and chalgs, which could have a material adverse
effect on our businesses, financial condition, calbws, results of operations and/or prospects.

We own or have interests in Mexico in electricigngration, distribution and transmission facilitieatural gas, propane and ethane distribution,
storage and transportation projects, and an LN@ited, and electricity transmission and distribotlusinesses in Chile and Peru. Developing
infrastructure projects, owning energy assets,auedtating businesses in foreign jurisdictions stthjis to significant political, legal, regulatomych
financial risks that vary by country, including:

= changes in foreign laws and regulations, includagand environmental laws and regulations, and lawés and regulations, in each case,
are related to foreign operatio

= governance by and decisions of local regulatoryidmdncluding setting of rates and tariffs thatyrba earned by our busines:
= high rates of inflatior

= volatility in exchange rates between the U.S. dallad currencies of the countries in which we ofex

= changes in government policies or persol

= trade restriction

= limitations on U.S. company ownership in foreigmuougies

= permitting and regulatory complian

= changes in labor supply and labor relati

= adverse rulings by foreign courts or tribunals,liemges to permits and approvals, difficulty in @ing contractual and property rights,
unsettled property rights and titles in Mexico arider foreign jurisdiction

= expropriation of asse
= adverse changes in the stability of the governmieritse countries in which we oper
= general political, social, economic and businesglitmns

Our international businesses also are subjectréagio currency risks. These risks arise from batlatity in foreign currency exchange and inflatio
rates and devaluations of foreign currencies. bhaases, an appreciation of the U.S. dollar agaifecal currency could materially reduce the
amount of cash and income received from thosedarsiibsidiaries. We may or may not choose to hédgge risks, and any hedges entered into
or may not be effective. Fluctuations in foreigmrency exchange and inflation rates may resulignicantly increased taxes in foreign countries
and materially adversely affect our cash flowsaficial condition, results of operations and/or peass.

We discuss litigation related to Sempra Mexico'igfa Costa Azul LNG terminal and other internagicenergy projects in Note 15 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in the AnnualoRep



Other Risks
Sempra Energy has substantial investments and otbleligations in businesses that it does not contoolmanage or in which it shares contrc

As described above, SDG&E holds a 20-percent owieisterest in SONGS, which is operated by Edigdeo, Sempra Natural Gas owns a 25-
percent interest in Rockies Express, a joint venthat operates a natural gas pipeline. Our invastin Rockies Express is $329 million at
December 31, 2013. Rockies Express is controlledidijgrass Energy Partners, which holds a 50-pé¢liagerest. At December 31, 2013, Sempra
Renewables has investments totaling $707 millioseiwveral joint ventures to develop and operatewahke generation facilities. Sempra Mexico
owns a 50-percent interest in a joint venture WHMEX that operates several natural gas pipelindgpaopane systems in northern Mexico. At
December 31, 2013, this investment is $379 millBempra Energy has an investment balance of $1@®midit December 31, 2013 that reflects
remaining distributions expected to be receivechftbe RBS Sempra Commodities LLP (RBS Sempra Coritiesdpartnership as it is dissolved.
The timing and amount of distributions may be impéddyy the matters we discuss related to RBS Se@pmamodities in Note 15 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in the AnnualoRefhe failure to collect all or a substantiattpan of our remaining investment in the
partnership could have a corresponding effect arcash flows, financial condition and results oégiions. We continue to make investments in
entities that we do not control or manage or inchhive share control. We discuss these investmaritsef in Notes 3, 4 and 10 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements in the AnnualoRep

Sempra Natural Gas is currently progressing wismplto develop its Cameron LNG regasification figcior liquefaction capability in a joint ventu
structure with three partners where we will have2§iercent of the joint venture. We discuss thémesfurther in “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggems—Factors Influencing Future Performance’him Annual Report.

We have limited influence over these and otherrmssies in which we do not have a controlling istede addition to the other risks inherent in &
businesses, if their management were to fail tfop@radequately or the other investors in the besses were unable or otherwise failed to perform
their obligations to provide capital and creditgogt for these businesses, it could have a matadietrse effect on our results of operations, firen
condition, cash flows and/or prospects.

Market performance or changes in other assumpticruld require Sempra Energy, SDG&E and/or SoCalGasmake significant unplannet
contributions to their pension and other postretireent benefit plans.

Sempra Energy, SDG&E and SoCalGas provide defieeefit pension plans and other postretirement lisrtefeligible employees and retirees. A
decline in the market value of plan assets mayese the funding requirements for these planddditian, the cost of providing pension and other
postretirement benefits is also affected by othetdrs, including the assumed rate of return on pfsets, employee demographics, discount rates
used in determining future benefit obligationsesabf increase in health care costs, levels ofnasdlinterest rates and future governmental
regulation. An adverse change to any of these factould cause a material increase in our fundbigations which could have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations, financial dtod, cash flows and/or prospects.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

ELECTRIC PROPERTIES — SDG&E

At December 31, 2013, SDG&E owns and operatesratural gas-fired power plants:

= a 56(-MW electric generation facility (the Palomar genierafacility) in Escondido, Californi

= a 48:-MW electric generation facility (the Desert Stanggation facility) in Boulder City, Nevac
= a 9¢MW electric generation peaking facility (the Mirantenergy Center) in San Diego, Califori
= a 4-MW electric generation facility (the Cuyamaca P&alergy Plant) in El Cajon, Californ

SDG&E's interest in SONGS is described above imlfeunder “Electric Utility Operations — SDG&E.” Wabso discuss matters related to SONGS’
retirement and related issues in Note 13 of theedltd Consolidated Financial Statements in the AhReport.

At December 31, 2013, SDG&E'’s electric transmissiad distribution facilities included substatioasd overhead and underground lines. These
electric facilities are located in San Diego, Imakand Orange counties of California, and in Anaand Nevada. The facilities consist of 2,076
miles of transmission lines and 23,891 miles offritigtion lines. Periodically, various areas of #evice territory require expansion to accommodate
customer growth.



NATURAL GAS PROPERTIES — CALIFORNIA UTILITIES

At December 31, 2013, SDG&E's natural gas facsittensisted of two compressor stations, 168 milésansmission pipelines, 8,546 miles of
distribution pipelines and 6,460 miles of servigeetines.

At December 31, 2013, SoCalGas’ natural gas faslincluded 2,964 miles of transmission and s®gpelines, 49,832 miles of distribution
pipelines and 47,472 miles of service pipelinesyralso included 11 transmission compressor staaon four underground natural gas storage
reservoirs with a combined working capacity of Ea8.

ENERGY PROPERTIES — SEMPRA INTERNATIONAL AND SEMPRA U.S. GAS & POWER

At December 31, 2013, Sempra Mexico, Sempra Renewalnd Sempra Natural Gas operate or own intareptsver plants and renewable
generation facilities in North America with a totapacity of 2,632 MW. Our share of this capadty 071 MW. We provide additional information
in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finah€ondition and Results of Operations” and in Nbt# the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements in the Annual Report.

Sempra South American Utilities operates ChilquEn&rgia located in Valparaiso, Chile. Its propedpsists of 9,852 miles of distribution lines,
342 miles of transmission lines and 47 substations.

Sempra South American Utilities operates Luz dellSeated in Lima, Peru. Its property consistd®§281 miles of distribution lines and 180 miles
of transmission lines. Luz del Sur expects to catgptonstruction of Santa Teresa, a 100-MW hydetridepower plant located in the Cusco region
of Peru, in 2014.

At December 31, 2013, Sempra Mexico’s operationkided 1,954 miles of distribution pipelines, 22des of transmission pipelines and three
compressor stations. Sempra Mexico operates itegin€osta Azul LNG terminal on land it owns in 8&}alifornia, Mexico.

Sempra Renewables owns properties in Arizona aaskeproperties in Nevada for currently operataigrslectric generation facilities with the
potential to develop additional solar electric gatien facilities on these properties. Sempra Rexig®s also owns or leases property in California,
Georgia, Kansas and Nebraska for potential devedopf solar and wind electric generation facititiSempra Mexico leases properties in Mexico
for potential development of wind electric generatfacilities.

In 2006, Sempra Natural Gas and ProLiance Trarsfamtand Storage, LLC acquired three existingaalerns representing 10 Bcf to 12 Bcf of
natural gas storage capacity in Cameron Parishislama, with plans for development of a natural gfasage facility.

Sempra Natural Gas owns and operates Mobile Gastuaal gas distribution utility located in Mob#ed Baldwin counties in Alabama. Its property
consists of distribution mains, service lines aggltating equipment.

Sempra Natural Gas also owns and operates Willraat &natural gas distribution utility located oriest County, Mississippi, serving Forrest,
Simpson, Lamar, Jones, Covington and Rankin caosinti property consists of distribution mainsygs lines and regulating equipment.

In Washington County, Alabama, Sempra Natural Geesaies a 15.5 Bcf natural gas storage facility, 8as, under a land lease, with current plans
to expand total working capacity to 21 Bcf to bes@rvice in 2014. Sempra Natural Gas also ownsita&iimpson County, Mississippi, on which it
operates a 15 Bcf natural gas storage facility sM&ppi Hub, with current plans to expand totafkirng capacity to 23 Bcf to be in-service in 2014.
Portions of both these properties are currentlyeardnstruction.

Sempra Natural Gas has a land lease and ownsndtackberry, Louisiana, where it operates its Cam&NG terminal. Sempra Natural Gas also
owns land in Port Arthur, Texas, for potential depenent.

OTHER PROPERTIES

Sempra Energy occupies its 19-story corporate heatirs building in San Diego, California, pursu@nan operating lease that expires in 2015. In
August 2013, Sempra Energy entered into a 25-yeéld-to-suit lease for its future San Diego, Gatlifia, headquarters. The lease has five five-year

renewal options. We discuss the details of thisddarther in Note 15 of the Notes to Consolidatetancial Statements in the Annual Report.

SoCalGas leases approximately one-fourth of a &3+siffice building in downtown Los Angeles, Califida, pursuant to an operating lease expiring
in 2026. The lease has four five-year renewal ogtio

SDG&E occupies a six-building office complex in Saiego pursuant to two separate operating leaggls,dnding in December 2024. One lease has
four five-year renewal options and the other ldesethree five-year renewal options.

Sempra International and Sempra U.S. Gas & Powearaviease office facilities at various locationghie U.S., Mexico, Chile and Peru, with the
leases ending from 2014 to 2039.



Sempra Energy, SDG&E and SoCalGas own or lease lati@&, easements, rights of way, warehouses esffioperating and maintenance centers,
shops, service facilities and equipment necessarpnduct their businesses.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not party to, and our property is not tHgestt of, any material pending legal proceedingsdpthan ordinary routine litigation incidental to
our businesses) except for the matters (1) destiibBlotes 13, 14 and 15 of the Notes to Consaidi&inancial Statements in the Annual Report, or
(2) referred to in “Management’s Discussion and l§sia of Financial Condition and Results of Operas” in the Annual Report.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable

PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

COMMON STOCK AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

The common stock, related shareholder, and dividesiiction information required by Item 5 is indked in “Common Stock Data” in the Annual
Report.

SEMPRA ENERGY EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

Sempra Energy has a long-term incentive plan thahjis the grant of a wide variety of equity andiggbased incentive awards to directors, offi
and key employees. At December 31, 2013, outstgradirards consisted of stock options, restrictedkstand restricted stock units held by 380

employees.

The following table sets forth information regarmgliour equity compensation plan at December 31, 2013

Number of shares to

be issued upon Number of
exercise of Weighted-average additional
outstanding exercise price of shares remaining
options, warrants outstanding options, available for future
and rights(A) warrants and rights(B) issuance(C)(D)

Equity compensation plan approved
by shareholders:
2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan 4,839,304 $ 53.18 7,210,346

(A)  Consists of 1,459,145 options to purchase shares of our common stock, all of which were granted at an exercise price of 100% of the grant date fair market value
of the shares subject to the option, 215,598 service-based restricted stock units and 3,164,561 performance-based restricted stock units. Each performance-
based restricted stock unit represents the right to receive one share of our common stock if applicable performance conditions are satisfied; up to an additional
50 percent of shares represented by these units may be issued if Sempra Energy exceeds target performance conditions. The 4,839,304 also includes awards
granted under two previously shareholder-approved long-term incentive plans (Predecessor Plans). No new awards may be granted under these Predecessor
Plans.

(B)  Represents only the weighted-average exercise price of the 1,459,145 options to purchase shares of common stock.

(C) The number of shares available for future issuance is increased by the number of shares withheld or surrendered to satisfy the exercise price or to satisfy tax
withholding obligations relating to any plan awards.

(D) The number of shares available for future issuance is increased by the number of shares subject to awards that expire or are forfeited, canceled or otherwise
terminated without the issuance of shares.

We provide additional discussion of share-basedpemrsation in Note 8 of the Notes to Consolidatedi¢ial Statements in the Annual Report.

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AF FILIATED PURCHASERS

On September 11, 2007, the Sempra Energy boardestars authorized the repurchase of Sempra Er@gynon stock provided that the amounts



spent for such purpose do not exceed the great billion or amounts spent to purchase no moae #0 million shares.
During 2008, we expended $1 billion to purchasetal bf 18,416,241 shares. No shares were repwdhager this authorization during 2009.

Under a program initiated in 2010, we prepaid $60ion to repurchase a total of 9,574,435 shafesuo common stock in 2010 and 2011. We
discuss this program in Note 12 of the Notes tofbbdated Financial Statements in the Annual Report

Therefore, approximately $500 million remains auitredl by the board for the purchase of additiohakes, not to exceed approximately 12 million
shares. We also may, from time to time, purchaaeeshof our common stock from restricted stock plaricipants who elect to sell a sufficient
number of vesting restricted shares to meet minimstatutory tax withholding requirements.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The information required by Item 6 is included Five-Year Summaries” in the Annual Report.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT * S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The information required by Item 7 is set forth entManagement’s Discussion and Analysis of FinahCiondition and Results of Operations” in
the Annual Report, on pages 2 through 79.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The information required by Item 7A is set forthden “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Fim@ncondition and Results of Operations —
Market Risk” in the Annual Report.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The information required by Item 8 is set forthpages 92 through 239 of the Annual Report. Itena)il56f Part IV of this report includes a listing
financial statements included.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The information required by Item 9A is provided‘@ontrols and Procedures” in the Annual Report.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART Il

Because SDG&E meets the conditions of Generaldagtms 1(1)(a) and (b) of Form 10-K and is thereftiling this report with a reduced disclosure
format as permitted by General Instruction (2§ ihformation required by Items 10, 11, 12 and &®W is not required for SDG&E. We have,



however, provided the information required by Itéénwith respect to SDG&E’s executive officers imtRaltem 1. Business under “Executive
Officers of the Registrants — SDG&E and SoCalGas.”

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

SEMPRA ENERGY

We provide the information required by Item 10 wiélspect to executive officers for Sempra Energdyart |, Iltem 1. Business under “Executive
Officers of the Registrants — Sempra Energy.” Afley information required by Item 10 is incorporht® reference from “Corporate Governance”
and “Share Ownership” in the Proxy Statement pegbéor the May 2014 annual meeting of shareholders.

SOCALGAS

We provide the information required by Item 10 wiéispect to executive officers for SoCalGas in Rarém 1. Business under “Executive Officers
of the Registrants — SDG&E and SoCalGas.” All othésrmation required by Item 10 is incorporatedrbference from the company’s Information
Statement prepared for its June 2014 annual meetigigareholders.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Item 11 is incorporagdreference from “Corporate Governance” and “Eiee Compensation,” including
“Compensation Discussion and Analysis” and “Compéns Committee Report” in the Proxy Statement greg for the May 2014 annual meeting
of shareholders for Sempra Energy and from therimédion Statement prepared for the June 2014 ame@ling of shareholders for SoCalGas.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

Information regarding securities authorized fou&sce under equity compensation plans as requyrégtm 12 is included in Item 5.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS

The security ownership information required by Itégnis incorporated by reference from “Share Owmipfsn the Proxy Statement prepared for the
May 2014 annual meeting of shareholders for Seapexrgy and from the Information Statement prepéwethe June 2014 annual meeting of
shareholders for SoCalGas.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Item 13 is incorporalgdreference from “Corporate Governance” in thexiprStatement prepared for the May 2014
annual meeting of shareholders for Sempra Enerdyfram the Information Statement prepared for tn@eJ2014 annual meeting of shareholders for
SoCalGas.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information regarding principal accountant fees sexvices, as required by Item 14, is presentenlbfdr Sempra Energy, SDG&E and SoCalGas.
The following table shows the fees paid to Delofit€ouche LLP, the independent registered publmoaating firm for Sempra Energy, SDG&E ¢
SoCalGas, for services provided for 2013 and 2012.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES
(Dollars in thousands)
Sempra Energy
Consolidated SDG&E SoCalGas




% % %

Fees of Total Fees of Total Fees of Total
2013:
Audit fees:
Consolidated financial statements and
internal controls audits, subsidiary
and statutory audits $ 9,462 $ 2,451 $ 2,246
Regulatory filings and related services 155 64 —
Total audit fees 9,617 80 % 2,515 87 % 2,246 92 %
Audit-related fees:
Employee benefit plan audits 475 125 192
Other audit-related services,
accounting consultation 325 66 —
Total audit-related fees 800 7 191 7 192 8
Tax fees:
Tax planning and compliance 1,473 175 —
Other tax services — — —
Total tax fees 1,473 12 175 6 — —
All other fees 77 1 — — — —
Total fees $ 11,967 100 % $ 2,881 100 % $ 2,438 100 %
Sempra Energy
Consolidated SDG&E SoCalGas
% % %
Fees of Total Fees of Total Fees of Total
2012:
Audit fees:
Consolidated financial statements and
internal controls audits, subsidiary
and statutory audits $ 9,290 $ 2,055 $ 2,000
Regulatory filings and related services 480 186 59
Total audit fees 9,770 82 % 2,241 78 % 2,059 91 %
Audit-related fees:
Employee benefit plan audits 470 126 187
Other audit-related services,
accounting consultation 445 34 —
Total audit-related fees 915 8 160 6 187 8
Tax fees:
Tax planning and compliance 1,006 449 —
Other tax services — — —
Total tax fees 1,006 8 449 16 — —
All other fees 196 2 13 — 13 1
Total fees $ 11,887 100 % $ 2,863 100 % $ 2,259 100 %

The Audit Committee of Sempra Energy’s Board ofeiors is directly responsible and has sole authfoi selecting, appointing, retaining and
overseeing the work and approving the compensafitime independent registered public accounting for Sempra Energy and its subsidiaries,
including SDG&E and SoCalGas. As a matter of gamgbarate governance, the SDG&E and SoCalGas Badiidsectors also reviewed the
performance of Deloitte & Touche LLP and concunéth the determination by the Sempra Energy Audittnittee to retain them as the
independent registered public accounting firm fackeof Sempra Energy, SDG&E and SoCalGas. SemprayiEs board has determined that each
member of its Audit Committee is an independergator and is financially literate, and that Mr. Bkemith, the chair of the committee, and Mr.
Taylor are each an audit committee financial expsrtefined by the rules of the Securities and &Exgh Commission.

Except where pre-approval is not required by theuBges and Exchange Commission rules, SempraggtseAudit Committee pre-approves all

audit and permissible non-audit services provide®éloitte & Touche LLP for Sempra Energy and itbsidiaries. The committee’s pre-approval
policies and procedures provide for the generalgproval of specific types of services and giviaitied guidance to management as to the services
that are eligible for general pre-approval. Theyuiee specific pre-approval of all other permitssvices. For both types of pre-approval, the
committee considers whether the services to begedwvare consistent with maintaining the firm’sepéndence. The policies and procedures also
delegate authority to the chair of the committeaddress any requests for pre-approval of sertieeseen committee meetings, with any pre-
approval decisions to be reported to the comméteéts next scheduled meeting.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES



(a) The following documents are filed as part af tieport:

1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Page in Annual Report(1)

San Diego Southern California Gas
Sempra Energy Gas & Electric Company Company

Management’s Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 84 84 84
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 86 88 90
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2013,

2012 and 2011 92 100 107
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December

31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 93 101 108
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2013 and 2012 94 102 109
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2013,

2012 and 2011 96 104 111
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity for the years ended December 31,

2013, 2012 and 2011 98 106 N/A
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended

December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 N/A N/A 112
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 113 113 113

(1) Incorporated by reference from the indicated pages of the 2013 Annual Report to Shareholders, filed as Exhibit 13.1.

2. FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Sempra Energ)

Schedule I--Sempra Energy Condensed Financialrrdtion of Parent may be found on page 46 of thiente

Any other schedule for which provision is made ggRlation S-X is not required under the instructioontained therein, is inapplicable or the
information is included in the Consolidated Finah&tatements and Notes thereto in the Annual Repor

3. EXHIBITS

See Exhibit Index on page 54 of this report.

CONSENTS OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM AND REPORT ON
SCHEDULE

SEMPRA ENERGY

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Serafinergy:

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegion Statement No. 333-176855 on Form S-33881188526, 333-182225, 333-56161, 333-
50806, 333-49732, 333-121073, 333-128441, 333-141383-155191, 333-129774 and 333-157567 on FoBroBaur reports dated February 27,
2014, relating to the consolidated financial staeta of Sempra Energy and subsidiaries (the “Conipaand the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting, incorpted by reference in this Annual Report on FornKléf-Sempra Energy for the year ended
December 31, 2013.

Our audits of the financial statements referreith tour aforementioned report relating to the coidsdéd financial statements also included the



financial statement schedule of the Company, listdtem 15. This financial statement schedulénésresponsibility of the Comparsymanagemen
Our responsibility is to express an opinion basedwr audits. In our opinion, such financial steéeit schedule, when considered in relation to the
basic consolidated financial statements takenvelsade, presents fairly, in all material respedtg, information set forth therein.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Diego, California

February 27, 2014

SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY

To the Board of Directors and Shareholder of Sandgo Gas & Electric Company:

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegion Statement No. 333-181639 on Form S-3unfreports dated February 27, 2014, relating
to the consolidated financial statements of Sam®®as & Electric Company (the “Company”), and ¢fffectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting, incorporated lefarence in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Béego Gas & Electric Company for the year
ended December 31, 2013.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Diego, California

February 27, 2014

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Soath California Gas Company:

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegion Statement No. 333-182557 on Form S-3unfreports dated February 27, 2014, relating
to the consolidated financial statements of Souti@lifornia Gas Company and subsidiaries (the “Gamy”), and the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reportimgcorporated by reference in this Annual Reparform 10-K of Southern California Gas
Company for the year ended December 31, 2013.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Diego, California

February 27, 2014

SCHEDULE | - SEMPRA ENERGY CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PARENT

SEMPRA ENERGY
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)
Years ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Interest income $ 42 $ 83 $ 109
Interest expense (239) (247) (242)



Operation and maintenance (63) (68) (64)
Other income, net 41 66 42
Income tax benefits 117 145 82
Loss before equity in earnings of subsidiaries (202) (22) (73)
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries, net of income taxes 1,103 880 1,404
Net income/earnings $ 1,001 $ 859 $ 1,331
Basic earnings per common share $ 4.10 $ 3.56 $ 5.55
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding (thousands) 243,863 241,347 239,720
Diluted earnings per common share $ 4.01 $ 3.48 $ 551
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding (thousands) 249,332 246,693 241,523
See Notes to Condensed Financial Information of Parent.
SEMPRA ENERGY
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Dollars in millions)
Years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011
Pretax Income Tax Net-of-tax
Amount (Expense) Benefit Amount
2013:
Net income 884 $ 117 $ 1,001
Other comprehensive income:
Foreign currency translation adjustments 111 — 111
Pension and other postretirement benefits 47 (19) 28
Financial instruments 13 (4) 9
Total other comprehensive income 171 (23) 148
Comprehensive income 1,065 $ 94 $ 1,149
2012:
Net income 714 $ 145 $ 859
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments 119 — 119
Pension and other postretirement benefits (4) 2 (2)
Financial instruments (6) 2 O]
Total other comprehensive income 109 4 113
Comprehensive income 823 $ 149 $ 972
2011:
Net income 1,249 $ 82 $ 1,331
Other comprehensive loss:
Foreign currency translation adjustments (79) 3 (76)
Reclassification to net income of foreign
currency translation adjustment related
to remeasurement of equity method
investments (54) — (54)
Available-for-sale securities (2) 1 (1)
Pension and other postretirement benefits (20) 8 (12)
Financial instruments (26) 10 (16)
Total other comprehensive loss (181) 22 (159)
Comprehensive income 1,068 $ 104 $ 1,172

See Notes to Condensed Financial Information of Parent.

SEMPRA ENERGY
CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollars in millions)

December 31,

December 31,

2013 2012

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 63% 18
Due from affiliates 132 125
Deferred income taxes 170 109
Other current assets 16 16

Total current assets 324 268
Investments in subsidiaries 13,866 12,545
Due from affiliates 802 1,759
Deferred income taxes 1,466 1,541
Other assets 555 576

Total assets $ 17,013 $ 16,689




Liabilities and shareholders’ equity:

Current portion of long-term debt 800 $ 652
Due to affiliates 273 539
Income taxes payable 64 26
Other current liabilities 276 260

Total current liabilities 1,413 1,477
Long-term debt 4,117 4,409
Other long-term liabilities 475 521
Shareholders’ equity 11,008 10,282
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 17,013 $ 16,689
See Notes to Condensed Financial Information of Parent.
SEMPRA ENERGY
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Dollars in millions)

Years ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

Net cash used in operating activities (131) (809) (287)
Dividends received from subsidiary 50 250 50
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment (D) (1) (2)
Purchase of trust assets 5) (6) @)
Proceeds from sales by trust 10 10 12
Capital contribution to subsidiaries (6) — (200)
Decrease (increase) in loans to affiliates, net 962 (33) 82

Cash provided by (used in) investing activities 1,010 220 (65)
Common stock dividends paid (606) (550) (440)
Issuances of common stock 62 78 28
Repurchases of common stock (45) (16) (18)
Issuances of long-term debt 498 1,100 799
Payments on long-term debt (650) (8) (24)
Decrease in loans from affiliates, net (147) — (136)
Other 3 8 3

Cash (used in) provided by financing activities (891) 596 206
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (12) 7 (146)
Cash and cash equivalents, January 1 18 11 157
Cash and cash equivalents, December 31 6 18 11

See Notes to Condensed Financial Information of Parent.

SEMPRA ENERGY

NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF PARENT

Note 1. Basis of Presentation

Sempra Energy accounts for the earnings of itsidigibes under the equity method in this unconstéd financial information.

Other Income, Net, on the Condensed Statementpefailons includes $39 million, $41 million and $82lion of gains on dedicated assets in

support of our executive retirement and deferredmensation plans in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respéctive

Because of its nature as a holding company, SeEmeagy classifies dividends received from subsid&as an investing cash flow.

Note 2. Long-Term Debt

December 31, December 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2013 2012
6% Notes February 1, 2013 $ —$ 400
8.9% Notes November 15, 2013, including $200 at variable rates after

fixed-to-floating rate swaps effective January 2011 — 250

2% Notes March 15, 2014 500 500



Notes at variable rates (1.01% at December 31, 2013) March 15, 2014 300 300
6.5% Notes June 1, 2016, including $300 at variable rates after

fixed-to-floating rate swaps effective January 2011 (4.46% at December 31, 2013) 750 750
2.3% Notes April 1, 2017 600 600
6.15% Notes June 15, 2018 500 500
9.8% Notes February 15, 2019 500 500
2.875% Notes October 1, 2022 500 500
4.05% Notes December 1, 2023 500 —
6% Notes October 15, 2039 750 750
Market value adjustments for interest rate swaps, net

(expire November 2013 and June 2016) 12 19
Build-to-suit lease 14 —

4,926 5,069
Current portion of long-term debt (800) (652)
Unamortized discount on long-term debt 9) (8)
Total long-term debt $ 4,117 $ 4,409

Maturities of long-term debt are $800 million in120 $750 million in 2016, $600 million in 2017, ¥bMillion in 2018 and $2.3 billion thereafter.

Additional information on Sempra Energy’s long-tediebt is provided in Note 5 of the Notes to Cordaikd Financial Statements in the Annual
Report.

Note 3. Commitments and Contingencies

For contingencies and guarantees related to SelEnmayy, refer to Notes 5 and 15 of the Notes tosBlislated Financial Statements in the Annual
Report.

Sempra Energy:
SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized

SEMPRA ENERGY,
(Registrant’

By: /s/ Debra L. Ree
Debra L. Reed
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

Date: February 27, 201

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of the
Registrant in the capacities and on the datesaietic

Name/Title Signature Date

Principal Executive Officer:
Debra L. Reed
Chief Executive Office /s/ Debra L. Ree February 27, 201

Principal Financial Officer:

Joseph A. Householder

Executive Vice President and

Chief Financial Office Is/ Joseph A. Household February 27, 201

Principal Accounting Officer:

Trevor |. Mihalik

Senior Vice President, Controller and

Chief Accounting Office Is/ Trevor |. Mihalik February 27, 201

Directors:



Debra L. Reed, Chairme

Alan L. Boeckmann, Directc

James G. Brocksmith, Jr., Direc

Kathleen L. Brown, Directa
Pablo A. Ferrero, Directc
William D. Jones, Directc
William G. Ouchi, Ph.D., Directc
William C. Rusnack, Directc
William P. Rutledge, Directc
Lynn Schenk, Directc

Jack T. Taylor, Directa

Luis M. Téllez, Ph.D., Directc

James C. Yardley, Direct

/s/ Debra L. Ree

/s/ Alan L. Boeckman

/s/ James G. Brocksmith, .

/s/ Kathleen L. Browt

/s/ Pablo A. Ferrer

/s/ William D. Jone!

/s/ William G. Ouchi

/s/ William C. Rusnac!

/s/ William P. Rutledg:

/s/ Lynn Schenl

/sl Jack T. Taylo

/s/ Luis M. Téllez

/s/ James C. Yardle

February 27, 201
February 27, 201
February 27, 201
February 27, 201
February 27, 201
February 27, 201
February 27, 201
February 27, 201
February 27, 201
February 27, 201
February 27, 201
February 27, 201

February 27, 201

San Diego Gas & Electric Company
SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized

SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY,
(Registrant’

By: /s/ Jeffrey W. Martir

Jeffrey W. Martin
Chief Executive Office

Date: February 27, 201

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of the
Registrant in the capacities and on the datesaietic

Name/Title Signature Date

Principal Executive Officer:
Jeffrey W. Martin .
Chief Executive Office /sl Jeffrey W. Martir February 27, 201

Principal Financial and Accounting Officer:
Robert M. Schlax
Vice President, Controller, Chief Financial Officerd

Chief Accounting Office
Directors:
Jessie J. Knight, Jr., Chairm

Steven D. Davis, Directc

Joseph A. Householder, Direct

/s/ Robert M. Schla

/sl Jessie J. Knight, ¢

/sl Steven D. Davi

/s/ Joseph A. Household

February 27, 201

February 27, 201

February 27, 201

February 27, 201



Jeffrey W. Martin, Directo /sl Jeffrey W. Martir February 27, 201

Southern California Gas Company:
SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(tH)e Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredaty authorized

SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY,
(Registrant’

By: /s/ Anne S. Smit
Anne S. Smith
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic

Date: February 27, 201

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bblpthe following persons on behalf of the
Registrant in the capacities and on the datesaietic

Name/Title Signature Date

Principal Executive Officer:
Anne S. Smith )
Chief Executive Office s/ Anne S. Smit| February 27, 201

Principal Financial and Accounting Officer:
Robert M. Schlax
Vice President, Controller, Chief Financial Officard

Chief Accounting Office Is/ Robert M. Schla February 27, 201
Directors:

Anne S. Smith, Chairme s/ Anne S. Smit| February 27, 201
Dennis V. Arriola, Directo /s/ Dennis V. Arriole February 27, 201
Joseph A. Householder, Direci /sl Joseph A. Household February 27, 201
Martha B. Wyrsch, Directc /sl Martha B. Wyrscl February 27, 201
EXHIBIT INDEX

The exhibits filed under the Registration StaterseRtoxy Statements and Forms 8-K, 10-K and 10aQate incorporated herein by reference were
filed under Commission File Number 1-14201 (Sentpmargy), Commission File Number 1-40 (Pacific LiggtCorporation), Commission File
Number -03779 (San Diego Gas & Electric Company) and/or @@gion File Number-01402 (Southern California Gas Compar

The following exhibits relate to each registrantraticated.

EXHIBIT 3 -- BYLAWS AND ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION



Sempra Energ)
3.1Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation@hfra Energy effective May 23, 2008 (Appendix Bri® 2008 Sempra
Energy Definitive Proxy Statement, filed on Apr8,12008).

3.2Amended and Restated Bylaws of Sempra Energy aféeSeptember 13, 2012 (Sempra Energy Form 8- file September 18,
2012, Exhibit 3(ii)).

San Diego Gas & Electric Compar
3.2Amended and Restated Bylaws of San Diego Gas é&tfidexffective June 15, 2010 (Foi8-K filed on June 17, 2010, Exhibit &

3.4Restated Avrticles of Incorporation of San Diego &&slectric Company as amended effective Novemi3e2D06 (2006 SDG&E
Form 10-K, Exhibit 3.02).

Southern California Gas Compan
3.EAmended and Restated Bylaws of Southern Califo®&a Company effective June 14, 2010 (Form 8-K fiediune 17, 2010,
Exhibit 3.1).

3.€Restated Avrticles of Incorporation of Southern foatiia Gas Company effective October 7, 1996 (1966alGas Form 10-K,
Exhibit 3.01).

EXHIBIT 4 -- INSTRUMENTS DEFINING THE RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS, INCLUDING INDENTURES
The companies agree to furnish a copy of each imsttument to the Commission upon request.
Sempra Energy
4.1Description of rights of Sempra Energy Common St@akended and Restated Articles of Incorporatio®empra Energy
effective May 23, 2008, Exhibit 3.1 abov

4.2Indenture dated as of February 23, 2000, betweemp&eEnergy and U.S. Bank Trust National Assoamtis Trustee (Sempra
Energy Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. BS3425), filed on September 11, 2008, Exhibit 4.1).

Southern California Gas Compan
4.3Description of preferences of Preferred Stock, étefce Stock and Series Preferred Stock (Southaifo@ia Gas Company
Restated Articles of Incorporation, Exhibit 3.6 abp

Sempra Energy / San Diego Gas & Electric Compe
4.4Mortgage and Deed of Trust dated July 1, 1940 (SEG®eqgistration Statement Nc-4769, Exhibit E-3).

4.5Second Supplemental Indenture dated as of MartB48 (SDG&E Registration Statement N-7418, Exhibit E-5B).
4.eNinth Supplemental Indenture dated as of Augu4968 (SDG&E Registration Statement No. -52150, Exhibit 4.5)
4.7Tenth Supplemental Indenture dated as of DecemhE36B (SDG&E Registration Statement N-36042, Exhibit -K).
4.8Sixteenth Supplemental Indenture dated August 2851SDG&E Registration Statement No. 33-34017,ilikH.2).
Sempra Energy / Southern California Gas Compa
4.CFirst Mortgage Indenture of Southern California @asnpany to American Trust Company dated Octob&p40 (Registration
Statement No.-4504 filed by Southern California Gas Company opt&aber 16, 1940, Exhibit-4).

4.1(Supplemental Indenture of Southern California Gam@any to American Trust Company dated as of Aufju$855 (Registratic
Statement No.-11997 filed by Pacific Lighting Corporation on Obty 26, 1955, Exhibit 4.07

4.11Supplemental Indenture of Southern California Gasmi@any to American Trust Company dated as of Deeerhp1956 (2006
Sempra Energy Form -K, Exhibit 4.09).

4.1zSupplemental Indenture of Southern California Gasi@any to Wells Fargo Bank dated as of June 1, {®836 Sempra Energy
Form 1(-K, Exhibit 4.10).

4.1zSupplemental Indenture of Southern California Gasm@any to Wells Fargo Bank, National Associatiotedas of August 1,
1972 (Registration Statement N-59832 filed by Southern California Gas Company ept&mber 6, 1977, Exhibit 2.1

4.14Supplemental Indenture of Southern California Gasi@any to Wells Fargo Bank, National Associatiotedaas of May 1, 1976
(Registration Statement Nc-56034 filed by Southern California Gas Company @milAL4, 1976, Exhibit 2.20’

4.15Supplemental Indenture of Southern California Gas@any to Wells Fargo Bank, National Associatiotedas of September 1
1981 (Registration Statement No. 333-70654, ExHilait).

EXHIBIT 10 -- MATERIAL CONTRACTS



Sempra Energy / San Diego Gas & Electric Compar§authern California Gas Compan

10.1Form of Continental Forge and California Class #wtiPrice Reporting Settlement Agreement dated darmfary 4, 2006 (Form 8-
K filed on January 5, 2006, Exhibit 99.

10.2Form of Nevada Antitrust Settlement Agreement datedf January 4, 2006 (Form 8-K filed on Janua30®6, Exhibit 99.2).

Sempra Energ)
10.2Indemnity Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2008wetn Sempra Energy, Pacific Enterprises, Enovadatipn and The Royal
Bank of Scotland plc (Sempra Energy March 31, 206@&n 1(-Q, Exhibit 10.2)

10.4First Amendment to Indemnity Agreement, dated aglafch 30, 2009, by and among Sempra Energy, Rdgifterprises, Enova
Corporation and The Royal Bank of Scotland plc (BentEnergy March 31, 2009 Form-Q, Exhibit 10.3)

10.ESecond Amendment to Indemnity Agreement, dated dsree 30, 2009, by and among Sempra Energy, P&aitierprises, Enova
Corporation and The Royal Bank of Scotland plc (Bentnergy June 30, 2009 Forr-Q, Exhibit 10.1).

10.€Third Amendment to Indemnity Agreement, dated aBefember 3, 2009, by and among Sempra Energyfj®&nterprises,
Enova Corporation and The Royal Bank of Scotlard 009 Sempra Energy Form-K, Exhibit 10.06).

10.7Fourth Amendment to Indemnity Agreement, datedfaspoil 15, 2011, by and among The Royal Bank obtnd plc, Sempra
Energy, Pacific Enterprises and Enova Corporg(Sempra Energy Forr-K filed on April 21, 2011, Exhibit 10.2

10.¢Letter Agreement, dated as of April 15, 2011, bgt among The Royal Bank of Scotland plc, Sempra@neéempra
Commodities, Inc. and Sempra Energy Holdings VW §Sempra Energy Form 8-K/A filed on April 21, 20JExhibit 10.1).

10.¢Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of Febr6a®010, entered into by and among J.P. MorganufesatEnergy Corporatic
Sempra Energy Trading LLC, RBS Sempra CommoditleB, ISempra Energy and The Royal Bank of Scotland$tmpra
Energy Form -K filed on February 19, 2010, Exhibit 10..

10.1(First Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreemerggdet of June 30, 2010, entered into by and amé&hdvibrgan Ventures
Energy Corporation, Sempra Energy Trading LLC, R#npra Commodities LLP, Sempra Energy and The Regmak of
Scotland plc (Sempra Energy June 30, 2010 Foi-Q, Exhibit 10.1).

10.11Letter Agreement, dated as of February 16, 201i@red into by and between Sempra Energy and ThalBank of Scotland plc
(Sempra Energy Forn-K filed on February 19, 2010, Exhibit 10..

10.17Limited Liability Partnership Agreement, dated &#\pril 1, 2008, between Sempra Energy, Sempra Codities, Inc., Sempra
Energy Holdings, VII B.V., RBS Sempra CommoditidsPLand The Royal Bank of Scotland plc (Sempra En&tgrch 31, 2008
Form 1(-Q, Exhibit 10.1)

10.1%First Amendment to Limited Liability Partnership vegment, dated as of April 6, 2009 and effectivefdsovember 14, 2008, by
and among The Royal Bank of Scotland plc, Sempedsn Sempra Commodities, Inc., Sempra Energy HgklvII B.V. and
RBS Sempra Commodities LLP (Sempra Energy Marct23829 Form 1-Q, Exhibit 10.4)

10.1<Second Amendment to Limited Liability Partnershigréement, dated December 23, 2009, by and amon&dye Bank of
Scotland plc, Sempra Energy, Sempra Commodities, 88mpra Energy Holdings VII B.V. and RBS Sempoanmodities LLP
(2009 Sempra Energy Form-K, Exhibit 10.11).

10.1tMaster Formation and Equity Interest Purchase Agesg, dated as of July 9, 2007, by and among SeEmeegy, Sempra Glob:
Sempra Energy Trading International, B.V. and Tlogd® Bank of Scotland plc (Sempra Energy Form 8l&dfon July 9, 2007,
Exhibit 10.2).

10.1¢€First amendment to the Master Formation and Edoigrest Purchase Agreement, dated as of ApriDQ82by and among Sem
Energy, Sempra Global, Sempra Energy Trading laternal, B.V. and The Royal Bank of Scotland pler{fdra Energy March
31, 2008 Form 10-Q, Exhibit 10.3).

Sempra Energy / San Diego Gas & Electric Compe

10.1°Amended and Restated Operating Order between SayjoBas & Electric Company and the California Depant of Water
Resources effective March 10, 2011 (Sempra EnergreM31, 2011 Form -Q, Exhibit 10.4).

10.1¢Amended and Restated Servicing Order between SegolBas & Electric Company and the California Depant of Water
Resources effective March 10, 2011 (Sempra EnerggeM31, 2011 Form 10-Q, Exhibit 10.5).

Compensatior

Sempra Energy / San Diego Gas & Electric Compar§authern California Gas Compan



10.1¢%orm of Sempra Energy Shared Services Executiventine Compensation Pla

10.2(Form of Sempra Energy 2013 Long-Term Incentive R@HE3 Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit AW8einpra Energy
September 30, 2013 Form-Q, Exhibit 10.1)

10.21Sempra Energy 2013 Lo-Term Incentive Plan (March 21, 2013 Sempra EnergxyStatement, Appendix D

10.2:Third Amendment to the Sempra Energy Employee anecir Retirement Savings Plan (2012 Sempra Eneogsn 10-K,
Exhibit 10.21).

10.2:Sempra Energy Amended and Restated Executive héfierdnce Plan (2012 Sempra Energy For-K, Exhibit 10.22).

10.2<Severance Pay Agreement between Sempra EnergyemddArriola (September 30, 2012 Sempra EnergyHd-Q, Exhibit
10.1).

10.2tSecond Amendment to the Sempra Energy Employe®#madtor Retirement Savings Plan (June 30, 2012@8ainergy Form
1C-Q, Exhibit 10.1).

10.2tGeneral Release Agreement between Sempra EnergWlighdel W. Allman (June 30, 2012 Sempra Energynt&6-Q, Exhibit
10.2).

10.27 Severance Pay Agreement between Sempra Energyrandr Mihalik (June 30, 2012 Sempra Energy Forl-Q, Exhibit 10.3).
10.2¢Severance Pay Agreement between Sempra Energyrar@l &\ Smith (June 30, 2012 Sempra Energy Fo-Q, Exhibit 10.4).

10.2¢%Form of Sempra Energy 2008 Long Term Incentive RI2 Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Avistalch 31, 2012
Sempra Energy Form -Q, Exhibit 10.1)

10.3(First Amendment to the Sempra Energy Employee d@retr Savings Plan (2011 Sempra Energy For-K, Exhibit 10.22).
10.31Severance Pay Agreement between Sempra Energy adavisde Chaudhri (2011 Sempra Energy For-K, Exhibit 10.23).
10.3-Severance Pay Agreement between Sempra Energyessié J. Knight, Jr. (2011 Sempra Energy For-K, Exhibit 10.24).
10.3:Severance Pay Agreement between Sempra Energy ishd@!W. Allman (2011 Sempra Energy Forn-K, Exhibit 10.25).
10.3<Severance Pay Agreement between Sempra Energy.alay€ Rowland (2011 Sempra Energy Fori-K, Exhibit 10.26).

10.3tAmended and Restated Sempra Energy Severance Pagment between Sempra Energy and Debra L. Reeth(&d=nergy
Form &K filed on July 1, 2011, Exhibit 10.1

10.3cAmendment to Severance Pay Agreement between Sémprgy and Mark A. Snell (Sempra Energy Form 8kdfon
September 15, 2011, Exhibit 10.

10.37 Severance Pay Agreement between Sempra Energloaagh A. Householder (Sempra Energy Form 8-K fle&eptember 15,
2011, Exhibit 10.2)

10.3tAmendment to the Amendment and Restatement oféhg8 Energy 2005 Deferred Compensation Plan (3@bpra Energy
Form 1(-K, Exhibit 10.20).

10.3¢%Form of Sempra Energy 2008 Long Term Incentive P28 1 Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Aw@empra Energy
March 31, 2011 Form -Q, Exhibit 10.2)

10.4(Form of Sempra Energy 2008 Long Term Incentive P28A0 Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit AwW&empra Energy
March 31, 2010 Form -Q, Exhibit 10.1)

10.41Form of Sempra Energy 2008 Long Term Incentive P2809 Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (Mardh 3009 Sempra
Energy Form 1-Q, Exhibit 10.2).

10.4:Sempra Energy 2008 Long Term Incentive Plan (AppeAdo the 2008 Sempra Energy Definitive Proxyt8taent, filed on Apr
15, 2008)

10.4:Form of Indemnification Agreement with Directorsdaxecutive Officers (June 30, 2008 Sempra EnemynFL0-Q, Exhibit
10.2).

10.44Form of Sempra Energy 2008 Long Term Incentive P2808 Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement (June22®8 Sempra
Energy Form 1-Q, Exhibit 10.4).

C
10'4"Amendment and Restatement of the Sempra Energy Bxahce Restoration Plan (2008 Sempra Energy B6-K, Exhibit



10.16).

10.4€Amendment and Restatement of the Sempra Energy Réfésred Compensation Plan (2008 Sempra Energy BOrK, Exhibit
10.18).

10.4'Amendment and Restatement of the Sempra EnergylSupptal Executive Retirement Plan (2008 Sempragdyrieorm 10-K,
Exhibit 10.19).

10.4¢Sempra Energy Executive Personal Financial PlanRiegram Policy Document (September 30, 2004 Seipeagy Form 1@,
Exhibit 10.11).

10.4€2003 Sempra Energy Executive Incentive Plan B (Z2®3pra Energy Form -K, Exhibit 10.10).
10.5(Sempra Energy Executive Incentive Plan effectiveiday 1, 2003 (2002 Sempra Energy Forr-K, Exhibit 10.09).

10.5JAmended and Restated Sempra Energy Deferred Comatpmnand Excess Savings Plan (September 30, 200p1& Energy
Form 1(-Q, Exhibit 10.3)

10.5zSempra Energy Employee Stock Ownership Plan anst Fgreement effective January 1, 2001 (Septembe?2@08 Sempra
Energy Form 1-Q, Exhibit 10.1).

10.5:Amendment to the Amended and Restated Sempra EDefgyred Compensation and Excess Savings Pla® @8thpra Energy
Form 1(-K, Exhibit 10.25).

10.5¢Sempra Energy Amended and Restated Executive MdRlea (2008 Sempra Energy Formr-K, Exhibit 10.26).

10.55Form of Sempra Energy 1998 Long Term Incentive P2808 NonQualified Stock Option Agreement (2007 Sempra Epnémym
1C-K, Exhibit 10.10).

10.5€Amended and Restated Sempra Energy 1998-Term Incentive Plan (June 30, 2003 Sempra Energy B6-Q, Exhibit 10.2)

Sempra Energ)y
10.57 Severance Pay Agreement between Sempra Energyiantida B. Wyrsch, dated September 3, 2(

10.5¢Form of Sempra Energy 2008 Long Term Incentive P28A0 Restricted Stock Unit Award for Sempra Egergoard
of Directors (Sempra Energy June 30, 2010 For-Q, Exhibit 10.2)

10.5¢Sempra Energy 2008 Long Term Incentive Plan forgyfeouth, Inc. Employees and Other Eligible Indixats (Registration
Statement on Form-8 Sempra Energy Registration Statement No-155191 dated November 7, 2008, Exhibit 1C

10.6(Form of Sempra Energy 2008 Non-Employee DirectStstk Plan, Nonqualified Stock Option Agreemenn&l80, 2008 Sempra
Energy Form 1-Q, Exhibit 10.5).

10.61Sempra Energy Amended and Restated Sempra EnetiggriRRent Plan for Directors (June 30, 2008 Semprary Form 10-Q,
Exhibit 10.7).

10.6Z Form of Sempra Energy 1998 M-Employee Directors' Stock Plan M-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (2006 Sempra Epn
Form 1(-K, Exhibit 10.09).

10.6:Sempra Energy 1998 Non-Employee Directors’ StoekPRegistration Statement on Form S-8 Sempra EriRegistration
Statement No. 333-56161 dated June 5, 1998, Exhibjt

Sempra Energy / San Diego Gas & Electric Compe
10.6< Form of Sempra Energy and San Diego Gas & Ele€wimpany Executive Incentive Compensation F
10.6¢ Severance Pay Agreement between Sempra Energleéfinely W. Martin, dated April 3, 201
10.6€Severance Pay Agreement between Sempra Energyaoedt®l. Schlax, dated January 17, 2C

10.67Severance Pay Agreement between Sempra Energy ishdéIR. Niggli, dated February 18, 2013 (Semprargy March 31,
2013 Form 1-Q, Exhibit 10.1)

10.6¢Severance Pay Agreement between Sempra Energyaras P. Avery, dated February 18, 2013 (Sempragméarch 31, 2013
Form 1(-Q, Exhibit 10.2)

10.6¢Severance Pay Agreement between Sempra Energyeen8dhavrien, dated February 18, 2013 (Sempra £Maigch 31, 2013
Form 1(-Q, Exhibit 10.3)

10'7(Severance Pay Agreement between Sempra Energy aadrdwv D. Smith, dated February 18, 2013 (Sempex@nMarch 31



2013 Form 10-Q, Exhibit 10.4).
Sempra Energy / Southern California Gas Compa
10.7IForm of Sempra Energy and Southern California Gam@any Executive Incentive Compensation P
10.7-Severance Pay Agreement between Sempra Energy Bret Lane, dated August 4, 20:
10.7:Severance Pay Agreement between Sempra Energyraimikeith, dated February 18, 2013 (Sempra Enétgych 31, 2013
Form 1(-Q, Exhibit 10.5)

Nuclear
Sempra Energy / San Diego Gas & Electric Compe

10.7<Nuclear Facilities Qualified CPUC Decommissioningdter Trust Agreement for San Onofre Nuclear Geingr&tation,
approved November 25, 1987 (1992 SDG&E Forr-K, Exhibit 10.7).

10.7tAmendment No. 1 to the Qualified CPUC Decommissigriviaster Trust Agreement dated September 22, (@S1Exhibit 10.74
above)(1994 SDG&E Form -K, Exhibit 10.56).

10.7¢Second Amendment to the San Diego Gas & Electrimfizmy Nuclear Facilities Qualified CPUC Decommiesgig Master Trust
Agreement for San Onofre Nuclear Generating Stgder Exhibit 10.74 above)(1994 SDG&E Forn-K, Exhibit 10.57).

10.77Third Amendment to the San Diego Gas & Electric @any Nuclear Facilities Qualified CPUC DecommisgignMaster Trust
Agreement for San Onofre Nuclear Generating Stgder Exhibit 10.74 above)(1996 SDG&E Forn-K, Exhibit 10.59).

10.7¢&Fourth Amendment to the San Diego Gas & Electrim@any Nuclear Facilities Qualified CPUC Decommissig Master Trust
Agreement for San Onofre Nuclear Generating Stgder Exhibit 10.74 above)(1996 SDG&E Forn-K, Exhibit 10.60).

10.7¢Fifth Amendment to the San Diego Gas & Electric @amy Nuclear Facilities Qualified CPUC DecommisgignMaster Trust
Agreement for San Onofre Nuclear Generating Stgder Exhibit 10.74 above)(1999 SDG&E Forn-K, Exhibit 10.26).

10.8(Sixth Amendment to the San Diego Gas & Electric @any Nuclear Facilities Qualified CPUC DecommisgigrMaster Trust
Agreement for San Onofre Nuclear Generating Stg8ee Exhibit 10.74 above)(1999 SDG&E Forn-K, Exhibit 10.27).

10.81Seventh Amendment to the San Diego Gas & Elecwim@any Nuclear Facilities Qualified CPUC Decomnuegig Master Trus
Agreement for San Onofre Nuclear Generating Stataied December 24, 2003 (see Exhibit 10.74 ab?2d@} Sempra Energy
Form 1(-K, Exhibit 10.42).

10.8ZEighth Amendment to the San Diego Gas & Electrion@any Nuclear Facilities Qualified CPUC Decommisgig Master Trust
Agreement for San Onofre Nuclear Generating Stataied October 12, 2011 (see Exhibit 10.74 abo0&SDG&E Form 10K,
Exhibit 10.70).

10.8:Ninth Amendment to the San Diego Gas & Electric @any Nuclear Facilities Qualified CPUC DecommisgigrMaster Trus
Agreement for San Onofre Nuclear Generating Stataied January 9, 2014 (see Exhibit 10.74 abt

10.8<Nuclear Facilities Nc-Qualified CPUC Decommissioning Master Trust Agreeirfor San Onofre Nuclear Generating Station,
approved November 25, 1987 (1992 SDG&E Forr-K, Exhibit 10.8).

10.8tFirst Amendment to the San Diego Gas & Electric @any Nuclear Facilities Non-Qualified CPUC Deconsiogsing Master
Trust Agreement for San Onofre Nuclear Generatilagi@ (see Exhibit 10.84 above)(1996 SDG&E Forr-K, Exhibit 10.62).

10.8€Second Amendment to the San Diego Gas & Electrim@zmy Nuclear Facilities Non-Qualified CPUC Decorssioning Master
Trust Agreement for San Onofre Nuclear Generatilagi@ (see Exhibit 10.84 above)(1996 SDG&E Forr-K, Exhibit 10.63).

10.87Third Amendment to the San Diego Gas & Electric @any Nuclear Facilities Non-Qualified CPUC Deconsitging Master
Trust Agreement for San Onofre Nuclear Generatilagi@ (see Exhibit 10.84 above)(1999 SDG&E Forr-K, Exhibit 10.31).

10.8&Fourth Amendment to the San Diego Gas & Electrim@any Nuclear Facilities Non-Qualified CPUC Decorssioning Master
Trust Agreement for San Onofre Nuclear Generatilagi@ (see Exhibit 10.84 above)(1999 SDG&E Forr-K, Exhibit 10.32).

10.8¢Fifth Amendment to the San Diego Gas & Electric @amy Nuclear Facilities Non-Qualified CPUC Deconsitging Master
Trust Agreement for San Onofre Nuclear Generatilagi@ dated December 24, 2003 (see Exhibit 10084&)(2003 Sempra
Energy Form 1-K, Exhibit 10.48).

10.9(Sixth Amendment to the San Diego Gas & Electric @any Nuclear Facilities Non-Qualified CPUC Deconsiogsing Master
Trust Agreement for San Onofre Nuclear Generatiragic dated October 12, 2011 (see Exhibit 10.8ve}{2011 SDG&E Form
1C-K, Exhibit 10.77).



10.91Seventh Amendment to the San Diego Gas & Elecwim@any Nuclear Facilities Non-Qualified CPUC Decossioning Master
Trust Agreement for San Onofre Nuclear Generatitagic dated January 9, 2014 (see Exhibit 10.84 &b

10.9zSecond Amended San Onofre Operating Agreement ai®outhern California Edison Company, SDG&E, they Git Anaheim
and the City of Riverside, dated February 26, 18P0 SDG&E Form 1-K, Exhibit 10.6).

10.9:U. S. Department of Energy contract for disposapeEnt nuclear fuel and/or high-level radioactiaste, entered into between the
DOE and Southern California Edison Company, astageiSDG&E and others; Contract DE-CR01-83NE444ds8ed June 10,
1983 (1988 SDG&E Form -K, Exhibit 10N).

10.9<San Onofre Unit No. 1 Decommissioning Agreementveen Southern California Edison Company and Sagd(@as & Electric
Company dated March 23, 2000 (2009 Sempra Energy E€-K, Exhibit 10.62).

10.9%First Amendment to the San Onofre Unit No. 1 Decassioning Agreement between Southern Californias&diCompany and
San Diego Gas & Electric Company dated Januarg@20 (2009 Sempra Energy Form 10-K, Exhibit 10.63).

EXHIBIT 12 -- STATEMENTS RE: COMPUTATION OF RATIOS

Sempra Energ)
12.1Sempra Energy Computation of Ratio of EarningsamBined Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividémdihe years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009.

San Diego Gas & Electric Compar
12.zSan Diego Gas & Electric Computation of Ratio ofritags to Combined Fixed Charges and PreferreckSdoddends for the
years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, 2011, 2012G049]

Southern California Gas Compan
12.zSouthern California Gas Company Computation ofdratiEarnings to Combined Fixed Charges and PesdeBtock Dividends
for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, Zm1N and 200¢

EXHIBIT 13 -- ANNUAL REPORT TO SECURITY HOLDERS

Sempra Energy / San Diego Gas & Electric Compar§authern California Gas Compan
13.1Sempra Energy 2013 Annual Report to Sharehold8teh report, except for the portions thereof wlsigh expressly incorporated
by reference in this Annual Report, is furnishedtfe information of the Securities and Exchangen@ission and is not to be
deemed “filed” as part of this Annual Report).

EXHIBIT 14 -- CODE OF ETHICS

San Diego Gas & Electric Company / Southern Catifila Gas Compan)
14.1Sempra Energy Code of Business Conduct and Ethid@dard of Directors and Senior Officers (alsolagspto directors and
officers of San Diego Gas & Electric Company andtSern California Gas Company) (2006 SDG&E and $6&s Forms 10-K,
Exhibit 14.01).

EXHIBIT 21 -- SUBSIDIARIES

Sempra Energ)
21.1Sempra Energy Schedule of Certain Subsidiariesaebber 31, 2013.

EXHIBIT 23 -- CONSENTS OF EXPERTS AND COUNSEL
23.1Consents of Independent Registered Public Accogritirm and Report on Schedule, pages 43 through 45.
EXHIBIT 31 -- SECTION 302 CERTIFICATIONS

Sempra Energ)
31.1Statement of Sempra Energy’s Chief Executive Offfpasuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 of the SiesiEExchange Act of
1934.

31.2Statement of Sempra Energy’s Chief Financial Offmersuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 of the Seesifixchange Act of
1934.

San Diego Gas & Electric Compar
31.3Statement of San Diego Gas & Electric Company’'s€Ekecutive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 abd-14 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 193¢

314
Statement of San Diego Gas & Electric Comy's Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rules-14 and 15-14 of the Securitie



Exchange Act of 1934.
Southern California Gas Compan
31.EStatement of Southern California Gas Company’s {Enecutive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and-18 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 193¢

31.eStatement of Southern California Gas Company’s {Jimancial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and-18 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934.

EXHIBIT 32 -- SECTION 906 CERTIFICATIONS

Sempra Energ)
32.1Statement of Sempra Ene’s Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C..96850.

32.2Statement of Sempra Energy’s Chief Financial Offmersuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec. 1350.

San Diego Gas & Electric Compar
32.:Statement of San Diego Gas & Electric Comy's Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C..96850.

32.4Statement of San Diego Gas & Electric Company’seffinancial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Secs0.3

Southern California Gas Compan
32.EStatement of Southern California Gas Comy s Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C..96&50.

32.€Statement of Southern California Gas Company’s {dfigncial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec. 1350
EXHIBIT 101 -- INTERACTIVE DATA FILE
101.INSXBRL Instance Documer
101.SCHXBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum
101.CALXBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr
101.DEFXBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docur
101.LABXBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

101.PREIXBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doeut

GLOSSARY

AB Assembly Bill kv Kilovolt

Annual Report 2013 Annual Report to Shareholders kw Kilowatt

Bcf Billion cubic feet (of natural gas) LNG Liquefied natural gas

BMV La Bolsa Mexicana de Valores, S.A.B. de C.V. (the Luz del Sur Luz del Sur S.A.A. and its subsidiaries
Mexican Stock Exchange)

California Utilities San Diego Gas & Electric Company and Southern Mobile Gas Mobile Gas Service Corporation
California Gas Company

CARB California Air Resources Board Mtpa Million tonnes per annum

CccC California Coastal Commission MW Megawatt

CDEC Centros de Despacho Econémico de Carga (Centers for MWh Megawatt hours
Economic Load Dispatch) (Chile)

CDEC-SIC Sistema Interconectado Central (Central Interconnected NRC Nuclear Regulatory Commission
System) (Chile)

CDEC-SING Sistema Interconectado del Norte Grande (Northern NYK Nippon Yusen Kabushiki Kaisha
Interconnected System) (Chile)

CEC California Energy Commission oll Order Instituting Investigation

Chilguinta Energia Chilguinta Energia S.A. and its subsidiaries OSINERGMIN Organismo Supervisor de la Inversién en Energia

y Mineria (Energy and Mining Investment
Supervisory Body) (Peru)

CNBV Comisién Nacional Bancaria y de Valores (Mexican PEMEX Petréleos Mexicanos (Mexican state-owned oil
National Banking and Securities Commission) company)

CNE Comisién Nacional de Energia (National Energy PG&E Pacific Gas and Electric Company
Commission) (Chile)

COES Comité de Operaciéon Econémica del Sistema QF Qualifying Facility



Interconectado Nacional (Committee of Economic

Operation of the National Interconnected System) (Peru)

California Public Utilities Commission

Comisién Reguladora de Energia (Energy Regulatory

Commission) (Mexico)
U.S. Department of Energy

U.S. Department of Transportation
Southern California Edison Company
Environmental Protection Agency
Eligible Renewable Energy Resource
Energy Resource Recovery Account

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission

Free Trade Agreement

Greenhouse Gas

Infraestructura Energética Nova, S.A.B. de C.V.
Investor-owned utilities

RBS Sempra
Commodities
REX

RNV

Rockies Express

SoCalGas
SONGS
The Board
Willmut Gas

RBS Sempra Commodities LLP
Rockies Express Pipeline

Registro Nacional de Valores (Mexican National
Securities Registry)

Rockies Express Pipeline LLC
Renewables Portfolio Standard

San Diego Gas & Electric Company
Securities and Exchange Commission
Sistema Eléctrico Interconectado Nacional
(Peruvian National Interconnected System)
(Peru)

Southern California Gas Company

San Onofre Nuclear Generating Station
Sempra Energy's Board of Directors
Willmut Gas Company



Exhibit 10.19

<YEAR> Executive Incentive Compensation Plan — Shar  ed Services
ICP Plan Year: January 1, <YEAR> to December 31, <Y EAR>

INTRODUCTION

The San Diego Gas & Electric (SDG&E) and Southern California Gas Company (SoCalGas) Shared Services Incentive Compensation
Plan (ICP) is designed to attract, retain, and engage executives whose efforts contribute to the success of the utilities and Sempra
Energy (SE). The plan aligns with Sempra Energy’s goal of sustained earnings growth and the utilities’ regulatory framework with goals
that encourage executives to drive towards our aspirations and to:

* Maintain high safety standards,

* Grow the business through enterprise thinking while maximizing revenues/profits,

* Focus on the high-level goals for SDG&E and SoCalGas that encourages teamwork and achievement of operational excellence,
* Focus on business efficiencies and investments that produce long-term efficiency benefits,

* Increase reliability of delivery service,

* Enhance customer focus to achieve optimal customer satisfaction, and

* Achieve high level of employee commitment and contribution through sharing of business success and the establishment of key

performance indicators.

PARTICIPATION

Executives who meet all of the following eligibility requirements will participate in this incentive plan for <YEAR>.

1. Employee is an eligible executive, as determined by the SDG&E and SoCalGas Boards of Directors, for at least three consecutive full months
during <YEAR> and is an employee on December 31, <YEAR> or meets other eligibility requirements as listed under section: Employee
Status Changes.

2. Participant has met minimum job expectations and performed satisfactorily, as determined by his/her supervisor in conjunction with Human
Resources.

3. Participant is not in another formal incentive plan in <YEAR>.

Participation in one plan year does not constitute the right to participate in succeeding plan years. This plan does not constitute a
contract of employment or guarantee of an incentive award payment and cannot be relied on as such.

BASIS FOR AWARD CALCULATION

Awards are calculated based on the employee’s “Basis for Award Calculation” ( BAC ) while on the active payroll. BAC includes annual
base salary on December 31, <YEAR> plus any eligible lump sum payment that may be granted during <YEAR>. Other awards (e.g.
spot cash); incentives, premiums and payments are not included in the BAC.



<YEAR> PERFORMANCE GOALS AND MEASURES

SDG&E <YEAR> ICP Goals & Measures

FINANCIAL GOALS (in Millions)

OPERATIONAL GOALS
Operational Goals Total

TOTAL 100%
X SDG&E Weighting Factor 50%
TOTAL WEIGHT 50%

SoCalGas <YEAR> ICP Goals & Measures

FINANCIAL GOALS (in Millions)

OPERATIONAL GOALS

Operational Goals Total

TOTAL 100%
X SCG Weighting Factor 50%
TOTAL WEIGHT 50%

FINANCIAL MEASURES

Sempra Energy Earnings

Sempra Energy Earnings are revenue minus expense, less tax. Employees can influence earnings by either increasing revenue or
decreasing expenses. Earnings are determined after accounting for the appropriate accrued level of incentive compensation expense.

Sempra Energy Earnings exclude:
« <DEFINE EXCLUSIONS>

San Diego Gas & Electric Earnings

<Define SDG&E Financial Measure>

Southern California Gas Company (SoCalGas) Earnings

<Define SCG Financial Measure>

OPERATIONAL GOALS — SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC

The payout for all Operational Goals range between 0%-200%.

<Define Operational Measures>

OPERATIONAL GOALS — SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY

The payout for all Operational Goals range between 0%-200%.
<Define Operational Measures>

CALCULATION, CERTIFICATION AND PAYMENT OF AWARDS




Award potentials will be linearly interpolated between the minimum and target, or target and maximum goals. There is no award payout
for performance at or below the minimum goals. The payout for the financial component may, at the board’s discretion, be reduced in
consideration of individual performance. The Shared Services plan results will be calculated by taking the average of the SDG&E and
SoCalGas plan results.

Adjustments to the budget target for ICP calculation purposes will require the written approval of the Chief Executive Officer of SDG&E
and President and Chief Executive Officer of SoCalGas. The approved exceptions will be limited to costs or expenses related to future
growth opportunities and the funding of process improvements above the planned budget.

The SDG&E and SoCalGas Board of Directors must approve awards. Approved awards will be paid by

March 15, 2014 and will be subject to appropriate tax withholding. Such awards are considered pension-eligible earnings for the Cash
Balance Plan and are included as eligible earnings for the 401(k) Plan. Employees with outstanding loan payments to the 401(k) plan
and/or for medical premiums may, at the Company’s option, have up to the full arrears deducted from their ICP check. Employees will be
notified by mail with respect to any arrears payments for these deductions.

EMPLOYEE STATUS CHANGES

All eligible employees (including new hires) will have their award prorated for the period of participation in the plan while on the active
payroll. For employees who change target percentages during a plan year, their award will be calculated based on the effective period
for each target percentage.

Employees who transfer within the corporation or among incentive plans during the year will be eligible for an award under this plan
provided that all eligibility requirements are met. The award will be based on the employee’s December 31, <YEAR> BAC, prorated for
the participation period in this plan.

An award will still be paid if a participant meets all other eligibility requirements during <YEAR> but is not a regular employee on
December 31, <YEAR> due to the following reasons:

* Participant's employment terminates for any reason after he/she has attained age 55 and at the time his/her employment
terminated he/she had completed at least five years of service; or

* Participant leaves his/her position under disability (as defined in the company disability benefit plan), or

* Participant dies during an award year (award will be paid to the participant’s estate).

In the above circumstances, the award will be calculated based on the participant’'s BAC prorated for the period of participation in the
plan while on the active payroll. Awards will be paid the same time payment is made to other participants.

If a participant leaves the company for any other reason, eligibility for an award for the plan year will be forfeited unless an exception is
made at the discretion of the Chairman and CEO and will be offset by any amount paid pursuant the “Severance Benefits upon

Termination of Employment due to Death or Disability” section of the participant’s Severance Pay Agreement .

PLAN ADMINISTRATION

The Company retains the discretion and authority to interpret, amend or modify the plan; to grant incentive awards; as well as to
terminate, increase or decrease any incentive award opportunity during the performance period; and to reduce or eliminate any incentive
awards that would otherwise be payable at the end of the performance period. The Company, in its sole discretion determines Sempra
Energy Earnings, SDG&E Earnings, SoCalGas Earnings, operational measures, and award calculations.

The Company shall require the forfeiture, recovery or reimbursement of awards or compensation under this Plan as (i) required by
applicable law, or (ii) required under any policy implemented or maintained by the Company pursuant to any applicable rules or
requirements of a national securities exchange or national securities association on which any securities of the Company are listed. The
Company reserves the right to recoup compensation paid if it determines that the results on which the compensation was paid were not
actually achieved.

The SDG&E or SoCalGas Board may, in its sole discretion, require the recovery or reimbursement of short-term incentive compensation

awards from any employee whose fraudulent or intentional misconduct materially affects the operations or financial results of the
Company or its subsidiaries.

Questions concerning the plan should be directed to the Sr. Vice President — Human Resources, Diversity & Inclusion, Sempra Energy.



Exhibit 10.57
SEMPRA ENERGY
SEVERANCE PAY AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement), dated as of September 3, 2013 (the “ EffecBage”), is made
by and between SEMPRA ENERGY, a California corgoraf‘* Sempra Energ$), and MARTHA B. WYRSCH (the “
Executive”).

WHEREAS , the Executive is currently employed by Semprargy or a direct or indirect subsidiary of
Sempra Energy (Sempra Energy and its subsidiamelaeinafter collectively referred to as the ‘nib@any”) as Executive
Vice President and General Counsel; and

WHEREAS, Sempra Energy and the Executive desire to entetlig Agreement; and
WHEREAS , the Board of Directors of Sempra Energy (the aBly) has authorized this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the premises and mutual caméenherein contained, the Comp
and the Executive hereby agree as follows:

Section 1.  Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, the followingitaized terms have the
meanings set forth below:

“ Accounting Firm” has the meaning assigned thereto in Sectiont&Bof.

“ Accrued Obligation$ means the sum of (A) the Executive’s Annual B&aéary through the Date of
Termination to the extent not theretofore paid, §B)amount equal to any annual Incentive Compemsatwards earned
with respect to fiscal years ended prior to the yieat includes the Date of Termination to the ektet theretofore paid, ((
any accrued and unpaid vacation, if any, and (D)lvarsement for unreimbursed business expensasy ifproperly
incurred by the Executive in the performance ofchiies in accordance with policies establishethftone to time by the
Board, in each case to the extent not theretofaig: p

“ Affiliate " has the meaning set forth in Rule 12b-2 promw@datnder the Exchange Act.

“ Annual Base Salarymeans the Executive’s annual base salary frarCibmpany.

“ Asset Purchasérhas the meaning assigned thereto in Section 16(e)

“ Asset Salé’ has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 16(e)

“ Average Annual BonuSmeans the average of the annual bonuses frol@dhgpany earned by the
Executive with respect to the three (3) fiscal gezrthe Company immediately preceding the Daf€esmination (the “
Bonus Fiscal Yeary; provided, however, that, if the Executive was employed by the Comydan less than three (3)
Bonus Fiscal Years, “ Average Annual Boriuseans the average of the annual bonuses (iffamy) the Company earned
by the Executive with respect to the Bonus Fisazdrg during which the Executive was employed byQbmpany; and,
provided, furthel, that, if the Executive was not employed by thenPany during any of the Bonus Fiscal Years, “ Agera
Annual Bonus' means zero.

“ Caus€’ means:

(@) Prior to a Change in Control, (i) the willful farkeiby the Executive to substantially perform the
Executive’s duties with the Company (other thay such failure resulting from the Executive’s ipaaity due to physical
or mental illness, (ii) the grossly negligent penfiance of such obligations referenced in clausef (ifis definition, (iii) the
Executive’s gross insubordination; and/or (iv) tBgecutive’s commission of one or more acts ofahturpitude that
constitute a violation of applicable law (includibgt not limited to a felony) which have or resalan adverse effect on the
Company, monetarily or otherwise, or one or mogaificant acts of dishonesty. For purposes of s#ai) of this subsectic
(a), no act, or failure to act, on the Executivegst shall be deemed “ willftlunless done, or omitted to be done, by the
Executive not in good faith and without reasonddakef that the Executive’s act, or failure td,aeas in the best interests
of the Company.




(b) From and after a Change in Control, (i) the willmd continued failure by the Executive to
substantially perform the Executive’s duties vifie Company (other than any such failure resufiiog the Executive’'s
incapacity due to physical or mental iliness or angh actual or anticipated failure after the isseaof a Notice of
Termination for Good Reason by the Executive pamsto Section 2 hereof) and/or (ii) the Execusv@mmission of one
or more acts of moral turpitude that constituteadation of applicable law (including but not lired to a felony) which have
or result in an adverse effect on the Company, taoiyeor otherwise, or one or more significantsaot dishonesty. For
purposes of clause (i) of this subsection (b), etpa@r failure to act, on the Executive’s partlsha deemed * willful’
unless done, or omitted to be done, by the Exeeudt in good faith and without reasonable behet the Executive’s act,
or failure to act, was in the best interests ofGoenpany. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Exiee shall not be deems
terminated for Cause pursuant to clause (i) ofghlssection (b) unless and until the Executivédl flaze been provided wi
reasonable notice of and, if possible, a reasor@ipertunity to cure the facts and circumstancasned to provide a basis
for termination of the Executive’s employment @ause.

“ Change in Contrgl shall be deemed to have occurred on the dateatbhainge in the ownership of Sempra
Energy, a change in the effective control of Sentprargy, or a change in the ownership of a subiatgrdrtion of assets of
Sempra Energy occurs (each, as defined in subadefjdelow), except as otherwise provided in sciiises (b), (¢) and (d)
below:

(a) (1) a“ change in the ownership of Sempra Ene¢’ occurs on the date that any one persoil
more than one person acting as a group, acquirasrship of stock of Sempra Energy that, togethén stiock held by such
person or group, constitutes more than fifty per¢®8%) of the total fair market value or total mgt power of the stock of
Sempra Energy,

(i) a “ change in the effective control of Sempra Egérgccurs only on either of the following

dates:

(A) the date any one person, or more than one persioig as a group, acquires (or has
acquired during the twelve (12) month period endinghe date of the most recent acquisition by qgrkon or persons)
ownership of stock of Sempra Energy possessinty tharcent (30%) or more of the total voting powethe stock of
Sempra Energy, or

(B) the date a majority of the members of the Boarépgaced during any twelve (1
month period by directors whose appointment ortieleds not endorsed by a majority of the membéithe Board before
the date of appointment or election, and

(i)  a*“change in the ownership of a substantial portibassets of Sempra Energgccurs on the
date any one person, or more than one person agiagyroup, acquires (or has acquired duringitbivé (12) month
period ending on the date of the most recent aitiuidy such person or persons) assets from SeEpesgy that have a
total gross fair market value equal to or more thigihty-five percent (85%) of the total gross faiarket value of all of the
assets of Sempra Energy immediately before suahisitign or acquisitions.

(b) A “ change in the ownership of Sempra En¢” or“ a change in the effective control of Sem
Energy” shall not occur under clause (a)(i) or (a)(ii) flason of any of the following:

0] an acquisition of ownership of stock of Sempra Byelirectly from Sempra Energy or its
Affiliates other than in connection with the acquis by Sempra Energy or its Affiliates of a busss,

(i) a merger or consolidation which would result in Wioéing securities of Sempra Energy
outstanding immediately prior to such merger orsahidation continuing to represent (either by rammag outstanding or by
being converted into voting securities of the suing entity or any parent thereof), in combinatieith the ownership of an
trustee or other fiduciary holding securities unalelemployee benefit plan of the Company, at lgiast percent (60%) of
the combined voting power of the securities of Sentfnergy or such surviving entity or any pareetdiof outstanding
immediately after such merger or consolidation, or

(i)  a merger or consolidation effected to implemergapitalization of Sempra Energy (or sim
transaction) in which no Person is or becomes #eeBcial Owner (within the meaning of Rule 13d+8rpulgated under
the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of seities of Sempra Energy (not including the secusibeneficially owned by



such Person any securities acquired directly frem@®@a Energy or its Affiliates other than in
connection with the acquisition by Sempra EnergigoAffiliates of a business) representing twepgycent (20%) or more
of the combined voting power of Sempra Energy’sitbetstanding securities.

(c) A “ change in the ownership of a substantial portsd assets of Sempra Energghall not occur undt
clause (a)(iii) by reason of a sale or disposibgrSempra Energy of the assets of Sempra Energly émtity, at least sixty
percent (60%) of the combined voting power of théng securities of which are owned by shareholdé&Sempra Energy
in substantially the same proportions as their aghiip of Sempra Energy immediately prior to sude.sa

(d) This definition of* Change in Contrc” shall be limited to the definition of“change in control eve’
relating to Sempra Energy under Treasury Regul&mation 1.409A-3(i)(5). A “ Change in Contfadhall only occur if
there is a “change in control event” relating tonpea Energy under Treasury Regulation Section 1A48@)(5) with respec
to the Executive.

“ Change in Control Datémeans the date on which a Change in Control ccur

“ Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amtend

“ Compensation Committéemeans the compensation committee of the Board.

“ Consulting Paymerithas the meaning assigned thereto in Section T¥dof.

“ Consulting Period has the meaning assigned thereto in Section Tw#(esof.

“ Date of Terminatiori has the meaning assigned thereto in Sectiont&gof.

“ Deferred Compensation Pldrnas the meaning assigned thereto in Sectionhéf@of.

“ Disability " has the meaning set forth in the Company’s |lagrgatdisability plan or its successprpvided,
however, that the Board may not terminate the Executiee®loyment hereunder by reason of Disability us(@sat the
time of such termination there is no reasonableetgtion that the Executive will return to worktlimn the next ninety (90)
day period and (ii) such termination is permittgdali applicable disability laws.

“ Exchange Act means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asxdet; and the applicable rulings and
regulations thereunder.

“ Excise Tax’ has the meaning assigned thereto in SectionH&@gof.
“ Good Reasori means:

(@) Prior to a Change in Control, the occurrence of @fyne following without the prior written conse
of the Executive, unless such act or failure toscorrected by the Company prior to the Dat&erimination specified in
the Notice of Termination (as required under SecBdereof):

0] the assignment to the Executive of any duties nadlieinconsistent with the range of duties
and responsibilities appropriate to a senior Exeewithin the Company (such range determined fgremce to past,
current and reasonable practices within the Company

(i) a material reduction in the Executive’s overadingting and responsibilities within the
Company, but not including (A) a mere change ie tir (B) a transfer within the Company, whichthie case of both (A)
and (B), does not adversely affect the Executieglrall status within the Company;

(i)  a material reduction by the Company in the Ex&€'s aggregate annualized compensa
and benefits opportunities, except for across-therd reductions (or modifications of benefit plasishilarly affecting all
similarly situated executives (both of the Company of any Person then in control of the Compafgpmparable rank
with the Executive;

(iv)  the failure by the Company to pay to the Execuding portion of the Executi’s current
compensation and benefits or any portion of arallméent of deferred compensation under any deferoeapensation



program of the Company within thirty (30) days loé tdate such compensation is due;

(V) any purported termination of the Execu’s employment that is not effected pursuant
Notice of Termination satisfying the requiremenit§ection 2 hereof; for purposes of this Agreemeatsuch purporte
termination shall be effective;

(vi)  the failure by Sempra Energy to perform its obligag under Section 16(c), (d) or (e) hereof;

(vii)  the failure by the Company to provide the indencaifion and D&O insurance protection
Section 10 of this Agreement requires it to proyile

(viii)  the failure by Sempra Energy to comply with anyenat provision of this Agreement.

(b) From and after a Change in Control, the occurref@ay of the following without the prior written
consent of the Executive, unless such act orriatio act is corrected by the Company prior toRage of Termination
specified in the Notice of Termination (as requitedier Section 2 hereof):

0] an adverse change in the Executive’s title, aitthaiuties, responsibilities or reporting lines
as in effect immediately prior to the Change in Caln

(i) a reduction by the Company in the Executive’s eggte annualized compensation
opportunities, except for across-the-board reduostio base salaries, annual bonus opportunitiesngrterm incentive
compensation opportunities of less than ten perdd?’b) similarly affecting all similarly situatececutives (both of the
Company and of any Person then in control of them@amy) of comparable rank with the Executive;her failure by the
Company to continue in effect any material bergéin in which the Executive participates immediapgior to the Change
in Control, unless an equitable arrangement (endabii an ongoing substitute or alternative plars) leen made with
respect to such plan, or the failure by the Comgargpntinue the Executive's participation thef@nin such substitute or
alternative plan) on a basis not materially les®ifable, both in terms of the amount of benefitsvted and the level of the

Executive's participation relative to other papants, as existed at the time of the Change irtrGbn

(i) the relocation of the Executive’s principal plafemployment immediately prior to the
Change in Control Date (the " Principal Locatigno a location which is both further away fronettExecutive’s residence
and more than thirty (30) miles from such Principatation, or the Company’s requiring the Execaitio be based
anywhere other than such Principal Location (onpeed relocation thereof), or a substantial inseeim the Executive’s
business travel obligations outside of the Soutl@aiifornia area as of the Effective Date othenthay such increase that
(A) arises in connection with extraordinary bussastivities of the Company of limited duration gBJ is understood not
to be part of the Executive’s regular duties wite Company;

(iv)  the failure by the Company to pay to the Executing portion of the Executi’s current
compensation and benefits or any portion of arallmsent of deferred compensation under any deferomtipensation
program of the Company within thirty (30) days lo¢ date such compensation is due;

(V) any purported termination of the Executive’s empient that is not effected pursuant to a
Notice of Termination satisfying the requiremernitSection 2 hereof; for purposes of this Agreemeatsuch purporte
termination shall be effective;

(vi)  the failure by Sempra Energy to perform its obligjaé under Section 16(c), (d) or (e) hereof;

(vii)  the failure by the Company to provide the indeneaifion and D&O insurance protection
Section 10 of this Agreement requires it to proyiale

(viii)  the failure by Sempra Energy to comply with anyemniat provision of this Agreemer

Following a Change in Control, the Executive’sadgtination that an act or failure to act constguBonod
Reason shall be presumed to be valid unless suemdaation is deemed to be unreasonable by atraidyi pursuant to the
procedure described in Section 13 hereof. Theclikee’s right to terminate the Executive’s emptmnt for Good Reason
shall not be affected by the Executive’s incapgadite to physical or mental illness. The Exeaii\continued employme
shall not constitute consent to, or a waiver ofitsgwith respect to, any act or failure to act ¢itngsng Good Reason



hereunder.

“ Incentive Compensation Awardsneans awards granted under Incentive CompensBtams providing the
Executive with the opportunity to earn, on a ylegtyear basis, annual and long-term incentive corsgion.

“ Incentive Compensation Plahsneans annual incentive compensation plans angtienm incentive
compensation plans of the Company, which long-tecantive compensation plans may include plangioffestock
options, restricted stock and other long-term itigercompensation.

“ Involuntary Terminatiorf means (a) the Executive’s Separation from Serbig reason other than for
Cause, death, or Disability, or Mandatory Retiretmen(b) the Executive’s Separation from Senbgeeason of
resignation of employment for Good Reason.

“JAMS Rules” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section d&bhe

“ Mandatory Retiremertmeans termination of employment pursuant to toen@anys mandatory retireme

policy.

“ Notice of Terminatiori’ has the meaning assigned thereto in Sectiontagof.

“ Payment’ has the meaning assigned thereto in Sectionr&gof.

“ Payment in Lieu of Noticé has the meaning assigned thereto in Sectiontt®of.

“ Person” has the meaning set forth in section 3(a)(9hef Exchange Act, as modified and used in sections
13(d) and 14(d) thereof, except that such terml slealinclude (i) the Company or any of its Affiles, (ii) a trustee or other
fiduciary holding securities under an employee [ieptan of the Company or any of its Affiliatesijan underwriter
temporarily holding securities pursuant to an affigrof such securities, (iv) a corporation ownddeatly or indirectly, by
the shareholders of the Company in substantiallysdime proportions as their ownership of stock@Qompany, or (v) a
person or group as used in Rule 13d-1(b) promulgateler the Exchange Act.

“ PostChange in Control Severance Payniemis the meaning assigned thereto in Section &ofier

“ Pre-Change in Control Severance Payniemis the meaning assigned thereto in Section dalfier

“ Principal Location’ has the meaning assigned thereto in clauseijmfithe definition of Good Reason,

above.

“ Proprietary Informatiori has the meaning assigned thereto in Section I1¥aof.

“ Pro Rata Bonus has the meaning assigned thereto in Sectiontggof.

“ Releas€ has the meaning assigned thereto in Section dolier

“ Section 409A Paymentsmeans any of the following: (a) the Payment ialLof Notice; (b) the Pre-
Change in Control Severance Payment; (c) the Ploatge in Control Severance Payment; (d) the Pra Ranus; (e) the
Consulting Payment; (f) the payment under Sect{ai; §g) the financial planning services and tHatesl payments
provided under Sections 4(e) and 5(g); (h) thelltggs and expenses reimbursed under Section #5j)aany other
payment that the Company determines in its soleeli®n is subject to Section 409A of the Code@s-qualified deferred
compensation.

“ Sempra Energy Control Grotipmeans Sempra Energy and all persons with whom SeBwergy would b
considered a single employer under Section 414(414(c) of the Code, as determined from timerteeti

“ Separation from Servicehas the meaning set forth in Treasury Regulafiention 1.409A-1(h), with
respect to the Service Recipient.

“ SERP” has the meaning assigned thereto in Sectionfg@of.



“ Specified Employeé shall be determined in accordance with Sectio®8)(2)(B)(i) of the Code and
Treasury Regulation 1.409A-1(i).

For purposes of this Agreement, references to aimgasury Regulatiohishall mean such Treasury
Regulation as in effect on the date hereof.

Section 2. Notice and Date of Terminatian

(a) Any termination of the Executive’s employment bg Company or by the Executive shall be
communicated by a written notice of terminationhe other party (the * Notice of Terminatitya Where applicable, the
Notice of Termination shall indicate the speciicrhination provision in this Agreement relied uord shall set forth i
reasonable detail the facts and circumstances ethtmprovide a basis for termination of the Exiveis employment und
the provision so indicated. Unless the Board deitezs otherwise, a Notice of Termination by thee&xive alleging a
termination for Good Reason must be made withinda8® of the act or failure to act that the Exmeudlleges to constitu
Good Reason.

(b) The date of the Executive’s termination of empleytwith the Company (the “ Date of Termination
") shall be determined as follows: (i) if the Ex¢ige’s Separation from Service is at the volitafrthe Company, the Date
of Termination shall be the date specified in tlaide of Termination (which, in the case of a taration by the Company
other than for Cause, shall not be less than tywavézks from the date such Notice of Terminatiogiven unless the
Company elects to pay the Executive, in additarty other amounts payable hereunder, an amdwnt Rayment in Lieu
of Notice”) equal to two (2) weeks of the Executive’'s AnhBase Salary in effect on the Date of Terminati@md (ii) if
the Executive’s Separation from Service is by tkedttive for Good Reason, the Date of Terminatiwall$e determined
by the Executive and specified in the Notice ofrifi@ation, but shall not in any event be less tlifé@en (15) days nor mo
than sixty (60) days after the date such NoticEesmination is given. The Payment in Lieu of Metshall be paid on such
date as is required by law, but no later thanyti{B0D) days after the date of the Executive’s Safam from Service;
provided, howeve, that if the Executive is a Specified Employedlwmdate of his or her Separation from Serviceh suc
Payment in Lieu of Notice shall be paid as provigde8ection 9 hereof.

Section 3.  Termination from the Board Upon the termination of the Executive’s empl@nfor any
reason, the Executive’s membership on the Bohadboard of directors of any of the Company’s Adfeés, any committees
of the Board and any committees of the board @atiars of any of the Company’s Affiliates, if amalble, shall be
automatically terminated.

Section 4.  Severance Benefits upon Involuntary TerminatiomP Change in Control Except as
provided in Section 5(h) and Section 19(i) hereothe event of the Involuntary Termination of thxecutive prior to a
Change in Control, the Company shall pay the Exeeuin one lump sum cash payment, an amount‘(Bre-Change in
Control Severance Payméntequal to the greater of: (X) 165% of the Exéeeis Annual Base Salary as in effect on the
Date of Termination, and (Y) the Executive’s AnnBalse Salary as in effect on the Date of Terminajxus the
Executive’s Average Annual Bonus. In additionhie Pre-Change in Control Severance Payment, tlexufixe shall be
entitled to the following additional benefits sdesd in subsections (a) through (e). The Companlytigation to pay the
Pre-Change in Control Severance Payment or prdaki&éenefits set forth in subsections (c), (d) @)dre subject to and
conditioned upon the Executive executing a rel¢me" Releasé) of all claims substantially in the form attachieereto as
Exhibit A within fifty (50) days after the date of InvolunyaFermination and Executive not revoking such Retcia
accordance with the terms thereof. Except as geavin Section 4(f), the P@hange in Control Severance Payment she
paid on such date as is determined by the Compa&hynvgixty (60) days after the date of the Invdlny Termination; but
not before the Release becomes effective and cedle. If the fifty (50) day period in which theelRase could become
effective spans more than one taxable year, theRPtb-Change in Control Severance Payment shatlenotade until the
later taxable year. Notwithstanding the foregoifthe Executive is a Specified Employee on th&edf the Executive’s
Involuntary Termination, the Pre-Change in Con8elerance Payment and the financial planning sss\aad the related
payments provided under Section 4(e) shall be asiorovided in Section 9 hereof.

(8  Accrued Obligation. The Company shall pay the Executive a lump agmunt in cash equal to t
Accrued Obligations within the time required by law

(b) Equity Based CompensationThe Executive shall retain all rights to anyiggtbased compensation
awards to the extent set forth in the applicalbds gind/or award agreement.




() Welfare Benefits Subject to Section 12 below, for a period oflt@g12) months following the date
of the Involuntary Termination (and an additiona¢lve (12) months if the Executive provides conisglservices under
Section 14(e) hereof), the Executive and his depets shall be provided with health insurance bengfibstantially similar
to those provided to the Executive and his depaisdenmediately prior to the date of the Involugt@ermination;
provided, however, that such benefits shall be provided on substiythe same terms and conditions and at the saiste
to the Executive as in effect immediately priothe date of the Involuntary Termination. Suchddis shall be provided
through insurance maintained by the Company urideCbmpany’s benefit plans. Such benefits shatirbeided in a
manner that complies with Treasury Regulation $acti.409A-1(a)(5). Notwithstanding the foregoirighe Company
determines in its sole discretion that it cannolvte the foregoing benefit without potentially tng applicable law
(including, without limitation, Section 2716 of tiReblic Health Service Act), the Company shalléu thereof provide to
the Executive a taxable monthly payment in an arheguoal to the monthly premium that the Executivaild be required 1
pay to continue the Executive’s and his covereceddpnts’ group insurance coverages under COBRA eleact on the
Date of Termination (which amount shall be basethempremiums for the first month of COBRA coverggeovided,
howeverthat, if the Executive is a Specified Employee o Date of Termination, then such payments shatlaie as
provided in Section 9 hereof.

(d) Outplacement ServicesThe Executive shall receive reasonable outpiace services, on an in-kind
basis, suitable to his position and directly ralatethe Executive’s Involuntary Termination, foperiod of twentyfour (24)
months following the date of the Involuntary Teration, in an aggregate amount of cost to the Companhto exceed
$50,000. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Exmeushall cease to receive outplacement servindb@date the
Executive accepts employment with a subsequentogiep Such outplacement services shall be praviden manner that
complies with Treasury Regulation Section 1.409B}®)(v)(A).

(e) Financial Planning Servict. The Executive shall receive financial planngegvices, on an -kind
basis, for a period of twenty-four (24) monthsdaling the Date of Termination. Such financial plery services shall
include expert financial and legal resources tasase Executive with financial planning needs ahdll be limited to (i)
current investment portfolio management, (ii) téanping, (iii) tax return preparation, and (iv) &st planning advice and
document preparation (including wills and trusgsjvided, however, that the Company shall provide such financial
planning services during any taxable year of thedtkve only to the extent the cost to the Comfanguch taxable year
does not exceed $25,000. The Company shall prauide financial planning services through a finahglanner selected
by the Company, and shall pay the fees for suanfiral planning services. The financial planniagvees provided during
any taxable year of the Executive shall not affeetfinancial planning services provided in arlyeottaxable year of the
Executive. The Executive’s right to financiahphing services shall not be subject to liquidatoexchange for any other
benefit. Such financial planning services shalpb®vided in a manner that complies with TreasuegiRation Section
1.409A-3(i)(1)(iv).

)] Deferral of Payments The Executive shall have the right to eledeger the Pre-Change in Control
Severance Payment to be received by the Exequirgaiant to this Section 4 under the terms andittond of the Sempra
Energy 2005 Deferred Compensation Plan (the " Defe€ompensation Pldh Any such deferral election shall be mad
accordance with Section 18(b) hereof.

Section 5.  Severance Benefits upon Involuntary Terminatio@@mnection with and after Change
Control. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 4 adyaand except as provided in Section 19(i) heiiadhe event of
the Involuntary Termination of the Executive onmthin two (2) years following a Change in Contrial lieu of the
payments described in Section 4 above, the Comgiaaly pay the Executive, in one lump sum cash gagnman amount
(the “ PostChange in Control Severance Paynigmqual to two times the greater of: (X) 165%tlué Executive’s Annual
Base Salary as in effect immediately prior to th@aiye in Control or the Date of Termination, whigtreis greater, and (Y)
the Executive’s Annual Base Salary as in effect ediately prior to the Change in Control or on theddof Termination,
whichever is greater, plus the Executive’s Averagaual Bonus. In addition to the Post-Change int@x Severance
Payment, the Executive shall be entitled to thiefiong additional benefits specified in subsectidrn) through (g). The
Company's obligation to pay the Post-Change in ©b8everance Payment or provide the benefitsostt in subsections
(b),(c), (d), (e), (f) and (g) are subject to andditioned upon the Executive executing the Releasgen fifty (50) days afte
the date of Involuntary Termination and Executieg revoking such Release in accordance with thedehereof. Except
provided in Sections 5(h) and 5(i), the Post-Chandeontrol Severance Payment, the Pro Rata Bomdishee payments
under Section 6(c) shall be paid on such date dstesmined by the Company within sixty (60) dafgerahe date of the
Involuntary Termination. If the fifty (50) day ped in which the Release could become effectiveaxspaore than one
taxable year, then the Post-Change in Control $@eerPayment, Pro Rata Bonus and payments undeurSg() shall not




be made until the later taxable year. Notwithsitagdhe foregoing, if the Executive is a
Specified Employee on the date of the Executite/sluntary Termination, the Po§thange in Control Severance Paym
the Pro Rata Bonus, the payment under SectioraB@t}the financial planning services and the relptadnents provided
under Section 5(g) shall be paid as provided iniGe® hereof.

(&)  Accrued Obligations The Company shall pay the Executive a lump somouat in cash equal to the
Accrued Obligations within the time required by law

(b) Pro Rata Bonu. The Company shall pay the Executive a lump somauat in cash equal to: (i) tl
greater of: (X) 65% of the Executive’s Annual B&dary as in effect immediately prior to the CheangControl or on the
Date of Termination, whichever is greater, or (Y@ Executive’s Average Annual Bonus, multiplied(lya fraction, the
numerator of which shall be the number of days ftbenbeginning of such fiscal year to and includimg Date of
Termination and the denominator of which shall 66 8qual to (the * Pro Rata Boni)s

(c) Pension Suppleme. The Executive shall be entitled to receive pfemental Retirement Bene
under the Sempra Energy Supplemental ExecutivedReint Plan, as in effect from time to time_(* SERRRIetermined in
accordance with this Section 5(c), in the event e Executive is a “Participant” (as definedhe SERP) as of the Date of
Termination. Such Supplemental Retirement Beséfill be determined by crediting the Executive \aitliditional months
of Service (if any) equal to the number of fulleadlar months from the Date of Termination to thie da which the
Executive would have attained age 62. The Exeewdhall be entitled to receive such Supplementatddeent Benefit
without regard to whether the Executive has atthange 55 or completed five years of “Service” (efmd in the SERP) as
of the Date of Termination. The Executive shaltieated as qualified for “Retirement” (as defimedhe SERP) as of the
Date of Termination, and the Executive’s VestingtBawith respect to the Supplemental Retirememefieshall be 100%.
The Executive’s Supplemental Retirement Bene#lldbe calculated based on the Executive’s actyelss of the date of
commencement of payment of such Supplemental RegiméBenefit (the * SERP Distribution Dédfe and by applying the
applicable early retirement factors under the SERRe Executive has not attained age 62 but ttasad age 55 as of the
SERP Distribution Date. If the Executive has rtdined age 55 as of the SERP Distribution Dat Fkecutive’'s
Supplemental Retirement Benefit shall be calculatedpplying the applicable early retirement factoder the SERP for
age 55, and the Supplemental Retirement Benef#raite payable at age 55 shall be actuarially sefju® the Executive’s
actual age as of the SERP Distribution Date usiegdllowing actuarial assumptions: (i) the apatile mortality table
promulgated by the Internal Revenue Service undetiéh 417(e)(3) of the Code, as in effect on tret flay of the calendar
year in which the SERP Distribution Date occurg] @r) the applicable interest rate promulgatedhsy Internal Revenue
Service under Section 417(a)(3) of the Code foNbeember next preceding the first day of the adderyear in which the
SERP Distribution Date occurs. The Executive'sBeimental Retirement Benefit shall be determineacecordance with
this Section 5(c), notwithstanding any contraryysions of the SERP and, to the extent subjecetii@ 409A of the Cod
shall be paid in accordance with Treasury Reguigiection 1.409A-3(c)(1). The Supplemental ReternBenefit paid to
or on behalf of the Executive in accordance with Section 5(c) shall be in full satisfaction ofyaand all of the benefits
payable to or on behalf of the Executive underSERP.

(d) Equity-Based CompensationNotwithstanding the provisions of any applicadtgiity-compensation
plan or award agreement to the contrary, all egodgtyed Incentive Compensation Awards (includingheuit limitation,
stock options, stock appreciation rights, restdatck awards, restricted stock units, performaheee awards, awards
covered under Section 162(m) of the Code, and endcequivalents) held by the Executive shall imiatety vest and
become exercisable or payable, as the case mag loé the Date of Termination, to be exercisedaid,pas the case may be,
in accordance with the terms of the applicable mtige Compensation Plan and Incentive Compensatward agreement,
and any restrictions on any such Incentive ComparsAwards shall automatically lapgapovided, howeverthat any suc
stock option or stock appreciation rights awardsggd on or after June 26, 1998 shall remain cudstg and exercisable
until the earlier of (A) the later of eighteen (18dnths following the Date of Termination or theipd specified in the
applicable Incentive Compensation Award agreemen(B) the expiration of the original term of sudgentive
Compensation Award (or, if earlier, the tenth aensary of the original date of grant) (it being erglood that all Incentive
Compensation Awards granted prior to or after 261998 shall remain outstanding and exercisairla period that is no
less than that provided for in the applicable ageat in effect as of the date of grant).

(e)  Welfare Benefits Subject to Section 12 below, for a period ofrityefour (24) months following the
date of Involuntary Termination (and an additiotvedlve (12) months if the Executive provides cdtisg services under
Section 14(e) hereof), the Executive and his depets shall be provided with life, disability, adent and health insurance
benefits substantially similar to those provided® Executive and his dependents immediately poithe date of




Involuntary Termination or the Change in Controt®&avhichever is more favorable to the Execut
provided, however, that such benefits shall be provided on substiythe same terms and conditions and at the saiste
to the Executive as in effect immediately priothie date of Involuntary Termination or the Chamg€ontrol Date,
whichever is more favorable to the Executive. ISoenefits shall be provided through insurance taaied by the
Company under the Company benefit plans. Suchfitesball be provided in a manner that compliethwireasury
Regulation Section 1.409A-1(a)(5). Notwithstanding foregoing, if the Company determines in ite sliscretion that it
cannot provide the foregoing benefit without poiht violating applicable law (including, witholimitation, Section 2716
of the Public Health Service Act), the Company kimdieu thereof provide to the Executive a taxablonthly payment in
an amount equal to the monthly premium that thecktee would be required to pay to continue thedtkiwe’s and his
covered dependents’ group insurance coverages @@BRA as in effect on the Date of Termination @hamount shall
be based on the premiums for the first month of @ARBoverage)provided, howevethat, if the Executive is a Specified
Employee on the Date of Termination, then such maymshall be paid as provided in Section 9 hereof.

) Outplacement Service. The Executive shall receive reasonable outpiace services, on an-kind
basis, suitable to his position and directly reddtethe Executive’s Involuntary Termination, goperiod of thirty-six (36)
months following the date of Involuntary Terminatifout in no event beyond the last day of the Htiee's second taxable
year following the Executive’s taxable year in @fhthe Involuntary Termination occurs), in the aggte amount of cost to
the Company not to exceed $50,000. Notwithstanttiegoregoing, the Executive shall cease to weceutplacement
services on the date the Executive accepts emp@oiymith a subsequent employer. Such outplacesauices shall be
provided in a manner that complies with Treasurgiaion Section 1.409A-1(b)(9)(v)(A).

(9) Financial Planning ServicesThe Executive shall receive financial planngggvices, on an in-kind
basis, for a period of thirty-six (36) months fellmg the date of Involuntary Termination. Suchafiigial planning services
shall include expert financial and legal resoutcesssist the Executive with financial planningadeand shall be limited to
() current investment portfolio management, @ planning, (iii) tax return preparation, and @state planning advice and
document preparation (including wills and trusgsjvided, however, that the Company shall provide such financial
services during any taxable year of the Executivg to the extent the cost to the Company for daghble year does not
exceed $25,000. The Company shall provide sueméial planning services through a financial plarsedected by the
Company, and shall pay the fees for such finamtaining services. The financial planning servioes/ided during any
taxable year of the Executive shall not affectfthancial planning services provided in any ottaable year of the
Executive. The Executive’s right to financiahphing services shall not be subject to liquidatoexchange for any other
benefit. Such financial planning services shalplbevided in a manner that complies with SectigtD2A-3(i)(1)(iv).

(h) Involuntary Termination in Connection with a Chamg&ontrol. Notwithstanding anything
contained herein, in the event of an InvoluntarynTieation prior to a Change in Control, if the Itwatary Termination (1)
was at the request of a third party who has tategpsgeasonably calculated to effect such Chan@eimrol or (2) otherwis
arose in connection with or in anticipation of s@imange in Control, then the Executive shalljen bf the payments
described in Section 4 hereof, be entitled to tstfhange in Control Severance Payment and theaadd benefits
described in this Section 5 as if such Involunfeeymination had occurred within two (2) years fallng the Change in
Control. The amounts specified in Section 5 thatta be paid under this Section 5(h) shall be cediby any amount
previously paid under Section 4. The amounts tpdi@ under this Section 5(h) shall be paid witikty (60) days after the
Change in Control Date of such Change in Control.

(1) Deferral of Payments The Executive shall have the right to eleaéfer the Post-Change in Control
Severance Payment and the Pro Rata Bonus to beaeds the Executive pursuant to this Sectiom8au the terms and
conditions of the Deferred Compensation Plan. singh deferral election shall be made in accordaniteSection 18(b)
hereof.

Section 6.  Severance Benefits upon Termination by the Compan@ause or by the Executive Other
than for Good Reasanlf the Executive’s employment shall be term@tafor Cause, or if the Executive terminates
employment other than for Good Reason, the Comphaly have no further obligations to the Executineler this
Agreement other than the Accrued Obligations arydsemounts or benefits described in Section 10 liereo

Section 7. Severance Benefits upon Termination due to Deabigability. If the Executive has a
Separation from Service by reason of death or Olisglihe Company shall pay the Executive or éésate, as the case may
be, the Accrued Obligations and the Pro Rata B@witkout regard to whether a Change in Controlda=urred) and any
amounts or benefits described in Section 10 her8ath payments shall be in addition to those sighid benefits to which




the Executive or his estate may be entitled utiteerelevant Company plans or programs.
The Company's obligation to pay the Pro Rata Basmiasnditioned upon the Executive, the Executivesesentative or tf
Executive's estate, as the case may be execugrigdlease within fifty (50) days after the dat&récutive's Separation
from Service and not revoking such Release in aegure with the terms thereof. The Accrued Obligeishall be paid
within the time required by law and the Pro Rata@oshall be paid on such date as determined b@dhgany within sixt
(60) days after the date of the Separation fromiSeibut not before the Release becomes effectidaraevocable. If the
fifty (50) day period in which the Release couldt®e effective spans more than one taxable yeam,ttite Pro Rata Bonus
shall not be made until the later taxable yeartwitbstanding the foregoing, if the Executive iSgecified Employee on t
date of the Executive’s Separation from Serviee,Rro Rata Bonus shall be paid as provided ind@e8thereof.

Section 8.  Limitations on Payments by the Company

(&)  Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwitireding and except as set forth in this Section 8
below, in the event it shall be determined that payyment or distribution in the nature of compeioesatwithin the meaning
of Section 280G(b)(2) of the Code) to or for thedfd of the Executive, whether paid or payablespant to this Agreeme
or otherwise (the * Paymettwould be subject (in whole or in part) to thecese tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code,
(the “ Excise TaX), then, subject to subsection (b), the Pre-Chand&ontrol Severance Benefit or the Post-Change in
Control Severance Payment (whichever is applicgidgable under this Agreement shall be reducedrithdesubsection
(a) to the amount equal to the Reduced Paymentsueh Payment payable under this Agreement, Reduced Paymelfit
shall be the amount equal to the greatest portidheoPayment (which may be zero) that, if paiduid result in no portion
of any Payment being subject to the Excise Tax.

(b) The Pre-Change in Control Severance Benefit oPtis-Change in Control Severance Payment
(whichever is applicable) payable under this Agreenshall not be reduced under subsection (a) if:

0] such reduction in such Payment is not sufficierdanse no portion of any Paymen
be subject to the Excise Tax, or

(i) the Net After-Tax Unreduced Payments (as defindoWjenould equal or exceed one
hundred and five percent (105%) of the Net Aftek-Reduced Payments (as defined below).

For purposes of determining the amount of any Redi®ayment under subsection (a), and the Net-AfigrReduced
Payments and the Net After-Tax Unreduced Paym#ras:xecutive shall be considered to pay fedetatle @nd local
income and employment taxes at the Executive’siegdgle marginal rates taking into consideration seduction in federal
income taxes which could be obtained from the dioliof state and local income taxes, and any rigaluor disallowance
of itemized deductions and personal exemptions ruagiglicable tax law). The applicable federaltestnd local income al
employment taxes and the Excise Tax (to the expplicable) are collectively referred to as theak@&s'.

()  The following definitions shall apply for purposefsthis Section 8

(1) “Net After-Tax Reduced Paymentshall mean the total amount of all Payments the
Executive would retain, on a Net After-Tax Basisthe event that the Payments payable under thisekgent are
reduced pursuant to subsection (a).

(i) “Net Aftel-Tax Unreduced Paymel” shall mean the total amount of all Payments
the Executive would retain, on a Net After-Tax Basgn the event that the Payments payable undeAtrieement
are not reduced pursuant to subsection (a).

(i)  “Net After-Tax Basis” shall mean, with respect e tPayments, either with or without
reduction under subsection (a) (as applicable)atheunt that would be retained by the Executivenfenich
Payments after the payment of all Taxes.

(d)  All determinations required to be made under tleisti®n 8 and the assumptions to be utilized in
arriving at such determinations, shall be made bgtanally recognized accounting firm as may bead by the Company
and the Executive (the_* Accounting Fifin provided, that the Accounting Firm’s determination shallmbade based upon
“substantial authority” within the meaning of Secti6662 of the Code. The Accounting Firm shallvpde detailed
supporting calculations to both the Company andetkecutive within fifteen (15) business days of teeeipt of notice from
the Executive that there has been a Payment oreaartibr time as is requested by the Company.fe&$ and expenses of




the Accounting Firm shall be borne solely by therpany. Any determination by the Accounting
Firm shall be binding upon the Company and the Etvee. For purposes of determining whether andetttent to which th
Payments will be subject to the Excise Tax, (ipodion of the Payments the receipt or enjoymentioth the Executive
shall have waived at such time and in such marmeaoato constitute a “paymenwithin the meaning of Section 280G(b)
the Code shall be taken into account, (i) no portf the Payments shall be taken into accounthyhmcthe written opinion
of the Accounting Firm, does not constitute a “parge payment” within the meaning of Section 28Q@&)of the Code
(including by reason of Section 280G(b)(4)(A) of tBode) and, in calculating the Excise Tax, noipomf such Payments
shall be taken into account which, in the opinidbthe Accounting Firm, constitutes reasonable campg&on for services
actually rendered, within the meaning of Sectio8@g)(4)(B) of the Code, in excess of the base aih(as defined in
Section 280G(b)(3) of the Code) allocable to swasonable compensation, and (iii) the value ofraamwcash benefit or ar
deferred payment or benefit included in the Paysiehall be determined by the Accounting Firm inoadance with the
principles of Sections 280G(d)(3) and (4) of thel€o

Section 9.  Delayed Distribution under Section 409A of the C. If the Executive is a Specifie
Employee on the date of the Executive’s Involuntegrmination (or on the date of the Executive’p&@ation from Service
by reason of Disability), the Section 409A Paymeatsl any other payments or benefits under thieémeent subject to
Section 409A of the Code, shall be delayed in ord@void a prohibited distribution under Secti@®A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the
Code, and such payments or benefits shall be paitributed to the Executive during the thirB0) day period
commencing on the earlier of (a) the expiratiothef six-month period measured from the date offExecutives Separatic
from Service or (b) the date of the Executive’stdedJpon the expiration of the applicable six-nfopériod under Section
409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code, all payments deferpenlsuant to this Section 9 (excluding in-kind Hasgeshall be paid in a
lump sum payment to the Executive, plus intefestdon from the date of the Executive’s InvoluptBermination through
the payment date at an annual rate equal to ModRlgte. The “ Moodys Rat€e’ shall mean the average of the daily
Moody’s Corporate Bond Yield Average — Monthly Aage Corporates as published by Moody’s Investorgi&z Inc. (or
any successor) for the month next preceding the Batermination. Any remaining payments due uriderAgreement
shall be paid as otherwise provided herein.

Section 10. Nonexclusivity of Rights Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent or lithie Executive’s
continuing or future participation in any benefilan, program, policy or practice provided by then@any and for which
the Executive may qualify (except with respecany benefit to which the Executive has waivedrigibts in writing),
including, without limitation, any and all indemigiéition arrangements in favor of the Executivedthler under agreements
or under the Company’s charter documents or otlsejywand insurance policies covering the Executige shall anything
herein limit or otherwise affect such rights as theecutive may have under any other contract ceeagent entered into
after the Effective Date with the Company. Amountsch are vested benefits or which the ExecuBwetherwise entitled
to receive under any benefit, plan, policy, practc program of, or any contract or agreement edtgito with, the
Company shall be payable in accordance with sunkfligplan, policy, practice or program or contracagreement except
as explicitly modified by this Agreement. At alies during the Executive’s employment with ther@any and thereatfter,
the Company shall provide (to the extent permissilsider applicable law) the Executive with inddination and D&O
insurance insuring the Executive against insuraténts which occur or have occurred while the chiee was a director
or the Executive officer of the Company, on termd aonditions that are at least as generous ash#satprovided to any
other current or former director or the Executifiécer of the Company or any Affiliate. Such indeification and D&O
insurance shall be provided in a manner that caaplith Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b)(10)

Section 11. Clawbacks Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrafrthe Company determines, in
good faith judgment, that if the Executive is reqdito forfeit or to make any repayment of any cengation or benefit(s)
the Company under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 20@fusuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform @odsumer
Protection Act or any other law, such forfeituregpayment shall not constitute Good Reason.

Section 12. Full Settlement; Mitigation The Company’s obligation to make the paymentsiged for in
this Agreement and otherwise to perform its oblas hereunder shall not be affected by any seteofinterclaim,
recoupment, defense or other claim, right or actibich the Company may have against the Execuwtivehers, provided
that nothing herein shall preclude the Company fsearately pursuing recovery from the Executageld on any such
claim. In no event shall the Executive be obkghiio seek other employment or take any othermbiyowvay of mitigation
of the amounts (including amounts for damages feath) payable to the Executive under any of theigions of this
Agreement, and such amounts shall not be reducetheihor not the Executive obtains other employmen

Section 13. Dispute Resolutiol.




(@) If any dispute arises between Executive and thefamy, including, but not limited to, disputes
relating to or arising out of this Agreement, agyi@n relating to or arising out of my employmenits termination, and/or
any disputes regarding the interpretation, enfditiéa or validity of this Agreement (“Arbitrabl®ispute”), Executive and
the Company waive the right to resolve the displuteugh litigation in a judicial forum and agreerésolve the Arbitrable
Dispute through final and binding arbitration, epicas prohibited by law. Arbitration shall be #weclusive remedy for any
Arbitrable Dispute.

(b)  Asto any Arbitrable Dispute, the Company and Exgeuvaive any right to a jury trial or a col
bench trial. The Company and Executive also wtieeright to bring, maintain, or participate in asigss, collective, or
representative proceeding, whether in arbitratioatberwise. Further, Arbitrable Disputes musbbaught in the individual
capacity of the party asserting the claim, and oabe maintained on a class, collective, or repriedgive basis.

(c) Arbitration shall take place at the office of thalitial Arbitration and Mediation Service (“*JAMS”)
(or, if Executive is employed outside of Californibe American Arbitration Association (“AAA”)) aeest to the location
where Executive last worked for the Company. Ekbephe extent it conflicts with the rules and ggdures set forth in this
Arbitration Agreement, arbitration shall be condutin accordance with the JAMs Employment ArbitatRules &
Procedures (if Executive is employed outside off@alia, the AAA Employment Arbitration Rules & Méation
Procedures), copies of which are attached for fereace and available at www.jamsadr.com; tel: . 8885267 and
www.adr.org; tel: 800.778.7879, before a singlpezienced, neutral employment arbitrator seleaieatcordance with
those rules.

(d) The Company will be responsible for paying anyngilifee and the fees and costs of the arbitrator.
Each party shall pay its own attorneys’ fees. Hevgif any party prevails on a statutory claimtthathorizes an award of
attorneys’ fees to the prevailing party, or if #hés a written agreement providing for attorndggs, the arbitrator may awi
reasonable attorneys’ fees to the prevailing pafplying the same standards a court would appieuthe law applicable
to the claim.

(e) The arbitrator shall apply the Federal Rules otdEnce, shall have the authority to entertain aanoti
to dismiss or a motion for summary judgment by pasty, and shall apply the standards governing suations under the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The arbitratoesinot have the authority to consider, certifyhear an arbitration as a
class action, collective action, or any other tgpeepresentative action. The Company and Exeeuteognize that this
Agreement arises out of or concerns interstate cenoenand that the Federal Arbitration Act shalleyovthe arbitration and
shall govern the interpretation or enforcemenhdf Arbitration Agreement or any arbitration award.

)] EXECUTIVE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT BY ENTERING INTO THIS SREEMENT,
EXECUTIVE IS WAIVING ANY RIGHT HE OR SHE MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY.

Section 14. Executiveés Covenants

(@) Confidentiality. The Executive acknowledges that in the couf$gsoemployment with the
Company, he has acquired non-public privilegedomfidential information and trade secrets conceyttire operations,
future plans and methods of doing business (* Fetgy Information’) of the Company and its Affiliates; and the
Executive agrees that it would be extremely dan@p the Company and its Affiliates if such Prepary Information wer
disclosed to a competitor of the Company and ifdiates or to any other person or corporation.e TExecutive understan
and agrees that all Proprietary Information hasilfeulged to the Executive in confidence andHartunderstands and
agrees to keep all Proprietary Information seanét@nfidential (except for such information whistor becomes publicly
available other than as a result of a breach byEkecutive of this provision or information thexd€utive is required by ar
governmental, administrative or court order to lise) without limitation in time. In view of theature of the Executive’s
employment and the Proprietary Information the detiwe has acquired during the course of such eynpémt, the
Executive likewise agrees that the Company andffisates would be irreparably harmed by any distrre of Proprietary
Information in violation of the terms of this paragh and that the Company and its Affiliates stralefore be entitled to
preliminary and/or permanent injunctive relief pimting the Executive from engaging in any acivitr threatened activity
in violation of the terms of this paragraph an@my other relief available to them. Inquiries melijag whether specific
information constitutes Proprietary Information kb directed to the Company’s Senior Vice PresidBublic Policy (or,
if such position is vacant, the Company’s then €Biecutive Officer)provided, that the Company shall not unreasonably
classify information as Proprietary Information.




(b) Non-Solicitation of Employees The Executive recognizes that he possessewidmbssess
confidential information about other employeeshe Company and its Affiliates relating to their edtion, experience,
skills, abilities, compensation and benefits, andrpersonal relationships with customers of tbex@any and its Affiliates.
The Executive recognizes that the informatiopbgsesses and will possess about these other ezapl®ynot generally
known, is of substantial value to the Company asdiffiliates in developing their business and éewring and retaining
customers, and has been and will be acquired bybkitause of his business position with the Compaualyits Affiliates.
The Executive agrees that at all times during Executive’s employment with the Company and fpedod of one (1)
year thereafter, he will not, directly or indirggtsolicit or recruit any employee of the Companyt® Affiliates for the
purpose of being employed by him or by any competf the Company or its Affiliates on whose betadfis acting as an
agent, representative or employee and that henatilconvey any such confidential information odgaecrets about other
employees of the Company and its Affiliates to ather personprovided, howeverthat it shall not constitute a solicitation
or recruitment of employment in violation of thigragraph to discuss employment opportunities witheanployee of the
Company or its Affiliates who has either first cactied the Executive or regarding whose employrientExecutive has
discussed with and received the written approvéhefCompany’s Vice President, Human Resourcesf@®ich position is
vacant, the Company’s then Chief Executive Officprior to making such solicitation or recruitme. view of the nature
of the Executive’s employment with the Company, tBxecutive likewise agrees that the Company @sWffiliates would
be irreparably harmed by any solicitation or retongint in violation of the terms of this paragrapld ghat the Company and
its Affiliates shall therefore be entitled to prelhary and/or permanent injunctive relief prohihgtithe Executive from
engaging in any activity or threatened activityiolation of the terms of this paragraph and to ather relief available to
them.

(c) Survival of Provisions The obligations contained in Section 14(a) aectisn 14(b) above shall
survive the termination of the Executive’s empl&nrnwithin the Company and shall be fully enfordeahereafter. If itis
determined by a court of competent jurisdictiomity state that any restriction in Section 14(&3ection 14(b) above is
excessive in duration or scope or is unreasonahl@enforceable under the laws of that state,thésintention of the parties
that such restriction may be modified or amendethbycourt to render it enforceable to the maxinextent permitted by
the law of that state.

(d) Release; Lump Sum Payme. In the event of the Execut’s Involuntary Termination, if th
Executive (i) reconfirms and agrees to abide leycivenants described in Section 14(a) and Setti(y) above, (ii)
executes the Release within fifty (50) days atterdate of Involuntary Termination and does nobkevsuch Release in
accordance with the terms thereof, and (iii) agtegwovide the consulting services described ictiSe 14(e) below, then
consideration for such covenants and consultinges, the Company shall pay the Executive, incash lump sum, an
amount (the * Consulting Payméitin cash equal to the greater of: (X) 165% af Executive’s Annual Base Salary as in
effect on the Date of Termination, and (Y) the Exe®’s Annual Base Salary as in effect on the dt€ermination, plus
the Executive’s Average Annual Bonus. Except avipled in this subsection, the Consulting Paymbatl ©e paid on such
date as is determined by the Company within th€X8hday period commencing on thethay after the date of the
Executive’s Involuntary Terminatioprovided, howeverthat if the Executive is a Specified Employedlmndate of the
Executive’s Involuntary Termination, the ConsudtiRayment shall be paid as provided in Sectiorr8die The Executive
shall have the right to elect to defer the ConsgltPayment under the terms and conditions of thrag@any’s Deferred
Compensation Plan. Any such deferral electionl ffeainade in accordance with Section 18(b) hereof.

(e) Consulting. If the Executive agrees to the provisions dftea 14(d) above, then the Executive
shall have the obligation to provide consultingvgsss to the Company as an independent contraadormencing on the
Date of Termination and ending on the second ansewg of the Date of Termination (the “ Consultipgriod”). The

Executive shall hold himself available at reasdméimes and on reasonable notice to render sutbutting services as m
be so assigned to him by the Board or the Compdahgis Chief Executive Officegrovided, howeverthat unless the
parties otherwise agree, the consulting servicedered by the Executive during the Consultingdekeshall not exceed
twenty (20) hours each month; apdovided, further, that the consulting services rendered by thec&iee during the
Consulting Period shall in no event exceed tweetg@nt (20%) of the average level of services peréal by the Executiv
for the Company over the thirty-six (36) month pdrimmediately preceding the Executive’s Sepandtiom Service (or
the full period of services to the Company, if tR&ecutive has been providing services to the Comypar less than thirty-
six (36) months). The Company agrees to use gsdféorts during the Consulting Period to sectheelienefit of the

Executive’s consulting services so as to minintheeinterference with the Executive’s other atiég, including requiring
the performance of consulting services at the Cayipabffices only when such services may not beseably performed
off-site by the Executive.




Section 15. Legal Fees

(a) Reimbursement of Legal Fe. Subject to subsection (b), in the event of tkedative s Separatiol
from Service either (1) prior to a Change in Colhtoo (2) on or within two (2) years following a @hge in Control, the
Company shall reimburse the Executive for all légas and expenses (including but not limitedetesfand expenses in
connection with any arbitration) incurred by th&eEutive in disputing any issue arising under &gseement relating to the
Executive’s Separation from Service or in seeltingbtain or enforce any benefit or right providsdthis Agreement.

(b) Requirements for Reimbursem¢«. The Company shall reimburse the Exects legal fees an
expenses pursuant to subsection (a) above onhetextent the arbitrator or court determines thleviang: (i) the
Executive disputed such issue, or sought to olmaanforce such benefit or right, in good faiil),the Executive had a
reasonable basis for such claim, and (iii) in theecof subsection (a)(1) above, the Executivieaeptevailing party. In
addition, the Company shall reimburse such legzd Band expenses, only if such legal fees and egpeme incurred during
the twenty (20) year period beginning on the datihe Executive’s Separation from Service. Tlgaldees and expenses
paid to the Executive for any taxable year of thescutive shall not affect the legal fees and axps paid to the Executive
for any other taxable year of the Executive. Tegal fees and expenses shall be paid to the Bxean or before the last
day of the Executive’s taxable year following thgable year in which the fees or expenses arenedurThe Executive’s
right to reimbursement of legal fees and expenisals sot be subject to liquidation or exchangedny other benefit. Such
right to reimbursement of legal fees and expenisaks Ise provided in a manner that complies withabrgy Regulation
Section 1.409A-3(i)(1)(iv). If the Executive isSpecified Employee on the date of the ExecutiveijgaBation from Service,
such right to reimbursement of legal fees and esgeshall be paid as provided in Section 10 hereof.

Section 16. Successors

(@)  Assignment by the Executih. This Agreement is personal to the Executiveitidout the priol
written consent of Sempra Energy shall not be assilg by the Executive otherwise than by willlee taws of descent and
distribution. This Agreement shall inure to thenékt of and be enforceable by the Executive’'alegpresentatives.

(b)  Successors and Assigns of Sempra Energiiis Agreement shall inure to the benefit of aed
binding upon Sempra Energy, its successors angresssSempra Energy may not assign this Agreerneartyt person or
entity (except for a successor described in Sedtégn), (d) or (e) below) without the Executiveigtten consent.

(c) Assumption. Sempra Energy shall require any successor (whettrect or indirect, by purchase,
merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or sahsally all of the business and/or assets of Sariprergy to assume
expressly and agree to perform the obligationssatidfy and discharge the liabilities of this Agremt in the same manner
and to the same extent that Sempra Energy woulel besn required to perform the obligations andfsedind discharge the
liabilities under this Agreement if no such sucaas$ad taken place, and Sempra Energy shall haverther obligations
and liabilities under this Agreement. Upon suckuasption, references to Sempra Energy in this Agese shall be
replaced with references to such successor.

(d)  Sale of Subsidiary In the event that (i) the Executive is employgda direct or indirect subsidiary of
Sempra Energy that is a member of the Sempra Er@vgirol Group, (i) Sempra Energy, directly orimedtly through one
or more intermediaries, sells or otherwise dispasasich subsidiary, and (iii) such subsidiary esas be a member of the
Sempra Energy Control Group, then if, on the dath subsidiary ceases to be a member of the Seemgrgy Control
Group, the Executive continues in employment witbhssubsidiary and the Executive does not havepar&ton from
Service, Sempra Energy shall require such subgidiaany successor (whether direct or indirectpbschase merger,
consolidation or otherwise) to such subsidiarytherparent thereof, to assume expressly and ag@erfiorm the obligatior
and satisfy and discharge the liabilities undes kgreement in the same manner and to the samet ¢éixéd Sempra Energy
would have been required to perform the obligatemd satisfy and discharge the liabilities undex igreement, if such
subsidiary had not ceased to be part of the SeBEpeegy Control Group, and, upon such assumptiomp®z Energy shall
have no further obligations and liabilities unds Agreement. Upon such assumption, (i) referetec&empra Energy in
this Agreement shall be replaced with referencesutt subsidiary, or such successor or parentdhergsuming this
Agreement, and (ii) subsection (b) of the defimtaf “Cause” and subsection (b) of the definitidri®@ood Reason” shall
apply thereatfter, as if a Change in Control haduoeel on the date of such cessation.

(e) Sale of Assets of Subsidiaryin the event that (i) the Executive is emplopgd direct or indirect
subsidiary of Sempra Energy, and (ii) such subsjdialls or otherwise disposes of substantial assfetuch subsidiary to :




unrelated service recipient, as determined undeadury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(f)(2)(ii) (the “
Asset Purchaséj, in a transaction described in Treasury Regafatection 1.409A-1(h)(4) (an " Asset S§lethen if, on
the date of such Asset Sale, the Executive becemefoyed by the Asset Purchaser, Sempra Energthantisset
Purchaser shall specify, in accordance with TrgaRegulation Section 1.409A-1(h)(4), that the Exeeushall not be
treated as having a Separation from Service, anmgpp&eEnergy shall require such Asset Purchasénegparent thereof, to
assume expressly and agree to perform the obligratiod satisfy and discharge the liabilities urdisrAgreement in the
same manner and to the same extent that SemprgyEmeuld have been required to perform the oblayetiand satisfy and
discharge the liabilities under this Agreementhé Asset Sale had not taken place, and, uponasstimption, Sempra
Energy shall have no further obligations and litibd under the Agreement. Upon such assumptipreferences to Semg
Energy in this Agreement shall be replaced witlken&fices to the Asset Purchaser or the parent thessapplicable, and (i
subsection (b) of the definition of “Cause” and sedtion (b) of the definition of “Good Reasasiiall apply thereafter, as i
Change in Control had occurred on the date of seASale.

Section 17. Administration Prior to Change in Contl. Prior to a Change in Control, the Compense
Committee shall have full and complete authoritg@astrue and interpret the provisions of this &gnent, to determine an
individual’s entitlement to benefits under this Agment, to make in its sole and absolute discreficteterminations
contemplated under this Agreement, to investigateraake factual determinations necessary or adeisal@dminister or
implement this Agreement, and to adopt such rubelspgocedures as it deems necessary or advisatileefadministration
or implementation of this Agreement. All deterntinoas made under this Agreement by the Compens@&anmittee shall
be final and binding on all interested personsorRo a Change in Control, the Compensation Cotemiiay delegate
responsibilities for the operation and administratdf this Agreement to one or more officers or kyges of the Company.
The provisions of this Section 17 shall termireté be of no further force and effect upon the oerice of a Change in
Control.

Section 18. Section 409A of the Cod

(a) Compliance with and Exemption from Section 409Ahef Code Certain payments and benefits
payable under this Agreement (including, withontitation, the Section 409A Payments) are intendexbtnply with the
requirements of Section 409A of the Code. Cenpayments and benefits payable under this Agreearernihtended to be
exempt from the requirements of Section 409A ofGoee. This Agreement shall be interpreted in stamace with the
applicable requirements of, and exemptions fronatiGe 409A of the Code and the Treasury Regulatibassunder. To tt
extent the payments and benefits under this Agraeare subject to Section 409A of the Code, thises&ment shall be
interpreted, construed and administered in a maha¢satisfies the requirements of Sections 4042)Ya(3) and (4) of the
Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder (©uij¢he transitional relief under Internal Rever&ervice Notice 2005-
1, the Proposed Regulations under Section 409AeoCbde, Internal Revenue Service Notice 2006+t8rhal Revenue
Service Notice 2007-78, Internal Revenue Servicecdd@®007-86 and other applicable authority isdoyethe Internal
Revenue Service). As provided in Internal Reveatce 2007-86, notwithstanding any other provisabthis Agreement,
with respect to an election or amendment to chaniyee or form of payment under this Agreement n@der after Janua
1, 2008 and on or before December 31, 2008, tleti@eor amendment shall apply only with respeqidagments that wou
not otherwise be payable in 2008, and shall nose@mayments to be made in 2008 that would not wikerbe payable in
2008. If the Company and the Executive deterrtiiaéany compensation, benefits or other payméatsare payable unc
this Agreement and intended to comply with Sectibd@A(a)(2), (3) and (4) of the Code do not compith Section 409A
of the Code, the Treasury Regulations thereundgo#irer applicable authority issued by the InteRedenue Service, to 1
extent permitted under Section 409A of the Code,Titeasury Regulations thereunder and any appéiGaithority issued t
the Internal Revenue Service, the Company andetkecutive agree to amend this Agreement, or takk ether actions as
the Company and the Executive deem reasonablss@geor appropriate, to cause such compensatoefits and other
payments to comply with the requirements of Secfio®A of the Code, the Treasury Regulations theteuand other
applicable authority issued by the Internal Reve®ervice, while providing compensation, benefitd ather payments that
are, in the aggregate, no less favorable thandimpensation, benefits and other payments providdénthis Agreement.

In the case of any compensation, benefits or gihgments that are payable under this Agreemeninggicided to comply
with Sections 409A(a)(2), (3) and (4) of the Caflany provision of the Agreement would cause scempensation,
benefits or other payments to fail to so complghsprovision shall not be effective and shall b# and void with respect t
such compensation, benefits or other paymentsetexktent such provision would cause a failure togy, and such
provision shall otherwise remain in full force agitect.

(b)  Deferral Elections As provided in Sections 4(f), 5(i) and 14(d} tExecutive may elect to defer the
Pre-Change in Control Severance Payment, the Raatge in Control Severance Payment and the Comguithyment as




follows. The Executive’s deferral election sisatisfy the requirements of Treasury Regulation
Section 1.409A-2(b) and the terms and conditiorth@Deferred Compensation Plan. Such deferratiefeshall designate
the whole percentage (up to a maximum of 100%hefRre-Change in Control Severance Payment, theGPasige in
Control Severance Payment and the Consulting Paytméxe deferred, shall be irrevocable when maxdeé shall not take
effect until at least twelve (12) months after tage on which the election is made. Such defeteaition shall provide that
the amount deferred shall be deferred for a pesfatbt less than five (5) years from the date thgnpent of the amount
deferred would otherwise have been made, in acnoedaith Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-2(k{){)1)

Section 19. Miscellaneous.

(@) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and condtiiaccordance with the laws of
the State of California, without reference to itspiples of conflict of laws. The captions ofslAgreement are not part of
the provisions hereof and shall have no force facef This Agreement may not be amended, modifiggealed, waived,
extended or discharged except by an agreementtingvsigned by the party against whom enforcenoéisuch amendmet
modification, repeal, waiver, extension or discleaiggsought. No person, other than pursuant ésalution of the Board or
a committee thereof, shall have authority on bebfaihe Company to agree to amend, modify, repeailve, extend or
discharge any provision of this Agreement or amghn reference thereto.

(b) Notices. All notices and other communications hereundetl $e in writing and shall be given by
hand delivery to the other party or by registeredestified mail, return receipt requested, postaggpaid, addressed, in
either case, to the Company’s headquarters ordio gilner address as either party shall have fuedist the other in writing
in accordance herewith. Notices and communicattiadl be effective when actually received by ttdrassee.

(@) Severability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any prowa of this Agreement shall not affect t
validity or enforceability of any other provisiom this Agreement.

(d) Taxes. The Company may withhold from any amounts payallder this Agreement such fede
state or local taxes as shall be required to bleheltl pursuant to any applicable law or regulation.

(e) No Waiver. The Executive’s or the Company’s failure tashsipon strict compliance with any
provision hereof or any other provision of this Agment or the failure to assert any right the Httee or the Company
may have hereunder, including, without limitatitime right of the Executive to terminate employnfentGood Reason
pursuant to Section 1 hereof, or the right of tiken@any to terminate the Executive’s employmentfause pursuant to
Section 1 hereof shall not be deemed to be a waivauch provision or right or any other provismnright of this
Agreement.

)] Entire Agreement; Exclusive Benefit; SupersessioRrimr Agreement This instrument contains the
entire agreement of the Executive, the Comparangrpredecessor or subsidiary thereof with redjpeahy severance or
termination pay. The Pre-Change in Control Sevardayment, the Post-Change in Control Severangedtd and all
other benefits provided hereunder shall be indieany other severance payments to which the Hixecis entitled under
any other severance plan or program or arrangespemsored by the Company, as well as pursuantytmdividual
employment or severance agreement that was eriteoebly the Executive and the Company, and, uper&ffective Date
of this Agreement, all such plans, programs, aramnts and agreements are hereby automaticallysadesl and
terminated.

(9) No Right of Employment Nothing in this Agreement shall be construediasg the Executive any
right to be retained in the employ of the Companghall interfere in any way with the right of tBempany to terminate ti
Executive’s employment at any time, with or with@ause.

(h) Unfunded Obligatior. The obligations under this Agreement shall bieided. Benefits payab
under this Agreement shall be paid from the geresséts of the Company. The Company shall hawbingation to
establish any fund or to set aside any assettoda benefits under this Agreement.

0] Termination upon Sale of Assets of Subsidiafyotwithstanding anything contained herein, this
Agreement shall automatically terminate and beoofunther force and effect and no benefits shalpégable hereunder in
the event that (i) the Executive is employed byraad or indirect subsidiary of Sempra Energy, &ndn Asset Sale (as
defined in Section 16(e)) occurs (other than susal@ or disposition which is part of a transactoseries of transactions




which would result in a Change in Control), ang @k a result of such Asset Sale, the Execusive i
offered employment by the Asset Purchaser in anwke position with reasonably comparable statosipensation,
benefits and severance agreement (including therggon of this Agreement in accordance with Secti6é(e)) and which
is consistent with the Executive’s experience edhaication, but the Executive declines to accegqh sifer and the
Executive fails to become employed by the Assetlfaser on the date of the Asset Sale.

()] Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence orttifiective Date and shall continue until the
third (3rd) anniversary of the Effective Dapgpvided, howeverthat commencing on the second (2nd) anniversattyeo
Effective Date (and each anniversary of the Effechate thereafter), the term of this Agreemenl shiomatically be
extended for one (1) additional year, unless atlemety (90) days prior to such date, the Compartire Executive shall
give written notice to the other party that it @; las the case may be, does not wish to so exienddreement.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Company gigeich written notice to the Executive less theam (@) years after a
Change in Control, the term of this Agreement shalbutomatically extended until the later of (¢ tfate that is one (1)
year after the anniversary of the Effective Da#d tbllows such written notice or (B) the seconddRanniversary of the
Change in Control Date.

(k) Counterparts This Agreement may be executed in several copatts, each of which shall be
deemed to be an original but all of which togettall constitute one and the same instrument.

[ remainder of page intentionally left blahk



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Executive and, pursuardue authorization from its Board of Directors, the
Company have caused this Agreement to be execstefitae day and year first above written.

SEMPRA ENERGY

G. Joyce Rowland
Senior Vice President, Human Resources, Diversitylaclusion

Date

EXECUTIVE

Martha B. Wyrsch
Executive Vice President and General Counsel

Date



EXHIBIT A
GENERAL RELEASE

This GENERAL RELEASE (the * Agreemetfjt dated , Is made by and between
, a California cator (the“ Company”) and @

you” or “ your”).

WHEREAS, you and the Company have previously edten® that certain Severance Pay Agreement dated
, 20 (tI* Severance Pay Agreeméitand

WHEREAS, your right to receive certain severancggrad benefits pursuant to the terms of Section 4 o
Section 5 of the Severance Pay Agreement, as apfdicare subject to and conditioned upon your i@t and non-
revocation of a general release of claims by yaireg the Company and its subsidiaries and a##iat

WHEREAS, your right to receive the Consulting Paptrrovided pursuant to Section 14(d) of the Sawes
Pay Agreement is subject to and conditioned upam ggecution and non-revocation of a general releh€laims by you
against the Company and its subsidiaries andatf#i and your adherence to the covenants desenimd Section 14 of tl
Severance Pay Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premisas$ e mutual covenants herein contained, you ag
Company hereby agree as follows:

ONE: Your signing of this Agreement confirms tiyatir employment with the Company shall terminate at
the close of business on , Or eaiien wur mutual agreement.

TWO: As a material inducement for the paymenhefdeverance and benefit under the Severance Pay
Agreement, and except as otherwise provided inAgreement, you and the Company hereby irrevocaibdly
unconditionally release, acquit and forever disghdhe other from any and all Claims either mayehagyainst the other. F
purposes of this Agreement and the preceding seatéme words “Releasee” or “Releasees” and “Claint'Claims” shall
have the meanings set forth below:

(a) The words “ Releasé€eor “ Releasee$ shall refer to you and to the Company and eadhef
Company’s owners, stockholders, predecessors, Ssme assigns, agents, directors, officers, erapiyrepresentatives,
attorneys, advisors, parent companies, divisianssidiaries, affiliates (and agents, directorsicefs, employees,
representatives, attorneys and advisors of su@npaompanies, divisions, subsidiaries and afé§atind all persons acting
by, through, under or in concert with any of them.

(b) The words “ Claint or “ Claims” shall refer to any charges, complaints, clairnahilities,
obligations, promises, agreements, controversasades, actions, causes of action, suits, rightaadds, costs, losses,
debts and expenses (including attorneys’ fees asts @ctually incurred) of any nature whatsoeveown or unknown,
suspected or unsuspected, which you or the Compawyin the past or, in the future may have, owhald against any of
the Releaseegrovided, howeverthat the word “Claim” or “Claims” shall not refey any charges, complaints, claims,
liabilities, obligations, promises, agreements,tomrersies, damages, actions, causes of actidas, sights, demands, costs,
losses, debts and expenses (including attornegs’dad costs actually incurred) arising unddeftify severance, employee
benefits, stock option, indemnification and D&Odanther agreements containing duties, rights oltiages etc. of either
party that are to remain operati\]. Claims released pursuant to this Agreementdayand the Company include, but are
not limited to, rights arising out of alleged vittms of any contracts, express or implied, any, tdaim, any claim that you
failed to perform or negligently performed or bread your duties during employment at the Company |@gal restrictions
on the Company’s right to terminate employmenttieteships; and any federal, state or other goventaistatute,
regulation, or ordinance, governing the employnrelationship including, without limitation, all $eaand federal laws and
regulations prohibiting discrimination based ontpoted categories, and all state and federal lamsegulations prohibitin
retaliation against employees for engaging in tett activity or legal off-duty conduct. This re¢e does not extend to
claims for workers’ compensation or other claimsalibby law may not be waived or released by thise&gient.

THREE: You and the Company expressly waive aridqeish all rights and benefits afforded by anyugta



(including but not limited to Section 1542 of theviCCode of the State of California and analogtawss of
other states) which limits the effect of a releagt@ respect to unknown claims. You and the Comgpmso understanding
and acknowledging the significance of the reledsenknown claims and the waiver of statutory pratetagainst a release
of unknown claims (including but not limited to $iea 1542 and analogous laws of other states)ti@®@et542 of the Civil
Code of the State of California states as follows:

‘A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS WHICHHE CREDITOR
DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR HER FAR AT THE TIME OF
EXECUTING THE RELEASE, WHICH IF KNOWN BY HIM OR HERMUST HAVE
MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR HER SETTLEMENT WITH THEDEBTOR.”

Thus, notwithstanding the provisions of SectionZL64 of any similar statute, and for the purposergfiementing a full an
complete release and discharge of the Releasagesngbthe Company expressly acknowledge that thisément is
intended to include in its effect, without limitari, all Claims which are known and all Claims whydu or the Company do
not know or suspect to exist in your or the Compgfgvor at the time of execution of this Agreemantl that this
Agreement contemplates the extinguishment of alh<Tiaims.

FOUR: The parties acknowledge that they might dféee discover facts different from, or in addititm
those they now know or believe to be true with eespo a Claim or Claims released herein, and éxgyessly agree to
assume the risk of possible discovery of additiemalifferent facts, and agree that this Agreenséall be and remain
effective, in all respects, regardless of suchtamtil or different discovered facts.

FIVE: You hereby represent and acknowledge thathave not filed any Claim of any kind against the
Company or others released in this Agreement. fidher hereby expressly agree never to initiagaregy the Company or
others released in this Agreement any adminisggiroceeding, lawsuit or any other legal or eqleét@ipoceeding of any
kind asserting any Claims that are released inAgreement. You agree that you will not be erditie any monetary
recovery that may result from any agency actionrsgahe Company related to the Claims releasetthisyAgreement.

The Company hereby represents and acknowledges kizest not filed any Claim of any kind against yau
others released in this Agreement. The Compariiduhereby expressly agrees never to initiatenaygou or others
released in this Agreement any administrative prdogy, lawsuit or any other legal or equitable pexting of any kind
asserting any Claims that are released in this éxgemat.

SIX: You hereby represent and agree that you havassigned or transferred, or attempted to hasig@ed
or transfer, to any person or entity, any of thai@b that you are releasing in this Agreement.

The Company hereby represents and agrees that itdiassigned or transferred, or attempted to have
assigned or transfer, to any person or entity,adrige Claims that it is releasing in this Agreemen

SEVEN: As a further material inducement to the @any to enter into this Agreement, you hereby atpee
indemnify and hold each of the Releasees harmitessdll loss, costs, damages, or expenses, inguaithout limitation,
attorneys’ fees incurred by the Releasees, ar@min@f any breach of this Agreement by you or et that any
representation made in this Agreement by you wiae f@ahen made.

As a further material inducement to you to entéw this Agreement, the Company hereby agrees tnimafy
and hold each of the Releasees harmless fromssll tmsts, damages, or expenses, including witimoittion, attorneys’
fees incurred by the Releasees, arising out obaggch of this Agreement by it or the fact that esgresentation made in
this Agreement by it was knowingly false when made.

EIGHT: You and the Company represent and acknaydédat in executing this Agreement, neither iging
upon any representation or statement not set fiortthis Agreement or the Severance Agreement.

NINE: (a) This Agreement shall not in any way be construeanaadmission by the Company that it
acted wrongfully with respect to you or any othergmn, or that you have any rights whatsoever agtie Company, and
the Company specifically disclaims any liabilitydowrongful acts against you or any other persorthe part of itself, its
employees or its agents. This Agreement shalimahy way be construed as an admission by yowthahave acted
wrongfully with respect to the Company, or that yailed to perform your duties or negligently perfed or breached your
duties, or that the Company had good cause to natsiyour employment.



(b) If you are a party or are threatened to be madatg o any proceeding by reason of the fact
that you were an officer or director of the Compahg Company shall indemnify you against any egper{including
reasonable attorneys’ feggpvided, that counsel has been approved by the Companytprretention, which approval sh
not be unreasonably withheld), judgments, finettleseents and other amounts actually or reasonabiyred by you in
connection with that proceedingrovided, that you acted in good faith and in a mannerngasonably believed to be in the
best interest of the Company. The limitations afiférnia Corporations Code Section 317 shall applthis assurance of
indemnification.

(©) You agree to cooperate with the Company and itgydated attorneys, representatives
agents in connection with any actual or threatguétial, administrative or other legal or equitalproceeding in which the
Company is or may become involved. Upon reasonadtiee, you agree to meet with and provide toGbenpany or its
designated attorneys, representatives or agerntda@ination and knowledge you have relating togbbject matter of any
such proceeding. The Company agrees to reimbuséoy any reasonable costs you incur in providingh cooperation.

TEN: This Agreement is entered into in Califoriaiad shall be governed by substantive California, lexcept &
provided in this section. If any dispute arisesMeen you and the Company, including but not lichite, disputes relating
this Agreement, or if you prosecute a claim youpputed to release by means of this Agreement (‘tAable Dispute”)you
and the Company agree to resolve that Arbitrablpilte through final and binding arbitration undes section. You als
agree to arbitrate any Arbitrable Dispute whichodlsvolves any other released party who offersgrees to arbitrate t
dispute under this section. Your agreement taratiei applies, for example, to disputes about Higliy, interpretation, ¢
effect of this Agreement or alleged violations gfdlaims of discrimination under federal or sties, or other statuto
violation claims.

As to any Arbitrable Dispute, you and the Compamywe any right to a jury trial or a court benclakri You and the
Company also waive the right to bring, maintainparticipate in any class, collective, or repreative proceeding, whether
in arbitration or otherwise. Further, Arbitrablésputes must be brought in the individual capagitthe party asserting the
claim, and cannot be maintained on a class, colabr representative basis.

Arbitration shall take place in San Diego, Califiermnder the employment dispute resolution ruleshef Judicie
Arbitration and Mediation Service (“JAMS”)of, if you are employed outside of California a time of the termination
your employment, at the nearest location of the Araa Arbitration Association and in accordancehwiite AAA rules)
before an experienced employment arbitrator sederteaccordance with those rules. The arbitratay mot modify o
change this Agreement in any way. The Companybelresponsible for paying any filing fee and tbesfand costs of t
Arbitrator; provided, however, that if you are th&rty initiating the claim, you will contribute amount equal to the filir
fee to initiate a claim in the court of generalgdiction in the state in which you are employedlioyy Company. Each pa
shall pay for its own costs and attornefegs, if any. However if any party prevails ontattory claim which affords tl
prevailing party attorneys’ fees and costs, ohéreé is a written agreement providing for attorhdges and/or costs, t
Arbitrator may award reasonable attorreejees and/or costs to the prevailing party, applythe same standards a ¢
would apply under the law applicable to the claifthe Arbitrator shall apply the Federal Rules ofdence and shall ha
the authority to entertain a motion to dismiss ena@tion for summary judgment by any party and shpply the standar
governing such motions under the Federal Rulesidf Brocedure. The Federal Arbitration Act shgdivern the arbitratic
and shall govern the interpretation or enforcenodrhis section or any arbitration award. The tabor will not have th
authority to consider, certify, or hear an arbitiatas a class action, collective action, or arleptype of representati
action.

To the extent that the Federal Arbitration Actriapplicable, California law pertaining to arbitoatiagreements sh
apply. Arbitration in this manner shall be the lago/e remedy for any Arbitrable Dispute. Except@ohibited by tF
ADEA, should you or the Company attempt to res@ameArbitrable Dispute by any method other thanteaton pursuant |
this section, the responding party will be entittedrecover from the initiating party all damagesgpenses, and attorneys’
fees incurred as a result of this breach. Thisti®@®CTEN supersedes any existing arbitration agesgnbetween tt
Company and me as to any Arbitrable Dispute. Nbstanding anything in this Section TEN to the caryt, a claim fo
benefits under an ERISA-covered plan shall notrbArbitrable Dispute.

ELEVEN: Both you and the Company understand thiatAgreement is final and binding eight (8) daftera
its execution and return. Should you neverthedtgsnpt to challenge the enforceability of this @égmnent as provided in
Paragraph TEN or, in violation of that Paragraphough litigation, as a further limitation on anght to make such a
challenge, you shall initially tender to the Company certified check delivered to the Companynadinies received
pursuant to Sections 4 or 5 of the Severance Pagehaent, as applicable, plus interest, and inligeGompany to retain
such monies and agree with you to cancel this Ages and void the Company’s obligations under $act4(d) of the



Severance Pay Agreement. In the event the Comgurangpts this offer, the Company shall retain suohiet
and this Agreement shall be canceled and the Coymglaall have no obligation under the SeveranceApgement. In the
event the Company does not accept such offer, tmep@ny shall so notify you and shall place suchigsm an interest-
bearing escrow account pending resolution of tepute between you and the Company as to whethwtdhis Agreement
and the Company’s obligations under the SeverangeAgreement shall be set aside and/or otherwisgered voidable or
unenforceable. Additionally, any consulting agreeithen in effect between you and the Company beaimmediately
rescinded with no requirement of notice.

TWELVE: Any notices required to be given undestBigreement shall be delivered either personallyyor
first class United States mail, postage prepaidressed to the respective parties as follows:

To Company: [TO COME]
Attn: [TO COME]

To You:

THIRTEEN: You understand and acknowledge thatlyawe been given a period of forty-five (45) days to
review and consider this Agreement (as well asssidl data on the persons eligible for similané#ts) before signing it
and may use as much of this forty-five (45) dayqekas you wish prior to signing. You are encoedygat your personal
expense, to consult with an attorney before sigthmgyAgreement. You understand and acknowledgevthether or not
you do so is your decision. You may revoke thise®gnent within seven (7) days of signing it. Ibywish to revoke, the
Company’s Vice President, Human Resources musiveeegitten notice from you no later than the cla$éusiness on the
seventh (7th) day after you have signed the Agreemiérevoked, this Agreement shall not be effeztind enforceable,
and you will not receive payments or benefits urilestions 4 or 5, and Section 14 of the SeveraageAgreement, as
applicable.

FOURTEEN: This Agreement constitutes the entineament of the parties hereto and supersedes any an
all other agreements (except the Severance Payefgnet) with respect to the subject matter of trgsement, whether
written or oral, between you and the Company. mddifications and amendments to this Agreement ioeish writing and
signed by the parties.

FIFTEEN: Each party agrees, without further coesation, to sign or cause to be signed, and to@etio the
other party, any other documents and to take amgr@iction as may be necessary to fulfill the @ltiaps under this
Agreement.

SIXTEEN: If any provision of this Agreement or thpplication thereof is held invalid, the invalidghall no
affect other provisions or applications of the Agreent which can be given effect without the invalidvisions or
application; and to this end the provisions of thigeement are declared to be severable.

SEVENTEEN: This Agreement may be executed in cenpatrts.

| have read the foregoing General Release, andelph@nd agree to the provisions it contains ameldye
execute it voluntarily and with full understandiofjits consequences. | am aware it includes aselef all known or
unknown claims.

DATED:

DATED:

You acknowledge that you first received this Agreaton [date].






Exhibit 10.64

<YEAR> Executive Incentive Compensation Plan — San  Diego Gas & Electric
ICP Plan Year: January 1, <YEAR> to December 31, <Y EAR>

INTRODUCTION

The San Diego Gas & Electric (SDG&E) Incentive Compensation Plan (ICP) is designed to attract, retain, and engage executives whose
efforts contribute to the success of SDG&E and Sempra Energy (SE). The plan aligns with Sempra Energy’s goal of sustained earnings
growth and the utility’s regulatory framework with goals that encourage executives to drive towards our aspirations and to:

* Maintain high safety standards,
Grow the business through enterprise thinking while maximizing revenues/profits,
Focus on a common set of high-level goals that encourages teamwork and achievement of operational excellence,

Focus on business efficiencies and investments that produce long-term efficiency benefits,
Increase reliability of delivery service,
Enhance customer focus to achieve optimal customer satisfaction, and

Achieve high level of employee commitment and contribution through sharing of business success and the establishment of key
performance indicators.

*

PARTICIPATION

Executives who meet all of the following eligibility requirements will participate in this incentive plan for <YEAR>.

1. Employee is an eligible executive, as determined by the SDG&E Board of Directors, for at least three consecutive full months during <YEAR>
and is an employee on December 31, <YEAR> or meets other eligibility requirements as listed under section: Employee Status Changes.

2. Participant has met minimum job expectations and performed satisfactorily, as determined by his/her supervisor in conjunction with Human
Resources.

3. Participant is not in another formal incentive plan in <YEAR>.

Participation in one plan year does not constitute the right to participate in succeeding plan years. This plan does not constitute a
contract of employment or guarantee of an incentive award payment and cannot be relied on as such.

BASIS FOR AWARD CALCULATION

Awards are calculated based on the employee’s “Basis for Award Calculation” ( BAC ) while on the active payroll. BAC includes annual
base salary on December 31, <YEAR> plus any eligible lump sum payment that may be granted during <YEAR>. Other awards (e.g.
spot cash); incentives, premiums and payments are not included in the BAC.

PERFORMANCE GOALS AND MEASURES

SDG&E ICP Goals & Measures WEIGHT MULTIPLIER TARGET

FINANCIAL GOALS (in Millions)

OPERATIONAL GOALS

TOTAL 100.00% Capped at 200%

FINANCIAL MEASURES

Sempra Energy Earnings

Sempra Energy Earnings are revenue minus expense, less tax. Employees can influence earnings by either increasing revenue or
decreasing expenses. Earnings are determined after accounting for the appropriate accrued level of incentive compensation expense.

Sempra Energy Earnings exclude:
« <DEFINE EXCLUSIONS>
San Diego Gas & Electric Financial Measure:

<Define SDG&E Financial Measure>

OPERATIONAL GOALS




The payout for all Operational Goals range between 0%-200%.

<Define Operational Measures>

CALCULATION, CERTIFICATION AND PAYMENT OF AWARDS

Award potentials will be linearly interpolated between the minimum and target, or target and maximum goals. There is no award payout
for performance at or below the minimum goals. The payout for the financial component may, at the board’s discretion, be reduced in
consideration of individual performance.

Adjustments to the budget target for ICP calculation purposes will require the written approval of the Chief Executive Officer of SDG&E.
The approved exceptions will be limited to costs or expenses related to future growth opportunities and the funding of process
improvements above the planned budget.

The SDG&E Board of Directors must approve awards. Approved awards will be paid by March 15, <YEAR> and will be subject to
appropriate tax withholding. Such awards are considered pension-eligible earnings for the Cash Balance Plan and are included as
eligible earnings for the 401(k) Plan. Employees with outstanding loan payments to the 401(k) plan and/or for medical premiums may, at
the Company’s option, have up to the full arrears deducted from their ICP check. Employees will be notified by mail with respect to any
arrears payments for these deductions.

EMPLOYEE STATUS CHANGES

All eligible employees (including new hires) will have their award prorated for the period of participation in the plan while on the active
payroll. For employees who change target percentages during a plan year, their award will be calculated based on the effective period
for each target percentage.

Employees who transfer within the corporation or among incentive plans during the year will be eligible for an award under this plan
provided that all eligibility requirements are met. The award will be based on the employee’s December 31, <YEAR> BAC, prorated for
the participation period in this plan.

An award will still be paid if a participant meets all other eligibility requirements during <YEAR> but is not a regular employee on
December 31, <YEAR> due to the following reasons:

* Participant’'s employment terminates for any reason after he/she has attained age 55 and at the time his/her employment
terminated he/she had completed at least five years of service; or

* Participant leaves his/her position under disability (as defined in the company disability benefit plan); or

* Participant dies during an award year (award will be paid to the participant’s estate).

In the above circumstances, the award will be calculated based on the participant’'s BAC prorated for the period of participation in the
plan while on the active payroll. Awards will be paid the same time payment is made to other participants and will be offset by any
amount paid pursuant the “Severance Benefits upon Termination of Employment due to Death or Disability” section of the participant’s
Severance Pay Agreement.

If a participant leaves the company for any other reason, eligibility for an award for the plan year will be forfeited unless an exception is
made at the discretion of the Chairman and CEO.

PLAN ADMINISTRATION

The Company retains the discretion and authority to interpret, amend or modify the plan; to grant incentive awards; as well as to
terminate, increase or decrease any incentive award opportunity during the performance period; and to reduce or eliminate any incentive
awards that would otherwise be payable at the end of the performance period. The Company, in its sole discretion determines Sempra
Energy Earnings, SDG&E Earnings, aspirational measures and award calculations.

The Company shall require the forfeiture, recovery or reimbursement of awards or compensation under this Plan as (i) required by
applicable law, or (ii) required under any policy implemented or maintained by the Company pursuant to any applicable rules or
requirements of a national securities exchange or national securities association on which any securities of the Company are listed. The
Company reserves the right to recoup compensation paid if it determines that the results on which the compensation was paid were not
actually achieved.

The SDG&E Board may, in its sole discretion, require the recovery or reimbursement of short-term incentive compensation awards from

any employee whose fraudulent or intentional misconduct materially affects the operations or financial results of the Company or its
subsidiaries.

Questions concerning the plan should be directed to the Sr. Vice President — Human Resources, Diversity & Inclusion, Sempra Energy.






Exhibit 10.65
SEMPRA ENERGY
SEVERANCE PAY AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement), dated as of April 3, 2010 (the_* Effective Ddjeis made by and
between SEMPRA ENERGY, a California corporatiois€mpra Energy), and Jeffrey W. Martin (the *“ Executivé.

WHEREAS , the Executive is currently employed by Semprargy or a direct or indirect subsidiary of
Sempra Energy (Sempra Energy and its subsidiameleaeinafter collectively referred to as the ‘n@ny”) as President
& CEO - Generation; and

WHEREAS, Sempra Energy and the Executive desire to entetlid Agreement; and
WHEREAS , the Board of Directors of Sempra Energy (the aBly) has authorized this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the premises and mutual caméenherein contained, the Comp
and the Executive hereby agree as follows:

Section 1.  Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, the followingitaized terms have the
meanings set forth below:

“ Accounting Firm” has the meaning assigned thereto in Sectiontggof.

“ Act " has the meaning assigned thereto in Section &dfier

“ Additional PostChange in Control Severance Payniemis the meaning assigned thereto in Section 6(a)

hereof.
“ Affiliate ” has the meaning set forth in Rule 12b-2 prom@datnder the Exchange Act.

“ Annual Base Salarymeans the Executive’s annual base salary frarCibmpany.

“ Asset Purchasérhas the meaning assigned thereto in Section 16(e)

“ Asset Salé’ has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 16(e)

“ Average Annual BonuSmeans the average of the annual bonuses frol@dhgpany earned by the
Executive with respect to the three (3) fiscal gezrthe Company immediately preceding the Daféesmination (the “
Bonus Fiscal Yeary; provided, however, that, if the Executive was employed by the Conypduring all or any portion of
one or two of the Bonus Fiscal Years (but not tlokene Bonus Fiscal Years), “ Average Annual Bohuaseans the averay
of the annual bonuses (if any) from the Companpeshby the Executive with respect to the Bonusdfigears during all ¢
any portion of which the Executive was employedh®s Company; anghrovided, further, that, if the Executive was not
employed by the Company during all or any portibamy of the Bonus Fiscal Years, “ Average AnnuahBs” means zert

“ Beneficial Owner” has the meaning set forth in Rule 13d-3 promw@dainder the Exchange Act.

“ Cause’ means:

(a) Prior to a Change in Control, (i) the willful fareiby the Executive to substantially perform the
Executive’s duties with the Company (other thay such failure resulting from the Executive’s ipaaity due to physical
or mental illness, (ii) the grossly negligent penfiance of such obligations referenced in clausef (s definition, (iii) the
Executive’s gross insubordination; and/or (iv) tBgecutive’s commission of one or more acts ofahturpitude that
constitute a violation of applicable law (includibgt not limited to a felony) which have or resalan adverse effect on the
Company, monetarily or otherwise, or one or mogaificant acts of dishonesty. For purposes ofs#afi) of this subsectic
(a), no act, or failure to act, on the Executiyegst shall be deemed “ willftlunless done, or omitted to be done, by the
Executive not in good faith and without reasonddakef that the Executive’s act, or failure td,aeas in the best interests
of the Company.

(b)  From and after a Change in Control, (i) the willud continued failure by the Executive



substantially perform the Executive’s duties wilte Company (other than any such failure resulting
from the Executives incapacity due to physical or mental illnessror such actual or anticipated failure after theidgse o
a Notice of Termination for Good Reason by the dtxee pursuant to Section 3 hereof) and/or (® tBxecutive’'s
commission of one or more acts of moral turpitut tonstitute a violation of applicable law (irdilng but not limited to a
felony) which have or result in an adverse effectlee Company, monetarily or otherwise, or one orasignificant acts of
dishonesty. For purposes of clause (i) of thisseabon (b), no act, or failure to act, on the d&xive’s part shall be deemed
“willful " unless done, or omitted to be done, by the Etreeunot in good faith and without reasonable behat the
Executive’s act, or failure to act, was in thetbeterests of the Company. Notwithstanding thedoing, the Executive
shall not be deemed terminated for Cause pursaaatse (i) of this subsection (b) unless and timti Executive shall
have been provided with reasonable notice of dimhssible, a reasonable opportunity to cure thesfand circumstances
claimed to provide a basis for termination of threcutive’s employment for Cause.

“ Change in Contrgl shall be deemed to have occurred on the dateatbhainge in the ownership of Sempra
Energy, a change in the effective control of Sentfirargy, or a change in the ownership of a suliatgrdrtion of assets of
Sempra Energy occurs (each, as defined in subedeijdelow), except as otherwise provided in sciises (b), (c) and (d)
below:

(@) 0] a “ change in the ownership of Sempra Enérggcurs on the date that any one person, or
more than one person acting as a group, acquiraerghip of stock of Sempra Energy that, togethén stiock held by such
person or group, constitutes more than fifty per¢®8%) of the total fair market value or total mgt power of the stock of
Sempra Energy,

(i) a “ change in the effective control of Sempra Egérgccurs only on either of the following

dates:

(A)  the date any one person, or more than one persioig as a group, acquires (or t
acquired during the twelve (12) month period endinghe date of the most recent acquisition by g&kon or persons)
ownership of stock of Sempra Energy possessinty tharcent (30%) or more of the total voting powethe stock of
Sempra Energy, or

(B) the date a majority of the members of the Boarépsaced during any twelve (1
month period by directors whose appointment ortelaas not endorsed by a majority of the membérthe Board before
the date of appointment or election, and

(i)  a“change in the ownership of a substantial portibassets of Sempra Energgccurs on the
date any one person, or more than one person agiagyroup, acquires (or has acquired duringibivé (12) month
period ending on the date of the most recent aitiquidy such person or persons) assets from SeBmpesgy that have a
total gross fair market value equal to or more thigity-five percent (85%) of the total gross famrket value of all of the
assets of Sempra Energy immediately before suansitgn or acquisitions.

(b) A “ change in the ownership of Sempra Enéergy “ a change in the effective control of Sempra
Energy” shall not occur under clause (a)(i) or (a)(ii) flason of any of the following:

0] an acquisition of ownership of stock of Sempra Byelirectly from Sempra Energy or
Affiliates other than in connection with the acquis by Sempra Energy or its Affiliates of a busss,

(i) a merger or consolidation which would result in Wloting securities of Sempra Energy
outstanding immediately prior to such merger orsohidation continuing to represent (either by rammag outstanding or by
being converted into voting securities of the suing entity or any parent thereof), in combinatieith the ownership of an
trustee or other fiduciary holding securities unalieremployee benefit plan of the Company, at leiast percent (60%) of
the combined voting power of the securities of Sentfnergy or such surviving entity or any pareetéof outstanding
immediately after such merger or consolidation, or

(i)  a merger or consolidation effected to implemergapitalization of Sempra Energy (or sim
transaction) in which no Person is or becomes t#eeBcial Owner, directly or indirectly, of secies of Sempra Energy
(not including the securities beneficially owneddmch Person any securities acquired directly fs@mpra Energy or its
Affiliates other than in connection with the acqtis by Sempra Energy or its Affiliates of a busis) representing twenty



percent (20%) or more of the combined voting poefeésempra Energy’s then outstanding
securities.

(c) A “ change in the ownership of a substantial portioassits of Sempra Ener” shall not occur unds
clause (a)(iii) by reason of a sale or disposibgrSempra Energy of the assets of Sempra Energly émtity, at least sixty
percent (60%) of the combined voting power of tbéng securities of which are owned by shareholdé&empra Energy
in substantially the same proportions as their oglmnp of Sempra Energy immediately prior to sudke.sa

(d) This definition of* Change in Contrc” shall be limited to the definition of*change in control eve’
relating to Sempra Energy under Treasury Regula&iection 1.409A-3(i)(5). A “ Change in Contfadhall only occur if
there is a “change in control event” relating tanpea Energy under Treasury Regulation Section 148@)(5) with respec
to the Executive.

“ Change in Control Datémeans the date on which a Change in Control @ccur

“ Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amtend

“ Compensation Committéemeans the compensation committee of the Board.

“ Consulting Period has the meaning assigned thereto in Section héeof.

“ Date of Terminatiori has the meaning assigned thereto in Sectiont8®of.

“ Deferred Compensation Pldrnas the meaning assigned thereto in Sectionhgf@of.

“ Disability " has the meaning set forth in the Company’s |lagrgatdisability plan or its successprpvided,
however, that the Board may not terminate the Executieeployment hereunder by reason of Disability un(@sat the
time of such termination there is no reasonableetgtion that the Executive will return to workiiwn the next ninety (90)
day period and (ii) such termination is permittgdali applicable disability laws.

“ Exchange Act means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asxdet; and the applicable rulings and
regulations thereunder.

“ Excise Tax’ has the meaning assigned thereto in SectionH¥@agof.
“ Good Reasori means:

(@) Prior to a Change in Control, the occurrence of@fye following without the prior written consent
of the Executive, unless such act or failure toscorrected by the Company prior to the Dat@&eaimination specified in
the Notice of Termination (as required under Sec8dereof):

(1) the assignment to the Executive of any duties niadiieinconsistent with the range of duties
and responsibilities appropriate to a senior Exeewithin the Company (such range determined fgremce to past,
current and reasonable practices within the Company

(i) a material reduction in the Execuf's overall standing and responsibilities within
Company, but not including (A) a mere change Ie tir (B) a transfer within the Company, whichttie case of both (A)
and (B), does not adversely affect the Executieglrall status within the Company;

(i)  a material reduction by the Company in the Ex&elgiaggregate annualized compensation
and benefits opportunities, except for across-therdb reductions (or modifications of benefit plasishilarly affecting all
similarly situated executives (both of the Compang of any Person then in control of the Compafhgpmparable rank
with the Executive;

(iv)  the failure by the Company to pay to the Execuding portion of the Executive’s current
compensation and benefits or any portion of arallméent of deferred compensation under any deferoeapensation
program of the Company within thirty (30) days lo¢ date such compensation is due;

(v) any purported termination of the Executive’s ergplent that is not effected pursuant to a



Notice of Termination satisfying the requiremenitSection 3 hereof; for purposes of this
Agreement, no such purported termination shallffexeve;

(vi)  the failure by Sempra Energy to perform its obligaé under Section 16(c), (d) or (e) here

(vii)  the failure by the Company to provide the indeneaifion and D&O insurance protection
Section 11 of this Agreement requires it to proyile

(viii)  the failure by Sempra Energy to comply with anyenat provision of this Agreement.

(b) From and after a Change in Control, the occurrefi@ay of the following without the prior writte
consent of the Executive, unless such act orrfatio act is corrected by the Company prior toRg& of Termination
specified in the Notice of Termination (as requitedier Section 3 hereof):

0] an adverse change in the Executive’s title, aitihafuties, responsibilities or reporting lines
as in effect immediately prior to the Change in ain

(i) a reduction by the Company in the Executive’s eggte annualized compensation
opportunities, except for across-the-board reduostio base salaries, annual bonus opportunitiesngrterm incentive
compensation opportunities of less than ten perdd?’b) similarly affecting all similarly situatececutives (both of the
Company and of any Person then in control of them@amy) of comparable rank with the Executive;her failure by the
Company to continue in effect any material bern@én in which the Executive participates immediafeior to the Change
in Control, unless an equitable arrangement (endabiti an ongoing substitute or alternative plars) i@en made with
respect to such plan, or the failure by the Compargontinue the Executive's participation ther@inin such substitute or
alternative plan) on a basis not materially les®ifable, both in terms of the amount of benefitsvted and the level of the
Executive's participation relative to other papants, as existed at the time of the Change irtrGbn

(i) the relocation of the Executi’'s principal place of employment immediately priothe
Change in Control Date (the “ Principal Locatigrio a location which is both further away fronmettexecutive’s residence
and more than thirty (30) miles from such Principatation, or the Company’s requiring the Execaitio be based
anywhere other than such Principal Location (onpeed relocation thereof), or a substantial inseeim the Executive’s
business travel obligations outside of the Soutl@aiifornia area as of the Effective Date othenthay such increase that
(A) arises in connection with extraordinary busmastivities of the Company of limited duration gBJ is understood not
to be part of the Executive’s regular duties wit Company;

(iv)  the failure by the Company to pay to the Executing portion of the Executive’s current
compensation and benefits or any portion of arallmsent of deferred compensation under any deferomtipensation
program of the Company within thirty (30) days loé tdate such compensation is due;

(V) any purported termination of the Executive’s ergplent that is not effected pursuant to a
Notice of Termination satisfying the requiremernitSection 3 hereof; for purposes of this Agreemeatsuch purporte
termination shall be effective;

(vi)  the failure by Sempra Energy to perform its obligjaé under Section 16(c), (d) or (e) here

(vii)  the failure by the Company to provide the indengaifion and D&O insurance protecti
Section 11 of this Agreement requires it to proyiale

(viii)  the failure by Sempra Energy to comply with anyemiat provision of this Agreement.

Following a Change in Control, the Executive’sailetination that an act or failure to act constgu@»od
Reason shall be presumed to be valid unless suemdeation is deemed to be unreasonable by atratdri pursuant to the
procedure described in Section 13 hereof. Theclkee's right to terminate the Executive’s emptmnt for Good Reason
shall not be affected by the Executive’s incapadiie to physical or mental illness. The Exeaiicontinued employme
shall not constitute consent to, or a waiver ofitsgwith respect to, any act or failure to act ¢itnigng Good Reason
hereunder.

“ Incentive Compensation Awardsneans awards granted under Incentive CompensBtams providing the




Executive with the opportunity to earn, on a ylegiyear basis, annual and loteym incentive compensatic

“ Incentive Compensation Plahsneans annual incentive compensation plans angtierm incentive
compensation plans of the Company, which long-texaantive compensation plans may include plansioffestock
options, restricted stock and other long-term itgercompensation.

“ Involuntary Terminatiorf means (a) the Executive’s Separation from Serbig reason of a termination of
employment by the Company other than for CausdéhdeaDisability, or (b) the Executive’s Sepaoatifrom Service by
reason of resignation of employment with the Cormydan Good Reason.

“ JAMS Rules” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section f&bhe

“ Notice of Terminatiori has the meaning assigned thereto in SectionH&aof.

“ Payment’ has the meaning assigned thereto in Sectionr@@of.

“ Payment in Lieu of Noticé has the meaning assigned thereto in Sectionigigof.

“ Person” has the meaning set forth in section 3(a)(9hef Exchange Act, as modified and used in sections
13(d) and 14(d) thereof, except that such term slaalinclude (i) the Company or any of its Affiles, (ii) a trustee or other
fiduciary holding securities under an employee fiep&an of the Company or any of its Affiliatesij{an underwriter
temporarily holding securities pursuant to an affgrof such securities, (iv) a corporation ownddeatly or indirectly, by
the shareholders of the Company in substantialysdime proportions as their ownership of stock@Qompany, or (v) a
person or group as used in Rule 13d-1(b) promuilgateler the Exchange Act.

“ PostChange in Control Accrued Obligatiohkas the meaning assigned thereto in Sectionh&@agof.

“ PostChange in Control Severance Paynigmis the meaning assigned thereto in Section éofier

“ Pre-Change in Control Accrued Obligatiohkas the meaning assigned thereto in SectionHs{@gof.

“ Pre-Change in Control Severance Payniemas the meaning assigned thereto in Section édfier

“ Principal Location’ has the meaning assigned thereto in clauseijmfithe definition of Good Reason,

above.

“ Proprietary Informatiori has the meaning assigned thereto in Section I1¥agof.

“ Releasé’ has the meaning assigned thereto in Section T¥Bof.

“ Section 409A Paymentsmeans any of the following: (a) the Payment ialLof Notice; (b) the Pre-
Change in Control Severance Payment; (c) the Ploatige in Control Severance Payment; (d) the Adati®ostChange il
Control Severance Payment; (e) the Consulting Payn(@® the payment under Section 6(b) (but onlyhte extent such
payment or portion thereof is subject to Sectio8Atof the Code); (g) the financial planning sergiead the related
payments provided under Sections 5(e) and 6(f);(apthe legal fees and expenses reimbursed uretsios 15.

“ Sempra Energy Control Grotipmeans Sempra Energy and all persons with whom SeBwergy would b
considered a single employer under Section 414(B)4(c) of the Code, as determined from timerteti

“ Separation from Servick with respect to the Executive (or another SegWwrovider), means the
Executive’s (or such Service Provider’'s) (a) teration of employment or (b) other termination afuetion in services,
provided that such termination or reduction in saa) or (b) constitutes a “separation from sexvias defined in Treasury
Regulation Section 1.409A-1(h), with respect to $ieevice Recipient.

“ SERP” has the meaning assigned thereto in Sectionl&igof.

“ Service Providet means the Executive or any other “service prexidas defined in Treasury Regulation
Section 1.409A-1(f).




“ Service Recipienf’ with respect to the Executive, means Sempradgn@f the Executive is employed by
Sempra Energy), or the subsidiary of Sempra Enenggloying the Executive, whichever is applicabled all persons
considered part of the “service recipient,” asmiediin Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(gdetermined from time to
time. As provided in Treasury Regulation SectiofD9A-1(g), the “ Service Recipiehshall mean the person for whom
services are performed and with respect to whontetedly binding right to compensation arises, alighersons with whom
such person would be considered a single emplaydenSection 414(b) or 414(c) of the Code.

“ Specified Employeé& means a Service Provider who, as of the datee@BService Provider's Separation
from Service is a * Key Employ€eof the Service Recipient any stock of which is jpeipltraded on an established secur
market or otherwise. For purposes of this debnitia Service Provider is a * Key Employaéthe Service Provider meets
the requirements of Section 416(i)(1)(A)(i), (i) @i) of the Code (applied in accordance with ffreasury Regulations
thereunder and disregarding Section 416(i)(5) ef@ode) at any time during the Testing Year. $eavice Provider is a “
Key Employe€’ (as defined above) as of a Specified Employeaetitieation Date, the Service Provider shall beteel as “
Key Employe¢ for the entire twelve (12) month period beginnimgthe Specified Employee Effective Date. Foippses
of this definition, a Service Provider’'s compensatior a Testing Year shall mean such Service Bsyid compensation, as
determined under Treasury Regulation Section 16}4H@) (and applied as if the Service Recipientaw®t using any safe
harbor provided in Treasury Regulation Section 3(d%2(d), were not using any of the elective spleitiming rules
provided in Treasury Regulation Section 1.415(&)}2é4nd were not using any of the elective speualak provided in
Treasury Regulation Section 1.415(c)-2(g)), from 8ervice Recipient for such Testing Year. Theet$ied Employees”
shall be determined in accordance with Section 4842)(B)(i) of the Code and Treasury Regulationt®a 1.409A-1(i).

“ Specified Employee Effective Dateneans the first day of the fourth month followitige Specified
Employee Identification Date. The Specified Emgle\Effective Date may be changed by Sempra Engrgfg, discretion,
in accordance with Treasury Regulation Section 9A40(i)(4).

“ Specified Employee Identification Datefor purposes of Treasury Regulation Section 24Q.(i)(3), shall
mean December 31. The " Specified Employee Ideatibn Dat€e’ shall apply to all “nonqualified deferred compatien
plans” (as defined in Treasury Regulation Secti@®9A-1(a)) of the Service Recipient and all aféekcEervice Providers.
The “ Specified Employee Identification Dédtenay be changed by Sempra Energy, in its disanetmaccordance with
Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(i)(3).

“ Testing Year” shall mean the twelve (12) month period endinglenSpecified Employee ldentification
Date, as determined from time to time.

“ Underpayment has the meaning assigned thereto in Sectiontgtgof.

For purposes of this Agreement, references to aimgasury Regulatiohishall mean such Treasury
Regulation as in effect on the date hereof.

Section 2.  Sarbane-Oxley Act of 200z. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrafrthe Compan
determines, in its good faith judgment, that argvmion of this Agreement is likely to be interpgrdtas a personal loan
prohibited by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 ardrties and regulations promulgated thereunder* (&et "), then such
provision shall be modified as necessary or aptps0 as to not violate the Act; and if this aatrive accomplished, then
the Company shall use its reasonable efforts teiggeahe Executive with similar, but lawful, suibste benefit(s) at a cost
to the Company not to significantly exceed the amidlie Company would have otherwise paid to prosigeh benefit(s) to
the Executive. In addition, if the Executiveégjuired to forfeit or to make any repayment of aagnpensation or benefit
(s) to the Company under the Act or any other Bweh forfeiture or repayment shall not constitut@&Reason.

Section 3. Notice and Date of Terminatian

(a) Any termination of the Executi’s employment by the Company or by the Executid &ie
communicated by a written notice of terminatioritte other party (the * Notice of Terminatiy Where applicable, the
Notice of Termination shall indicate the speciBcrhination provision in this Agreement relied ugord shall set forth i
reasonable detail the facts and circumstances ethtmprovide a basis for termination of the Exels employment und
the provision so indicated. Unless the Board deites otherwise, a Notice of Termination by theeé&xive alleging a
termination for Good Reason must be made withinda8® of the act or failure to act that the Exmeudlleges to constitu
Good Reason.




(b) The date of the Executive’s termination of empleytnwith the Company (the_* Date of Termination
") shall be determined as follows: (i) if the Exdive has a Separation from Service by reasoheoCompany terminating
his or her employment, either with or without Caubke Date of Termination shall be the date speiin the Notice of
Termination (which, in the case of a terminationtiiy Company other than for Cause, shall not Isethen two (2) weeks
from the date such Notice of Termination is giveitess the Company elects to pay the Executivaddition to any other
amounts payable hereunder, an amount (the “ Payimé&igu of Notice”) equal to two (2) weeks of the ExecutigéAnnua
Base Salary in effect on the Date of Terminatiany (ii) if the basis for the Executive’s Involant Termination is his
resignation for Good Reason, the Date of Terminadizall be determined by the Executive and spetifi the Notice of
Termination, but shall not in any event be less tiifteen (15) days nor more than sixty (60) dafgsrahe date such Notice
of Termination is given. The Payment in Lieu ajtide shall be paid on such date as is determiggddbCompany within
thirty (30) days after the date of the Executiveéparation from Servicerovided, howeverthat if the Executive is a
Specified Employee on the date of his or her S¢jparfrom Service, such Payment in Lieu of Notibalsbe paid as
provided in Section 10 hereof.

Section 4.  Termination from the Board Upon the termination of the Executive’s empl@nifor any
reason, the Executive’s membership on the Bohedbbard of directors of any of the Company’s Adfeés, any committees
of the Board and any committees of the board @fatiars of any of the Company’s Affiliates, if amalble, shall be
automatically terminated.

Section 5.  Severance Benefits upon Involuntary Terminatiow Change in Contr. Except a
provided in Section 6 and Section 19(i) hereothmevent of the Involuntary Termination of the eEutive prior to a
Change in Control, the Company shall pay the Exeeuin one lump sum cash payment, an amount‘(Bre-Change in
Control Severance Payméntequal to one-half (0.5) times the greater of) {60% of the Executive’s Annual Base Salary
as in effect on the Date of Termination, and (@ Executive’s Annual Base Salary as in effect @\Date of Termination,
plus the Executive’s Average Annual Bonus. In &ddito the Pre-Change in Control Severance PayrttentExecutive
shall be entitled to the following additional beiteEpecified in subsections (a) through (e). Pxes provided in Section 5
(f), the Pre-Change in Control Severance Paymahti@ payment under Section 5(a) shall be paiduoh date as is
determined by the Company within thirty (30) dafterathe date of the Involuntary Terminatigmpvided, howeverthat, if
the Executive is a Specified Employee on the datbe Executive’s Involuntary Termination, theeRehange in Control
Severance Payment and the financial planning s=naad the related payments provided under Sest@rshall be paid as
provided in Section 10 hereof.

(&)  Accrued Obligations The Company shall pay the Executive a lump aorount in cash equal to the
sum of (A) the Executive’s Annual Base Salary tigio the Date of Termination to the extent not ttidoge paid, (B) an
amount equal to any annual Incentive Compensatiwards earned with respect to fiscal years endex fwithe year that
includes the Date of Termination to the extentthetetofore paid, (C) any accrued and unpaid vaicaii any, and (D)
reimbursement for unreimbursed business experisasy,iproperly incurred by the Executive in tlegfprmance of his
duties in accordance with policies established ftione to time by the Board, in each case to thergxtot theretofore paid.
(The amounts specified in clauses (A), (B), (QJ &) shall be hereinafter referred to as the “©hange in Control
Accrued Obligation$).

(b) Equity Based Compensati. The Executive shall retain all rights to anyigg-based compensatic
awards to the extent set forth in the applicalbés gind/or award agreement.

(c) Welfare Benefits Subject to Section 12 below, for a period of(§xmonths following the date of t
Involuntary Termination (and an additional tweli®) months if the Executive provides consultinyees under Section
14(e) hereof), the Executive and his dependerat Isé provided with health insurance benefits stisally similar to thos
provided to the Executive and his dependents inmaelgl prior to the date of the Involuntary Terntioa; provided,
however, that such benefits shall be provided on substiynthe same terms and conditions and at the sasieto the
Executive as in effect immediately prior to theedaf the Involuntary Termination. Such beneftialsbe provided through
insurance maintained by the Company under the Coypaenefit plans. Such benefits shall be prodioshea manner that
complies with Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A}H).

(d) Outplacement ServicesThe Executive shall receive reasonable outpiace services, on an in-kind
basis, suitable to his position and directly ralatethe Executive’s Involuntary Termination, operiod of eighteen (18)
months following the date of the Involuntary Teration, in an aggregate amount of cost to the Compahto exceed
$50,000. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Exmeushall cease to receive outplacement servindb@date the




Executive accepts employment with a subsequentogiep Such outplacement services shall be
provided in a manner that complies with Treasurguiation Section 1.409A-1(b)(9)(v)(A).

(e) Financial Planning Servict. The Executive shall receive financial planngegvices, on an -kind
basis, for a period of eighteen (18) months follogvine Date of Termination. Such financial plagnservices shall include
expert financial and legal resources to assisEttexutive with financial planning needs and shallitnited to (i) current
investment portfolio management, (ii) tax plannii), tax return preparation, and (iv) estate pieny advice and document
preparation (including wills and trustgxovided, however, that the Company shall provide such financiahplag services
during any taxable year of the Executive only ® éixtent the cost to the Company for such taxadde gioes not exceed
$25,000. The Company shall provide such finangihning services through a financial planner setkby the Company,
and shall pay the fees for such financial plansieyices. The financial planning services providedng any taxable year
of the Executive shall not affect the financiaming services provided in any other taxable pé#ine Executive. The

Executive’s right to financial planning servicégmh not be subject to liquidation or exchangedny other benefit. Such
financial planning services shall be provided manner that complies with Treasury Regulation $acti.409A3(i)(1)(iv).

)] Deferral of Payments The Executive shall have the right to eledefer the Pre-Change in Control
Severance Payment to be received by the Exequtirgaiant to this Section 5 under the terms anditonsd of the Sempra
Energy 2005 Deferred Compensation Plan (the * Defe€Compensation Pldih Any such deferral election shall be mad
accordance with Section 18(b) hereof.

Section 6.  Severance Benefits upon Involuntary Terminatio@@mnection with and after Change
Control. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 5 adyaand except as provided in Section 19(i) heiadhe event of
the Involuntary Termination of the Executive onnothin two (2) years following a Change in Contriol lieu of the
payments described in Section 5 above, the Comglaaily pay the Executive, in one lump sum cash gagnan amount
(the “ PostChange in Control Severance Paynig@mqual to the greater of: (X) 160% of the Exteels Annual Base
Salary as in effect immediately prior to the Chaimmg€ontrol or the Date of Termination, whichevegreater, and (Y) the
Executive’s Annual Base Salary as in effect immitiygprior to the Change in Control or on the Dattdermination,
whichever is greater, plus the Executive’s AverAgaual Bonusprovided, howevethat, in the event that the Involuntary
Termination occurs prior to the fifth anniversafittte Effective Date, the Post-Change in Contralé®ance Payment shall
be increased by twenty-five percent (25%). In addito the Post-Change in Control Severance Payrtien Executive
shall be entitled to the following additional beiteEpecified in subsections (a) through (f). Eptaes provided in Sections 6
(9) and 6(h), the Post-Change in Control Sever&agenent and the payments under Sections 6(a) austigh be paid on
such date as is determined by the Company withity {80) days after the date of the Involuntarymaation;provided,
however, that, if the Executive is a Specified Employeetite date of the Executive’s Involuntary Termioatthe Post-
Change in Control Severance Payment, the AdditiBoat-Change in Control Severance Payment undéin8éga)(E), the
payment under Section 6(b) (but only to the exseich payment or portion thereof is subject to $acti09A of the Code),
and the financial planning services and the relpanents provided under Section 6(f) shall be paigrovided in Section
10 hereof.

(&)  Accrued Obligations The Company shall pay the Executive a lump aorount in cash equal to the
sum of (A) the Executive’s Annual Base Salary tigio the Date of Termination to the extent not ttefoge paid, (B) an
amount equal to any annual Incentive Compensatiwards earned with respect to fiscal years endext fwithe year that
includes the Date of Termination to the extentthetetofore paid, (C) any accrued and unpaid vacaii any, (D)
reimbursement for unreimbursed business experisasy,iproperly incurred by the Executive in tlegfprmance of his
duties in accordance with policies established ftione to time by the Board, and (E) an amount (tAdditional Post
Change in Control Severance Paynigmtqual to: (i) the greater of: (X) 60% of thedeutive’'s Annual Base Salary as in
effect immediately prior to the Change in Controba the Date of Termination, whichever is greater,Y) the Executive’'s
Average Annual Bonus, multiplied by (ii) a fractiadghe numerator of which shall be the number olsdagm the beginning
of such fiscal year to and including the Date ofrfii@ation and the denominator of which shall be,36%he case of each
amount described in clause (A), (B), (C) or (D}he extent not theretofore paid. (The amountsipddn clauses (A), (B),
(C), (D) and (E) shall be hereinafter referredsdree “ PostChange in Control Accrued Obligatiot)s

(b) Pension Suppleme. The Executive shall be entitled to receive pemental Retirement Bene
under the Sempra Energy Supplemental ExecutivedRetnt Plan, as in effect from time to time (* SERRRIetermined in
accordance with this Section 6(b), in the event ttha Executive is a “Participant” (as definedhe SERP) as of the Date of
Termination. Such Supplemental Retirement Beisagdl be determined by crediting the Executive aitlditional months
of Service (if any) equal to the number of fullexadlar months from the Date of Termination to thie da which the




Executive would have attained age 62. The Exeeuthall be entitled to receive such Supplemental
Retirement Benefit without regard to whether the&xive has attained age 55 or completed five y&diService” (as
defined in the SERP) as of the Date of Terminati®he Executive shall be treated as qualified Retirement” (as defined
in the SERP) as of the Date of Termination, andgkecutive’'s Vesting Factor with respect to the Bemental Retirement
Benefit shall be 100%. The Executive’s Supplemdrétirement Benefit shall be calculated basedherBxecutive’s actual
age as of the date of commencement of paymentcbf Supplemental Retirement Benefit (the “ SERPribigtion Date”),
and by applying the applicable early retirementdexcunder the SERP, if the Executive has notragthage 62 but has
attained age 55 as of the SERP Distribution DHtéhe Executive has not attained age 55 as oSRP Distribution Date,
the Executive’s Supplemental Retirement Benefitldigcalculated by applying the applicable eaeirement factor under
the SERP for age 55, and the Supplemental RetireBesrefit otherwise payable at age 55 shall beaaiztlly adjusted to tk
Executive’s actual age as of the SERP Distribuate using the following actuarial assumption3:the applicable
mortality table promulgated by the Internal ReveBeevice under Section 417(e)(3) of the Code, a&dfect on the first day
of the calendar year in which the SERP Distribufiate occurs, and (ii) the applicable interest patamulgated by the
Internal Revenue Service under Section 417(a)(8)efode for the November next preceding the diast of the calendar
year in which the SERP Distribution Date occur$ie Executive’s Supplemental Retirement Benefitldfetetermined in
accordance with this Section 6(b), notwithstanding contrary provisions of the SERP and, to ther@dubject to Section
409A of the Code, shall be paid in accordance Wigasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(c)(1). The@emental
Retirement Benefit paid to or on behalf of the BExe® in accordance with this Section 6(b) shallrbtull satisfaction of
any and all of the benefits payable to or on bebfalhe Executive under the SERP.

(c) Equity-Based CompensationNotwithstanding the provisions of any applicadtpiity-compensation
plan or award agreement to the contrary, all eoétsed Incentive Compensation Awards (includingheut limitation,
stock options, stock appreciation rights, restdack awards, restricted stock units, performahege awards, awards
covered under Section 162(m) of the Code, and endcequivalents) held by the Executive shall imiatety vest and
become exercisable or payable, as the case mag loé the Date of Termination, to be exercisedaid,pas the case may be,
in accordance with the terms of the applicable mtige Compensation Plan and Incentive Compensatward agreement,
and any restrictions on any such Incentive CompgersAwards shall automatically lapgaovided, howeverthat any suc
stock option or stock appreciation rights awardstgd on or after June 26, 1998 shall remain cudstig and exercisable
until the earlier of (A) the later of eighteen (I8dnths following the Date of Termination or theipd specified in the
applicable Incentive Compensation Award agreemen(B) the expiration of the original term of sudgtentive
Compensation Award (or, if earlier, the tenth aensary of the original date of grant) (it being erglood that all Incentive
Compensation Awards granted prior to or after 21998 shall remain outstanding and exercisaisla period that is no
less than that provided for in the applicable agpeet in effect as of the date of grant).

(d)  Welfare Benefit. Subject to Section 12 below, for a period oflt@g12) months following the da
of Involuntary Termination (and an additional tweld2) months if the Executive provides consulsegvices under
Section 14(e) hereof), the Executive and his depets shall be provided with life, disability, adent and health insurance
benefits substantially similar to those providedt® Executive and his dependents immediately poithe date of
Involuntary Termination or the Change in Controk®avhichever is more favorable to the Executpreyided, however,
that such benefits shall be provided on substéyntia¢ same terms and conditions and at the sastdathe Executive as
effect immediately prior to the date of Involuntargrmination or the Change in Control Date, whiardg more favorable
to the Executive. Such benefits shall be providhedugh insurance maintained by the Company utide€ompany benefit
plans. Such benefits shall be provided in a matirercomplies with Treasury Regulation Sectior024+-1(a)(5).

(e) Outplacement ServicesThe Executive shall receive reasonable outpiace services, on an in-kind
basis, suitable to his position and directly ralatethe Executive’s Involuntary Termination, foperiod of twentyour (24)
months following the date of Involuntary Terminatibut in no event beyond the last day of the Hiee's second taxable
year following the Executive’s taxable year in aihihe Involuntary Termination occurs), in the aggte amount of cost to
the Company not to exceed $50,000. Notwithstanttirgoregoing, the Executive shall cease to weceutplacement
services on the date the Executive accepts emp@oiymith a subsequent employer. Such outplacesauices shall be
provided in a manner that complies with Treasurgiation Section 1.409A-1(b)(9)(v)(A).

)] Financial Planning ServicesThe Executive shall receive financial planngegvices, on an in-kind
basis, for a period of twenty-four (24) monthsdeling the date of Involuntary Termination. Suaheficial planning
services shall include expert financial and legaburces to assist the Executive with financiahpilag needs and shall be
limited to (i) current investment portfolio managemh, (ii) tax planning, (iii) tax return preparaticand (iv) estate planning
advice and document preparation (including willd smists);provided, however, that the Company shall provide such




financial services during any taxable year of thedutive only to the extent the cost to the Company
for such taxable year does not exceed $25,000.Cbingpany shall provide such financial planning sew through a
financial planner selected by the Company, and glglthe fees for such financial planning servic€le financial plannin
services provided during any taxable year of thechtive shall not affect the financial planningvéees provided in any
other taxable year of the Executive. The Exeetgiright to financial planning services shall notsiiject to liquidation «
exchange for any other benefit. Such financiahpiag services shall be provided in a manner tbatgies with Section
1.409A-3(i)(1)(iv).

(9) Involuntary Termination in Connection with a Chamge&ontrol. Notwithstanding anythin
contained herein, in the event of an Involuntaryndieation prior to a Change in Control, if the Itwatary Termination (1)
was at the request of a third party who has tategpsgeasonably calculated to effect such Chan@eimrol or (2) otherwis
arose in connection with or in anticipation of s@imange in Control, then the Executive shalljen bf the payments
described in Section 5 hereof, be entitled to tstfhange in Control Severance Payment and theadd benefits
described in this Section 6 as if such Involunfeeymination had occurred within two (2) years faling the Change in
Control. The amounts specified in Section 6 thatta be paid under this Section 6(g) shall be cediby any amount
previously paid under Section 5. The amounts tpdié under this Section 6(g) shall be paid withinty (30) days after th
Change in Control Date of such Change in Control.

(h) Deferral of Payment. The Executive shall have the right to eleadefer the Po-Change in Contrc
Severance Payment to be received by the Exequingiant to this Section 6 under the terms andittond of the Deferred
Compensation Plan. Any such deferral electionl ffeainade in accordance with Section 18(b) hereof.

Section 7.  Severance Benefits upon Termination by the Compan@ause or by the Executive Other
than for Good Reasanlf the Executive’s employment shall be termathtor Cause, or if the Executive terminates
employment other than for Good Reason, the Comphaly have no further obligations to the Executineler this
Agreement other than the Pre-Change in Control dextiObligations and any amounts or benefits desdtrifo Section 11
hereof.

Section 8.  Severance Benefits upon Termination due to Deabisability . If the Executive has a
Separation from Service by reason of death or Olisglihe Company shall pay the Executive or éésate, as the case may
be, the Post-Change in Control Accrued Obligatievithout regard to whether a Change in Controlda=urred) and any
amounts or benefits described in Section 11 herBath payments shall be in addition to those sigind benefits to which
the Executive or his estate may be entitled utiteerelevant Company plans or programs. Such patgshall be paid on
such date as determined by the Company withinyt{®®) days after the date of the Separation fremviSe;provided,
however, that if the Executive is a Specified Employedlondate of the Executive’s Separation from Sery reason of
Disability, the Additional Post-Change in Contr@v@rance Payment under Section 6(a)(E) shall lmkgsaprovided in
Section 10 hereof.

Section 9.  Limitations on Payments by the Company

(a)  Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwtthreding and except as set forth in this Section 9
below, in the event it shall be determined that payment or distribution in the nature of compeiesatwithin the meaning
of Section 280G(b)(2) of the Code) to or for thedf# of the Executive, whether paid or payablespant to this Agreeme
or otherwise (the * Paymefijtwould be subject (in whole or in part) to thecese tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code,
(the * Excise TaX), then, subject to subsection (b), the Pre-Changgontrol Severance Benefit or the Post-Change in
Control Severance Payment (whichever is applicgidgable under this Agreement shall be reducedruhdesubsection
(a) to the amount equal to the Reduced Paymentsielh Payment payable under this Agreement, Reduced Paymerit
shall be the amount equal to the greatest portidmeoPayment (which may be zero) that, if paiduld result in no portion
of any Payment being subject to the Excise Tax.

(b) The Pre-Change in Control Severance Benefit oPthst-Change in Control Severance Payment
(whichever is applicable) payable under this Agreenshall not be reduced under subsection (a) if:

(1) such reduction in such Payment is not sufficierdaose no portion of any Paymen
be subject to the Excise Tax, or

(i) the Net After-Tax Unreduced Payments (as defindoMenvould equal or exceed one



hundred and five percent (105%) of the Net Aftek-Reduced Payments (as defined
below).

For purposes of determining the amount of any RediRayment under subsection (a), and the Net-AtrrReduced
Payments and the Net After-Tax Unreduced Paym#resxecutive shall be considered to pay fedetatle &nd local
income and employment taxes at the Executive’siegde marginal rates taking into consideration seeduction in federal
income taxes which could be obtained from the diolnof state and local income taxes, and any risaluor disallowance
of itemized deductions and personal exemptions uadiglicable tax law). The applicable federaltestnd local income al
employment taxes and the Excise Tax (to the exeplicable) are collectively referred to as theakés'.

(c) The following definitions shall apply for purposefsthis Section 9:

0] “Net After-Tax Reduced Paymentshall mean the total amount of all Payments the
Executive would retain, on a Net After-Tax Basisthe event that the Payments payable under thisekgent are
reduced pursuant to subsection (a).

(i) “Net After-Tax Unreduced Payments” shall mean titaltamount of all Payments that
the Executive would retain, on a Net After-Tax Basgi the event that the Payments payable undeAtieement
are not reduced pursuant to subsection (a).

(i)  “Net After-Tax Basi” shall mean, with respect to the Payments, eithér ariwithout
reduction under subsection (a) (as applicable)atheunt that would be retained by the Executivenfsuch
Payments after the payment of all Taxes.

(d) All determinations required to be made under tlisti®n 9 and the assumptions to be utilized in
arriving at such determinations, shall be made bgt&nally recognized accounting firm as may beeed by the Company
and the Executive (the_* Accounting Fifin provided, that the Accounting Firm’s determination shallmhade based upon
“substantial authority” within the meaning of Secti6662 of the Code. The Accounting Firm shallvjde detailed
supporting calculations to both the Company andetkecutive within fifteen (15) business days of teeeipt of notice from
the Executive that there has been a Payment oreartibr time as is requested by the Company.fe&$ and expenses of
the Accounting Firm shall be borne solely by therpany. Any determination by the Accounting Firnalsbe binding
upon the Company and the Executive. For purpolsdstermining whether and the extent to which tagrifents will be
subject to the Excise Tax, (i) no portion of thgfants the receipt or enjoyment of which the Exeeuthall have waived
such time and in such manner as not to constittpayment” within the meaning of Section 280G(b}tvé Code shall be
taken into account, (ii) no portion of the Paymaesttall be taken into account which, in the writtgrinion of the Accountin
Firm, does not constitute a “parachute paymenthwithe meaning of Section 280G(b)(2) of the Cadelding by reason
of Section 280G(b)(4)(A) of the Code) and, in céting the Excise Tax, no portion of such Paymehtl be taken into
account which, in the opinion of the Accountingniirconstitutes reasonable compensation for seraiceslly rendered,
within the meaning of Section 280G(b)(4)(B) of thede, in excess of the base amount (as definedatidd 280G (b)(3) of
the Code) allocable to such reasonable compensatmoh(iii) the value of any non-cash benefit oy deferred payment or
benefit included in the Payments shall be deterthinethe Accounting Firm in accordance with thenpiples of Sections
280G(d)(3) and (4) of the Code.

Section 10. Delayed Distribution under Section 409A of the C. If the Executive is a Specifie
Employee on the date of the Executive’s Involunteermination (or on the date of the Executive’g&ation from Service
by reason of Disability), the Section 409A Paymeatsl any other payments or benefits under thieément subject to
Section 409A of the Code, shall be delayed in ordewvoid a prohibited distribution under Secti@®A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the
Code, and such payments or benefits shall be paistributed to the Executive during the thirB0) day period
commencing on the earlier of (a) the expiratiothef six-month period measured from the date ofExecutives Separatic
from Service or (b) the date of the Executive’stdedJpon the expiration of the applicable six-nmopériod under Section
409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code, all payments deferpenlsuant to this Section 10 (excluding in-kind &fés) shall be paid in a
lump sum payment to the Executive, plus intetesteon from the date of the Executive’s InvoluptBermination through
the payment date at an annual rate equal to ModRlgts. The “ Moodys Rat€e’ shall mean the average of the daily
Moody’s Corporate Bond Yield Average — Monthly Aage Corporates as published by Moody’s Investorgi& Inc. (or
any successor) for the month next preceding the BDTermination. Any remaining payments due uriderAgreement
shall be paid as otherwise provided herein.




Section 11. Nonexclusivity of Rights Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent or lithie Executive’s
continuing or future participation in any benefilan, program, policy or practice provided by then@any and for which
the Executive may qualify (except with respecany benefit to which the Executive has waivedrigikts in writing),
including, without limitation, any and all indemigiéition arrangements in favor of the Executivedthler under agreements
or under the Company’s charter documents or otlsefywand insurance policies covering the Executige shall anything
herein limit or otherwise affect such rights as theecutive may have under any other contract ceeagent entered into
after the Effective Date with the Company. Amountsch are vested benefits or which the ExecuBwetherwise entitled
to receive under any benefit, plan, policy, practc program of, or any contract or agreement edtgito with, the
Company shall be payable in accordance with sunkfligplan, policy, practice or program or contracagreement except
as explicitly modified by this Agreement. At alhies during the Executive’s employment with ther@any and thereafter,
the Company shall provide (to the extent permissiltider applicable law) the Executive with inddination and D&O
insurance insuring the Executive against insuraténts which occur or have occurred while the chiee was a director
or the Executive officer of the Company, on termd aonditions that are at least as generous ash#atprovided to any
other current or former director or the Executifiécer of the Company or any Affiliate. Such indeification and D&O
insurance shall be provided in a manner that caaplith Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b)(10)

Section 12. Full Settlement; Mitigation The Company’s obligation to make the paymentsigded for in
this Agreement and otherwise to perform its oblas hereunder shall not be affected by any seteofinterclaim,
recoupment, defense or other claim, right or actibich the Company may have against the Execuwtivehers, provided
that nothing herein shall preclude the Company fsearately pursuing recovery from the Executageld on any such
claim. In no event shall the Executive be obkghiio seek other employment or take any othermbiyowvay of mitigation
of the amounts (including amounts for damages feath) payable to the Executive under any of theigions of this
Agreement, and such amounts shall not be reducetheihor not the Executive obtains other employmen

Section 13. Dispute Resolutiol.

Any disagreement, dispute, controversy or clairsiagi out of or relating to this Agreement or the
interpretation of this Agreement or any arrangemeelating to this Agreement or contemplated is thgreement or the
breach, termination or invalidity thereof shalldedtled by final and binding arbitration adminisiby JAMS in San Diego,
California in accordance with the then existing J&Msrbitration rules applicable to employment dispythe “ JAMS Rules
"); provided that notwithstanding any provision in such rules te tlontrary, in all cases the parties shall beledttb
reasonable discovery. In the event of such artratioin proceeding, the Executive and the Comsra)l select a mutually
acceptable neutral arbitrator from among the JAMBep of arbitrators. In the event the Executind the Company cannot
agree on an arbitrator, the arbitrator shall bectetl in accordance with the then existing JAMSRulNeither the

Executive nor the Company nor the arbitrator sthialtlose the existence, content or results ofaahitration hereunder
without the prior written consent of all partiegcept to the extent necessary to enforce any atioitr award in a court of
competent jurisdiction. Except as provided her#tig,Federal Arbitration Act shall govern the iptetation of, enforceme
of and all proceedings under this agreement taratbi The arbitrator shall apply the substantwe (and the law of
remedies, if applicable) of the state of Califorraafederal law, or both, as applicable, and tihé&rmtor is without
jurisdiction to apply any different substantive lawhe arbitrator shall have the authority to eaiara motion to dismis
and/or a motion for summary judgment by any panty shall apply the standards governing such motimier the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure. The arbitrator shalldenan award and a written, reasoned opinion ipadpghereof. Judgment
upon the award may be entered in any court haunsgdiction thereof. The Executive shall not bquired to pay any
arbitration fee or cost that is unique to arbitator greater than any amount he would be requar@ay to pursue his clair
in a court of competent jurisdiction.

Section 14. Executive s Covenant.

(a) Confidentiality. The Executive acknowledges that in the couf$esoemployment with the
Company, he has acquired non-public privilegedonmfidential information and trade secrets conceyrire operations,
future plans and methods of doing business (* Petgy Informatior’) of the Company and its Affiliates; and the
Executive agrees that it would be extremely damgtp the Company and its Affiliates if such Prepary Information wer
disclosed to a competitor of the Company and ifdidtes or to any other person or corporation.e TExecutive understan
and agrees that all Proprietary Information hasluieulged to the Executive in confidence andHertunderstands and
agrees to keep all Proprietary Information seanet@nfidential (except for such information whistor becomes publicly
available other than as a result of a breach byEkecutive of this provision or information thexd€utive is required by ar
governmental, administrative or court order to ldise) without limitation in time. In view of theature of the Executive’s




employment and the Proprietary Information the dixiwe has acquired during the course of such
employment, the Executive likewise agrees thattbmpany and its Affiliates would be irreparablyrhad by any
disclosure of Proprietary Information in violatiohthe terms of this paragraph and that the Compaayits Affiliates shall
therefore be entitled to preliminary and/or pernmmajunctive relief prohibiting the Executive froengaging in any
activity or threatened activity in violation of tierms of this paragraph and to any other relieflaile to them. Inquiries
regarding whether specific information constitudesprietary Information shall be directed to ther@any’s Senior Vice
President, Public Policy (or, if such position &cant, the Company'’s then Chief Executive Officpryvided, that the
Company shall not unreasonably classify informatierProprietary Information.

(b) Non-Solicitation of Employees The Executive recognizes that he possessewidmmbssess
confidential information about other employeesha Company and its Affiliates relating to their edtion, experience,
skills, abilities, compensation and benefits, andrpersonal relationships with customers of tbex@any and its Affiliates.
The Executive recognizes that the informatiopbgsesses and will possess about these other ezapl®ynot generally
known, is of substantial value to the Company amdiffiliates in developing their business and @cgring and retaining
customers, and has been and will be acquired bybkrause of his business position with the Comjpaaayits Affiliates.
The Executive agrees that at all times during Executive’s employment with the Company and fpedod of one (1)
year thereafter, he will not, directly or indirggtsolicit or recruit any employee of the Companyt® Affiliates for the
purpose of being employed by him or by any competf the Company or its Affiliates on whose betadfis acting as an
agent, representative or employee and that henatilconvey any such confidential information odgaecrets about other
employees of the Company and its Affiliates to ather personprovided, howeverthat it shall not constitute a solicitation
or recruitment of employment in violation of thiarpgraph to discuss employment opportunities witheaployee of the
Company or its Affiliates who has either first cactied the Executive or regarding whose employrientExecutive has
discussed with and received the written approvéhefCompany’s Vice President, Human Resourcesdf@®uch position is
vacant, the Company'’s then Chief Executive Officprior to making such solicitation or recruitmen. view of the nature
of the Executive’s employment with the Company, tBxecutive likewise agrees that the Company Wffiliates would
be irreparably harmed by any solicitation or rettngint in violation of the terms of this paragrapid shat the Company and
its Affiliates shall therefore be entitled to prelhary and/or permanent injunctive relief prohihgtithe Executive from
engaging in any activity or threatened activityiolation of the terms of this paragraph and to ather relief available to
them.

(c) Survival of Provision:. The obligations contained in Section 14(a) aectiSn 14(b) above she
survive the termination of the Executive’s empl@rhwithin the Company and shall be fully enfordedhbereafter. If it is
determined by a court of competent jurisdictiomity state that any restriction in Section 14(&3ection 14(b) above is
excessive in duration or scope or is unreasonahl@enforceable under the laws of that state,thésintention of the parties
that such restriction may be modified or amendethbycourt to render it enforceable to the maxinextent permitted by
the law of that state.

(d) Release; Lump Sum Paymenin the event of the Executive’s Involuntary mamation, if the
Executive (i) agrees to the covenants describ&eation 14(a) and Section 14(b) above, (ii) exexatrelease (the “
Releasg) of all claims substantially in the form attachleereto as Exhibit Avithin fifty (50) days after the date of
Involuntary Termination and does not revoke sucle&s in accordance with the terms thereof, adrees to provide
the consulting services described in Section 1d¢&w, then in consideration for such covenants Gbhmpany shall pay tt
Executive, in one cash lump sum, an amount (Berfsulting Paymeri) in cash equal to the greater of: (X) 160% ad th
Executive’s Annual Base Salary as in effect onDlage of Termination, and (Y) the Executive’s AnnBalse Salary as in
effect on the Date of Termination, plus the Exemit Average Annual Bonus. Except as providedhigs subsection, the
Consulting Payment shall be paid on such date @stegmined by the Company within the ten (10) parjod commencing
on the 60" day after the date of the Executive’s Involuntagrmination;provided, howeverthat if the Executive is a
Specified Employee on the date of the Executiire/sluntary Termination, the Consulting Paymentlisha paid as
provided in Section 10 hereof. The Executiveldie the right to elect to defer the Consultiayfent under the terms
and conditions of the Company’s Deferred Compeosdian. Any such deferral election shall be madecordance with
Section 18(b) hereof.

(e) Consulting. If the Executive agrees to the covenants desdrin Section 14(d) above, then the
Executive shall have the obligation to providesudhing services to the Company as an independsrttactor,
commencing on the Date of Termination and endinthersecond anniversary of the Date of Termingtioa “ Consulting
Period”). The Executive shall hold himself availabler@asonable times and on reasonable notice torendk consulting
services as may be so assigned to him by the Bwéalee Company’s then Chief Executive Officerovided, howeverthat



unless the parties otherwise agree, the consudéngces rendered by the Executive during the
Consulting Period shall not exceed twenty (20) Baach month; ang@rovided, further, that the consulting services
rendered by the Executive during the Consultingoéeshall in no event exceed twenty percent (26%4he average level
services performed by the Executive for the Comgparer the thirty-six (36) month period immediateleceding the
Executive’'s Separation from Service (or the fatipd of services to the Company, if the Execukigs been providing
services to the Company for less than thirty-s&) (Bonths). The Company agrees to use its bestefiuring the
Consulting Period to secure the benefit of the cikee’s consulting services so as to minimizeittierference with the
Executive’s other activities, including requiritige performance of consulting services at the Cayipaffices only when
such services may not be reasonably performedtefbyg the Executive.

Section 15. Legal Fees

(@) Reimbursement of Legal FeesSubject to subsection (b), in the event of tkedstive’s Separation
from Service either (1) prior to a Change in Colhtoo (2) on or within two (2) years following a @hge in Control, the
Company shall reimburse the Executive for all légas and expenses (including but not limitedetesfand expenses in
connection with any arbitration) incurred by th&eEutive in disputing any issue arising under Agseement relating to the
Executive’s Separation from Service or in seeltingbtain or enforce any benefit or right providsdthis Agreement.

(b) Requirements for ReimbursemenThe Company shall reimburse the Executive’slléges and
expenses pursuant to subsection (a) above onhetextent the arbitrator or court determines thleviang: (i) the
Executive disputed such issue, or sought to olmaanforce such benefit or right, in good faiil),the Executive had a
reasonable basis for such claim, and (iii) in theecof subsection (a)(1) above, the Executiveaptevailing party. In
addition, the Company shall reimburse such legsd Band expenses, only if such legal fees and egpeme incurred during
the twenty (20) year period beginning on the déthe Executive’s Separation from Service. Tlygaldees and expenses
paid to the Executive for any taxable year of thescutive shall not affect the legal fees and axps paid to the Executive
for any other taxable year of the Executive. Tegal fees and expenses shall be paid to the Bxean or before the last
day of the Executive’s taxable year following thgable year in which the fees or expenses arenedurThe Executive’s
right to reimbursement of legal fees and expenisals sot be subject to liquidation or exchangedny other benefit. Such
right to reimbursement of legal fees and expenisek lse provided in a manner that complies withabrgy Regulation
Section 1.409A-3(i)(1)(iv). If the Executive isSpecified Employee on the date of the ExecutiveijgaBation from Service,
such right to reimbursement of legal fees and exgeshall be paid as provided in Section 10 hereof.

Section 16. Successors

(&)  Assignment by the ExecutiveThis Agreement is personal to the Executiveaitldout the prior
written consent of Sempra Energy shall not be assig by the Executive otherwise than by willlee taws of descent and
distribution. This Agreement shall inure to thené#t of and be enforceable by the Executive’'alegpresentatives.

(b)  Successors and Assigns of Sempra Energitis Agreement shall inure to the benefit of aed
binding upon Sempra Energy, its successors angresssSempra Energy may not assign this Agreerneartyt person or
entity (except for a successor described in Seditfn), (d) or (e) below) without the Executiveistten consent.

(c) Assumption. Sempra Energy shall require any successor (whelirect or indirect, by purchas
merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or sahsglly all of the business and/or assets of Sarfpergy to assume
expressly and agree to perform the obligationssatidfy and discharge the liabilities of this Agremt in the same manner
and to the same extent that Sempra Energy woule besn required to perform the obligations andfsedind discharge the
liabilities under this Agreement if no such sucaas$ad taken place, and Sempra Energy shall haverther obligations
and liabilities under this Agreement. Upon suckuasption, references to Sempra Energy in this Agese shall be
replaced with references to such successor.

(d)  Sale of Subsidiary In the event that (i) the Executive is emplopgda direct or indirect subsidiary of
Sempra Energy that is a member of the Sempra Er@&wgirol Group, (i) Sempra Energy, directly orimegtly through one
or more intermediaries, sells or otherwise dispadesich subsidiary, and (iii) such subsidiary esa® be a member of the
Sempra Energy Control Group, then if, on the dath subsidiary ceases to be a member of the Seemgrgy Control
Group, the Executive continues in employment witbhssubsidiary and the Executive does not havepar&ton from
Service, Sempra Energy shall require such subgidiaany successor (whether direct or indirectpbschase merger,
consolidation or otherwise) to such subsidiarytherparent thereof, to assume expressly and ageerfiorm the obligatior




and satisfy and discharge the liabilities undes fkgreement in the same manner and to the same
extent that Sempra Energy would have been reqtorpdrform the obligations and satisfy and dischahg liabilities under
this Agreement, if such subsidiary had not ceasdxttpart of the Sempra Energy Control Group, apdn such
assumption, Sempra Energy shall have no furthegatibns and liabilities under the Agreement. Ugaoh assumption, (i)
references to Sempra Energy in this Agreement bealéplaced with references to such subsidiargyohn successor or
parent thereof, assuming this Agreement, andubgection (b) of the definition of “Cause” and setison (b) of the
definition of “Good Reason” shall apply thereaftes,if a Change in Control had occurred on the dseich cessation.

(e) Sale of Assets of Subsidia. In the event that (i) the Executive is emplopgda direct or indirec
subsidiary of Sempra Energy, and (ii) such subsidalls or otherwise disposes of substantial assetuch subsidiary to :
unrelated service recipient, as determined undeadury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(f)(2)(ii) (thAsset Purchaséy, in a
transaction described in Treasury Regulation Sedtid09A-1(h)(4) (an “ Asset Sdlg then if, on the date of such Asset
Sale, the Executive becomes employed by the AsgsehBRser, Sempra Energy and the Asset Purchadespbeify, in
accordance with Treasury Regulation Section 1.408A¢4), that the Executive shall not be treateiasng a Separation
from Service, and Sempra Energy shall require #sset Purchaser, or the parent thereof, to assupressly and agree to
perform the obligations and satisfy and dischahgditbilities under this Agreement in the same mearand to the same
extent that Sempra Energy would have been reqtorpdrform the obligations and satisfy and dischahg liabilities under
this Agreement, if the Asset Sale had not takeoegpland, upon such assumption, Sempra Energyhshadino further
obligations and liabilities under the Agreemengpold such assumption, (i) references to Sempra Emeithis Agreement
shall be replaced with references to the AssetHaser or the parent thereof, as applicable, andulisection (b) of the
definition of “Cause” and subsection (b) of theidigbn of “Good Reason” shall apply thereafter jfas Change in Control
had occurred on the date of the Asset Sale.

Section 17. Administration Prior to Change in ControlPrior to a Change in Control, the Compensation
Committee shall have full and complete authoritg@astrue and interpret the provisions of this &gnent, to determine an
individual's entitlement to benefits under this Agment, to make in its sole and absolute discretfictteterminations
contemplated under this Agreement, to investigateraake factual determinations necessary or adeisal@dminister or
implement this Agreement, and to adopt such rubelspgocedures as it deems necessary or advisatileefadministration
or implementation of this Agreement. All deterntinas made under this Agreement by the Compens&mnmittee shall
be final and binding on all interested personsorRo a Change in Control, the Compensation Cotemiiay delegate
responsibilities for the operation and administratdf this Agreement to one or more officers or kyges of the Company.
The provisions of this Section 17 shall termireté be of no further force and effect upon the oerice of a Change in
Control.

Section 18. Section 409A of the Cod

(a) Compliance with and Exemption from Section 409Ahef Code. Certain payments and bene
payable under this Agreement (including, withontitation, the Section 409A Payments) are intendexbtnply with the
requirements of Section 409A of the Code. Cenpayments and benefits payable under this Agreearernihtended to be
exempt from the requirements of Section 409A ofGloele. This Agreement shall be interpreted in edamce with the
applicable requirements of, and exemptions fronatiGe 409A of the Code and the Treasury Regulatibassunder. To tt
extent the payments and benefits under this Agraeare subject to Section 409A of the Code, thises&ment shall be
interpreted, construed and administered in a maha¢satisfies the requirements of Sections 4042)Ya(3) and (4) of the
Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder (©uij¢he transitional relief under Internal Rever&ervice Notice 2005-
1, the Proposed Regulations under Section 409Ae0Cbde, Internal Revenue Service Notice 2006+8rhal Revenue
Service Notice 2007-78, Internal Revenue Servicecdd@®007-86 and other applicable authority isdoyethe Internal
Revenue Service). As provided in Internal Reveatce 2007-86, notwithstanding any other provisabthis Agreement,
with respect to an election or amendment to chaniyee or form of payment under this Agreement n@der after Janua
1, 2008 and on or before December 31, 2008, tleti@eor amendment shall apply only with respeqidagments that wou
not otherwise be payable in 2008, and shall nose@mayments to be made in 2008 that would not wikerbe payable in
2008. If the Company and the Executive deterrtiiaéany compensation, benefits or other payméatsare payable unc
this Agreement and intended to comply with Sectid@A(a)(2), (3) and (4) of the Code do not compith Section 409A
of the Code, the Treasury Regulations thereundgo#irer applicable authority issued by the InteRedenue Service, to 1
extent permitted under Section 409A of the Code,Tireasury Regulations thereunder and any appéiGaithority issued t
the Internal Revenue Service, the Company andetkecutive agree to amend this Agreement, or takk ether actions as
the Company and the Executive deem reasonabl\ss@geor appropriate, to cause such compensagoefits and other
payments to comply with the requirements of Secfio®A of the Code, the Treasury Regulations theteuand other




applicable authority issued by the Internal Reve®ervice, while providing compensation, benefits
and other payments that are, in the aggregatesssafdvorable than the compensation, benefits ereat payments provided
under this Agreement. In the case of any compmmsdienefits or other payments that are payabfieuthis Agreement
and intended to comply with Sections 409A(a)(2),ai3d (4) of the Code, if any provision of the Agmeent would cause
such compensation, benefits or other paymentsitmfao comply, such provision shall not be effeetand shall be null ar
void with respect to such compensation, benefitstloer payments to the extent such provision woalgse a failure to
comply, and such provision shall otherwise remaifull force and effect.

(b) Deferral Election:. As provided in Sections 5(f), 6(h) and 14(dg tBxecutive may elect to defer 1
Pre-Change in Control Severance Payment, the Raatge in Control Severance Payment and the Comguithyment as
follows. The Executive’s deferral election $isatisfy the requirements of Treasury Regulatienti®n 1.409A-2(b) and
the terms and conditions of the Deferred Compemsd&lan. Such deferral election shall designagenthole percentage (up
to a maximum of 100%) of the Pre-Change in Corielerance Payment, the Post-Change in Control &&ePayment
and the Consulting Payment to be deferred, shatréeocable when made, and shall not take effatt at least twelve (12)
months after the date on which the election is meglech deferral election shall provide that theant deferred shall be
deferred for a period of not less than five (5)rgdaom the date the payment of the amount defem@add otherwise have
been made, in accordance with Treasury Regulagatidh 1.409A-2(b)(1)(ii).

Section 19. Miscellaneous.

(@) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and condtiiaccordance with the laws
the State of California, without reference to itsipiples of conflict of laws. The captions ofsbAgreement are not part of
the provisions hereof and shall have no force facef This Agreement may not be amended, modifiggealed, waived,
extended or discharged except by an agreementitingvsigned by the party against whom enforcenoéisuich amendmer
modification, repeal, waiver, extension or discleaiggsought. No person, other than pursuant ésaution of the Board or
a committee thereof, shall have authority on bebfaihe Company to agree to amend, modify, repeailve, extend or
discharge any provision of this Agreement or amghn reference thereto.

(b) Notices. All notices and other communications hereundetl ©e in writing and shall be given by
hand delivery to the other party or by registeredeastified mail, return receipt requested, postagpaid, addressed, in
either case, to the Company’s headquarters ordio gilner address as either party shall have fuedist the other in writing
in accordance herewith. Notices and communicattiadl be effective when actually received by ttidrassee.

(©) Severability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any prowa of this Agreement shall not affect t
validity or enforceability of any other provisiom this Agreement.

(d) Taxes. The Company may withhold from any amounts payallder this Agreement such fede
state or local taxes as shall be required to bleheltl pursuant to any applicable law or regulation.

(e) No Waiver. The Executive’s or the Company’s failure tashsipon strict compliance with any
provision hereof or any other provision of this Agment or the failure to assert any right the Httee or the Company
may have hereunder, including, without limitatitime right of the Executive to terminate employmientGood Reason
pursuant to Section 1 hereof, or the right of tiken@any to terminate the Executive’s employmentfause pursuant to
Section 1 hereof shall not be deemed to be a waivauch provision or right or any other provismnright of this
Agreement.

)] Entire Agreement; Exclusive Benefit; SupersessioRrimr Agreement This instrument contains the
entire agreement of the Executive, the Comparangrpredecessor or subsidiary thereof with redjpeahy severance or
termination pay. The Pre-Change in Control Sevardayment, the Post-Change in Control Severangedt and all
other benefits provided hereunder shall be indieany other severance payments to which the Eixecis entitled under
any other severance plan or program or arrangespemsored by the Company, as well as pursuantytmdividual
employment or severance agreement that was eriteoebly the Executive and the Company, and, uper&ffective Date
of this Agreement, all such plans, programs, aeargnts and agreements are hereby automaticallysagse and
terminated.

(9) No Right of Employment Nothing in this Agreement shall be construediasg the Executive any
right to be retained in the employ of the Companghall interfere in any way with the right of tBempany to terminate ti




Executive’s employment at any time, with or with@ause.

(h) Unfunded Obligatior. The obligations under this Agreement shall beiotled. Benefits payab
under this Agreement shall be paid from the gerasséts of the Company. The Company shall hawbigation to
establish any fund or to set aside any assettoda benefits under this Agreement.

(1) Termination upon Sale of Assets of Subsidiafyotwithstanding anything contained herein, this
Agreement shall automatically terminate and beoofunther force and effect and no benefits shalpégable hereunder in
the event that (i) the Executive is employed byraad or indirect subsidiary of Sempra Energy, édn Asset Sale (as
defined in Section 16(e)) occurs (other than sushl@ or disposition which is part of a transactoseries of transactions
which would result in a Change in Control), and @k a result of such Asset Sale, the Execusivdfered employment by
the Asset Purchaser in an executive position vé#fisonably comparable status, compensation, beantitseverance
agreement (including the assumption of this Agredrnreaccordance with Section 16(e)) and whichoissistent with the
Executive’s experience and education, but thectbkee declines to accept such offer and the Exeediils to become
employed by the Asset Purchaser on the date disket Sale.

()] Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence orttifiective Date and shall continue until the
third (3rd) anniversary of the Effective Dapgpvided, howeverthat commencing on the second (2nd) anniversattyeo
Effective Date (and each anniversary of the Effecate thereafter), the term of this Agreemenlt shaomatically be
extended for one (1) additional year, unless atlemety (90) days prior to such date, the Compartire Executive shall
give written notice to the other party that it @; las the case may be, does not wish to so exienddreement.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Company gigeich written notice to the Executive less them (@) years after a
Change in Control, the term of this Agreement shalbutomatically extended until the later of (¢ tate that is one (1)
year after the anniversary of the Effective Datd fbllows such written notice or (B) the seconddRanniversary of the
Change in Control Date.

(k) Counterparts This Agreement may be executed in several copatts, each of which shall be
deemed to be an original but all of which togettall constitute one and the same instrument.

[ remainder of page intentionally left blahk



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Executive and, pursuardue authorization from its Board of Directors, the
Company have caused this Agreement to be execstefitae day and year first above written.

SEMPRA ENERGY

G. Joyce Rowland
Senior Vice President, Human Resources

Date

EXECUTIVE

Jeffrey W. Martin
President & CEO, Generation

Date



EXHIBIT A
GENERAL RELEASE

This GENERAL RELEASE (the * Agreemetfjt dated , Is made by and between
, a California cator (the“ Company”) and @

you” or “ your”).

WHEREAS, you and the Company have previously edten® that certain Severance Pay Agreement dated
, 20 (tI* Severance Pay Agreeméitand

WHEREAS, Section 14(d) of the Severance Pay Agre¢prevides for the payment of a benefit to you by
the Company in consideration for certain covenantdding your execution and non-revocation okeaeral release of
claims by you against the Company and its subsediand affiliates.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premisas$ e mutual covenants herein contained, you ag
Company hereby agree as follows:

ONE: Your signing of this Agreement confirms tiyatir employment with the Company shall terminate at
the close of business on , Or eaihien wur mutual agreement.

TWO: As a material inducement for the paymentheftbenefit under Section 14(d) of the Severance Pay
Agreement, and except as otherwise provided inAgreement, you and the Company hereby irrevocaibdly
unconditionally release, acquit and forever disghaahe other from any and all Claims either mayehayainst the other. F
purposes of this Agreement and the preceding seatéme words “Releasee” or “Releasees” and “ClainiClaims” shall
have the meanings set forth below:

(a) The words “ Releas€eor “ Releasee$ shall refer to you and to the Company and eadhef
Company’s owners, stockholders, predecessors, Ssm® assigns, agents, directors, officers, erepgyrepresentatives,
attorneys, advisors, parent companies, divisianssidiaries, affiliates (and agents, directorsicefs, employees,
representatives, attorneys and advisors of su@npaompanies, divisions, subsidiaries and af§atind all persons acting
by, through, under or in concert with any of them.

(b) The words “ Claint or “ Claims” shall refer to any charges, complaints, clairahilities,
obligations, promises, agreements, controversasades, actions, causes of action, suits, rightaadds, costs, losses,
debts and expenses (including attorneys’ fees asits @ctually incurred) of any nature whatsoeveown or unknown,
suspected or unsuspected, which you or the Companyin the past or, except as limited by law @utation such as the
Age Discrimination in Employment Act (ADEA), in tifature may have, own or hold against any of thie&seesprovided
however, that the word “Claim” or “Claims” shall not refes any charges, complaints, claims, liabilitiesligations,
promises, agreements, controversies, damagespsctiauses of action, suits, rights, demands, dostes, debts and
expenses (including attorneys’ fees and costs linaurred) arising underiflentify severance, employee benefits, stock
option, indemnification and D&O and other agreemserontaining duties, rights obligations etc. dher party that are to
remain operativd. Claims released pursuant to this Agreementdayand the Company include, but are not limited to,
rights arising out of alleged violations of any tracts, express or implied, any tort, any claint trea failed to perform or
negligently performed or breached your duties duamployment at the Company, any legal restrictmmghe Company’s
right to terminate employees or any federal, statether governmental statute, regulation, or @dae, including, without
limitation: (1) Title VII of the Civil Rights Acbf 1964 (race, color, religion, sex and nationagiardiscrimination); (2) 42
U.S.C. § 1981 (discrimination); (3) 29 U.S.C. 88634 (age discrimination); (4) 29 U.S.C. 8§ 208fdgqual pay); (5) 42
U.S.C. 88 12101, et seq. (disability); (6) the fafiia Constitution, Article I, Section 8 (discrindtion); (7) the California
Fair Employment and Housing Act (discriminatiorgluding race, color, national origin, ancestry, gibgl handicap,
medical condition, marital status, religion, sexage); (8) California Labor Code Section 1102.k(s¢ orientation
discrimination); (9) the Executive Order 11246 &acolor, religion, sex and national origin disdnation); (10) the
Executive Order 11141 (age discrimination); (11688 and 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (iaap
discrimination); (12) The Worker Adjustment and Reting Act (WARN Act); (13) the California Laborade (wages,
hours, working conditions, benefits and other niajtg14) the Fair Labor Standards Act (wages, sioworking conditions
and other matters); the Federal Employee PolygPaptection Act (prohibits employer from requiringngloyee to take




polygraph test as condition of employment); and @iy federal, state or other governmental statute,
regulation or ordinance which is similar to anytloé statutes described in clauses (1) through (14).

THREE: You and the Company expressly waive aridqeish all rights and benefits afforded by anyugta
(including but not limited to Section 1542 of thevlCCode of the State of California) which limitise effect of a release w
respect to unknown claims. You and the Companyadoenderstanding and acknowledging the significarficbe release of
unknown claims and the waiver of statutory protecagainst a release of unknown claims (includimgniot limited to
Section 1542). Section 1542 of the Civil Codehaf State of California states as follows:

‘A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS WHICHHE CREDITOR
DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS FAVOR AHE TIME OF
EXECUTING THE RELEASE, WHICH IF KNOWN BY HIM MUST AVE MATERIALLY
AFFECTED HIS SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR.”

Thus, notwithstanding the provisions of Section2l64 of any similar statute, and for the purposamglementing a full an
complete release and discharge of the Releasagesngbthe Company expressly acknowledge that thisément is
intended to include in its effect, without limitari, all Claims which are known and all Claims whydu or the Company do
not know or suspect to exist in your or the Compafgvor at the time of execution of this Agreemantl that this
Agreement contemplates the extinguishment of @h<tiaims.

FOUR: The parties acknowledge that they might &iéee discover facts different from, or in addititm
those they now know or believe to be true with eespo a Claim or Claims released herein, and éxgyessly agree to
assume the risk of possible discovery of additiamalifferent facts, and agree that this Agreenséall be and remain
effective, in all respects, regardless of suchtauithl or different discovered facts.

FIVE: You hereby represent and acknowledge thathave not filed any Claim of any kind against the
Company or others released in this Agreement. fMdher hereby expressly agree never to initiataresy the Company or
others released in this Agreement any adminisggiroceeding, lawsuit or any other legal or eqleét@ipoceeding of any
kind asserting any Claims that are released inAgreement.

The Company hereby represents and acknowledges kizest not filed any Claim of any kind against yau
others released in this Agreement. The Comparigduhereby expressly agrees never to initiatenaygou or others
released in this Agreement any administrative prdogy, lawsuit or any other legal or equitable pexting of any kind
asserting any Claims that are released in this éygemst.

SIX: You hereby represent and agree that you havassigned or transferred, or attempted to hasig@ed
or transfer, to any person or entity, any of thai@b that you are releasing in this Agreement.

The Company hereby represents and agrees that itdiassigned or transferred, or attempted to have
assigned or transfer, to any person or entity,adrige Claims that it is releasing in this Agreemen

SEVEN: As a further material inducement to the @any to enter into this Agreement, you hereby atpee
indemnify and hold each of the Releasees harmitessdll loss, costs, damages, or expenses, inguaithout limitation,
attorneys’ fees incurred by the Releasees, armin@f any breach of this Agreement by you or et that any
representation made in this Agreement by you wiae f@ahen made.

As a further material inducement to you to entéw this Agreement, the Company hereby agrees tnimafy
and hold each of the Releasees harmless fromsall tmsts, damages, or expenses, including witimoitétion, attorneys’
fees incurred by the Releasees, arising out obaggch of this Agreement by it or the fact that esgresentation made in
this Agreement by it was knowingly false when made.

EIGHT: You and the Company represent and acknaydédat in executing this Agreement, neither iging
upon any representation or statement not set fiortthis Agreement or the Severance Agreement.

NINE:

(@)  This Agreement shall not in any way be construedreadmission by the Company that it has
acted wrongfully with respect to you or any othergmn, or that you have any rights whatsoever agtie Company, and



the Company specifically disclaims any liabilitydowrongful acts against you or any other
person, on the part of itself, its employees oagsnts. This Agreement shall not in any way bestaed as an admission
you that you have acted wrongfully with respedhi Company, or that you failed to perform younegior negligently
performed or breached your duties, or that the Gomhad good cause to terminate your employment.

(b) If you are a party or are threatened to be madatg o any proceeding by reason of the fact
that you were an officer or director of the Compahg Company shall indemnify you against any egper{including
reasonable attorneys’ feggpvided, that counsel has been approved by the Companytprietention, which approval sh
not be unreasonably withheld), judgments, finettleseents and other amounts actually or reasonabiyred by you in
connection with that proceedingrovided, that you acted in good faith and in a mannerngasonably believed to be in the
best interest of the Company. The limitations afiférnia Corporations Code Section 317 shall applthis assurance of
indemnification.

(c) You agree to cooperate with the Company and itgydated attorneys, representatives
agents in connection with any actual or threatguétial, administrative or other legal or equitalproceeding in which the
Company is or may become involved. Upon reasonadtiee, you agree to meet with and provide toGbenpany or its
designated attorneys, representatives or agerntda@ination and knowledge you have relating togbbject matter of any
such proceeding. The Company agrees to reimbaséoy any reasonable costs you incur in providingh cooperation.

TEN: This Agreement is made and entered into ilf@aia. This Agreement shall in all respects be
interpreted, enforced and governed by and unddatie of the State of California and applicable ératilaw. Any dispute
about the validity, interpretation, effect or akkeviolation of this Agreement (an “ arbitrableglite”) must be submitted to
arbitration in San Diego, California. Arbitratishall take place before an experienced employnréittator licensed to
practice law in such state and selected in accerlaith the then existing JAMS arbitration ruleplagable to employment
disputesprovided, howevethat in any event, the arbitrator shall allow rewsgae discovery. Arbitration shall be the
exclusive remedy for any arbitrable dispute. Thm@teator in any arbitrable dispute shall not hawehority to modify or
change the Agreement in any respect. You and timep@ny shall each be responsible for payment ofhaitig(1/2) the
amount of the arbitrator’s fee(9rovided, howevethat in no event shall you be required to pay &®ydr cost of arbitratic
that is unique to arbitration or exceeds the cgstswould have incurred had any arbitrable dis/neten pursued in a court
of competent jurisdiction. The Company shall mageany shortfall. Should any party to this Agreatriastitute any legal
action or administrative proceeding against thewotith respect to any Claim waived by this Agreatr@ pursue any
arbitrable dispute by any method other than ariminathe prevailing party shall be entitled toaeer from the non-
prevailing party all damages, costs, expenses @owchays’ fees incurred as a result of that actidhe arbitrator’s decision
and/or award shall be rendered in writing and ballfully enforceable and subject to an entry ofjjuént by the Superior
Court of the State of California for the CountyS#n Diego, or any other court of competent jurisolic

ELEVEN: Both you and the Company understand thiatAgreement is final and binding eight (8) daiftsra
its execution and return. Should you neverthedtgsnpt to challenge the enforceability of this égmnent as provided in
Paragraph TEN or, in violation of that Paragraphough litigation, as a further limitation on anght to make such a
challenge, you shall initially tender to the Company certified check delivered to the Companynadinies received
pursuant to Section 14(d) of the Severance Payehgeat, plus interest, and invite the Company taimetuch monies and
agree with you to cancel this Agreement and vo&d@bmpany'’s obligations under Section 14(d) ofSkgerance Pay
Agreement. In the event the Company accepts ffes, the Company shall retain such monies andAkieement shall be
canceled and the Company shall have no obligatieiuSection 14(d) of the Severance Pay Agreenlarthe event the
Company does not accept such offer, the Comparlysshaotify you and shall place such monies irirdarest-bearing
escrow account pending resolution of the disputeréen you and the Company as to whether or no#isement and the
Company'’s obligations under Section 14(d) of theeBznce Pay Agreement shall be set aside and/ervatie rendered
voidable or unenforceable. Additionally, any cdtisg agreement then in effect between you anddbmpany shall be
immediately rescinded with no requirement of natice

TWELVE: Any notices required to be given undestAgreement shall be delivered either personallyyor
first class United States mail, postage prepaidressed to the respective parties as follows:

To Company: [TO COME]

Attn: [TO COME]



To You:

THIRTEEN: You understand and acknowledge thatlyanve been given a period of forty-five (45) days to
review and consider this Agreement (as well asssidl data on the persons eligible for similané#ts) before signing it
and may use as much of this forty-five (45) dayqekas you wish prior to signing. You are encoedygat your personal
expense, to consult with an attorney before sigthiggyAgreement. You understand and acknowledgevwhether or not
you do so is your decision. You may revoke thise&gnent within seven (7) days of signing it. Itiyeish to revoke, the
Company'’s Vice President, Human Resources musiveeegitten notice from you no later than the cla$dusiness on the
seventh (7th) day after you have signed the Agreemérevoked, this Agreement shall not be effectind enforceable,
and you will not receive payments or benefits urfskection 14(d) of the Severance Pay Agreement.

FOURTEEN: This Agreement constitutes the entineament of the parties hereto and supersedes any an
all other agreements (except the Severance Payefgnet) with respect to the subject matter of trgsement, whether
written or oral, between you and the Company. mddifications and amendments to this Agreement ioeish writing and
signed by the parties.

FIFTEEN: Each party agrees, without further coesation, to sign or cause to be signed, and toefeto the
other party, any other documents and to take amgr@iction as may be necessary to fulfill the @ltiaps under this
Agreement.

SIXTEEN: If any provision of this Agreement or tapplication thereof is held invalid, the invalidghall no
affect other provisions or applications of the Agrent which can be given effect without the invalidvisions or
application; and to this end the provisions of thigeement are declared to be severable.

SEVENTEEN: This Agreement may be executed in cenpatrts.

| have read the foregoing General Release, andelph@nd agree to the provisions it contains ameldye
execute it voluntarily and with full understandiofits consequences. | am aware it includes aselef all known or
unknown claims.

DATED:

DATED:

You acknowledge that you first received this Agreetron [date].




Exhibit 10.66
SEMPRA ENERGY
SEVERANCE PAY AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement), dated as of January 17, 2014, (the “ Effecidage”) is made by
and between SEMPRA ENERGY, a California corporaticBempra Energy), and Robert M. Schlax (the_* Executite

WHEREAS , the Executive is currently employed by Semprargyer a direct or indirect subsidiary of
Sempra Energy (Sempra Energy and its subsidiareleaeinafter collectively referred to as the ‘n@any”) as Vice
President, Controller and Chief Financial Officang

WHEREAS , Sempra Energy and the Executive desire to emtietthis Agreement; and
WHEREAS , the Board of Directors of Sempra Energy (the aBly) has authorized this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the premises and mutual caméenherein contained, the Comp
and the Executive hereby agree as follows:

Section 1.  Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, the followingitaized terms have the
meanings set forth below:

“ Accounting Firm” has the meaning assigned thereto in Sectiont&Bof.

“ Accrued Obligations means the sum of (A) the Executive’s Annual B&atary through the Date of
Termination to the extent not theretofore paid, dB)amount equal to any annual Incentive Compesrsaétivards earned
with respect to fiscal years ended prior to the yleat includes the Date of Termination to the eikteot theretofore paid, (¢
any accrued and unpaid vacation, if any, and (nlvarsement for unreimbursed business expensasy jfproperly
incurred by the Executive in the performance ofchiies in accordance with policies establishethftone to time by the
Board, in each case to the extent not theretofaie: p

“ Affiliate ” has the meaning set forth in Rule 12b-2 prom@dainder the Exchange Act.

“ Annual Base Salaryymeans the Executive’s annual base salary fronCitrapany.

“ Asset Purchasérhas the meaning assigned thereto in Section 16(e)

“ Asset Salé’ has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 16(e)

“ Average Annual Bonusmeans the average of the annual bonuses frol@ohgpany earned by the
Executive with respect to the three (3) fiscal geafrthe Company immediately preceding the DafEevmination (the “
Bonus Fiscal Yeary; provided, however, that, if the Executive was employed by the Comydan less than three (3) years
of the Bonus Fiscal Years, “ Average Annual Bohuseans the average of the annual bonuses (iffaory) the Company
earned by the Executive with respect to the BonssalFYears during which the Executive was empladygthe Company;
and,provided, further, that, if the Executive was not employed by thenpany during any portion of any of the Bonus
Fiscal Years, * Average Annual Bontismeans zero.

“ Cause’ means:

(a) Prior to a Change in Control, (i) the willful farkeiby the Executive to substantially perform the
Executive’s duties with the Company (other than sungh failure resulting from the Executigehcapacity due to physical
mental illness, (ii) the grossly negligent perforroa of such obligations referenced in clause (thisf definition, (iii) the
Executive’s gross insubordination; and/or (iv) Ereecutive’s commission of one or more acts of marglitude that
constitute a violation of applicable law (includibgt not limited to a felony) which have or resalan adverse effect on the
Company, monetarily or otherwise, or one or mogaificant acts of dishonesty. For purposes ofs#afl) of this subsectic
(a), no act, or failure to act, on the Executivegst shall be deemed “ willftilunless done, or omitted to be done, by the
Executive not in good faith and without reasonddgkef that the Executive’s act, or failure to agas in the best interests of
the Company.



(b) From and after a Change in Control, (i) the willmd continued failure by the Executive to
substantially perform the Executive’s duties whlk Company (other than any such failure resultinogfthe Executive’s
incapacity due to physical or mental iliness or angh actual or anticipated failure after the isseaof a Notice of
Termination for Good Reason by the Executive purst@Section 2 hereof) and/or (ii) the Executsrebmmission of one
more acts of moral turpitude that constitute aatioh of applicable law (including but not limitéala felony) which have or
result in an adverse effect on the Company, moihetarotherwise, or one or more significant actslishonesty. For
purposes of clause (i) of this subsection (b),etpa failure to act, on the Executive’s part $hal deemed “ willful’ unless
done, or omitted to be done, by the Executive mafaod faith and without reasonable belief thatERecutive’s act, or
failure to act, was in the best interests of thenGany. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Exeaustall not be deemed
terminated for Cause pursuant to clause (i) ofghlssection (b) unless and until the Executivel $teale been provided with
reasonable notice of and, if possible, a reasor@ipertunity to cure the facts and circumstancasned to provide a basis
for termination of the Executive’s employment fauSe.

“ Change in Contrgl shall be deemed to have occurred on the dateatbhange in the ownership of Sempra
Energy, a change in the effective control of Sentprargy, or a change in the ownership of a subiatgrdrtion of assets of
Sempra Energy occurs (each, as defined in subadefjdelow), except as otherwise provided in sciiises (b), (¢) and (d)
below:

(a) (1) a“ change in the ownership of Sempra Ene¢’ occurs on the date that any one persoil
more than one person acting as a group, acquirasrship of stock of Sempra Energy that, togethén stiock held by such
person or group, constitutes more than fifty per¢®8%) of the total fair market value or total mgt power of the stock of
Sempra Energy,

(i) a “ change in the effective control of Sempra Egérgccurs only on either of the following

dates:

(A) the date any one person, or more than one persioig as a group, acquires (or has
acquired during the twelve (12) month period endinghe date of the most recent acquisition by qgrkon or persons)
ownership of stock of Sempra Energy possessinty tharcent (30%) or more of the total voting powethe stock of
Sempra Energy, or

(B) the date a majority of the members of the Boarépgaced during any twelve (1
month period by directors whose appointment ortieleds not endorsed by a majority of the membéithe Board before
the date of appointment or election, and

(i)  a*“change in the ownership of a substantial portibassets of Sempra Energgccurs on the
date any one person, or more than one person agiagyroup, acquires (or has acquired duringitbivé (12) month
period ending on the date of the most recent aitiuidy such person or persons) assets from SeEpesgy that have a
total gross fair market value equal to or more thigihty-five percent (85%) of the total gross faiarket value of all of the
assets of Sempra Energy immediately before suahisitign or acquisitions.

(b) A “ change in the ownership of Sempra En¢” or“ a change in the effective control of Sem
Energy” shall not occur under clause (a)(i) or (a)(ii) flason of any of the following:

0] an acquisition of ownership of stock of Sempra Byelirectly from Sempra Energy or its
Affiliates other than in connection with the acquis by Sempra Energy or its Affiliates of a busss,

(i) a merger or consolidation which would result in Wioéing securities of Sempra Energy
outstanding immediately prior to such merger orsahidation continuing to represent (either by rammag outstanding or by
being converted into voting securities of the suing entity or any parent thereof), in combinatieith the ownership of an
trustee or other fiduciary holding securities unalelemployee benefit plan of the Company, at lgiast percent (60%) of
the combined voting power of the securities of Sentfnergy or such surviving entity or any pareetdiof outstanding
immediately after such merger or consolidation, or

(i)  a merger or consolidation effected to implemergapitalization of Sempra Energy (or sim
transaction) in which no Person is or becomes #eeBcial Owner (within the meaning of Rule 13d+8rpulgated under
the Exchange Act, directly or indirectly, of setis of Sempra Energy (not including the securitieseficially owned by



such Person any securities acquired directly frem@®@a Energy or its Affiliates other than in
connection with the acquisition by Sempra EnergigoAffiliates of a business) representing twepgycent (20%) or more
of the combined voting power of Sempra Energy’sitbetstanding securities.

(c) A “ change in the ownership of a substantial portsd assets of Sempra Energghall not occur undt
clause (a)(iii) by reason of a sale or disposibgrSempra Energy of the assets of Sempra Energly émtity, at least sixty
percent (60%) of the combined voting power of théng securities of which are owned by shareholdé&Sempra Energy
in substantially the same proportions as their aghiip of Sempra Energy immediately prior to sude.sa

(d) This definition of* Change in Contrc” shall be limited to the definition of“change in control eve’
relating to Sempra Energy under Treasury Regul&mation 1.409A-3(i)(5). A “ Change in Contfadhall only occur if
there is a “change in control event” relating tonpea Energy under Treasury Regulation Section 1A48@)(5) with respec
to the Executive.

“ Change in Control Datémeans the date on which a Change in Control ccur

“ Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amtend

“ Compensation Committéemeans the compensation committee of the Board.

“ Consulting Paymerithas the meaning assigned thereto in Section T¥dof.

“ Consulting Period has the meaning assigned thereto in Section Tw#(esof.

“ Date of Terminatiori has the meaning assigned thereto in Sectiont&gof.

“ Deferred Compensation Pldrnas the meaning assigned thereto in Sectionhéf@of.

“ Disability " has the meaning set forth in the Company’s |lagrgatdisability plan or its successprpvided,
however, that the Board may not terminate the Executiee'®loyment hereunder by reason of Disability un{@sst the
time of such termination there is no reasonableetgtion that the Executive will return to work kit the next ninety (90)
day period and (ii) such termination is permittgdali applicable disability laws.

“ Exchange Act means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asxdet; and the applicable rulings and
regulations thereunder.

“ Excise Tax’ has the meaning assigned thereto in SectionH&@gof.
“ Good Reasori means:

(@) Prior to a Change in Control, the occurrence of @fyne following without the prior written conse
of the Executive, unless such act or failure toisicbrrected by the Company prior to the Date@fination specified in
the Notice of Termination (as required under SecBdereof):

0] the assignment to the Executive of any duties naiemconsistent with the range of duties
and responsibilities appropriate to a senior Exeewithin the Company (such range determined fgremce to past,
current and reasonable practices within the Company

(i) a material reduction in the Executive’s overalhsliag and responsibilities within the
Company, but not including (A) a mere change ie tir (B) a transfer within the Company, whichthie case of both (A)
and (B), does not adversely affect the Executiegerall status within the Company;

(i)  a material reduction by the Company in the Exe€'s aggregate annualized compensa
and benefits opportunities, except for across-therd reductions (or modifications of benefit plasishilarly affecting all
similarly situated executives (both of the Company of any Person then in control of the Compafgpmparable rank
with the Executive;

(iv)  the failure by the Company to pay to the Execudimg portion of the Executi’s curren
compensation and benefits or any portion of arallméent of deferred compensation under any deferoeapensation



program of the Company within thirty (30) days loé tdate such compensation is due;

(V) any purported termination of the Execu’s employment that is not effected pursuant
Notice of Termination satisfying the requiremenit§ection 3 hereof; for purposes of this Agreemeatsuch purporte
termination shall be effective;

(vi)  the failure by Sempra Energy to perform its obligag under Section 16(c), (d) or (e) hereof;

(vii)  the failure by the Company to provide the indencaifion and D&O insurance protection
Section 10 of this Agreement requires it to proyile

(viii)  the failure by Sempra Energy to comply with anyenat provision of this Agreement.

(b) From and after a Change in Control, the occurref@ay of the following without the prior written
consent of the Executive, unless such act or &atlaract is corrected by the Company prior to théef Termination
specified in the Notice of Termination (as requitedier Section 2 hereof):

0] an adverse change in the Executiviifle, authority, duties, responsibilities or ogjing lines a:
in effect immediately prior to the Change in Cohtro

(ii) a reduction by the Company in the Executive’s ag@pe annualized compensation
opportunities, except for across-the-board reduostio base salaries, annual bonus opportunitiengrterm incentive
compensation opportunities of less than ten perdd?’b) similarly affecting all similarly situatececutives (both of the
Company and of any Person then in control of then@any) of comparable rank with the Executive; erfdulure by the
Company to continue in effect any material beréin in which the Executive participates immedaataior to the Change
in Control, unless an equitable arrangement (endabiti an ongoing substitute or alternative plars) leen made with
respect to such plan, or the failure by the Compargontinue the Executive's participation thei@inin such substitute or
alternative plan) on a basis not materially lessifable, both in terms of the amount of benefitsvfted and the level of the
Executive's participation relative to other pagants, as existed at the time of the Change inrGlont

(i) the relocation of the Executive’s principal pladéemployment immediately prior to the
Change in Control Date (the " Principal Locatigno a location which is both further away fronetExecutive’s residence
and more than thirty (30) miles from such Principatation, or the Company’s requiring the Executivée based
anywhere other than such Principal Location (onpied relocation thereof), or a substantial insees the Executive’s
business travel obligations outside of the Soutl@aiifornia area as of the Effective Date othenthay such increase that
(A) arises in connection with extraordinary bussastivities of the Company of limited duration gBJ is understood not
to be part of the Executive’s regular duties wita Company;

(iv)  the failure by the Company to pay to the Execusimg portion of the Executi’s curren
compensation and benefits or any portion of arallmsent of deferred compensation under any deferomtipensation
program of the Company within thirty (30) days lo¢ date such compensation is due;

(V) any purported termination of the Executive’s empiewnt that is not effected pursuant to a
Notice of Termination satisfying the requiremernitSection 3 hereof; for purposes of this Agreemeatsuch purporte
termination shall be effective;

(vi)  the failure by Sempra Energy to perform its obligjaé under Section 16(c), (d) or (e) hereof;

(vii)  the failure by the Company to provide the indeneaifion and D&O insurance protection
Section 10 of this Agreement requires it to proyiale

(viii)  the failure by Sempra Energy to comply with anyemniat provision of this Agreemer

Following a Change in Control, the Executive’s deti@ation that an act or failure to act constituBsod
Reason shall be presumed to be valid unless suemdaation is deemed to be unreasonable by atraidyi pursuant to the
procedure described in Section 13 hereof. The lHRexs right to terminate the Executive’s employméor Good Reason
shall not be affected by the Executive’s incapaditg to physical or mental illness. The Execusw®ntinued employment
shall not constitute consent to, or a waiver ofitsgwith respect to, any act or failure to act ¢itngsng Good Reason



hereunder.

“ Incentive Compensation Awardsneans awards granted under Incentive CompensBtams providing the
Executive with the opportunity to earn, on a yegybar basis, annual and long-term incentive corsgton.

“ Incentive Compensation Plahsneans annual incentive compensation plans angtierm incentive
compensation plans of the Company, which long-tecantive compensation plans may include plangioffestock
options, restricted stock and other long-term itigercompensation.

“ Involuntary Terminatiorf means (a) the Executive’s Separation from Serliceeason other than for
Cause, death, Disability or Mandatory Retirementhd the Executive’s Separation from Service ysan of resignation of
employment for Good Reason.

“JAMS Rules” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section &bhe

“ Mandatory Retiremertmeans termination of employment pursuant to toen@anys mandatory retireme

policy.

“ Notice of Terminatiori’ has the meaning assigned thereto in Sectiontagof.

“ Payment’ has the meaning assigned thereto in Sectionr&gof.

“ Payment in Lieu of Noticé has the meaning assigned thereto in Sectiontt®of.

“ Person” has the meaning set forth in section 3(a)(9hef Exchange Act, as modified and used in sections
13(d) and 14(d) thereof, except that such terml slealinclude (i) the Company or any of its Affiles, (ii) a trustee or other
fiduciary holding securities under an employee [ieptan of the Company or any of its Affiliatesijan underwriter
temporarily holding securities pursuant to an affigrof such securities, (iv) a corporation ownddeatly or indirectly, by
the shareholders of the Company in substantiallysdime proportions as their ownership of stock@Qompany, or (v) a
person or group as used in Rule 13d-1(b) promulgateler the Exchange Act.

“ PostChange in Control Severance Payniemis the meaning assigned thereto in Section &ofier

“ Pre-Change in Control Severance Payniemis the meaning assigned thereto in Section dalfier

“ Principal Location’ has the meaning assigned thereto in clauseijmfithe definition of Good Reason,

above.

“ Proprietary Informatiori has the meaning assigned thereto in Section I1¥aof.

“ Pro Rata Bonu$ has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 5(b).

“ Releas€ has the meaning assigned thereto in Section dolier

“ Section 409A Paymentsmeans any of the following: (a) the Payment ialLof Notice; (b) the Pre-
Change in Control Severance Payment; (c) the Ploatge in Control Severance Payment; (d) the Pra Ranus; (e) the
Consulting Payment; (f) the financial planning sexg and the related payments provided under Sectite) and 5(f);
(g) the legal fees and expenses reimbursed undéoBd.5; and (h) any other payment that the Comltermines in its
sole discretion is subject to Section 409A of tlrel€as non-qualified deferred compensation.

“ Sempra Energy Control Grotipmeans Sempra Energy and all persons with whom SeBwprgy would b
considered a single employer under Section 414(B)4(c) of the Code, as determined from timerteti

“ Separation from Servicehas the meaning set forth in Treasury RegulaBention 1.409A-1(h).

“ Specified Employeé shall be determined in accordance with Sectio®A4@)(2)(B)(i) of the Code and
Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(i).

For purposes of this Agreement, references to aingasury Regulatiohishall mean such Treasury




Regulation as in effect on the date hereof.

Section 2. Notice and Date of Terminatic.

(a) Any termination of the Executi’s employment by the Company or by the Executivd bl
communicated by a written notice of terminatioritte other party (the * Notice of Terminati®ty Where applicable, the
Notice of Termination shall indicate the speciBcrhination provision in this Agreement relied ugord shall set forth i
reasonable detail the facts and circumstances ethtmprovide a basis for termination of the Exeels employment under
the provision so indicated. Unless the Board deitezs otherwise, a Notice of Termination by the d&xive alleging a
termination for Good Reason must be made withinda8@ of the act or failure to act that the Exe®utilleges to constitute
Good Reason.

(b) The date of the Executive’s termination of emplopingith the Company (the_* Date of Termination
") shall be determined as follows: (i) if the Exége’s Separation from Service is at the volitmfrthe Company, then the
Date of Termination shall be the date specifiethexNotice of Termination (which, in the case @éamination by the
Company other than for Cause, shall not be lessttha (2) weeks from the date such Notice of Teation is given unless
the Company elects to pay the Executive, in additoany other amounts payable hereunder, an an(ient Payment in
Lieu of Notice”) equal to two (2) weeks of the ExecutigséAnnual Base Salary in effect on the Date of Teation), and (ii
if the Executive’s Separation from Service is by Executive for Good Reason, the Date of Terminadlwall be determined
by the Executive and specified in the Notice ofriiigation, but in no event less than fifteen (15)y-daor more than sixty
(60) days after the date such Notice of Terminaisagiven. The Payment in Lieu of Notice shallgaed on such date as is
required by law, but no later than thirty (30) dayter the date of the Executive’s Separation fRenvice;provided,
however, that if the Executive is a Specified Employedlmndate of his or her Separation from Serviceh ®ayment in
Lieu of Notice shall be paid as provided in SecBamereof.

Section 3.  Termination from the Boar. Upon the termination of the Execuf's employment for an
reason, the Executive’s membership on the Boaedhdard of directors of any of the Company’s Adfiis, any committees
of the Board and any committees of the board @atdars of any of the Company’s Affiliates, if amalble, shall be
automatically terminated.

Section 4.  Severance Benefits upon Involuntary TerminatiowPv Change in Contr. Except a
provided in Section 5(g) and Section 19(i) hereothe event of the Involuntary Termination of teecutive prior to a
Change in Control, the Company shall pay the Exeepin one lump sum cash payment, an amount (faieChange in
Control Severance Paymeéitqual to one-half (0.5) times the greater of) {45% of the Executive’s Annual Base Salary
as in effect on the Date of Termination, and (@ Executive’s Annual Base Salary as in effect @\Date of Termination,
plus the Executive's Average Annual Bonus. In @ddito the Pre-Change in Control Severance PayntemExecutive
shall be entitled to the following additional betegpecified in subsections (a) through (e). Toenpany's obligation to p
the Pre-Change in Control Severance Payment oidadlre benefits set forth in subsections (c)aft) (e) are subject to
and conditioned upon the Executive executing aaseldthe * Releasg of all claims substantially in the form attached
hereto as Exhibit Avithin fifty (50) days after the date of InvolungaFermination and Executive not revoking such Retea
in accordance with the terms thereof. Except asiged in Section 4(f), the Pre-Change in Cont@l&ance Payment shall
be paid on such date as is determined by the Coynyidimin sixty (60) days after the date of the lhwdary Termination;
but not before the Release becomes effective agnbicable. If the fifty (50) day period in whidhet Release could become
effective spans more than one taxable year, thete-Change in Control Severance Payment shallenotade until the
later taxable year. Notwithstanding the foregoihthe Executive is a Specified Employee on thie ad the Executive’s
Involuntary Termination, the Pre-Change in Con8elerance Payment and the financial planning ®s\aad the related
payments provided under Section 4(e) shall be asidrovided in Section 9 hereof.

(a)  Accrued Obligations The Company shall pay the Executive a lump somoumt in cash equal to the
Accrued Obligations within the time required by law

(b) Equity Based CompensationThe Executive shall retain all rights to any iegbased compensation
awards to the extent set forth in the applicabds gind/or award agreement.

(c) Welfare Benefits Subject to Section 12 below, for a period of(&§xmonths following the date of t
Involuntary Termination (and an additional six (@pnths if the Executive provides consulting sersioader Section 14(e)
hereof), the Executive and his dependents shaltdsaded with health insurance benefits substdgtgmilar to those




provided to the Executive and his dependents imatelgi prior to the date of the Involuntary
Termination;provided, however, that such benefits shall be provided on substiynthe same terms and conditions and at
the same cost to the Executive as in effect immelgigrior to the date of the Involuntary Termimati Such benefits shall
be provided through insurance maintained by the @2omy under the Company’s benefit plans. Such litsredfall be
provided in a manner that complies with Treasurguiaion Section 1.409A-1(a)(5). Notwithstandihg foregoing, if the
Company determines in its sole discretion thaaitrmot provide the foregoing benefit without potalhyiviolating applicable
law (including, without limitation, Section 2716 tife Public Health Service Act), the Company simdlileu thereof provide
to the Executive a taxable monthly payment in anw@am equal to the monthly premium that the Exeeutiould be require
to pay to continue the Executive’s and his covelggendents’ group insurance coverages under COBRAeffect on the
Date of Termination (which amount shall be basethempremiums for the first month of COBRA coverggeovided,
howeverthat, if the Executive is a Specified Employee o Date of Termination, then such payments shablaie as
provided in Section 9 hereof.

(d) Outplacement Service. The Executive shall receive reasonable outplaceiservices, on an-kind
basis, suitable to his position and directly reldtethe Executive’s Involuntary Termination, foperiod of twelve (12)
months following the date of the Involuntary Teration, in an aggregate amount of cost to the Companhto exceed
$50,000. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Exeeushall cease to receive outplacement servicekeodate the Executi
accepts employment with a subsequent employerh Suiplacement services shall be provided in a miativat complies
with Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b)(9)A))(

(e) Financial Planning ServicesThe Executive shall receive financial planniegvices, on an in-kind
basis, for a period of twelve (12) months followithg Date of Termination. Such financial planngggvices shall include
expert financial and legal resources to assisEttexutive with financial planning needs and shallitnited to (i) current
investment portfolio management, (ii) tax plannii), tax return preparation, and (iv) estate pieny advice and document
preparation (including wills and trustgyovided, however, that the Company shall provide such financiahpiag services
during any taxable year of the Executive only ® éixtent the cost to the Company for such taxadde gioes not exceed
$25,000. The Company shall provide such finangehning services through a financial planner setéby the Company,
and shall pay the fees for such financial plansieyices. The financial planning services providedng any taxable year
of the Executive shall not affect the financialrplang services provided in any other taxable yéah@® Executive. The
Executive’s right to financial planning servicesibmot be subject to liquidation or exchange foy ather benefit. Such
financial planning services shall be provided manner that complies with Treasury Regulation $acti.409A3(i)(1)(iv).

)] Deferral of Payments The Executive shall have the right to electetedthe Pre-Change in Control
Severance Payment to be received by the Executingu@nt to this Section 4 under the terms and tiondiof the Sempra
Energy 2005 Deferred Compensation Plan (the " Defe€ompensation Pldh Any such deferral election shall be mad
accordance with Section 18(b) hereof.

Section 5.  Severance Benefits upon Involuntary Terminatio@@mnection with and after Change in
Control. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 4 adyaand except as provided in Section 19(i) heiadhe event of
the Involuntary Termination of the Executive onnathin two (2) years following a Change in Contrial lieu of the
payments described in Section 4 above, the Comgiaaly pay the Executive, in one lump sum cash payna& amount (tk
“ PostChange in Control Severance Payni@mriqual to the greater of: (X) 145% of the Exiageis Annual Base Salary as
in effect immediately prior to the Change in Cohtrothe Date of Termination, whichever is greagard (Y) the Executive’
Annual Base Salary as in effect immediately pratite Change in Control or on the Date of Termargtwhichever is
greater, plus the Executive’s Average Annual Bornlnsaddition to the Post-Change in Control SevesaPayment, the
Executive shall be entitled to the benefits spediin subsections (a) through (f). The Companiyfigjation to pay the Post-
Change in Control Severance Payment or providé¢nefits set forth in subsections (b), (c), (d),ad (f) are subject to
and conditioned upon the Executive executing thHed®e within fifty (50) days after the date of lhuttary Termination ar
Executive not revoking such Release in accordaritetihe terms thereof. Except as provided in $ast5(g) and 5(h), the
Post-Change in Control Severance Payment, andrthRd&a Bonus shall be paid on such date as ismlieted by the
Company within sixty (60) days after the date @ bhvoluntary Termination. If the fifty (50) daypod in which the
Release could become effective spans more thategable year, then the Post-Change in Control SeeerPayment and
Pro Rata Bonus shall not be made until the lateatiie year. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Eveecutive is a Specified
Employee on the date of the Executive’s InvolunfBeymination, the Post-Change in Control Sever&aenent, the Pro
Rata Bonus and the financial planning servicesthadelated payments provided under Section 5é)l §le paid as provide
in Section 9 hereof.




(@)  Accrued Obligations The Company shall pay the Executive a lump somouat in cash equal to the
Executive's Accrued Obligations within the timeugqd by law.

(b) Pro Rata Bonu. The Company shall pay the Executive a lump somauat in cash equal to: (i) tl
greater of: (X) 45% of the Executive’s Annual B&dary as in effect immediately prior to the CheangControl or on the
Date of Termination, whichever is greater, or (Y@ Executive’s Average Annual Bonus, multiplied(lya fraction, the
numerator of which shall be the number of days ftbenbeginning of such fiscal year to and includimg Date of
Termination and the denominator of which shall 66 8qual to the (* Pro Rata Bons

(©) Equity-Based Compensatic. Notwithstanding the provisions of any applicadtgiity-compensatiol
plan or award agreement to the contrary, all egodgtyed Incentive Compensation Awards (includingheuit limitation,
stock options, stock appreciation rights, restdatck awards, restricted stock units, performaheee awards, awards
covered under Section 162(m) of the Code, and enddequivalents) held by the Executive shall immatsdy vest and
become exercisable or payable, as the case mag loé the Date of Termination, to be exercisedam,pas the case may be,
in accordance with the terms of the applicable mtige Compensation Plan and Incentive Compens#tward agreement,
and any restrictions on any such Incentive ComparsAwards shall automatically lapgapovided, howeverthat any suc
stock option or stock appreciation rights awardsggd on or after June 26, 1998 shall remain cudstg and exercisable
until the earlier of (A) the later of eighteen (18dnths following the Date of Termination or theipd specified in the
applicable Incentive Compensation Award agreeman(B) the expiration of the original term of sucltentive
Compensation Award (or, if earlier, the tenth aensary of the original date of grant) (it being erslood that all Incentive
Compensation Awards granted prior to or after 261998 shall remain outstanding and exercisairla period that is no
less than that provided for in the applicable agyeat in effect as of the date of grant).

(d)  Welfare Benefits Subject to Section 12 below, for a period of(§)xmonths following the date of
Involuntary Termination (and an additional twelN®) months if the Executive provides consulting/Ees under Section
14(e) hereof), the Executive and his dependentslsharovided with life, disability, accident ahealth insurance benefits
substantially similar to those provided to the Exe@ and his dependents immediately prior to the @f Involuntary
Termination or the Change in Control Date, whicliegenore favorable to the Executiy@pvided, however, that such
benefits shall be provided on substantially theestanms and conditions and at the same cost tBxbeutive as in effect
immediately prior to the date of Involuntary Tertiion or the Change in Control Date, whichever e@erfavorable to the
Executive. Such benefits shall be provided thromghrance maintained by the Company under the @agnpenefit plans.
Such benefits shall be provided in a manner thatpdies with Treasury Regulation Section 1.409AHp
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Company deti@es in its sole discretion that it cannot previle foregoing benefit
without potentially violating applicable law (inaing, without limitation, Section 2716 of the PubHealth Service Act), tt
Company shall in lieu thereof provide to the Exe@ia taxable monthly payment in an amount equéieéanonthly
premium that the Executive would be required to fgagontinue the Executive’s and his covered deeetsd group
insurance coverages under COBRA as in effect o#te of Termination (which amount shall be basedhe premiums
for the first month of COBRA coverage);ovided, howevethat, if the Executive is a Specified Employee lom Date of
Termination, then such payments shall be paid @gged in Section 9 hereof.

(e) Outplacement Service. The Executive shall receive reasonable outplaceiservices, on an-kind
basis, suitable to his position and directly ralatethe Executive’s Involuntary Termination, foperiod of eighteen (18)
months following the date of Involuntary Terminatifout in no event beyond the last day of the Etieels second taxable
year following the Executive’s taxable year in whibe Involuntary Termination occurs), in the aggite amount of cost to
the Company not to exceed $50,000. Notwithstanttiegoregoing, the Executive shall cease to receiwtplacement
services on the date the Executive accepts emplaywith a subsequent employer. Such outplacensuices shall be
provided in a manner that complies with Treasurguiaion Section 1.409A-1(b)(9)(v)(A).

() Financial Planning ServicesThe Executive shall receive financial planniegvices, on an in-kind
basis, for a period of eighteen (18) months folloyvihe date of Involuntary Termination. Such ficiahplanning services
shall include expert financial and legal resoutcesssist the Executive with financial planningadeand shall be limited to
() current investment portfolio management, @ planning, (iii) tax return preparation, and @state planning advice and
document preparation (including wills and trusgsjvided, however, that the Company shall provide such financial
services during any taxable year of the Executivg to the extent the cost to the Company for daghble year does not
exceed $25,000. The Company shall provide sueméial planning services through a financial plarsedected by the
Company, and shall pay the fees for such finamtaining services. The financial planning servioes/ided during any
taxable year of the Executive shall not affectfthancial planning services provided in any otlerable year of the




Executive. The Executive’s right to financial phémg services shall not be subject to liquidation o
exchange for any other benefit. Such financiahpiag services shall be provided in a manner thatgties with Section
1.409A-3(i)(1)(iv).

(9) Involuntary Termination in Connection with a Chamg&ontrol. Notwithstanding anything
contained herein, in the event of an Involuntarymigation prior to a Change in Control, if the Imwatary Termination (1)
was at the request of a third party who has talegsgeasonably calculated to effect such Chan@®irrol or (2) otherwis
arose in connection with or in anticipation of s@ange in Control, then the Executive shall, e lof the payments
described in Section 4 hereof, be entitled to stfhange in Control Severance Payment and theadd benefits
described in this Section 5 as if such Involunfeeymination had occurred within two (2) years fallng the Change in
Control. The amounts specified in Section 5 thatta be paid under this Section 5(g) shall be cediby any amount
previously paid under Section 4. The amounts tpaid under this Section 5(g) shall be paid witikty (60) days after the
Change in Control Date of such Change in Control.

(h) Deferral of Paymeni. The Executive shall have the right to electatedthe Po-Change in Contrc
Severance Payment and the Pro Rata Bonus to beaedw the Executive pursuant to this Section &aunrthe terms and
conditions of the Deferred Compensation Plan. sugh deferral election shall be made in accordaniteSection 18(b)
hereof.

Section 6.  Severance Benefits upon Termination by the Compan@ause or by the Executive Ott
than for Good Reasanlf the Executive’s employment shall be terminatter Cause, or if the Executive terminates
employment other than for Good Reason, the Comphaly have no further obligations to the Executineer this
Agreement other than the Accrued Obligations arnydaanounts or benefits described in Section 10 liereo

Section 7.  Severance Benefits upon Termination due to Deabisability. If the Executive has a
Separation from Service by reason of death or Olisglihe Company shall pay the Executive or letage, as the case may
be, the Accrued Obligations and the Pro Rata B@witkout regard to whether a Change in Controlda=urred) and any
amounts or benefits described in Section 10 her8ath payments shall be in addition to those sigiid benefits to which
the Executive or his estate may be entitled urtteereélevant Company plans or programs. The Compalwigation to pay
the Pro Rata Bonus is conditioned upon the Exeeutie Executive's representative or the Execstestate, as the case
may be executing the Release within fifty (50) dafter the date of Executive's Separation from iSerand not revoking
such Release in accordance with the terms thereefAccrued Obligations shall be paid within thredirequired by law ar
the Pro Rata Bonus shall be paid on such datetasmieed by the Company within sixty (60) days afte date of the
Separation from Service but not before the Relbasemes effective and irrevocable. If the fift@ 8lay period in which
the Release could become effective spans moreotmataxable year, then the Pro Rata Bonus shabienaiade until the
later taxable year. Notwithstanding the foregoihthe Executive is a Specified Employee on thie ad the Executive’s
Separation from Service, the Pro Rata Bonus skegtldid as provided in Section 9 hereof.

Section 8.  Limitation on Payments by the Company

(@)  Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithreding and except as set forth in this Section 8
below, in the event it shall be determined that payment or distribution in the nature of compeiesatwithin the meaning
of Section 280G(b)(2) of the Code) to or for thedf# of the Executive, whether paid or payablespant to this Agreement
or otherwise (the * Paymefijtwould be subject (in whole or in part) to thecese tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code,
(the * Excise TaX), then, subject to subsection (b), the Pre-Changgontrol Severance Benefit or the Post-Change in
Control Severance Payment (whichever is applicgidgable under this Agreement shall be reducedruhdesubsection
(a) to the amount equal to the Reduced Paymentsielh Payment payable under this Agreement, Reduced Paymerit
shall be the amount equal to the greatest portidmeoPayment (which may be zero) that, if paiduld result in no portion
of any Payment being subject to the Excise Tax.

(b) The Pre-Change in Control Severance Benefit oPthst-Change in Control Severance Payment
(whichever is applicable) payable under this Agreenshall not be reduced under subsection (a) if:

(1) such reduction in such Payment is not sufficierdaose no portion of any Paymen
be subject to the Excise Tax, or

(i) the Net After-Tax Unreduced Payments (as defindoMenvould equal or exceed one



hundred and five percent (105%) of the Net Aftek-Reduced Payments (as defined
below).

For purposes of determining the amount of any RediRayment under subsection (a), and the Net-AtrrReduced
Payments and the Net After-Tax Unreduced Paym#resxecutive shall be considered to pay fedetatle &nd local
income and employment taxes at the Executive’siegde marginal rates taking into consideration seeduction in federal
income taxes which could be obtained from the diolnof state and local income taxes, and any risaluor disallowance
of itemized deductions and personal exemptions uadiglicable tax law). The applicable federaltestnd local income al
employment taxes and the Excise Tax (to the exeplicable) are collectively referred to as theakés'.

(c) The following definitions shall apply for purposefsthis Section 8:

0] “Net After-Tax Reduced Paymentshall mean the total amount of all Payments the
Executive would retain, on a Net After-Tax Basisthe event that the Payments payable under thisekgent are
reduced pursuant to subsection (a).

(i) “Net After-Tax Unreduced Payments” shall mean titaltamount of all Payments that
the Executive would retain, on a Net After-Tax Basgi the event that the Payments payable undeAtieement
are not reduced pursuant to subsection (a).

(i)  “Net After-Tax Basi” shall mean, with respect to the Payments, eithér ariwithout
reduction under subsection (a) (as applicable)atheunt that would be retained by the Executivenfsuch
Payments after the payment of all Taxes.

(d) All determinations required to be made under tlisti®n 8 and the assumptions to be utilized in
arriving at such determinations, shall be made bgt&nally recognized accounting firm as may beeed by the Company
and the Executive (the_* Accounting Fifin provided, that the Accounting Firm’s determination shallmhade based upon
“substantial authority” within the meaning of Secti6662 of the Code. The Accounting Firm shallvjde detailed
supporting calculations to both the Company andetkecutive within fifteen (15) business days of teeeipt of notice from
the Executive that there has been a Payment oreartibr time as is requested by the Company.fe&$ and expenses of
the Accounting Firm shall be borne solely by therpany. Any determination by the Accounting Firnalsbe binding
upon the Company and the Executive. For purpolsdstermining whether and the extent to which tagrifents will be
subject to the Excise Tax, (i) no portion of thgfants the receipt or enjoyment of which the Exeeuthall have waived
such time and in such manner as not to constittpayment” within the meaning of Section 280G(b}tvé Code shall be
taken into account, (ii) no portion of the Paymaesttall be taken into account which, in the writtgrinion of the Accountin
Firm, does not constitute a “parachute paymenthwithe meaning of Section 280G(b)(2) of the Cadelding by reason
of Section 280G(b)(4)(A) of the Code) and, in céting the Excise Tax, no portion of such Paymehtl be taken into
account which, in the opinion of the Accountingniirconstitutes reasonable compensation for seraiceslly rendered,
within the meaning of Section 280G(b)(4)(B) of thede, in excess of the base amount (as definedatidd 280G (b)(3) of
the Code) allocable to such reasonable compensatmoh(iii) the value of any non-cash benefit oy deferred payment or
benefit included in the Payments shall be deterthinethe Accounting Firm in accordance with thenpiples of Sections
280G(d)(3) and (4) of the Code.

Section 9.  Delayed Distribution under Section 409A of the C. If the Executive is a Specifie
Employee on the date of the Executive’s InvoluntBeymination (or on the date of the Executive’s&afpon from Service
by reason of Disability), the Section 409A Paymeatsl any other payments or benefits under thieément subject to
Section 409A of the Code, shall be delayed in ordewvoid a prohibited distribution under Secti@®A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the
Code, and such payments or benefits shall be paltributed to the Executive during the thirt@)lay period
commencing on the earlier of (a) the expiratiomhef six-month period measured from the date oEtkecutive’s Separation
from Service or (b) the date of the Executive’stdedaJpon the expiration of the applicable six-mopériod under Section
409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code, all payments deferpealsuant to this Section 9 (excluding in-kind Heaspshall be paid in a
lump sum payment to the Executive, plus interestetbn from the date of the Executive’s Involuntaeymination through
the payment date at an annual rate equal to ModRlgts. The “ Moodys Rat€e’ shall mean the average of the daily
Moody’s Corporate Bond Yield Average — Monthly Aage Corporates as published by Moody’s Investorgi& Inc. (or
any successor) for the month next preceding the BDTermination. Any remaining payments due uriderAgreement
shall be paid as otherwise provided herein.




Section 10. Nonexclusivity of Rights Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent or lithie Executive’s
continuing or future participation in any benefilan, program, policy or practice provided by then@any and for which
the Executive may qualify (except with respectrig benefit to which the Executive has waived hihts in writing),
including, without limitation, any and all indemigiéition arrangements in favor of the Executive (tnbeunder agreements
or under the Company’s charter documents or otlsejywand insurance policies covering the Executige shall anything
herein limit or otherwise affect such rights as Executive may have under any other contract aeagent entered into af
the Effective Date with the Company. Amounts whach vested benefits or which the Executive ismitse entitled to
receive under any benefit, plan, policy, practicermgram of, or any contract or agreement entgredwith, the Company
shall be payable in accordance with such benéit, policy, practice or program or contract oreggnent except as
explicitly modified by this Agreement. At all timeluring the Executive’employment with the Company and thereafter
Company shall provide (to the extent permissiblgéanrapplicable law) the Executive with indemnifioatand D&O
insurance insuring the Executive against insuratbénts which occur or have occurred while the Etreewvas a director or
the Executive officer of the Company, on terms emalditions that are at least as generous as thaffovided to any other
current or former director or the Executive officéithe Company or any Affiliate. Such indemnitioa and D&O
insurance shall be provided in a manner that caaplith Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b)(10)

Section 11. Clawbacks Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrafrthe Company determines, in
good faith judgment, that if the Executive is reqdito forfeit or to make any repayment of any cengation or benefit(s)
the Company under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 20@fusuant to the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform @odsumer
Protection Act or any other law, such forfeituregpayment shall not constitute Good Reason.

Section 12. Full Settlement; Mitigation The Company’s obligation to make the paymentsiged for in
this Agreement and otherwise to perform its oblas hereunder shall not be affected by any seteofinterclaim,
recoupment, defense or other claim, right or actwbich the Company may have against the Executiathers, provided
that nothing herein shall preclude the Company fseyparately pursuing recovery from the Executive@etaon any such
claim. In no event shall the Executive be obligateseek other employment or take any other attyoway of mitigation ¢
the amounts (including amounts for damages fordbrepayable to the Executive under any of the gioas of this
Agreement, and such amounts shall not be reducetheihor not the Executive obtains other employment

Section 13. Dispute Resolutiol.

(a) If any dispute arises between Executive and thep2oy, including, but not limited to, disputes
relating to or arising out of this Agreement, anti@ relating to or arising out of my employmentts termination, and/or
any disputes regarding the interpretation, enfditiéa or validity of this Agreement (“Arbitrabl®ispute”), Executive and
the Company waive the right to resolve the displuteugh litigation in a judicial forum and agreerésolve the Arbitrable
Dispute through final and binding arbitration, epicas prohibited by law. Arbitration shall be #eclusive remedy for any
Arbitrable Dispute.

(b)  Asto any Arbitrable Dispute, the Company and Exigeuvaive any right to a jury trial or a court
bench trial. The Company and Executive also wtieeright to bring, maintain, or participate in asigss, collective, or
representative proceeding, whether in arbitratioatberwise. Further, Arbitrable Disputes musbbaught in the individual
capacity of the party asserting the claim, and oabe maintained on a class, collective, or reprgwe basis.

(c) Arbitration shall take place at the office of thelitial Arbitration and Mediation Service (“*JAMS”)
(or, if Executive is employed outside of Californiae American Arbitration Association (“AAA”)) eest to the location
where Executive last worked for the Company. Ekbephe extent it conflicts with the rules and ggdures set forth in this
Arbitration Agreement, arbitration shall be condutin accordance with the JAMs Employment ArbitatRules &
Procedures (if Executive is employed outside off@alia, the AAA Employment Arbitration Rules & Mation
Procedures), copies of which are attached for rfereace and available at www.jamsadr.com; tel: . 388.5267 and
www.adr.org; tel: 800.778.7879, before a singlpezienced, neutral employment arbitrator seleaieatcordance with
those rules.

(d) The Company will be responsible for paying anynfjlifee and the fees and costs of the arbitre
Each party shall pay its own attorneys’ fees. Haveif any party prevails on a statutory claimtthathorizes an award of
attorneys’ fees to the prevailing party, or if thés a written agreement providing for attorndegs, the arbitrator may awi
reasonable attorneys’ fees to the prevailing pafplying the same standards a court would appieuthe law applicable
to the claim.



(e) The arbitrator shall apply the Federal Rules otdExce, shall have the authority to entertain aanoti
to dismiss or a motion for summary judgment by pasty, and shall apply the standards governing suations under the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The arbitratoesinot have the authority to consider, certifyhear an arbitration as a
class action, collective action, or any other tgpeepresentative action. The Company and Exeeuteognize that this
Agreement arises out of or concerns interstate cenoenand that the Federal Arbitration Act shalleyovthe arbitration and
shall govern the interpretation or enforcementhdf Arbitration Agreement or any arbitration award.

)] EXECUTIVE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT BY ENTERING INTO THIS &SREEMENT,
EXECUTIVE IS WAIVING ANY RIGHT HE OR SHE MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY.

Section 14. Executiveés Covenants

(@) Confidentiality. The Executive acknowledges that in the courdgsoémployment with the Compa
he has acquired non-public privileged or confida@ntiformation and trade secrets concerning theatjpms, future plans
and methods of doing business (“ Proprietary Infatian”) of the Company and its Affiliates; and the Extee agrees that
it would be extremely damaging to the Company andiffiliates if such Proprietary Information wedésclosed to a
competitor of the Company and its Affiliates oratmy other person or corporation. The Executiveeustdnds and agrees
that all Proprietary Information has been divulgethe Executive in confidence and further undeidseand agrees to keep
all Proprietary Information secret and confidenfetcept for such information which is or becomebligly available other
than as a result of a breach by the Executiveisfatovision or information the Executive is reeurby any governmental,
administrative or court order to disclose) withbnitation in time. In view of the nature of thex&cutives employment an
the Proprietary Information the Executive has aegliduring the course of such employment, the Bxrexlikewise agrees
that the Company and its Affiliates would be irregidy harmed by any disclosure of Proprietary Infation in violation of
the terms of this paragraph and that the Compadytaiffiliates shall therefore be entitled to jom@nary and/or permane
injunctive relief prohibiting the Executive from@aging in any activity or threatened activity imhation of the terms of this
paragraph and to any other relief available to thémquiries regarding whether specific informatmonstitutes Proprietary
Information shall be directed to the Company’s 8eNiice President, Public Policy (or, if such pmsitis vacant, the
Company'’s then Chief Executive Officeprovided, that the Company shall not unreasonably clagsifrmation as
Proprietary Information.

(b) Non-Solicitation of Employee. The Executive recognizes that he possesses ildmbsses:
confidential information about other employeeshe Company and its Affiliates relating to their edtion, experience,
skills, abilities, compensation and benefits, andri-personal relationships with customers of tben@any and its Affiliates.
The Executive recognizes that the information t&spsses and will possess about these other eraplisyeot generally
known, is of substantial value to the Company amdiffiliates in developing their business and @cgring and retaining
customers, and has been and will be acquired bybkitause of his business position with the Compaualyits Affiliates.
The Executive agrees that at all times duringgkecutive’'s employment with the Company and foedaqa of one (1) year
thereafter, he will not, directly or indirectly,l&it or recruit any employee of the Company orAf§iliates for the purpose «
being employed by him or by any competitor of therpany or its Affiliates on whose behalf he is rgtas an agent,
representative or employee and that he will novegrany such confidential information or trade sésabout other
employees of the Company and its Affiliates to ather personprovided, howeverthat it shall not constitute a solicitation
or recruitment of employment in violation of thigragraph to discuss employment opportunities witheanployee of the
Company or its Affiliates who has either first cactied the Executive or regarding whose employnienEkecutive has
discussed with and received the written approvéhefCompany’s Vice President, Human Resourcesf®uch position is
vacant, the Company'’s then Chief Executive Officprijor to making such solicitation or recruitmen. view of the nature
of the Executive’s employment with the Company, Executive likewise agrees that the Company andfftsates would
be irreparably harmed by any solicitation or retongint in violation of the terms of this paragrapld ghat the Company and
its Affiliates shall therefore be entitled to prelhary and/or permanent injunctive relief prohibgtithe Executive from
engaging in any activity or threatened activityialation of the terms of this paragraph and to ather relief available to
them.

(c) Survival of Provision:. The obligations contained in Section 14(a) aectiSn 14(b) above she
survive the termination of the Executive’s employineithin the Company and shall be fully enforceatblereafter. If it is
determined by a court of competent jurisdictiominy state that any restriction in Section 14(c$ection 14(b) above is
excessive in duration or scope or is unreasonahl@enforceable under the laws of that state,thiésintention of the parties
that such restriction may be modified or amendethbycourt to render it enforceable to the maxinextent permitted by
the law of that state.




(d) Release; Lump Sum Paymenin the event of the Executive’s Involuntary Taration, if the
Executive (i) reconfirms and agrees to abide byctheenants described in Section 14(a) and Sectdn) hbove, (ii)
executes the Release within fifty (50) days atterdate of Involuntary Termination and does nobkevsuch Release in
accordance with the terms thereof, and (iii) agtegwovide the consulting services described ictiSe 14(e) below, then
consideration for such covenants and consultinges, the Company shall pay the Executive, inaash lump sum, an
amount (the “_Consulting Paymeitin cash equal to one-half (0.5) times the greafe (X) 145% of the Executive’s
Annual Base Salary as in effect on the Date of Treation, and (Y) the Executive’s Annual Base Saksyn effect on the
Date of Termination, plus the Executive’s AverageAal Bonus. Except as provided in this subsegcti@Consulting
Payment shall be paid on such date as is deterrbpéte Company within the ten (10) day period canoing on the 68
day after the date of the Executive’s Involuntagyrmination;provided, howeverthat if the Executive is a Specified
Employee on the date of the Executive’s InvolunfBeymination, the Consulting Payment shall be jpaighrovided in
Section 9 hereof. The Executive shall have thiet tig elect to defer the Consulting Payment undertérms and conditions
of the Company’s Deferred Compensation Plan. Arohgleferral election shall be made in accordarite Section 18(b)
hereof.

(e) Consulting. If the Executive agrees to the provisions dbattion 14(d) above, then the Executive
shall have the obligation to provide consultingvgsss to the Company as an independent contraadormencing on the
Date of Termination and ending on the first anrsaey of the Date of Termination (the “ ConsultingyriBd”). The
Executive shall hold himself available at reasoediohes and on reasonable notice to render suduttony services as may
be so assigned to him by the Board or the Compahgis Chief Executive Officegrovided, howeverthat unless the
parties otherwise agree, the consulting serviceder@d by the Executive during the Consulting Resizall not exceed
twenty (20) hours each month; apdovided, further, that the consulting services rendered by the &Exexduring the
Consulting Period shall in no event exceed tweertgent (20%) of the average level of services peréal by the Executive
for the Company over the thirty-six (36) month pdrimmediately preceding the Executs&eparation from Service (or-
full period of services to the Company, if the Extee has been providing services to the Companiefs than thirty-six
(36) months). The Company agrees to use its fifestseduring the Consulting Period to secure thediit of the
Executive’s consulting services so as to minimieeinterference with the Executive’s other actatiincluding requiring
the performance of consulting services at the Cayipabffices only when such services may not beseably performed
off-site by the Executive.

Section 15. Legal Fees

(@) Reimbursement of Legal FeesSubject to subsection (b), in the event of tkedstive’s Separation
from Service either (1) prior to a Change in Colto (2) on or within two (2) years following a @hge in Control, the
Company shall reimburse the Executive for all ldgak and expenses (including but not limited &sfend expenses in
connection with any arbitration) incurred by thesEdtive in disputing any issue arising under thgge®ment relating to the
Executive’s Separation from Service or in seekmglitain or enforce any benefit or right providectins Agreement.

(b) Requirements for ReimbursemenThe Company shall reimburse the Executive’slléggss and
expenses pursuant to subsection (a) above onhetextent the arbitrator or court determines thieviang: (i) the Executiv
disputed such issue, or sought to obtain or enfeuck benefit or right, in good faith, (ii) the Exs#ive had a reasonable
basis for such claim, and (iii) in the case of gatien (a)(1) above, the Executive is the prevagiparty. In addition, the
Company shall reimburse such legal fees and expeasd if such legal fees and expenses are indwueing the twenty
(20) year period beginning on the date of the Etteeis Separation from Service. The legal feed expenses paid to the
Executive for any taxable year of the Executivdlgia affect the legal fees and expenses paitiéd=xecutive for any oth
taxable year of the Executive. The legal feesexpénses shall be paid to the Executive on or befa last day of the
Executive’s taxable year following the taxable y@awhich the fees or expenses are incurred. Neeidive’s right to
reimbursement of legal fees and expenses shalismstibject to liquidation or exchange for any otierefit. Such right to
reimbursement of legal fees and expenses shalidweded in a manner that complies with TreasuryRagpn Section
1.409A-3(i)(1)(iv). If the Executive is a Specidi&€mployee on the date of the Executive’s Separdtmm Service, such
right to reimbursement of legal fees and expenisals Ise paid as provided in Section 9 hereof.

Section 16. Successors

(&) Assignment by the ExecutiveThis Agreement is personal to the Executiveaitidout the prior
written consent of Sempra Energy shall not be as$ilg by the Executive otherwise than by will e thws of descent and
distribution. This Agreement shall inure to theéfit of and be enforceable by the Executive’s legpresentatives.




(b) Successors and Assigns of Sempra Energiliis Agreement shall inure to the benefit of aed
binding upon Sempra Energy, its successors angresssSempra Energy may not assign this Agreerneatyt person or
entity (except for a successor described in Sedit{n), (d) or (e) below) without the Executive’sitten consent.

(c)  Assumption Sempra Energy shall require any successor (whelihect or indirect, by purchase,
merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or sahsally all of the business and/or assets of Sarirergy to assume
expressly and agree to perform the obligationssatidfy and discharge the liabilities of this Agremt in the same manner
and to the same extent that Sempra Energy woule besn required to perform the obligations andfedind discharge the
liabilities under this Agreement if no such sucaas$ad taken place, and Sempra Energy shall haverther obligations
and liabilities under this Agreement. Upon suckuagption, references to Sempra Energy in this Agese shall be
replaced with references to such successor.

(d) Sale of Subsidiary In the event that (i) the Executive is emplopgda direct or indirect subsidiary of
Sempra Energy that is a member of the Sempra Er@&wgirol Group, (i) Sempra Energy, directly orimegtly through one
or more intermediaries, sells or otherwise dispasasich subsidiary, and (iii) such subsidiary esas be a member of the
Sempra Energy Control Group, then if, on the datd subsidiary ceases to be a member of the Seemergy Control
Group, the Executive continues in employment witbhssubsidiary and the Executive does not havepar&gon from
Service, Sempra Energy shall require such subgidiaany successor (whether direct or indirectpbschase merger,
consolidation or otherwise) to such subsidiarytherparent thereof, to assume expressly and ageerfiorm the obligatior
and satisfy and discharge the liabilities undes fkgreement in the same manner and to the samet ¢ixéé Sempra Energy
would have been required to perform the obligatems satisfy and discharge the liabilities under ftigreement, if such
subsidiary had not ceased to be part of the SeEpeagy Control Group, and, upon such assumptiomp®e Energy shall
have no further obligations and liabilities undes Agreement. Upon such assumption, (i) referetcc&empra Energy in
this Agreement shall be replaced with referencesutt subsidiary, or such successor or parentdhergsuming this
Agreement, and (ii) subsection (b) of the defimtaf “Cause” and subsection (b) of the definitidri®@ood Reason” shall
apply thereafter, as if a Change in Control haduoecl on the date of such cessation.

(e) Sale of Assets of Subsidiaryln the event that (i) the Executive is employpgda direct or indirect
subsidiary of Sempra Energy, and (ii) such subsidalls or otherwise disposes of substantial assetuch subsidiary to :
unrelated service recipient, as determined undeasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(f)(2)(ii) (thAsset Purchasé}, in a
transaction described in Treasury Regulation Sedid09A-1(h)(4) (an “ Asset Sdlg then if, on the date of such Asset
Sale, the Executive becomes employed by the AssehBser, Sempra Energy and the Asset Purchadesgdeafy, in
accordance with Treasury Regulation Section 1.408A¢4), that the Executive shall not be treateiasng a Separation
from Service, and Sempra Energy shall require #sset Purchaser, or the parent thereof, to assupressly and agree to
perform the obligations and satisfy and dischahgditbilities under this Agreement in the same mearand to the same
extent that Sempra Energy would have been regtorpdrform the obligations and satisfy and dischadhg liabilities under
this Agreement, if the Asset Sale had not takeogpland, upon such assumption, Sempra Energyhehadino further
obligations and liabilities under the Agreemengpold such assumption, (i) references to Sempra Emeithis Agreement
shall be replaced with references to the AssetHaser or the parent thereof, as applicable, andufisection (b) of the
definition of “Cause” and subsection (b) of theidiibn of “Good Reason” shall apply thereafter jfees Change in Control
had occurred on the date of the Asset Sale.

Section 17. Administration Prior to Change in ControlPrior to a Change in Control, the Compensation
Committee shall have full and complete authoritg@astrue and interpret the provisions of this &gnent, to determine an
individual's entitlement to benefits under this Agment, to make in its sole and absolute discretficteterminations
contemplated under this Agreement, to investigateraake factual determinations necessary or adeisaladminister or
implement this Agreement, and to adopt such rubelspeiocedures as it deems necessary or advisattteefadministration
or implementation of this Agreement. All deterntinoas made under this Agreement by the Compens@&anmittee shall
be final and binding on all interested personsorRo a Change in Control, the Compensation Cotemiiay delegate
responsibilities for the operation and administratdf this Agreement to one or more officers or kyges of the Company.
The provisions of this Section 17 shall termirete be of no further force and effect upon the oetwce of a Change in
Control.

Section 18. Section 409A of the Code.

(a) Compliance with and Exemption from Section 409Ahef Code Certain payments and benefits
payable under this Agreement (including, withomtitation, the Section 409A Payments) are intendezbtmply with the




requirements of Section 409A of the Code. Cemayments and benefits payable under this
Agreement are intended to be exempt from the rements of Section 409A of the Code. This Agreersbatl be
interpreted in accordance with the applicable negments of, and exemptions from, Section 409A efGode and the
Treasury Regulations thereunder. To the extenpéyenents and benefits under this Agreement aljecuio Section 409A
of the Code, this Agreement shall be interpretedstrued and administered in a manner that saitferequirements of
Sections 409A(a)(2), (3) and (4) of the Code amdTiteasury Regulations thereunder (subject torémesitional relief under
Internal Revenue Service Notice 2005-1, the Prap&sgulations under Section 409A of the Code, iateiRevenue
Service Notice 2006-79, Internal Revenue Servicedd®007-78, Internal Revenue Service Notice 286 'and other
applicable authority issued by the Internal Reve®ervice). As provided in Internal Revenue Nof26€7-86,
notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreeevith respect to an election or amendment taxghaa time or form of
payment under this Agreement made on or after Jariy@2008 and on or before December 31, 2008eldnaion or
amendment shall apply only with respect to paym#raswould not otherwise be payable in 2008, dradl 10t cause
payments to be made in 2008 that would not otherlséspayable in 2008. If the Company and the Brerdetermine that
any compensation, benefits or other payments tiegbayable under this Agreement and intended tqbomith Sections
409A(a)(2), (3) and (4) of the Code do not compithvsection 409A of the Code, the Treasury Regoetithereunder and
other applicable authority issued by the Internev&hue Service, to the extent permitted under &edld9A of the Code, tl
Treasury Regulations thereunder and any applicaliteority issued by the Internal Revenue Serviee Gompany and the
Executive agree to amend this Agreement, or takk sther actions as the Company and the Execuéeendeasonably
necessary or appropriate, to cause such compemsaginefits and other payments to comply with dguirements of
Section 409A of the Code, the Treasury Regulatibessunder and other applicable authority issuethéynternal Revenue
Service, while providing compensation, benefits atiter payments that are, in the aggregate, nddessable than the
compensation, benefits and other payments provideeér this Agreement. In the case of any compmmsdienefits or
other payments that are payable under this Agreeamehintended to comply with Sections 409A(a)(2),and (4) of the
Code, if any provision of the Agreement would casiseh compensation, benefits or other paymentailttofso comply,
such provision shall not be effective and shalhbk and void with respect to such compensationghits or other payments
to the extent such provision would cause a failareomply, and such provision shall otherwise remiaifull force and
effect.

(b) Deferral Election:. As provided in Sections 4(f), 5(h) and 14(dg Bxecutive may elect to defer 1
Pre-Change in Control Severance Payment, the Raatge in Control Severance Payment and the Comguithyment as
follows. The Executive’s deferral election shaltisfy the requirements of Treasury Regulation i8act.409A-2(b) and the
terms and conditions of the Deferred Compensatian.PSuch deferral election shall designate thelevpercentage (up tc
maximum of 100%) of the Pre-Change in Control Sawee Payment, the Post-Change in Control SeveRay@ment and
the Consulting Payment to be deferred, shall levatable when made, and shall not take effect ahtdast twelve (12)
months after the date on which the election is meglech deferral election shall provide that theant deferred shall be
deferred for a period of not less than five (5)rgdaom the date the payment of the amount defem@add otherwise have
been made, in accordance with Treasury Regulagatiéh 1.409A-2(b)(1)(ii).

Section 19. Miscellaneous

(@) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and condtiiaccordance with the laws
the State of California, without reference to itsipiples of conflict of laws. The captions ofsbAgreement are not part of
the provisions hereof and shall have no force facef This Agreement may not be amended, modifiggealed, waived,
extended or discharged except by an agreementitingvsigned by the party against whom enforcenoéisuich amendmer
modification, repeal, waiver, extension or discleaigysought. No person, other than pursuant ésalution of the Board or
a committee thereof, shall have authority on bebfaihe Company to agree to amend, modify, repeailve, extend or
discharge any provision of this Agreement or amghin reference thereto.

(b) Notices. All notices and other communications hereundetl $e in writing and shall be given by
hand delivery to the other party or by registeredeastified mail, return receipt requested, postagpaid, addressed, in
either case, to the Company’s headquarters ordio gilner address as either party shall have fuedist the other in writing
in accordance herewith. Notices and communicattiadl be effective when actually received by ttdrassee.

(@) Severability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any prosa of this Agreement shall not affect t
validity or enforceability of any other provisiom this Agreement.

(d) Taxes. The Company may withhold from any amounts payaibider this Agreement such federal,



state or local taxes as shall be required to behelt pursuant to any applicable law or regulation.

(e) No Waiver. The Executiv's or the Compar's failure to insist upon strict compliance with ¢
provision hereof or any other provision of this Agment or the failure to assert any right the Etreewr the Company me
have hereunder, including, without limitation, tight of the Executive to terminate employment@wod Reason pursuant
to Section 1 hereof, or the right of the Compantetainate the Executive’s employment for Causeyamt to Section 1
hereof shall not be deemed to be a waiver of suavigion or right or any other provision or rigttthis Agreement.

) Entire Agreement; Exclusive Benefit; SupersessioRrior Agreemen. This instrument contains tl
entire agreement of the Executive, the Companygipaedecessor or subsidiary thereof with respeatt severance or
termination pay. The Pre-Change in Control Sevardaayment, the Post-Change in Control Severangedd and all
other benefits provided hereunder shall be inditany other severance payments to which the Execig entitled under
any other severance plan or program or arrangespemsored by the Company, as well as pursuantytindividual
employment or severance agreement that was eriteoebly the Executive and the Company, and, upertifective Date
of this Agreement, all such plans, programs, aeargnts and agreements are hereby automaticallysagse and
terminated.

(9) No Right of Employment Nothing in this Agreement shall be construediamg the Executive any
right to be retained in the employ of the Companglall interfere in any way with the right of t@®@mpany to terminate tl
Executive’'s employment at any time, with or with@ause.

(h)  Unfunded Obligation The obligations under this Agreement shall bieigled. Benefits payable
under this Agreement shall be paid from the gerasséts of the Company. The Company shall hawbigation to
establish any fund or to set aside any assettoda benefits under this Agreement.

0] Termination upon Sale of Assets of Subsid. Notwithstanding anything contained herein,
Agreement shall automatically terminate and beoofunther force and effect and no benefits shalbdgable hereunder in
the event that (i) the Executive is employed byraad or indirect subsidiary of Sempra Energy, édn Asset Sale (as
defined in Section 16(e)) occurs (other than sushl@ or disposition which is part of a transactoseries of transactions
which would result in a Change in Control), and @k a result of such Asset Sale, the Executivéfesed employment by
the Asset Purchaser in an executive position veiisonably comparable status, compensation, beastitseverance
agreement (including the assumption of this Agregnreaccordance with Section 16(e)) and whicloissistent with the
Executive’s experience and education, but the Bikexdeclines to accept such offer and the Exeeutis to become
employed by the Asset Purchaser on the date disbet Sale.

()] Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence orttifiective Date and shall continue until the
third (3rd) anniversary of the Effective Dapgpvided, howeverthat commencing on the second (2nd) anniversiaityeo
Effective Date (and each anniversary of the Effechate thereafter), the term of this Agreemenl shiomatically be
extended for one (1) additional year, unless atlemety (90) days prior to such date, the Comparthe Executive shall
give written notice to the other party that it @; las the case may be, does not wish to so exienddreement.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Company gigeich written notice to the Executive less tham (@) years after a
Change in Control, the term of this Agreement sbalautomatically extended until the later of (A@ tlate that is one (1)
year after the anniversary of the Effective Da#d tbllows such written notice or (B) the seconddRanniversary of the
Change in Control Date.

(k) Counterparts This Agreement may be executed in several copatts, each of which shall be
deemed to be an original but all of which togettall constitute one and the same instrument.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Executive and, pursuardue authorization from its Board of Directors, the
Company have caused this Agreement to be execstefitae day and year first above written.

SEMPRA ENERGY

G. Joyce Rowland
Senior Vice President, Human Resources, Diversitylaclusion

Date

EXECUTIVE

Robert M. Schlax
Vice President, Controller, and Chief FinancialiCdf

Date



EXHIBIT A
GENERAL RELEASE

This GENERAL RELEASE (the * Agreemetfjt dated , Is made by and between
, a California cator (the“ Company”) and @

you” or “ your”).

WHEREAS, you and the Company have previously edten® that certain Severance Pay Agreement dated
, 20___ (tF Severance Pay Agreeméitand

WHEREAS, your right to receive certain severancggrad benefits pursuant to the terms of Section 4 o
Section 5 of the Severance Pay Agreement, as apfdicare subject to and conditioned upon your i@t and non-
revocation of a general release of claims by yaireg the Company and its subsidiaries and a##iat

WHEREAS, your right to receive the Consulting Paptrrovided pursuant to Section 14(d) of the Sawes
Pay Agreement is subject to and conditioned upam ggecution and non-revocation of a general releh€laims by you
against the Company and its subsidiaries andatf#i and your adherence to the covenants desenimd Section 14 of tl
Severance Pay Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premisas$ e mutual covenants herein contained, you ag
Company hereby agree as follows:

ONE: Your signing of this Agreement confirms tiyatir employment with the Company shall terminate at
the close of business on , Or eaiien wur mutual agreement.

TWO: As a material inducement for the paymenhefdeverance and benefits under the Severance Pay
Agreement, and except as otherwise provided inAgreement, you and the Company hereby irrevocaibdly
unconditionally release, acquit and forever disghdhe other from any and all Claims either mayehagyainst the other. F
purposes of this Agreement and the preceding seatéme words “Releasee” or “Releasees” and “Claint'Claims” shall
have the meanings set forth below:

(a) The words “ Releasé€eor “ Releasee$ shall refer to you and to the Company and eadhef
Company’s owners, stockholders, predecessors, Ssme assigns, agents, directors, officers, erapiyrepresentatives,
attorneys, advisors, parent companies, divisianssidiaries, affiliates (and agents, directorsicefs, employees,
representatives, attorneys and advisors of su@npaompanies, divisions, subsidiaries and afé§atind all persons acting
by, through, under or in concert with any of them.

(b) The words “ Claint or “ Claims” shall refer to any charges, complaints, clairnahilities,
obligations, promises, agreements, controversasades, actions, causes of action, suits, rightaadds, costs, losses,
debts and expenses (including attorneys’ fees asts @ctually incurred) of any nature whatsoeveown or unknown,
suspected or unsuspected, which you or the Compawyin the past or, in the future may have, owhald against any of
the Releaseegrovided, howeverthat the word “Claim” or “Claims” shall not refey any charges, complaints, claims,
liabilities, obligations, promises, agreements,tomrersies, damages, actions, causes of actidas, sights, demands, costs,
losses, debts and expenses (including attornegs’dad costs actually incurred) arising unddeftify severance, employee
benefits, stock option, indemnification and D&Odanther agreements containing duties, rights oltiages etc. of either
party that are to remain operati\]. Claims released pursuant to this Agreementdayand the Company include, but are
not limited to, rights arising out of alleged vittms of any contracts, express or implied, any, tdaim, any claim that you
failed to perform or negligently performed or brieed your duties during employment at the Company;l@gal restrictions
on the Company’s right to terminate employmenttieteships or any federal, state or other governalestatute, regulation,
or ordinance, governing the employment relationgigpuding, without limitation: all state and fedélaws and regulations
prohibiting discrimination based on protected catexg, and all state and federal laws and reguiafohibiting retaliation
against employees for engaging in protected agtoriiegal off-duty conduct. This release doesexténd to claims for
workers’ compensation or other claims which by faay not be waived or released by this Agreement.

THREE: You and the Company expressly waive aridqeish all rights and benefits afforded by anyugta



(including but not limited to Section 1542 of theviCCode of the State of California and analogtawss of
other states) which limits the effect of a releagt@ respect to unknown claims. You and the Comgpmso understanding
and acknowledging the significance of the reledsenknown claims and the waiver of statutory pratetagainst a release
of unknown claims (including but not limited to $iea 1542 and analogous laws of other states)ti@®@et542 of the Civil
Code of the State of California states as follows:

‘A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS WHICHHE CREDITOR
DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR HER FAR AT THE TIME OF
EXECUTING THE RELEASE, WHICH IF KNOWN BY HIM OR HERMUST HAVE
MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR.

Thus, notwithstanding the provisions of SectionZL64 of any similar statute, and for the purposergfiementing a full an
complete release and discharge of the Releasagesngbthe Company expressly acknowledge that thisément is
intended to include in its effect, without limitari, all Claims which are known and all Claims whydu or the Company do
not know or suspect to exist in your or the Compgfgvor at the time of execution of this Agreemantl that this
Agreement contemplates the extinguishment of alh<Tiaims.

FOUR: The parties acknowledge that they might dféee discover facts different from, or in addititm
those they now know or believe to be true with eespo a Claim or Claims released herein, and éxgyessly agree to
assume the risk of possible discovery of additiemalifferent facts, and agree that this Agreenséall be and remain
effective, in all respects, regardless of suchtamtil or different discovered facts.

FIVE: You hereby represent and acknowledge thathave not filed any Claim of any kind against the
Company or others released in this Agreement. fidher hereby expressly agree never to initiagaregy the Company or
others released in this Agreement any adminisggiroceeding, lawsuit or any other legal or eqleét@ipoceeding of any
kind asserting any Claims that are released inAgreement. You agree that you will not be erditie any monetary
recovery that may result from any agency actionrsgahe Company related to the Claims releasetthisyAgreement.

The Company hereby represents and acknowledges kizest not filed any Claim of any kind against yau
others released in this Agreement. The Compariiduhereby expressly agrees never to initiatenaygou or others
released in this Agreement any administrative prdogy, lawsuit or any other legal or equitable pexting of any kind
asserting any Claims that are released in this éxgemat.

SIX: You hereby represent and agree that you havassigned or transferred, or attempted to hasig@ed
or transfer, to any person or entity, any of thai@b that you are releasing in this Agreement.

The Company hereby represents and agrees that itdiassigned or transferred, or attempted to have
assigned or transfer, to any person or entity,adrige Claims that it is releasing in this Agreemen

SEVEN: As a further material inducement to the @any to enter into this Agreement, you hereby atpee
indemnify and hold each of the Releasees harmitessdll loss, costs, damages, or expenses, inguaithout limitation,
attorneys’ fees incurred by the Releasees, ar@min@f any breach of this Agreement by you or et that any
representation made in this Agreement by you wiae f@ahen made.

As a further material inducement to you to entéw this Agreement, the Company hereby agrees tnimafy
and hold each of the Releasees harmless fromssll tmsts, damages, or expenses, including witimoittion, attorneys’
fees incurred by the Releasees, arising out obaggch of this Agreement by it or the fact that esgresentation made in
this Agreement by it was knowingly false when made.

EIGHT: You and the Company represent and acknaydédat in executing this Agreement, neither iging
upon any representation or statement not set fiortthis Agreement or the Severance Agreement.

NINE: (a) This Agreement shall not in any way be construeanaadmission by the Company that it
acted wrongfully with respect to you or any othergmn, or that you have any rights whatsoever agtie Company, and
the Company specifically disclaims any liabilitydowrongful acts against you or any other persorthe part of itself, its
employees or its agents. This Agreement shalimahy way be construed as an admission by yowthahave acted
wrongfully with respect to the Company, or that yailed to perform your duties or negligently perfed or breached your
duties, or that the Company had good cause to natsiyour employment.



(b) If you are a party or are threatened to be madatg o any proceeding by reason of the fact
that you were an officer or director of the Compahg Company shall indemnify you against any egper{including
reasonable attorneys’ feggpvided, that counsel has been approved by the Companytprretention, which approval sh
not be unreasonably withheld), judgments, finettleseents and other amounts actually or reasonabiyred by you in
connection with that proceedingrovided, that you acted in good faith and in a mannerngasonably believed to be in the
best interest of the Company. The limitations afiférnia Corporations Code Section 317 shall applthis assurance of
indemnification.

(©) You agree to cooperate with the Company and itgydated attorneys, representatives
agents in connection with any actual or threatguétial, administrative or other legal or equitalproceeding in which the
Company is or may become involved. Upon reasonadtiee, you agree to meet with and provide toGbenpany or its
designated attorneys, representatives or agerntda@ination and knowledge you have relating togbbject matter of any
such proceeding. The Company agrees to reimbuséoy any reasonable costs you incur in providingh cooperation.

TEN: This Agreement is entered into in Califoriaiad shall be governed by substantive California, lexcept &
provided in this section. If any dispute arisesMeen you and the Company, including but not lichite, disputes relating
this Agreement, or if you prosecute a claim youpputed to release by means of this Agreement (‘tAable Dispute”)you
and the Company agree to resolve that Arbitrablpilte through final and binding arbitration undes section. You als
agree to arbitrate any Arbitrable Dispute whichodlsvolves any other released party who offersgrees to arbitrate t
dispute under this section. Your agreement taratiei applies, for example, to disputes about Higliy, interpretation, ¢
effect of this Agreement or alleged violations gfdlaims of discrimination under federal or sties, or other statuto
violation claims.

As to any Arbitrable Dispute, you and the Compamywe any right to a jury trial or a court benclakri You and the
Company also waive the right to bring, maintainparticipate in any class, collective, or repreative proceeding, whether
in arbitration or otherwise. Further, Arbitrablésputes must be brought in the individual capagitthe party asserting the
claim, and cannot be maintained on a class, colabr representative basis.

Arbitration shall take place in San Diego, Califiermnder the employment dispute resolution ruleshef Judicie
Arbitration and Mediation Service (“JAMS”)of, if you are employed outside of California a time of the termination
your employment, at the nearest location of the Araa Arbitration Association and in accordancehwiite AAA rules)
before an experienced employment arbitrator sederteaccordance with those rules. The arbitratay mot modify o
change this Agreement in any way. The Companybelresponsible for paying any filing fee and tbesfand costs of t
Arbitrator; provided, however, that if you are th&rty initiating the claim, you will contribute amount equal to the filir
fee to initiate a claim in the court of generalgdiction in the state in which you are employedlioyy Company. Each pa
shall pay for its own costs and attornefegs, if any. However if any party prevails ontattory claim which affords tl
prevailing party attorneys’ fees and costs, ohéreé is a written agreement providing for attorhdges and/or costs, t
Arbitrator may award reasonable attorreejees and/or costs to the prevailing party, applythe same standards a ¢
would apply under the law applicable to the claifthe Arbitrator shall apply the Federal Rules ofdence and shall ha
the authority to entertain a motion to dismiss ena@tion for summary judgment by any party and shpply the standar
governing such motions under the Federal Rulesidf Brocedure. The Federal Arbitration Act shgdivern the arbitratic
and shall govern the interpretation or enforcenodrhis section or any arbitration award. The tabor will not have th
authority to consider, certify, or hear an arbitiatas a class action, collective action, or arleptype of representati
action.

To the extent that the Federal Arbitration Actriapplicable, California law pertaining to arbitoati
agreements shall apply. Arbitration in this marstall be the exclusive remedy for any Arbitrabisddte. Except as
prohibited by the ADEA, should you or the Compattgmpt to resolve an Arbitrable Dispute by any mdtbther than
arbitration pursuant to this section, the respomgiarty will be entitled to recover from the inttreg party all damages,
expenses, and attorneys’ fees incurred as a @&dhits breach. This section TEN supersedes aisfieg arbitration
agreement between the Company and me as to anyaklei Dispute. Notwithstanding anything in thégtson TEN to the
contrary, a claim for benefits under an ERISA-cedeplan shall not be an Arbitrable Dispute.

ELEVEN: Both you and the Company understand thiatAgreement is final and binding eight (8) daiftsra
its execution and return. Should you neverthedtgsnpt to challenge the enforceability of this @égmnent as provided in
Paragraph TEN or, in violation of that Paragraphough litigation, as a further limitation on anght to make such a
challenge, you shall initially tender to the Comypdby certified check delivered to the Companynadinies received
pursuant to Sections 4 or 5 of the Severance Pageixuent, as applicable, plus interest, and intigeGompany to retain



such monies and agree with you to cancel this Agest and void the Company’s obligations under ef th
Severance Pay Agreement. In the event the Comgpaagpts this offer, the Company shall retain suohigs and this
Agreement shall be canceled and the Company siad ho obligation under of the Severance Pay Ageaemin the event
the Company does not accept such offer, the Comgiaay so notify you and shall place such moniesrnirinterest-bearing
escrow account pending resolution of the disputerden you and the Company as to whether or no#tisement and the
Company’s obligations under of the Severance Pagé&gent shall be set aside and/or otherwise retdeidable or
unenforceable. Additionally, any consulting agreefrthen in effect between you and the Company beammediately
rescinded with no requirement of notice.

TWELVE: Any notices required to be given undestAgreement shall be delivered either personallyyor
first class United States mail, postage prepaidressed to the respective parties as follows:

To Company: [TO COME]
Attn: [TO COME]

To You:

THIRTEEN: You understand and acknowledge thatlyawe been given a period of forty-five (45) days to
review and consider this Agreement (as well asssitzd| data on the persons eligible for similanéigs) before signing it
and may use as much of this forty-five (45) dayiqukas you wish prior to signing. You are encoerhgt your personal
expense, to consult with an attorney before sigthiggyAgreement. You understand and acknowledgevhether or not
you do so is your decision. You may revoke thise&gnent within seven (7) days of signing it. Itiywish to revoke, the
Company'’s Vice President, Human Resources musiveeegitten notice from you no later than the cla$dusiness on the
seventh (7th) day after you have signed the Agreémiérevoked, this Agreement shall not be effextand enforceable,
and you will not receive payments or benefits urileetions 4 or 5 of the Severance Pay Agreemeap@able.

FOURTEEN: This Agreement constitutes the entineament of the parties hereto and supersedes any an
all other agreements (except the Severance Payefgnet) with respect to the subject matter of trgsement, whether
written or oral, between you and the Company. mddifications and amendments to this Agreement ioeish writing and
signed by the parties.

FIFTEEN: Each party agrees, without further coesation, to sign or cause to be signed, and to@etio the
other party, any other documents and to take amgr@iction as may be necessary to fulfill the @ltiaps under this
Agreement.

SIXTEEN: If any provision of this Agreement or thpplication thereof is held invalid, the invalidghall no
affect other provisions or applications of the Agreent which can be given effect without the invalidvisions or
application; and to this end the provisions of thigeement are declared to be severable.

SEVENTEEN: This Agreement may be executed in cenpatrts.

| have read the foregoing General Release, andelph@nd agree to the provisions it contains ameldye
execute it voluntarily and with full understandiofjits consequences. | am aware it includes aselef all known or
unknown claims.

DATED:

DATED:

You acknowledge that you first received this Agreaton [date].






Exhibit 10.71

<YEAR> Executive Incentive Compensation Plan — Sout  hern California Gas Company
ICP Plan Year: January 1, <YEAR> to December 31, <Y EAR>

INTRODUCTION

The Southern California Gas Company (SoCalGas) Incentive Compensation Plan (ICP) is designed to attract, retain, and engage
executives whose efforts contribute to the success of SoCalGas and Sempra Energy (SE). The plan aligns with Sempra Energy’s goal of
sustained earnings growth and the utility’s regulatory framework with goals that encourage executives to drive towards our aspirations
and to:

* Maintain high safety standards,

* Grow the business through enterprise thinking while maximizing revenues/profits,

* Focus on a common set of high-level goals that encourages teamwork and achievement of operational excellence,

* Focus on business efficiencies and investments that produce long-term efficiency benefits,

* Increase reliability of delivery service,

* Enhance customer focus to achieve optimal customer satisfaction, and

* Achieve high level of employee commitment and contribution through sharing of business success and the establishment of key

performance indicators.

PARTICIPATION

Executives who meet all of the following eligibility requirements will participate in this incentive plan for <YEAR>.

1. Employee is an eligible executive, as determined by the SoCalGas Board of Directors, for at least three consecutive full months during
<YEAR> and is an employee on December 31, <YEAR> or meets other eligibility requirements as listed under section: Employee Status
Changes.

2. Participant has met minimum job expectations and performed satisfactorily, as determined by his/her supervisor in conjunction with Human
Resources.

3. Participant is not in another formal incentive plan in <YEAR>.

Participation in one plan year does not constitute the right to participate in succeeding plan years. This plan does not constitute a
contract of employment or guarantee of an incentive award payment and cannot be relied on as such.

BASIS FOR AWARD CALCULATION

Awards are calculated based on the employee’s “Basis for Award Calculation” ( BAC ) while on the active payroll. BAC includes annual
base salary on December 31, <YEAR> plus any eligible lump sum payment that may be granted during <YEAR>. Other awards (e.g.
spot cash); incentives, premiums and payments are not included in the BAC.

<YEAR> PERFORMANCE GOALS AND MEASURES

<YEAR> Performance Goals & Measures Weight Multiplier

FINANCIAL GOALS (in millions)

OPERATIONAL GOALS

TOTAL 100%

FINANCIAL MEASURES

Sempra Energy Earnings
Sempra Energy Earnings are revenue minus expense, less tax. Employees can influence earnings by either increasing revenue or




decreasing expenses. Earnings are determined after accounting for the appropriate accrued level of incentive compensation expense.

Sempra Energy Earnings exclude:
o <DEFINE EXCLUSIONS>
Southern California Gas Company (SoCalGas) Earnings

<Define SCG Financial Measure>

OPERATIONAL GOALS

The payout for all Operational Goals range between 0%-200%.

<Define Operational Measures>

CALCULATION, CERTIFICATION AND PAYMENT OF AWARDS

Award potentials will be linearly interpolated between the minimum and target, or target and maximum goals. There is no award payout
for performance at or below the minimum goals. The payout for the financial component may, at management’s discretion, be reduced
in consideration of individual performance.

Adjustments to the budget target for ICP calculation purposes will require the written approval of the Chief Executive Officer of
SoCalGas. The approved exceptions will be limited to costs or expenses related to future growth opportunities and the funding of
process improvements above the planned budget.

The SoCalGas Board of Directors must approve awards. Approved awards will be paid by March 15, 2014 and will be subject to
appropriate tax withholding. Such awards are considered pension-eligible earnings for the Cash Balance Plan and are included as
eligible earnings for the 401(k) Plan. Employees with outstanding loan payments to the 401(k) plan and/or for medical premiums may, at
the Company’s option, have up to the full arrears deducted from their ICP check. Employees will be notified by mail with respect to any
arrears payments for these deductions.

EMPLOYEE STATUS CHANGES

All eligible employees (including new hires) will have their award prorated for the period of participation in the plan while on the active
payroll. For employees who change target percentages during a plan year, their award will be calculated based on the effective period
for each target percentage.

Employees who transfer within the corporation or among incentive plans during the year will be eligible for an award under this plan
provided that all eligibility requirements are met. The award will be based on the employee’s BAC for the participation period in this plan.

An award will still be paid if a participant meets all other eligibility requirements during <YEAR> but is not a regular employee on
December 31, <YEAR> due to the following reasons:

* Participant’'s employment terminates for any reason after he/she has attained age 55 and at the time his/her employment
terminated he/she had completed at least five years of service; or

* Participant leaves his/her position under disability (as defined in the company disability benefit plan), or

* Participant dies during an award year (award will be paid to the participant’s estate).

In the above circumstances, the award will be calculated based on the participant’'s BAC prorated for the period of participation in the
plan while on the active payroll. Awards will be paid the same time payment is made to other participants and will be offset by any
amount paid pursuant the “Severance Benefits upon Termination of Employment due to Death or Disability” section of the participant’s
Severance Pay Agreement.

If a participant leaves the company for any other reason, eligibility for an award for the plan year will be forfeited unless an exception is
made at the discretion of the CEO.

PLAN ADMINISTRATION

The Company retains the discretion and authority to interpret, amend or modify the plan; to grant incentive awards; as well as to
terminate, increase or decrease any incentive award opportunity during the performance period; and to reduce or eliminate any incentive
awards that would otherwise be payable at the end of the performance period. The Company, in its sole discretion determines Sempra
Energy Earnings, SoCalGas Earnings, operational measures and award calculations.

The Company shall require the forfeiture, recovery or reimbursement of awards or compensation under this Plan as (i) required by
applicable law, or (ii) required under any policy implemented or maintained by the Company pursuant to any applicable rules or
requirements of a national securities exchange or national securities association on which any securities of the Company are listed. The
Company reserves the right to recoup compensation paid if it determines that the results on which the compensation was paid were not
actually achieved.



The SoCalGas Board may, in its sole discretion, require the recovery or reimbursement of short-term incentive compensation awards
from any employee whose fraudulent or intentional misconduct materially affects the operations or financial results of the Company or its
subsidiaries.

Questions concerning the plan should be directed to the Sr. Vice President — Human Resources, Diversity & Inclusion, Sempra Energy.



Exhibit 10.72
SEMPRA ENERGY
SEVERANCE PAY AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement), dated as of August 4, 2012 (the “ Effective &3t is made by
and between SEMPRA ENERGY, a California corporaticBempra Energy), and J. Bret Lane (the_* ExecutiVe

WHEREAS , the Executive is currently employed by Semprargyner a direct or indirect subsidiary of
Sempra Energy (Sempra Energy and its subsidiameleaaeinafter collectively referred to as the ‘n@@@any”) as Senior
Vice President — Gas Operations & System Integaitg

WHEREAS, Sempra Energy and the Executive desire to entetlind Agreement; and
WHEREAS , the Board of Directors of Sempra Energy (the aBly) has authorized this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the premises and mutual caméenherein contained, the Comp
and the Executive hereby agree as follows:

Section 1.  Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, the followingitaized terms have the
meanings set forth below:

“ Accounting Firm” has the meaning assigned thereto in Sectiontggof.

“ Act " has the meaning assigned thereto in Section &dfier

“ Additional PostChange in Control Severance Payniemis the meaning assigned thereto in Section 6(a)

hereof.
“ Affiliate ” has the meaning set forth in Rule 12b-2 prom@datnder the Exchange Act.

“ Annual Base Salaryy means the Executive’s annual base salary fronCibrapany.

“ Asset Purchasérhas the meaning assigned thereto in Section 16(e)

“ Asset Salé’ has the meaning assigned thereto in Section 16(e)

“ Average Annual BonuSmeans the average of the annual bonuses frol@dhgpany earned by the
Executive with respect to the three (3) fiscal gezrthe Company immediately preceding the Daféesmination (the “
Bonus Fiscal Yeary; provided, however, that, if the Executive was employed by the Conypduring all or any portion of
one or two of the Bonus Fiscal Years (but not tlokene Bonus Fiscal Years), “ Average Annual Bohuaseans the averay
of the annual bonuses (if any) from the Companpeshby the Executive with respect to the Bonusdfigears during all ¢
any portion of which the Executive was employedh®s Company; anghrovided, further, that, if the Executive was not
employed by the Company during all or any portibamy of the Bonus Fiscal Years, “ Average AnnuahBs” means zert

“ Beneficial Owner” has the meaning set forth in Rule 13d-3 promw@dainder the Exchange Act.

“ Cause’ means:

(a) Prior to a Change in Control, (i) the willful farkeiby the Executive to substantially perform the
Executive’s duties with the Company (other than sungh failure resulting from the Executigehcapacity due to physical
mental iliness, (ii) the grossly negligent performo@ of such obligations referenced in clause (thisf definition, (iii) the
Executive’s gross insubordination; and/or (iv) Ereecutive’s commission of one or more acts of marglitude that
constitute a violation of applicable law (includibgt not limited to a felony) which have or resalan adverse effect on the
Company, monetarily or otherwise, or one or mogaificant acts of dishonesty. For purposes ofs#afi) of this subsectic
(a), no act, or failure to act, on the Executivegst shall be deemed “ willftilunless done, or omitted to be done, by the
Executive not in good faith and without reasonddakef that the Executive’s act, or failure to aess in the best interests of
the Company.

(b)  From and after a Change in Control, (i) the willfmd continued failure by the Executive



substantially perform the Executive’s duties whl Company (other than any such failure resulting
from the Executive’s incapacity due to physicahrmntal illness or any such actual or anticipatéddriaafter the issuance of
a Notice of Termination for Good Reason by the Exee pursuant to Section 3 hereof) and/or (ii) Bxecutive’s
commission of one or more acts of moral turpitut tonstitute a violation of applicable law (irdilg but not limited to a
felony) which have or result in an adverse effectlee Company, monetarily or otherwise, or one orasignificant acts of
dishonesty. For purposes of clause (i) of thisseabon (b), no act, or failure to act, on the Exee’s part shall be deemed
“willful " unless done, or omitted to be done, by the Exeeutot in good faith and without reasonable beliett the
Executive’s act, or failure to act, was in the bettrests of the Company. Notwithstanding thedoing, the Executive
shall not be deemed terminated for Cause pursaaatse (i) of this subsection (b) unless and timti Executive shall ha
been provided with reasonable notice of and, iSfiide, a reasonable opportunity to cure the faatsa@rcumstances claims
to provide a basis for termination of the Execusvemployment for Cause.

“ Change in Contrgl shall be deemed to have occurred on the dateatbhainge in the ownership of Sempra
Energy, a change in the effective control of Sentfirargy, or a change in the ownership of a suliatgrdrtion of assets of
Sempra Energy occurs (each, as defined in subedeijdelow), except as otherwise provided in sciises (b), (c) and (d)
below:

(@) 0] a “ change in the ownership of Sempra Enérggcurs on the date that any one person, or
more than one person acting as a group, acquiraerghip of stock of Sempra Energy that, togethén stiock held by such
person or group, constitutes more than fifty per¢®8%) of the total fair market value or total mgt power of the stock of
Sempra Energy,

(i) a “ change in the effective control of Sempra Egérgccurs only on either of the following

dates:

(A)  the date any one person, or more than one persioig as a group, acquires (or t
acquired during the twelve (12) month period endinghe date of the most recent acquisition by g&kon or persons)
ownership of stock of Sempra Energy possessinty tharcent (30%) or more of the total voting powethe stock of
Sempra Energy, or

(B) the date a majority of the members of the Boarépsaced during any twelve (1
month period by directors whose appointment ortelaas not endorsed by a majority of the membérthe Board before
the date of appointment or election, and

(i)  a“change in the ownership of a substantial portibassets of Sempra Energgccurs on the
date any one person, or more than one person agiagyroup, acquires (or has acquired duringibivé (12) month
period ending on the date of the most recent aitiquidy such person or persons) assets from SeBmpesgy that have a
total gross fair market value equal to or more thigity-five percent (85%) of the total gross famrket value of all of the
assets of Sempra Energy immediately before suansitgn or acquisitions.

(b) A “ change in the ownership of Sempra Enéergy “ a change in the effective control of Sempra
Energy” shall not occur under clause (a)(i) or (a)(ii) flason of any of the following:

0] an acquisition of ownership of stock of Sempra Byelirectly from Sempra Energy or
Affiliates other than in connection with the acquis by Sempra Energy or its Affiliates of a busss,

(i) a merger or consolidation which would result in Wloting securities of Sempra Energy
outstanding immediately prior to such merger orsohidation continuing to represent (either by rammag outstanding or by
being converted into voting securities of the suing entity or any parent thereof), in combinatieith the ownership of an
trustee or other fiduciary holding securities unalieremployee benefit plan of the Company, at leiast percent (60%) of
the combined voting power of the securities of Sentfnergy or such surviving entity or any pareetéof outstanding
immediately after such merger or consolidation, or

(i)  a merger or consolidation effected to implemergapitalization of Sempra Energy (or sim
transaction) in which no Person is or becomes t#eeBcial Owner, directly or indirectly, of secies of Sempra Energy
(not including the securities beneficially owneddmch Person any securities acquired directly fs@mpra Energy or its
Affiliates other than in connection with the acqtis by Sempra Energy or its Affiliates of a busis) representing twenty



percent (20%) or more of the combined voting poefeésempra Energy’s then outstanding
securities.

(c) A “ change in the ownership of a substantial portioassits of Sempra Ener” shall not occur unds
clause (a)(iii) by reason of a sale or disposibgrSempra Energy of the assets of Sempra Energly émtity, at least sixty
percent (60%) of the combined voting power of tbéng securities of which are owned by shareholdé&empra Energy
in substantially the same proportions as their oglmnp of Sempra Energy immediately prior to sudke.sa

(d) This definition of* Change in Contrc” shall be limited to the definition of*change in control eve’
relating to Sempra Energy under Treasury Regula&iection 1.409A-3(i)(5). A “ Change in Contfadhall only occur if
there is a “change in control event” relating tanpea Energy under Treasury Regulation Section 148@)(5) with respec
to the Executive.

“ Change in Control Datémeans the date on which a Change in Control @ccur

“ Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amtend

“ Compensation Committéemeans the compensation committee of the Board.

“ Consulting Period has the meaning assigned thereto in Section héeof.

“ Date of Terminatiori has the meaning assigned thereto in Sectiont8®of.

“ Deferred Compensation Pldrnas the meaning assigned thereto in Sectionhgf@of.

“ Disability " has the meaning set forth in the Company’s |lagrgatdisability plan or its successprpvided,
however, that the Board may not terminate the Executieeployment hereunder by reason of Disability un{@sat the
time of such termination there is no reasonableetgtion that the Executive will return to work kit the next ninety (90)
day period and (ii) such termination is permittgdali applicable disability laws.

“ Exchange Act means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asxdet; and the applicable rulings and
regulations thereunder.

“ Excise Tax’ has the meaning assigned thereto in SectionH¥@agof.
“ Good Reasori means:

(@) Prior to a Change in Control, the occurrence of@fye following without the prior written consent
of the Executive, unless such act or failure toiscorrected by the Company prior to the Date@idination specified in
the Notice of Termination (as required under Sec8dereof):

(1) the assignment to the Executive of any duties ridieinconsistent with the range of duties
and responsibilities appropriate to a senior Exeewithin the Company (such range determined fgremce to past,
current and reasonable practices within the Company

(i) a material reduction in the Execut's overall standing and responsibilities within
Company, but not including (A) a mere change Ie tir (B) a transfer within the Company, whichttie case of both (A)
and (B), does not adversely affect the Executieg&rall status within the Company;

(i)  a material reduction by the Company in the Exeelsiaggregate annualized compensation
and benefits opportunities, except for across-therdb reductions (or modifications of benefit plasishilarly affecting all
similarly situated executives (both of the Compang of any Person then in control of the Compafhgpmparable rank
with the Executive;

(iv)  the failure by the Company to pay to the Execudimg portion of the Executive’s current
compensation and benefits or any portion of aralméent of deferred compensation under any deferoeapensation
program of the Company within thirty (30) days lo¢ date such compensation is due;

(V) any purported termination of the Executive’s empieyt that is not effected pursuant to a



Notice of Termination satisfying the requiremenitSection 3 hereof; for purposes of this
Agreement, no such purported termination shallffexeve;

(vi)  the failure by Sempra Energy to perform its obligaé under Section 16(c), (d) or (e) here

(vii)  the failure by the Company to provide the indeneaifion and D&O insurance protection
Section 11 of this Agreement requires it to proyile

(viii)  the failure by Sempra Energy to comply with anyenat provision of this Agreement.

(b) From and after a Change in Control, the occurrefi@ay of the following without the prior writte
consent of the Executive, unless such act or matlaract is corrected by the Company prior to théedf Termination
specified in the Notice of Termination (as requitedier Section 3 hereof):

0] an adverse change in the Executvéitle, authority, duties, responsibilities or ogjing lines a:
in effect immediately prior to the Change in Cohtro

(i) a reduction by the Company in the Executive’s agaie annualized compensation
opportunities, except for across-the-board reduostio base salaries, annual bonus opportuniti&ngrterm incentive
compensation opportunities of less than ten perdd?’b) similarly affecting all similarly situatececutives (both of the
Company and of any Person then in control of then@amy) of comparable rank with the Executive; erfdulure by the
Company to continue in effect any material ben@én in which the Executive participates immediaaior to the Change
in Control, unless an equitable arrangement (endabiti an ongoing substitute or alternative plars) i@en made with
respect to such plan, or the failure by the Compgargontinue the Executive's participation thei@inin such substitute or
alternative plan) on a basis not materially lesifable, both in terms of the amount of benefitsvfted and the level of the
Executive's participation relative to other pagants, as existed at the time of the Change inrGlont

(i) the relocation of the Executi's principal place of employment immediately priothe
Change in Control Date (the “ Principal Locatigrio a location which is both further away fromet&xecutive’s residence
and more than thirty (30) miles from such Principatation, or the Company’s requiring the Executivée based
anywhere other than such Principal Location (onped relocation thereof), or a substantial inseesn the Executive’s
business travel obligations outside of the Soutl@aiifornia area as of the Effective Date othenthay such increase that
(A) arises in connection with extraordinary busmastivities of the Company of limited duration gBJ is understood not
to be part of the Executive’s regular duties wita Company;

(iv)  the failure by the Company to pay to the Execudimg portion of the Executive’s current
compensation and benefits or any portion of arallmsent of deferred compensation under any deferomtipensation
program of the Company within thirty (30) days loé tdate such compensation is due;

(V) any purported termination of the Executive’s empieynt that is not effected pursuant to a
Notice of Termination satisfying the requiremernitSection 3 hereof; for purposes of this Agreemeatsuch purporte
termination shall be effective;

(vi)  the failure by Sempra Energy to perform its obligjaé under Section 16(c), (d) or (e) here

(vii)  the failure by the Company to provide the indengaifion and D&O insurance protecti
Section 11 of this Agreement requires it to proyiale

(viii)  the failure by Sempra Energy to comply with anyemiat provision of this Agreement.

Following a Change in Control, the Executive’s deti@ation that an act or failure to act constituBxod
Reason shall be presumed to be valid unless suemdeation is deemed to be unreasonable by atratdri pursuant to the
procedure described in Section 13 hereof. The ERrexs right to terminate the Executive’s employrhér Good Reason
shall not be affected by the Executive’s incapaditg to physical or mental illness. The Execuswantinued employment
shall not constitute consent to, or a waiver ofitsgwith respect to, any act or failure to act ¢itnigng Good Reason
hereunder.

“ Incentive Compensation Awardsneans awards granted under Incentive CompensBtams providing the




Executive with the opportunity to earn, on a yegybar basis, annual and long-term incentive corsgton.

“ Incentive Compensation Plahsneans annual incentive compensation plans angtierm incentive
compensation plans of the Company, which long-texaantive compensation plans may include plansioffestock
options, restricted stock and other long-term itgercompensation.

“ Involuntary Terminatiorf means (a) the Executive’s Separation from Serliceeason of a termination of
employment by the Company other than for CausdhdeaDisability, or (b) the Executive’s Separatioom Service by
reason of resignation of employment with the Comydan Good Reason.

“ JAMS Rules” has the meaning assigned thereto in Section f&bhe

“ Notice of Terminatiori has the meaning assigned thereto in SectionH&aof.

“ Payment’ has the meaning assigned thereto in Sectionr@@of.

“ Payment in Lieu of Noticé has the meaning assigned thereto in Sectionigigof.

“ Person” has the meaning set forth in section 3(a)(9hef Exchange Act, as modified and used in sections
13(d) and 14(d) thereof, except that such term slaalinclude (i) the Company or any of its Affiles, (ii) a trustee or other
fiduciary holding securities under an employee fiep&an of the Company or any of its Affiliatesij{an underwriter
temporarily holding securities pursuant to an affgrof such securities, (iv) a corporation ownddeatly or indirectly, by
the shareholders of the Company in substantialysdime proportions as their ownership of stock@Qompany, or (v) a
person or group as used in Rule 13d-1(b) promuilgateler the Exchange Act.

“ PostChange in Control Accrued Obligatiohkas the meaning assigned thereto in Sectionh&@agof.

“ PostChange in Control Severance Paynigmis the meaning assigned thereto in Section éofier

“ Pre-Change in Control Accrued Obligatiohkas the meaning assigned thereto in SectionHs{@gof.

“ Pre-Change in Control Severance Payniemas the meaning assigned thereto in Section édfier

“ Principal Location’ has the meaning assigned thereto in clauseijmfithe definition of Good Reason,

above.

“ Proprietary Informatiori has the meaning assigned thereto in Section I1¥agof.

“ Releasé’ has the meaning assigned thereto in Section T¥Bof.

“ Section 409A Paymentsmeans any of the following: (a) the Payment ialLof Notice; (b) the Pre-
Change in Control Severance Payment; (c) the Ploatige in Control Severance Payment; (d) the Adati®ostChange il
Control Severance Payment; (e) the Consulting Paynf¢ the financial planning services and thetedl payments
provided under Sections 5(e) and 6(e); and (g)ethal fees and expenses reimbursed under Section 15

“ Sempra Energy Control Grotipmeans Sempra Energy and all persons with whom SeBwprgy would b
considered a single employer under Section 414(B)4(c) of the Code, as determined from timerteti

“ Separation from Servick with respect to the Executive (or another Sex\Reovider), means the
Executive’s (or such Service Provider’s) (a) teration of employment or (b) other termination oruetibn in services,
provided that such termination or reduction in ska) or (b) constitutes a “separation from serVias defined in Treasury
Regulation Section 1.409A-1(h), with respect to $ieevice Recipient.

“ Service Providet means the Executive or any other “service pronides defined in Treasury Regulation
Section 1.409A-1(f).

“ Service Recipienf’ with respect to the Executive, means Sempradgn@f the Executive is employed by
Sempra Energy), or the subsidiary of Sempra Enenggloying the Executive, whichever is applicabled all persons
considered part of the “service recipient,” asmiadiin Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(gldetermined from time to




time. As provided in Treasury Regulation Secticf09A-1(g), the “ Service Recipiehshall mean the
person for whom the services are performed and negpect to whom the legally binding right to comgegion arises, and
all persons with whom such person would be consitlarsingle employer under Section 414(b) or 41di(the Code.

“ Specified Employeé& means a Service Provider who, as of the datee@BService Provider’'s Separation
from Service is a * Key Employ€eof the Service Recipient any stock of which is jpeipltraded on an established secur
market or otherwise. For purposes of this debnitia Service Provider is a * Key Employeaéthe Service Provider meets
the requirements of Section 416(i)(1)(A)(i), (if) @i) of the Code (applied in accordance with ffreasury Regulations
thereunder and disregarding Section 416(i)(5) efGlde) at any time during the Testing Year. $feavice Provideris a “
Key Employe€’ (as defined above) as of a Specified Employeatitieation Date, the Service Provider shall bateel as “
Key Employe¢ for the entire twelve (12) month period beginnimgthe Specified Employee Effective Date. Foippses
of this definition, a Service Provider’'s compensatior a Testing Year shall mean such Service Bsyid compensation, as
determined under Treasury Regulation Section 16}4H@) (and applied as if the Service Recipientew®t using any safe
harbor provided in Treasury Regulation Section 8(djt2(d), were not using any of the elective sgletiiming rules
provided in Treasury Regulation Section 1.415(&)24nd were not using any of the elective speualak provided in
Treasury Regulation Section 1.415(c)-2(g)), from 8ervice Recipient for such Testing Year. Theet$ied Employees”
shall be determined in accordance with Section 4842)(B)(i) of the Code and Treasury Regulatioot®a 1.409A-1(i).

“ Specified Employee Effective Dateneans the first day of the fourth month followitige Specified
Employee Identification Date. The Specified EmpgleEffective Date may be changed by Sempra Engrdfg, discretion,
in accordance with Treasury Regulation Section9A40(i)(4).

“ Specified Employee Identification Datefor purposes of Treasury Regulation Section 24Q.(i)(3), shall
mean December 31. The “ Specified Employee Ideatibn Dat€e’ shall apply to all “nonqualified deferred compatien
plans” (as defined in Treasury Regulation Sectid®9A-1(a)) of the Service Recipient and all aféekcEervice Providers.
The “ Specified Employee Identification Ddtemay be changed by Sempra Energy, in its disanetioaccordance with
Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(i)(3).

“ Testing Year” shall mean the twelve (12) month period endinglenSpecified Employee Identification
Date, as determined from time to time.

“ Underpayment has the meaning assigned thereto in Sectiontgtgof.

For purposes of this Agreement, references to aimgasury Regulatiohshall mean such Treasury
Regulation as in effect on the date hereof.

Section 2.  Sarbane®©xley Act of 2002 Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrafrythe Compan
determines, in its good faith judgment, that argvmion of this Agreement is likely to be interpgrdtas a personal loan
prohibited by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 ardrties and regulations promulgated thereunder* (&et "), then such
provision shall be modified as necessary or apjetgso as to not violate the Act; and if this aarise accomplished, then
the Company shall use its reasonable efforts teigeathe Executive with similar, but lawful, sulbste benefit(s) at a cost
the Company not to significantly exceed the amao@tCompany would have otherwise paid to providd saenefit(s) to tr
Executive. In addition, if the Executive is reauirto forfeit or to make any repayment of any conspéion or benefit(s) to
the Company under the Act or any other law, sucfeitoire or repayment shall not constitute Good¥®ea

Section 3. Notice and Date of Terminatic.

(a) Any termination of the Executive’s employment bg thiompany or by the Executive shall be
communicated by a written notice of terminatioritte other party (the * Notice of Terminatity Where applicable, the
Notice of Termination shall indicate the speciBcrhination provision in this Agreement relied ugord shall set forth |
reasonable detail the facts and circumstances ethtmprovide a basis for termination of the Exeels employment under
the provision so indicated. Unless the Board deitezs otherwise, a Notice of Termination by the d&xive alleging a
termination for Good Reason must be made withinda8@ of the act or failure to act that the Exe®utilleges to constitute
Good Reason.

(b) The date of the Executive’s termination of emplopingith the Company (the_* Date of Termination
") shall be determined as follows: (i) if the Ex¢ige has a Separation from Service by reasoneoCibimpany terminating
his or her employment, either with or without Caubke Date of Termination shall be the date spediin the Notice of




Termination (which, in the case of a terminationttiy Company other than for Cause, shall not k=
than two (2) weeks from the date such Notice offiieation is given unless the Company elects totpayExecutive, in
addition to any other amounts payable hereundesipaount (the “ Payment in Lieu of Notiteequal to two (2) weeks of
the Executive’s Annual Base Salary in effect onlage of Termination), and (ii) if the basis foetBxecutive’s Involuntary
Termination is his resignation for Good Reason,Dag& of Termination shall be determined by thedttge and specified
in the Notice of Termination, but shall not in aawent be less than fifteen (15) days nor more $iveg (60) days after the
date such Notice of Termination is given. TherRent in Lieu of Notice shall be paid on such datésadetermined by the
Company within thirty (30) days after the dateltd Executive’s Separation from Servipegvided, howeverthat if the
Executive is a Specified Employee on the date ®bhiher Separation from Service, such Paymenign af Notice shall be
paid as provided in Section 10 hereof.

Section 4.  Termination from the Board Upon the termination of the Executive’s employtfer any
reason, the Executive’s membership on the Boaedhtiard of directors of any of the Company’s Adtiis, any committees
of the Board and any committees of the board @atdars of any of the Company’s Affiliates, if amalble, shall be
automatically terminated.

Section 5.  Severance Benefits upon Involuntary Terminatiom Change in Control Except as
provided in Section 6 and Section 19(i) hereothmevent of the Involuntary Termination of the Extéve prior to a Chang
in Control, the Company shall pay the Executivegrie lump sum cash payment, an amount (the-Chemnge in Control
Severance Paymefjtequal to one-half (0.5) times the greater of) {50% of the Executive’s Annual Base Salary as in
effect on the Date of Termination, and (Y) the Exe®’s Annual Base Salary as in effect on the dt€ermination, plus
the Executive’s Average Annual Bonus. In additiorthe Pre-Change in Control Severance PaymenExBeutive shall be
entitled to the following additional benefits sded in subsections (a) through (e). Except asipgex in Section 5(f), the
Pre-Change in Control Severance Payment and thragrayunder Section 5(a) shall be paid on suchatate determined by
the Company within thirty (30) days after the daft¢he Involuntary Terminatiorgrovided, howeverthat, if the Executive
is a Specified Employee on the date of the Exeeigilnvoluntary Termination, the Pre-Change in Calrffeverance
Payment and the financial planning services anddlaged payments provided under Section 5(e) Slegliaid as provided
Section 10 hereof.

(&)  Accrued Obligation. The Company shall pay the Executive a lump somoumt in cash equal to tl
sum of (A) the Executive’s Annual Base Salary tigtothe Date of Termination to the extent not thefoee paid, (B) an
amount equal to any annual Incentive Compensatiwards earned with respect to fiscal years endext fwithe year that
includes the Date of Termination to the extentthetetofore paid, (C) any accrued and unpaid vaicaii any, and (D)
reimbursement for unreimbursed business experisasy,iproperly incurred by the Executive in thefpamance of his
duties in accordance with policies established ftone to time by the Board, in each case to thergxtot theretofore paid.
(The amounts specified in clauses (A), (B), (QJ @) shall be hereinafter referred to as the “©hange in Control
Accrued Obligation$).

(b) Equity Based CompensationThe Executive shall retain all rights to anyiggbased compensation
awards to the extent set forth in the applicalbds gind/or award agreement.

(c) Welfare Benefits. Subject to Section 12 below, for a period of(§i)xmonths following the date of t
Involuntary Termination (and an additional tweNi®) months if the Executive provides consulting/ees under Section
14(e) hereof), the Executive and his dependentslsharovided with health insurance benefits sabially similar to those
provided to the Executive and his dependents imatelgi prior to the date of the Involuntary Termioat provided,
however, that such benefits shall be provided on substiynthe same terms and conditions and at the sasieto the
Executive as in effect immediately prior to theedat the Involuntary Termination. Such benefitalshe provided through
insurance maintained by the Company under the Coypaenefit plans. Such benefits shall be prodiclea manner that
complies with Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A}H).

(d) Outplacement ServicesThe Executive shall receive reasonable outplaceiservices, on an in-kind
basis, suitable to his position and directly ralatethe Executive’s Involuntary Termination, foperiod of eighteen (18)
months following the date of the Involuntary Teration, in an aggregate amount of cost to the Companto exceed
$50,000. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Exeeushall cease to receive outplacement servicekeodate the Executi
accepts employment with a subsequent employerh Suiplacement services shall be provided in a mativat complies
with Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b)(9)&)(




(e) Financial Planning ServicesThe Executive shall receive financial planniegvices, on an in-kind
basis, for a period of eighteen (18) months follogvine Date of Termination. Such financial plagnservices shall include
expert financial and legal resources to assisEttexutive with financial planning needs and shallimited to (i) current
investment portfolio management, (ii) tax planni(ii), tax return preparation, and (iv) estate planrg advice and document
preparation (including wills and trustgyovided, however, that the Company shall provide such financiahpiag services
during any taxable year of the Executive only ® éixtent the cost to the Company for such taxadde gioes not exceed
$25,000. The Company shall provide such finangehning services through a financial planner getkby the Company,
and shall pay the fees for such financial plansieryices. The financial planning services providedng any taxable year
of the Executive shall not affect the financialrpiang services provided in any other taxable yéan@ Executive. The
Executive’s right to financial planning servicesibmot be subject to liquidation or exchange foy ather benefit. Such
financial planning services shall be provided manner that complies with Treasury Regulation $acti.409A3(i)(1)(iv).

() Deferral of Paymeni. The Executive shall have the right to electatedthe Pr-Change in Contrc
Severance Payment to be received by the Executinsai@nt to this Section 5 under the terms and tiondiof the Sempra
Energy 2005 Deferred Compensation Plan (the " Defe€ompensation Pldh Any such deferral election shall be mad
accordance with Section 18(b) hereof.

Section 6.  Severance Benefits upon Involuntary Terminatio@@mnection with and after Change in
Control. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 5 adyaand except as provided in Section 19(i) heiiadhe event of
the Involuntary Termination of the Executive onmathin two (2) years following a Change in Contnal lieu of the
payments described in Section 5 above, the Comgiaaly pay the Executive, in one lump sum cash payna& amount (tk
“ PostChange in Control Severance Payni@mriqual to the greater of: (X) 150% of the Exiageis Annual Base Salary as
in effect immediately prior to the Change in Cohtrothe Date of Termination, whichever is greagard (Y) the Executive’
Annual Base Salary as in effect immediately priothte Change in Control or on the Date of Termargtivhichever is
greater, plus the Executive’s Average Annual Bonasaddition to the Post-Change in Control SeveeaPayment, the
Executive shall be entitled to the following adalital benefits specified in subsections (a) thro@h Except as provided in
Sections 6(f) and 6(g), the Post-Change in Co@ederance Payment and the payments under Secéipsei{l be paid on
such date as is determined by the Company withity {80) days after the date of the Involuntarymaation;provided,
however, that, if the Executive is a Specified Employedlondate of the Executive’s Involuntary Terminatithe Post-
Change in Control Severance Payment, the AdditiBoeatChange in Control Severance Payment under Sect@ (&), anc
the financial planning services and the relatedvgayts provided under Section 6(e) shall be pai@gded in Section 10
hereof.

(@)  Accrued Obligations The Company shall pay the Executive a lump somoumt in cash equal to the
sum of (A) the Executive’s Annual Base Salary tigilothe Date of Termination to the extent not thefoee paid, (B) an
amount equal to any annual Incentive Compensatigards earned with respect to fiscal years endext firithe year that
includes the Date of Termination to the extentthetetofore paid, (C) any accrued and unpaid vaaii any, (D)
reimbursement for unreimbursed business experisasy,iproperly incurred by the Executive in thefpamance of his
duties in accordance with policies established ftione to time by the Board, and (E) an amount (tAdditional Post
Change in Control Severance Paynigmqual to: (i) the greater of: (X) 50% of thedeutive’s Annual Base Salary as in
effect immediately prior to the Change in Controba the Date of Termination, whichever is greaber(Y) the Executive’s
Average Annual Bonus, multiplied by (ii) a fractidghe numerator of which shall be the number osdaym the beginning
of such fiscal year to and including the Date ofiifi@ation and the denominator of which shall be,36%he case of each
amount described in clause (A), (B), (C) or (Djhe extent not theretofore paid. (The amountsifpdadn clauses (A), (B),
(C), (D) and (E) shall be hereinafter referredddte “ PostChange in Control Accrued Obligatiof)s

(b) Equity-Based Compensatic. Notwithstanding the provisions of any applicadtgiity-compensatiol
plan or award agreement to the contrary, all egodgtyed Incentive Compensation Awards (includingheuit limitation,
stock options, stock appreciation rights, restdatck awards, restricted stock units, performaheee awards, awards
covered under Section 162(m) of the Code, and einddequivalents) held by the Executive shall immatsdy vest and
become exercisable or payable, as the case mag loé the Date of T